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CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Designing, planning, building, operating and promoting the Alqueva Multipurpose Project (EFMA) is
the mission and reason for existence of the Empresa
de Desenvolvimento e Infra-estruturas do Alqueva,
S.A. (EDIA), integrated into the State Business Sector
and overseen by the Ministry of Agriculture.
EFMA is the largest public investment in the Alentejo
region, the most structuring national hydro-agricultural project that has been, over the last decade,
responsible for changing the country’s agricultural
landscape.
2020 marked the 25th anniversary of the creation of
EDIA, but the celebration of this anniversary had to
be cancelled because the year was marked by the
very serious pandemic crisis and the huge economic
crisis associated with the stoppage of many sectors
of activity necessary to control the health situation.
Agriculture was an exception in this bleak scenario, maintaining its productive activities and pursuing investment projects. Alqueva customers did
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not stop, continuing to produce and to implement
water distribution equipment on new plots or the
installation of new crops. As a result of this dynamic, the registered area grew by over 9% to 103,048
hectares, solidifying the unequivocal and enormous
success of the hydro-agricultural component of the
Alqueva project.
The compulsory confinement, the general restriction
on movement, the reduction of face-to-face contact
and teleworking forced a rapid reorganisation of the
various teams, but thanks to some anticipation, all
services could be maintained, although many had to
change their form. Face-to-face service was greatly
reduced, but we managed to speed up contact with
customers by telephone and electronic canals.
EDIA assumed its character as an essential activity,
once again ensuring the strengthening of water supply to the population and, especially, to a modern
and efficient irrigated area. 283 million cubic meters
(Mm3) of water were distributed to the beneficiary

areas directly managed by the company, 93 Mm3 to
the adjoining systems and 19 Mm3 to customers with
direct abstractions from the primary network.
In the income statement for the year we recorded an
8% increase in turnover to EUR 36 million and earnings before depreciation, financial costs and taxes
(EBITDA) rose 14% to EUR 12 million.
On the other hand, the impairment of investments,
motivated by the lack of receipt of financing from
PNRegadios, replaced by direct injections of capital
via the State shareholder, rose from EUR 4 million to
EUR 17 million, which essentially explains the negative net result of EUR 14 million recorded.
An analysis of the company’s financial situation shows that the balance sheet total remained practically
the same as the previous year, but the equity rose by
EUR 8 million.

In the project activity, the studies for the future Cabeça Gorda /Trindade block and for the connection
to the Monte da Rocha reservoir were concluded this
year.
In the construction activity, the year witnessed the
start and great development of the construction
contracts for the Morgavél adduction system connection, the Viana do Alentejo hydraulic circuit and
block, the Cuba - Odivelas block and the Évora block,
the last two of which should enter into service by
summer 2021.
In the area of tourism, it is worth highlighting the
inauguration of the Cinco Reis Fluvial Park - a project
designed and developed with the support of EDIA. In
addition to the beach and respective support services, this park has wooded areas for sports and leisure and waterfowl observation points. It is a clear
example of the multifunctionality of the hydraulic
infrastructures built and managed by the company.
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In the social area and in a year of so many challenges for so many sectors, the company joined solidarity movements in the fight against COVID-19,
integrating a set of initiatives aimed at minimising
the effects of the pandemic. We supported the José
Joaquim Fernandes Hospital, regional nursing homes, the Fire Brigade, the CERCI Beja and the Cerebral Palsy Centre of Beja, among other entities.
On the path to sustainability, we have been investing in the production of part of our major energy
needs. Hydroelectric production in the Mini Hydro
plants managed by the company rose to 12 GWh and
photovoltaic production followed the same trend,
already totalling 4 GWh, but in the near future we
intend to increase this last value 20 times with the
installation of large floating photovoltaic plants
near the pumping stations of the primary network.
We pursue the dream of being able to produce locally
all the energy needs using solar energy, ensuring
the lowest energy costs and the decarbonisation of
the water distribution activity. The company has al-

ready managed to secure financing for the installation of a combined power plant of over 50 MW and is
only awaiting superior authorisation to launch the
respective public tender.
We believe that the implementation of this ambitious
project for photovoltaic energy production for self-consumption is the most important development
vector for the long-term sustainability of the Alqueva project.
Finally, a word of thanks is due to our customers, the
financing entities, the shareholder, the suppliers and
all the entities that contributed to the achievement
of our mission. A special thanks is due to our employees who, despite all the constraints, never stopped,
contributing decisively so that the Alentejo becomes
“a new land of water”.

José Pedro Salema
Chairman of the Board of Directors of EDIA
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“Designing, planning, building, operating and
promoting the Alqueva Multipurpose Project
(EFMA) is the mission and reason for existence
of the Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infraestruturas do Alqueva S.A. (EDIA)”

José Pedro Salema

Photo: Alqueva Dam
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CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

PRELIMINARY NOTE

Alqueva is a unique project in Portugal, which was designed and

Recent periods of extreme drought, such as recent years, have

It is in the context of this reality that the National Irrigated Land

The economic activity in 2020, in Portugal and in the rest of the

implemented with the major objective of contributing towards the

accentuated the positive impact of the strategic water reserve, as

Program (PNRegadios) arises, a Government initiative that, ove-

world, was deeply affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, by the

development of the Alentejo region, basing the priority axis of

without Alqueva, the difficulties experienced in the intervention

rall, will create more 90,000 ha of irrigated land until 2023 and

containment measures and by the impact on the behaviour of

the Project on water resources.

area would be much more serious. With Alqueva, in times of severe

that includes the expansion of 50,000 ha of EFMA. Approved by the

economic agents. The pandemic caused an unprecedented con-

drought it is possible to supply populations, develop agriculture

Portuguese State, in October 2018, and financed through the EIB

traction of economic activity in the first half of the year.

and supply various other dams.

and the CEB, in early 2019, the preparation of the operationaliza-

EFMA, sustained by an integrated development process, from which conditions have been created to reverse the existing regional
status guarantees sustained growth through agriculture, mobili-

The Alqueva project has contributed, over the years, in a signifi-

zing a diversified set of activities.

cant way, to the development in the regional and national agri-

tion of PNRegadios began, with a real momentum in 2020 for the

EDIA made an effort to maintain, even during the most critical

start of the expansion of the Project.

phase of the pandemic, its activity, applying different contingency measures according to each phase of the pandemic, throughout

cultural value, with an effort in the construction of the neces-

It is unavoidable that the year 2020 was marked by the worsening

the year, in order to ensure the regular operation of services es-

The Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infra-estruturas do Alqueva,

sary infrastructures to irrigate the 170,000 ha planned, 120,000

of the pandemic caused by COVID-19, which took the world by

sential to the company’s activity. Alqueva did not stop…

S.A. (EDIA) belongs to the State Business Sector (SEE) and assumes

ha achieved with the conclusion of the 1st Phase and 50,000 ha

surprise, leading the country to a state of calamity and later a

responsibility for the integrated management of EFMA, compen-

with the construction of new irrigated areas. These infrastructu-

state of emergency, having caused major constraints on the acti-

In the infrastructural component, work continued on the cons-

sating the environmental and heritage impacts resulting from the

res allow, in addition to the unavoidable expansion of the hydro-

vities of the companies during this period. However, it should be

truction contract to boost the power of the Álamos pumping

construction and operation of the Alqueva infrastructure, pro-

-agricultural benefit of the Project, the fulfilment of different

noted that, with the effort of all those involved, the vital activi-

station (nearing completion), which aims to double installed ca-

moting and enhancing the positive socio-economic impacts that

objectives, at regional and national level, such as hydroelectric

ties for the good functioning of EDIA were essentially guaranteed.

pacity in order to guarantee growing demands for water in the

allow balanced regional development, thus contributing to the

production, public and industrial supply, environmental and he-

success of the national economy.

ritage preservation, land use planning and combating climate

In the year it celebrates its 25th anniversary, EDIA concluded the

change.

expansion works of its registered office in Beja.
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Alqueva subsystem.
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In the Pedrógão subsystem, the construction and equipment su-

The integration of Alqueva in an innovative international pro-

During this period, EDIA joined act4nature Portugal, an initiative

This cycle of conferences is the result of the archaeological work

pply contract for the installation of three additional groups at the

ject of water leakage detection in large distribution networks -

of the Business Council for Sustainable Development, BCSD Por-

promoted during the construction of EFMA.

São Pedro pumping station was concluded, and at the end of the

Project H2020 WADI - should also be highlighted. This project is

tugal, a movement launched in France by the organisation EpE

year the contract for the construction and supply of equipment

one of the challenges identified under Horizon 2020, and aims to

- Entreprises pour L`Environnement. EDIA’s membership of this

Fulfilling the tradition that has been maintained since 2002, the

for the Pedrógão pumping system - Right Bank of EFMA - 2nd

contribute to the creation of a water and energy efficient society,

initiative is the culmination of the strategy that the Company has

19th edition of the exhibition “Art from a different perspective”

Phase was awarded.

resilient to the impacts of climate change.

been implementing to promote the environmental and economic

was held in December. This is an EDIA initiative in collaboration

sustainability of the Alqueva Project, with emphasis on biodiver-

with the Cerebral Palsy Centre of Beja, in which different paintings

sity, both in its activity and in the activity of its partners.

by the Centre’s users are exhibited, seeking to stimulate their in-

During 2020, the two photovoltaic plants of Lage and Cuba-Este

In institutional terms, on 24 July, the Minister of Agriculture, Ma-

were physically completed and production started.

ria do Céu Antunes, inaugurated the Cinco Reis fluvial park in Beja,

Still on the primary network, work continues on the construction

tellectual development, strengthening their integration and so-

a project developed by the Beja municipality with the support of

The conferences integrated in the cycle “Sob a Terra e as águas,

cial inclusion and increasing their self-esteem. However, and due

EDIA.

porque há sempre novas histórias para contar” (“Under the Earth

to the circumstances experienced during the pandemic period,

and the waters, because there are always new stories to tell”),

it was considered that it would not be appropriate to promote

contract of the connection to the Morgavél EFMA water supply
system, which will allow the connection of Alqueva to Sines, and

On 28 October, as part of the Luz Museum program, the travelling

continue, this time at the UNESCO Centre, in Beja. Promoted by

a physical and public exhibition as in previous years. Thus, the

is expected to be completed next year.

exhibition “38º 21’ N0 7º 24` O Castelo da Lousa” (Lousa Castle)

EDIA in partnership with the City Council of Beja and the Regional

same exhibition was promoted on online platforms and to mark

opened at the PO.RO.S. – Roman Portugal Museum, in Sicó. This

Directorate for Culture of the Alentejo, with the support of the As-

the International Day of Persons with Disabilities.

exhibition will be open until May 2022.

sociation for the Defence of Cultural Heritage of the Beja Region.

Also noteworthy, in the infrastructural component, is the work on
the construction contracts for the hydraulic circuits in Viana do
Alentejo, Cuba-Odivelas, Évora and the Viana do Alentejo feeder
and respective blocks, which were consigned in 2020 and started
work on schedule, given the constraints generated by the context
of the national and global pandemic crisis.

This year also saw the start of the contract works to remodel the
Lage pumping station (1st phase intervention).

Reference should also be made to the availability, on the EDIA
website, of the 2019 Alqueva Agricultural Yearbook, produced
by EDIA. This document assumes itself, increasingly, as a way to
help farmers and investors to develop sustainable agricultural
activities, providing a systematisation of existing and potential
production systems in Alqueva.

The 2019 Sustainability Report was also made available on the
EDIA website. This document aims to measure, disseminate and
report on the performance of the Company to all those who relate
to us with a view to sustainable development.

The 2019 orthophotomaps were also made accessible on the EDIA
website, thus continuing the free availability of its geographic
data, maintaining its focus on promoting the economic and social
development of the Alqueva area.
Photo: Extension of EDIA’s Headquarters
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The “Good Agri-Environmental Practices Guide” prepared by EDIA,

are mostly from the region and are divided by the company’s te-

as the entity promoting and managing the EFMA hydro-agricul-

chnical areas, such as engineering, economics, management, law,

tural facilities, in partnership with DGADR, was published at the

biology, environment, archaeology, among others.

end of the year. It is a contribution to the dissemination of best
agricultural practices that ensure the long-term sustainability of

On 31 December 2020, the Company’s Share Capital, fully subs-

agricultural production and preservation of the territory’s natural

cribed and paid up, amounts to EUR 860,334,960.00 (made up

resources.

of 172,066,992 shares), and is 100% owned by the Portuguese
State, through the DGTF. The variation occurred in 2020 (EUR

Regarding the analysis of the membership and water consump-

21,524,640.00 and 4,304,928 new shares) results from the follo-

tion values in the EFMA perimeters on 31 December 2019 and 31

wing issues of shares with a nominal value of EUR 5 each:

December 2020, there was an increase in membership of about
9.5% (8,925 ha), with the area registered at the end of the year

•

11 March 2020: Issue of 673,928 new shares, with a nominal

being 103,232 ha. As for water consumption at the end of 2020,

value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed

it stood at 282,563,426 m3, a figure slightly lower than the con-

and paid up was EUR 3,369,640.00;

sumption verified in the same period in the previous year.
•

7 August 2020: Issue of 866,000 new shares, with a nominal

Considering, in addition to the Alqueva perimeters, the supplies

value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed

to existing reservoirs and direct abstractions, the total volume

and paid up was EUR 4,330,000; and

of water distributed was 394.91 hm3 in 2020, which, compared to
the previous year, registers an increase of 20.21 hm3, i.e. about
5.39%.

•

6 October 2020: Issue of 2,765,000 new shares, with a nominal value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed and paid up was EUR 13. 825,000.

The change in useful volume of the Alqueva reservoir, between 1
January and 31 December 2020, recorded a decrease of 139 hm3.

The investment made during 2020, up to the end of the year, not

At the end of December, the Alqueva reservoir was at elevation

including capitalisations of structure and financial charges, rea-

145, which represents, in useful volume stored, about 55%.

ched the amount of EUR 36,771.48 thousand, bringing the total
investment in EFMA, from 1995 to the end of the reporting period,

EDIA currently has 179 employees in its personnel, with a level of

to EUR 2,400,940.15 thousand.

higher education adapted to the work activity. EDIA’s employees

Photo: Álamos Pumping Station
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CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

PRESENTATION OF EDIA
EMPRESA DE DESENVOLVIMENTO E
INFRA-ESTRUTURAS DO ALQUEVA (EDIA)

CHARACTERISATION OF THE MAIN
INFRASTRUCTURES

EDIA, created in 1995, is a public limited company with exclusi-

on the priority axes for the development of the Project, which

vely public capital, belonging to the SEE, is under the sectoral

is based on the “Water” resource and on the profitability of the

supervision of the Ministry of Agriculture and under the financial

infrastructure investments made, with a view to the success of

supervision of the Ministry of Finance and is the managing com-

the Alqueva Project.

pany of EFMA.

EFMA is composed of the following infrastructures:

Alqueva Hydroelectric Power Plant
The Alqueva reservoir, the largest artificial lake in Europe, stretches 83 km across the municipalities of Moura, Portel, Mourão,

EFMA covers an area of influence of 10,000 Km2, and the large

Reguengos de Monsaraz and Alandroal, covering an area of 250

Located in Alentejo, in southern Portugal, Alqueva is a project

size, scope and modernity of the hydraulic infrastructure imple-

Km2.

based on the concept of multiple purposes and the integrated

mented allows, in addition to the undeniable hydroagricultural

management of its strategic water reserve, where the Alqueva

benefit, hydroelectric production in a reversible system enabling

dam is the centre of the largest water reserve in Europe, with a

full complementarity with other renewable energies such as pho-

total capacity of 4,150 Mm .

tovoltaic and wind power, public and industrial supply, environ-

Storage Level (NPA) is at a height of 152 m and the Minimum Ope-

mental and heritage preservation and enhancement, and land use

rating Level at a height of 130 m.

3

EDIA has developed all its activity, on national territory, in 20

and its usable volume in normal operation is 3,150 hm3. Its Full

planning.
The wall of the Alqueva dam is of the double-curvature vaulted

municipalities in the districts of Beja, Évora, Portalegre and Setúbal and has the mission of designing, implementing, building,

Contributing to the development not only of Alentejo, but also of

operating and promoting EFMA and is responsible for the largest

the country, as the EFMA Management Company and responsible

irrigated area in the country.

for a relevant instrument to boost the economy, EDIA is positioned as a strategic reference of unavoidable relevance, to the

With its registered office in the city of Beja, the centre of the be-

extent that it has been directly promoting the reduction of agri-

neficiary region, EDIA’s main vision is a strategic guideline based

-food dependency and the increase of exports.
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The total storage capacity of the Alqueva reservoir is 4,150 hm3,

concrete type, it is 96 m high and its crest is 458 m long. The
floodgates were closed on 8 February 2002. The maximum level
was reached on 12 January 2010.

“Unavoidable
strategic objectives:
reduction in
agri-food
dependency and

The Hydroelectric Power Plant is of the dam-foot type with an
installed capacity - 520 MW (Alqueva I and II - 2 x 260MW).

increase in exports.”
R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0 | 15

Alqueva Global Water Supply System

This system is divided into three subsystems, according to the
different water sources, namely Alqueva, Ardila and Pedrógão.

This System benefits an area of about 120 thousand ha, and inclu-

Near the new village of Luz, an irrigated area of 593 ha was also

des a set of 70 dams, reservoirs and weirs, 46 pumping stations

equipped, with water originating directly from the Alqueva re-

and 5 Mini Hydro plants.

servoir.

Photo: Pedrógão DAM

Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plant

The Pedrógão reservoir has a total storage capacity of 106 hm3,
and its usable volume is 54 hm3 in normal operation. Its Full

The Pedrógão dam is 23 Km downstream from Alqueva and acts

Storage Level (NPA) is at an height of 84.8 m.

as a counter-embalm to the Alqueva dam, allowing the Alqueva
Hydroelectric Power Plant to operate in a reversible manner by

The Pedrógão dam wall is 43 m high and its crest is 448 m long.

recovering the flows used, thus making it possible to reuse the
same water for energy production.

The Pedrógão dam is equipped with a Hydroelectric Power Plant
of the foot-of-dam type with an installed capacity of 10 MW.
Map 1: EFMA - 1st and 2nd Phase
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ALQUEVA GLOBAL WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM
1st Network

2nd Network
3

Subsystems - Alqueva, Ardila and Pedrógão

Total
3

Mini-Hydroelectric Plants

5

-

5

Regulation Structures

27

-

27

Main and Secondary Pumping Stations

13

33

46

Primary and Secondary Dams / Reservoirs / Weirs

46

24

70

Km of Channels

127

0

127

Km of Pipelines

225

1 591

1 816

Km of Tunnel, Siphons and Cut-and-Cover

35

-

35

Km of Access Roads and Services

366

581

947

Km of Drainage Ditches

-

461

461

Retention Basins

11

Water Intakes

82

21

103

Floodgates

139

6

145

Bottom Discharge

359

3 370

3 729

Hydrants

18

3 714

3 732

Irrigation Hydrants

-

7 504

7 504

Sectioning Valves

225

1 098

1 323

Sucking Cups

380

3 533

3 913

-

118

118

Irrigated/Equipped Area (thousand ha)

From the Alvito dam follows the Alvito - Pisão canal, which makes

primary network and the reservoirs, the Alvito, Odivelas, Pisão

the connection to the Pisão dam, followed by the Pisão - Roxo

and Roxo Mini Hydro plants were built, with a total of 7 MW of

canal to the Roxo dam. From the by-pass of the Alvito-Pisão ca-

installed power, optimising, whenever economically viable, the

nal, connections to the Odivelas and Vale de Gaio reservoirs have

entire system with gains in energy efficiency.

been built.
With the start of the second phase of EFMA’s construction, new
In the area surrounding these canals are the perimeters of Monte

areas and hydraulic circuits will be built. The connection of the

Novo, Loureiro-Alvito, Alvito-Pisão, Pisão, Ferreira, Figueirinha

system to Morgavél and the Évora, Cuba-Odivelas and Viana do

and Valbom, Alfundão, Cinco Reis-Trindade, Ervidel, Pisão-Beja,

Alentejo hydraulic circuits is already under construction.

Vale de Gaio and Roxo-Sado. Between the canals or pipes of the

11

Table 1: Alqueva Global Supply System

Alqueva Subsystem

The Alqueva subsystem, which covers an irrigated area of appro-

This subsystem is made up of a set of hydraulic circuits that

ximately 64,000 ha, has its water source in the Alqueva reservoir

ensure connection to the main reservoirs in the region: Monte

and is the largest of the three EFMA subsystems and is developed

Novo, Alvito, Odivelas, Vale de Gaio and Roxo. Through the Ála-

from the Álamos pumping station. This infrastructure makes it

mos canal, connection is made to the Loureiro dam, from where

possible to raise the water to a height of 90 m, through a forced

the Loureiro - Monte Novo canal derives to the Monte Novo dam

pipe 850 m long and 3.2 m in diameter, tothe Álamos reservoirs,

and the Loureiro-Alvito tunnel, which guarantees the supply to

guaranteeing the distribution of water to the entire Alqueva

the Alvito dam.

subsystem, benefiting areas west of Beja and in the centre of
Alentejo.
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Map 2: Alqueva Subsystem - 1st and 2nd Phase
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Ardila subsystem

Pedrógão Subsystem

Located on the left bank of the Guadiana river, the Ardila subsys-

The Ardila subsystem comprises the perimeters of Orada-Amorei-

The Pedrógão subsystem benefits an area of around 24.5 thou-

This subsystem also includes the Pedrógão, São Matias, São Pe-

tem serves a region that cyclically faces serious water shortages.

ra, Brinches, Brinches-Enxoé, Serpa, Pias, Caliços-Machados and

sand ha.

dro-Baleizão and Baleizão-Quintos irrigation blocks.

Its water comes from the Pedrógão reservoir and benefits areas

Caliços - Moura (Moura Gravítico and Alvarrão) (located in the

on the left bank of the Guadiana River in the municipalities of

municipalities of Moura and Serpa), covering a total irrigated area

It starts at the Pedrógão-right bank pumping station (Pedrógão

In the Pedrógão subsystem, as part of the 2nd EFMA infrastructure

Moura and Serpa.

of approximately 30,000 ha.

reservoir), comprising a total of 11 dams or reservoirs, 8 pumping

phase, the construction of the hydraulic circuits and Cabeça Gor-

stations, more than 40 km of primary network and pipelines in

da-Trindade and Marmelar blocks is planned.

It consists of a set of 15 dams or reservoirs, and extends over

In the Ardila subsystem, as part of the 2nd EFMA infrastructure

54 km of primary network, pipes in the secondary network, 13

phase, the S. Bento area and its hydraulic circuit will be built.

the east region of Beja, on the right bank of the Guadiana River.

pumping stations, 1 Hydroelectric Power Plant (Pedrógão) and 1
Mini Hydro plant (Serpa).

Map 3: Ardila Subsystem - 1st and 2nd Phase
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Map 4: Pedrógão Subsystem - 1st and 2nd Phase
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EDIA’S MAIN LEGAL INSTRUMENTS

assigned to the Project, on behalf of the State, and in
accordance with the instructions given by the Minister

EDIA’s main legal and management instruments are summarised

Agreement on Alqueva and Pedrógão
Hydroelectric Power Plants (25 October 2007)

of Agriculture; and
The contract for the operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão

below:

Decree-Law no. 32/95 (11 February)

d.

Promotion, development and pursuance of other economic activities which contribute to the improvement
of the conditions of use of the resources assigned to

Within the scope of its creation by Decree-Law no. 32/95 of 11
the Project..
February, EDIA was given ownership of the rights and obligations
that previously belonged to the respective Installation Committee. Through its corporate object, EDIA was entrusted with the
responsibility of designing, implementing, building and operating

Hydroelectric Power Plants and the sub-concession of the public
hydric domain (for a period of 35 years) was formalised with EDP
on 25 October 2007. This document stipulated the terms for the
operation of the hydroelectric component of the infrastructures
that integrate EFMA’s primary system, and the sub-concession of

Decree Law no. 313/2007 (17 September)
and Public Domain Concession Contract (17
October 2017)

the rights of private use of the associated public hydric domain

The bases of the concession contract between EDIA and the Por-

Decree-Law no. 36/2010 (16 April)

(for the purposes of electricity generation and the implementa-

Concession Contract Concerning the
Management, Operation, Maintenance and
Conservation of the EFMA Secondary Network
Infrastructure (8 April 2013)
Conclusion, on 8 April 2013, of the concession contract for the management, operation, maintenance and conservation of the EFMA
secondary network infrastructures, with the Directorate-General
for Agriculture and Rural Development (DGADR) and the Ministry
of Agriculture, Sea, Environment and Land Planning (MAMAOT).

Order no. 3025/2017 (11 April)

tion of electricity generation infrastructures).

EFMA and promoting the economic and social development of its
area of intervention

tuguese State regarding the use of the public hydric domain allo-

Decree-Law no. 42/2007 (22 February)

cated to EFMA for irrigation and hydroelectric operation purposes
were approved. In the concession contract, signed on 17 October

Decree-Law no. 42/2007 of 22 February defines the legal regi-

2017, EDIA was awarded the concession for the management and

me applicable to the management, operation, maintenance and

operation of the Project and exclusive ownership of the rights of

conservation of infrastructures that integrate EFMA. By modifying

private use of the public hydric domain allocated to EFMA for the

EDIA’s articles of association, this legislation, which arises fol-

purposes of irrigation and hydroelectric operation for a period

lowing the entry into operation of some infrastructures of the

of 75 years.

Project, revokes Decree-Laws no. 32/95, of 11 February, no. 33/95,
Administering the public hydric domain allocated to EFMA within

corporate purpose of the Company in four fundamental axes:

the scope of its activity; granting titles regarding water abstraction for irrigation and power generation; and supervising its use

a.

Use of the public hydric domain allocated to the Pro-

by third parties, instituting, instructing and sanctioning admi-

ject for the purposes of irrigation and hydroelectric

nistrative offence proceedings within this scope, became EDIA’s

exploitation (concession contract signed under the

powers and competences within this legal framework.

dition to other aspects, defines the specific values for operation
and conservation fees, and incorporates a price reduction at the

Decree-Law no. 36/2010 of 16 April has amended Decree-Law no.
42/2007 of 22 February. The legal framework of the Project in light
of the new legal framework for the management and use of water
resources contained in the Water Law, the system for the use of
water resources (Decree-Law no. 226-A/2007 of 31 May) and the
economic and financial system for water resources (Decree-Law
no. 97/2008 of 11 June), was one of the purposes sought with the
establishment of a differentiated and more flexible tariff, follo-

of 11 February and no. 335/2001, of 24 December, embodying the

Establishes the current tariff system for Alqueva, which, in ad-

wing the entry into operation of the first perimeters of EFMA. The

end of the primary network with the resulting repercussions on
the other tariffs, changing the discount system defined in 2010
and defining the tariff system for the situation of precarious irrigators and for direct abstraction. This order also established
the value of water tariffs for uses other than irrigation for agricultural use. With regard to the discount system, the new version
considers that these will be in force 3 years after the perimeters
come into operation, as follows (% water tariff payable by consumers): Year 1 (40%); Year 2 (60%); Year 3 (80%); Year 4 (100%).

legislation published also aimed to clarify the contextualisation
of the economic and financial environment in order to optimise
the management of resources and ensure the future economic
sustainability of EDIA and EFMA.

terms of Law no. 58/2005 of 29 December);
EDIA has prepared a draft Addendum to integrate in this conb.

Design, implementation and construction of the in-

cession contract, infrastructures built or to be built, associated

frastructures integrating the primary system of the

with the uses of the public hydric domain, under the terms of

Project, as well as their management, operation,

paragraph 3 of clause 6: of the contract and which become part of

maintenance and conservation;

the primary system of the Project, updating the characterisation
and description of the EFMA water distribution system, currently

c.

Design, implementation and construction of the in-

under analysis by the Ministry.

frastructures that comprise the secondary network
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RELATÓRIO E CONTAS - EXERCÍCIO DE 2020
CHRONOLOGY OF THE ALQUEVA MULTIPURPOSE PROJECT

2020

Celebration of EDIA's 25th anniversary
Start of EFMA enlargement works
Publication of the 1st PNRegadios application call, on 29 April 2019, approved by the Portuguese State and financed

2019

through the EIB and the CEB
Contracting of the loan with the CEB to finance the Alqueva Photovoltaic Project
Signing of the contracts between the Portuguese State and the EIB and CEB to finance the

2018

Publication of the Council of Ministers Resolution no. 133/2018, dated 12 October, which approves the PNRegadios - 2nd
Phase of EFMA

2017
2016
2015
2014

Initiation of preliminary procedures for the infrastructure of the 2nd phase of EFMA with the construction of around 50
thousand hectares of new irrigated land
Conclusion of the 1st phase of the Alqueva Venture
Expression of Interest at the European Investment Bank within the scope of the Junker Plan to finance the PNRegadios
Commemoration of EDIA’s 20th anniversary, with the exhibition “Alqueva: 20 years of work, 200 millennia of history”, in
the Torre Oca of the Jerónimos Monastery
Signing of the last construction contracts for the 1st Phase of the EFMA Global Water Supply System
Presentation of the "Alqueva" brand

2013

25

Signing of the concession contract for the management, operation, maintenance and conservation of the secondary
network infrastructure of EFMA

2010

The maximum heightof the Alqueva dam's reservoir (152.00 m) was reached on 12 January
Completion of the connection of Alqueva to all the public supply reservoirs in the EFMA area

2009

Start of the process of transferring water to the Alvito reservoir

2008

Start of the process to transfer water to the Monte-Novo reservoir

2007
2006

Public water domain concession contract
Contract for the operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão hydroelectric plants awarded to EDP
Inauguration of the Pedrógão hydroelectric plant
"Puente de Alcântara" international award

2004

Start of the supply of water for irrigation, by Infrastructure 12

2003

Start of power production at the Alqueva plant, in a trial period

2002

Closure of the Alqueva floodgates

1998

Start of concreting at the Alqueva dam

1995

Creation of EDIA, S.A.

1993

Decision to resume work

1978

Interruption of works

1976

Start of preliminary works

1957

Alentejo Irrigation Plan

Photo: Beringel DAM
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HUMAN RESOURCES

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

a.

Management and operation of the supply systems, ensuring the functioning of the supply

During the period under analysis, the Company’s main challenges

and distribution networks, as well as all the

were to promote performance excellence and the achievement

equipment and infrastructure;

of its objectives, in a context of rigour and cost containment,
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

bearing in mind the Government guidelines applicable to public

CHAIRMAN: JOSÉ PEDRO SALEMA
MEMBER: AUGUSTA CACHOUPO
MEMBER: JORGE VAZQUEZ

b.

companies.

The immediate assessment and reporting of
disturbances in the exercise of the activities
provided for in the preceding subparagraph.”

During the first half of the year and during the pandemic situation
SECRETARIAT
Legal Support Office

EXPLORATION
OBSERVATORY

PEDRO AIRES

Public Relations &
Communication Office

SECURITY
OBSERVATORY

INNOVATION
OBSERVATORY

Development and Social
Responsibility Office

A/20201, of 3 April (regulations specifically applicable to EDIA/

as for strengthening public and industrial supply, these guideli-

EFMA), issued by the Office of the Minister of Agriculture, which,

nes aimed to ensure and guarantee the regular operation of this

in its paragraph 4, establishes the following guidelines for EDIA,

essential service for the functioning of our society. Despite this

during the context of the pandemic:

context, the Company thus continued to guarantee the supply of

JOÃO MARTINS

Infrastructure & Energy
Direction

Economy of Water and
Customer Support Direction

Heritage Management
Direction

Management and
Finance Direction

JORGE VAZQUEZ

ISABEL GRAZINA

JOSÉ FILIPE SANTOS

DIOGO NASCIMENTO

AUGUSTA CACHOPO

Planning, Studies
and Projects Department

Primary Infrastructure
Construction Department

Water Economy
Department

Heritage Management
Department

ALEXANDRA CARVALHO

JOÃO MATIAS

JOSÉ COSTA GOMES

GONÇALO SEBASTIÃO

Environmental & Heritage
Impact Department

Irrigation Infrastructure
Construction Department

Commercial Department

Expropriations
Department

LUÍSA PINTO

DORA AMADOR

Environment and
Territorial Planning
Department

Maintenance, Operation &
Security Department

MARIA DA COLA
LOURENÇO

Luz Museum and Noudar
Nature Park

“4 — In order to ensure the continuity and uninterruptibi-

ding, making Alqueva the example of solidarity-based agricul-

lity of the provision of public water supply services for the

ture.

exercise of agricultural activity, the Empresa de Desenvol-

Engineering, Environment
and Planning Direction

Administrative & Financial
Management Department

vimento e Infraestruturas do Alqueva, S. A., must continue

In this context, the Company adopted several measures, of which

to guarantee the following essential activities:

the following are highlighted:

1
Order no. 4146-A/2020 - Establishes essential services and the necessary measures to ensure normal conditions of production, transport, distribution and supply of agricultural and livestock goods and services, and those essential to the agri-food chain, within the scope
of the powers of the bodies and services of the Ministry of Agriculture.

CARLOS FREITAS
Investment Planning &
Control Department

PEDRO MACHADO

Accounts Department

NUNO FELIZARDO

HÉLIA FONSECA

Geographic Information &
Cartography Department

Irrigation Infrastructure
Exploration Department

Information
Technologies Department

DUARTE CARREIRA

JOSÉ CARLOS SAIÃO

ANA ILHÉU

As EDIA is responsible for supplying water for irrigation as well

water to its customers as well as the support it has been provi-

CARLOS SILVA

ANA PALMA

that gripped the country, it is worth mentioning Order no. 4146-

LUÍS ESTEVES

Cartography Centre

Human Resources
Department

JACINTO FRANCO

JOÃO CRUZ

Photo: EDIA
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GOVERNING BODIES
•

Drawing up and approval of a Specific Contingency Plan;

During 2020, and as a way of promoting the recognition and

EDIA’s governing bodies were appointed for the 2018-2020 triennium at the General Meeting held in 2018.

appreciation of its human resources, EDIA continued to invest
•

•

Acquisition of hygiene and protection products, namely

in the training of its employees, in order to raise their level

hand sanitizer, masks, visors, among others;

of technical, relational and social skills for the benefit of both

Chairman

themselves and the Company.

Dr Henrique António de Oliveira Troncho

General Meeting

Secretaries

In cases where the nature of the functions allows it, emplo-

Dr Ana Luísa Louro da Graça Peixito Soares

yees have been placed on teleworking;

On 31 December 2020, EDIA had in its personnel 179 employees
(among

•

permanent

and

fixed-term

contract

employees),

Reduction in the number of employees to 1 in each room/

distributed by the different categories as shown in the chart

office, with weekly rotation; and

below.

Eng José António Sequeira Brito Ramos

Board of Directors
Chairman
Eng José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema
Members
Dr Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

•

Customer service is now provided by telephone and/or email.

Given the small size of EDIA’s personnel in relation to its
responsibilities and the current size of the project for which

Eng Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

Supervisory Board
Chairwoman

Measures to protect against the pandemic have been reinforced,

it is responsible, balance has only been achieved through a

complying with the Specific Contingency Plan approved in March

strong commitment of human resources and the introduction

Members

2020, as well as the guidelines issued by the Directorate-General

of the concepts of flexibility and versatility (which has allowed

Dr Nelson Manuel Costa dos Santos

for Health (DGS).

the gradual conversion of employees from the construction to

Dr Sara Alexandra Pereira Simões Duarte Ambrósio

Dr Hugo Alberto Cordeiro Lobo2
Alternate Member

the operation areas, and the transfer of employees between
It should also be noted here the attitude of solidarity shown

departments according to the specific needs of the Company).

by EDIA towards those who sought in some way to help in

Dr Cristina Maria Pereira Mascarenhas Vieira Sampaio

Statutory Auditor
RCA - Rosa, Correia e Associados, SROC, S.A., represented by Paulo Fernando da Silva Pereira

the fight against the pandemic, having associated itself with
2
Dr Hugo Alberto Cordeiro Lobo (Member 2 of the Supervisory Board) ceased functions on 27 March 2020, no replacement having been appointed for his position. Dr Hugo Alberto Cordeiro Lobo had been elected at the General Meeting of 4 October 2019 as a full member of
the Supervisory Board to follow the 2018-2020 mandate, with effect from 21 October 2019. (The previous member – Eng. Gonçalo Mendes de Freitas Leal, ceased functions on 20 September 2018).

solidarity movements in the fight against COVID-19, particularly
in terms of fundraising for the Unidade Local de Saúde do Baixo
Alentejo [Local Health Unit of Baixo Alentejo] (ULSBA), for Cáritas

Employees per professional category

Photo: Espinheira Reservoir

Diocesana of Beja and also in the purchase and offer of fabric
for the production of protective equipment for ULSBA health
professionals.

50

105

Higher Technicians

24

Technicians

Expert Technicians

Chart 1: Employees by category - EDIA
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CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

FRAMEWORK

EFMA has its direct area of influence in the Alentejo region, spread

countries and sectors of activity. The policy response - monetary,

over 20 municipalities and 4 districts. EFMA is a structuring pro-

fiscal and prudential - was unprecedented in magnitude, speed

ject, mobilizing a diversified set of activities, sustaining an in-

and coordination and was decisive in mitigating the damage of

tegrated development process in a very vast region with great

the crisis.

asymmetries.

EFMA is a structuring

In this context, we present below a framework of the main econoThe Alentejo corresponds to about 1/3 of the territory of mainland

mic indicators, analyses and projections, issued in the Economic

third quarter (chain variation of 13.3%). The worsening of the

Portugal. It is a region with low population density, but with a

Bulletin (December 2020), of the Bank of Portugal, recorded in the

health situation, in Portugal, in the fourth quarter required the

high agricultural potential.

world and in Portugal. The economic outlook remains surrounded

implementation of additional measures to control the pandemic,

by a high level of uncertainty, being highly dependent on disease

interrupting the dynamics of economic recovery.

The lack of water in this region was one of the main constraints

developments and the speed of large-scale vaccination. Although

on its development, preventing the modernisation of agriculture

economic activity is projected to pick up in 2021, its pace will be

and the sustainability of public supply. To solve the water pro-

conditioned by the impact of the crisis on productive capacity and

blems the region suffered, the largest artificial lake in Europe was

by the necessary reallocation of resources between companies

created, the Alqueva reservoir, which main objective is to enable

and between sectors.

the irrigation of the Alentejo region.

GLOBAL FRAMEWORK
After falling by 9.4% in the first half of 2020 compared to the end
of 2019, global economic activity recovered during the summer

The COVID-19 pandemic caused an unprecedented contraction

months and in the third quarter, global GDP grew above expecta-

In 2020, the economic activity, in Portugal and in the rest of the

in economic activity in the first half of 2020 (cumulative drop

tions (7.3% quarter-on-quarter). The resurgence of the number of

world, was deeply affected by the pandemic COVID-19, by the

of 17.3% compared to the end of 2019). The gradual lifting of

cases of COVID-19, particularly in advanced economies, led to the

containment measures and by the impact on the behaviour of

the containment measures from May onwards and the strong su-

reintroduction of containment measures, conditioning activity in

economic agents. Economic losses were differentiated across

pport of public policies contributed to a rapid recovery in the

the most affected sectors and the confidence of economic agents.
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project, mobilising
a diversified set of
activities, sustaining
an integrated
development process
in a vast region with
great asymmetries.
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Projections December 2020

Revisions vis-à-vis EB June 2020

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2019

2020

2021

2022

DOMESTIC FRAMEWORK

International Framework
World GDP

tva

2,7

-3,5

5,6

3,9

3,4

0,0

1,0

-0,4

0,1

GDP in the euro area

tva

1,3

-7,3

3,9

4,2

2,1

0,1

1,4

-1,3

0,9

World Trade

tva

0,6

-9,5

7,1

4,3

3,6

-0,1

3,2

-1,7

-0,2

External demand

tva

1,7

-12,6

7,1

5,6

3,7

0,1

2,5

-0,9

Oil price in dollars

vma

64,0

41,6

44,0

45,7

46,9

0,0

5,5

Oil price in euros

vma

57,2

36,5

37,2

38,6

39,7

0,0

3,5

BE October
2020

BE December 2020

BE June 2020

Weight 2019

2019

2020 (p)

2021 (p)

2022 (p)

2023(p)

2020 (p)

2020 (p)

2021 (p)

2022 (p)

Gross Domestic Product

100

2,2

-8,1

3,9

4,5

2,4

-8,1

-9,5

5,2

3,8

-0,1

Private Consumption

63,9

2,4

-6,8

3,9

3,3

1,9

-6,2

-8,9

7,7

3,0

-6,2

4,9

Public Consumption

16,9

0,7

0,4

4,9

0,4

0,7

1,2

0,6

0,7

0,8

-4,7

1,0

Gross Fixed Capital Formation

18,2

5,4

-2,8

4,4

5,2

2,0

-4,7

-11,1

5,0

4,5

Domestic Demand

99,8

2,7

-5,6

3,9

3,1

1,8

-5,0

-8,2

6,0

2,9

Exports

43,5

3,5

-20,1

9,2

12,9

6,7

-19,5

-25,3

11,5

11,2

Imports

43,3

4,7

-14,4

8,8

9,1

5,1

-12,4

-22,4

13,5

8,5

Monetary and financial
conditions
Short-term interest rate
(3-month EURIBOR)

%

-0,4

-0,4

-0,5

-0,5

-0,5

0,0

-0,1

-0,1

-0,1

Implicit interest rate of public
debt

%

2,6

2,3

2,0

1,9

1,8

0,1

-0,4

-0,7

-0,9

Euro effective exchange rate
index

tva

-1,5

3,2

2,0

0,0

0,0

0,0

3,5

1,9

0,0

Domestic demand

1,5

-2,6

2,6

1,5

0,8

-2,6

-3,2

3,3

1,4

Euro-dollar exchange rate

vma

1,12

1,14

1,18

1,18

1,18

0,0

4,6

9,3

9,3

Exports of goods

0,2

-0,7

1,5

0,4

0,3

-0,9

-0,9

0,9

0,4

0,5

-4,8

-0,2

2,6

1,3

-4,6

-5,3

1,0

2,0

0,8

-2,3

0,0

1,3

0,9

-2,8

-4,5

2,0

1,5

1,2

-10,8

7,3

2,9

0,9

-10,8

-7,6

5,4

1,5

Unemployment rate (c)

6,5

7,2

8,8

8,1

7,4

7,5

10,1

8,9

7,6

Current and Capital Account
(% GDP)

0,9

-0,6

0,5

2,3

2,7

-0,6

0,3

0,3

0,3

Goods and Services Account
(% GDP)

0,4

-1,6

-1,9

-0,5

0,1

-1,9

-0,5

-1,3

-0,5

Harmonised Consumer Price Index

0,3

-0,2

0,3

0,9

1,1

0,0

0,1

0,8

1,1

Energy Goods

-1,7

-5,3

-2,0

0,9

0,5

-4,9

-5,7

1,4

2,4

Excluding energy goods

0,5

0,3

0,6

0,9

1,1

0,4

0,7

0,8

1,0

Contribution to GDP growth,
net of imports (pp) (a)

Exports of services
Source: Eurosystem (Banco de Portugal calculations).
Notes: BE - Economic Bulletin, aav- annual average value, % - as a percentage, arc- annual rate of change.
Technical and external assumptions and Eurosystem staff projections for euro area GDP and inflation”, December 2020).
The assumptions include the information available up to 18 November. An increase in the exchange rate corresponds to an appreciation. The revision of the euro-dollar exchange rate is presented in %.
The technical assumption for the bilateral exchange rate assumes that the average levels observed in the two weeks prior to the cut-off date will be maintained over the projection horizon.
The technical assumption for the oil price is based on futures markets. The evolution of the 3-month EURIBOR is based on expectations implied in futures contracts.
The implicit interest rate of the Portuguese government debt is calculated as the ratio between interest expenditure for the year and the simple average of the debt stock at the end of the year and at the end of the previous year.
The projection for the implicit interest rate on the debt is based on an estimate which includes assumptions for interest rates associated with new issuances..						
				

Table 2: International framework

After a fall of 3.5% in 2020, global GDP grows by 5.6% in 2021

and the United Kingdom will be governed by the conditions of the

and 3.7% on average in the following two years. In the euro area,

Most Favoured Nation Clause established under the World Trade

economic activity falls by 7.3% in 2020 and increases by 3.9% in

Organization, implying higher barriers to trade between the two

2021 and around 3% on average in 2022-23. The expected pace of

regions and contributing to the downward revision of external

economic recovery is differentiated among countries, reflecting,

demand directed to Portugal.

Employment (number of persons)
Employment (hours worked)

(b)

(b)

Source: Bank of Portugal and INE.
Notes: EB - Economic Bulletin, (p) - projected, pp - percentage points.
For each aggregate, the projection corresponding to the most likely value is presented, conditional on the set of assumptions considered.
(a)
Demand aggregates in net import terms are obtained by deducting an estimate of imports needed to satisfy each component.
The calculation of import contents was made on the basis of information relating to 2015.
(b)
National Accounts concept.
(C)
As a percentage of the labour force.

Table 3: National Framework

among other factors, the weight in the productive structure of
the sectors most affected by social distancing and the scope and

According to the technical assumptions of the financial year, the

duration of the economic policy response.

three-month EURIBOR remains at -0.4% in 2020 and declines to

According to the table above, the projections of the Bank of Por-

the basket consumed, observing an increase in the consumption

-0.5% in the three years thereafter. The implicit interest rate on

tugal point to a fall in GDP of 8.1% in 2020.

of essential goods and a fall in expenses on durable goods and
services, particularly in services requiring social interaction. With

World trade falls by 9.5% in 2020 and grows by 7.1% in 2021 and

government debt declines over the projection horizon, from 2.6%

4.0% on average in the following two years. The recovery of trade

in 2019 to 1.8% in 2023, reflecting the assumption that interest

According to the Economic Bulletin, private consumption, the

the gradual lifting of restrictions, private consumption increased

is expected to be conditioned by international tourism and trans-

rates on new issuance remain low.

main component of demand, will fall by 6.8% in 2020, with grow-

by 12.8% quarter-on-quarter in the third quarter. Purchases of

port flows, and by a reorganisation of global production chains.

ths of 3.9%, 3.3% and 1.9% in the period 2021-23. In the first half

durable goods recovered faster (surpassing the pre-crisis level),

External demand for Portugal decreases by 12.6% in 2020 and

of 2020, households significantly reduced their consumption ex-

while in services the improvement was slower. In the fourth quar-

grows by 7.1% in 2021 and 4.7% on average in the period 2022-

penses (change of -15.4% in cumulative terms compared to the

ter the recovery in private consumption was reversed, with an es-

23. It is assumed that, from 2021 onwards, trade between the EU

end of 2019). The initial shock had very differentiated effects on

timated quarter-on-quarter decline much less than in the second
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quarter. The impact on household income in 2020 was cushioned

to 0.3% in 2021, 0.9% in 2022 and 1.1% in 2023. Compared with

by government measures, including credit moratoria. The savings

projections for the euro area, price developments are more mo-

rate in the first half of the year stood at 14.3% of disposable

derate in Portugal.

income, an increase of 6.9 pp compared to the end of 2019, with
a partial reversal in the second half of the year.

ALTERNATIVE SCENARIOS FOR THE
PORTUGUESE ECONOMY

In 2020, Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF) is estimated to decline by 2.8% and for 2021-23, an average growth of 3.9% is projected, implying that this aggregate is, at the end of the projection horizon, above that recorded in 2019. The fall in investment
in 2020 was lower than in previous recessions and, compared to
most European countries, GFCF fell less in Portugal, reflecting the
growth of the construction sector.

The fall in activity in 2020 reflects the reduction in domestic de-

Bulletin of Bank of Portugal for the outlook of the Portuguese
economy in the coming months, depending on the evolution of
the pandemic, containment measures in Portugal and the rest of
the world, economic policies and the reaction of economic agents
to these developments. Thus, in addition to the base projection

ports of goods recover more quickly than those of services, which
remain constrained by the evolution of tourism.

2021

2022

2023

Baseline Scenario

-12,6

7,1

5,6

3,7

Moderate Scenario

-12,2

11,5

5,4

4,0

Severe scenario

-13,3

1,1

4,5

5,6

External Demand

GDP in Portugal

(baseline scenario), a more moderate scenario and a more severe

Baseline Scenario

-8,1

3,9

4,5

2,4

scenario were considered.

Moderate Scenario

-8

5,9

3,1

2,0

-8,2

1,3

5,2

2,4

mand and exports, highlighting the very negative contribution of
exports of services, in particular tourism-related services. Im-

2020

Two scenarios were presented in the December 2020 Economic

Severe scenario

The moderate scenario assumed a decrease in infections, following the recent increase, and a medical solution by early 2021,

In: BE - Economic Bulletin (December 2020)
Source: Eurosystem and Bank of Portugal

with large-scale spread by the end of the year. It also includes
Table 4: Economic Indicator Scenarios

effective coordination and implementation of national and EuroEmployment is expected to fall by 2.3% in 2020, which is less than
would be expected given the relationship between employment
and activity observed in previous recessions. This attenuated
reaction reflected the impact of business support measures, in
particular the simplified layoff scheme and support for the sel-

pean policies in response to the pandemic. National fiscal policy
and European support support the recovery of the economy. In a
framework of reduced uncertainty, new investments by companies materialise and household savings for precautionary reasons
decrease.

110

The severe scenario assumed greater difficulty in controlling the

105

f-employed.

The current and capital account balance becomes negative in 2020
(-0.6% of GDP), interrupting the period of external surpluses recorded since the previous crisis. The net borrowing of the Portuguese economy results from the deterioration of the balance of
goods and services, to -1.6% of GDP (0.4% in 2019). This change
is determined by a negative volume effect associated with the
contraction of tourism flows, partially offset by a positive terms
of trade effect linked to the sharp drop in oil prices. The more
severe impact of the pandemic on services implies a further deterioration of the balance of goods and services.

Inflation, measured by the variation rate of the Harmonised Index
of Consumer Prices (HICP), stands at -0.2% in 2020, increasing
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BE December 2019 Projection
Baseline Scenario

growth of new cases by the end of 2020 and an increase in new
infections in the first quarter of 2021. This context calls for a

Moderate Scenario

100

Severe Scenario

strengthening of containment measures, including the possibility of introducing more stringent and prolonged containment.

95

The effective medical solution emerges in the first half of 2021,
but its large-scale implementation is gradual. This scenario also

90

assumes that the reaction of policymakers mitigates the effects
of the crisis. In the fiscal dimension, a strengthening and extension of the support measures implemented is considered and, in

85
2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

Source: Bank of Portugal

monetary policy, the adoption of measures that limit the financial
amplification of the crisis. Thus, the comparison between the dif-

Chart 2: Economic indicators scenarios compared to the 2019 forecast

ferent scenarios can be analysed in the following chart and table.
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Photo: Pias Pumping Station and Dam

CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

ACTIVITIES DEVELOPED IN 2020

INFRASTRUCTURES IN OPERATION (1ST
PHASE OF EFMA)

on the equipment of the Beringel reservoir, on the floodgates and

With regard to corrective maintenance actions, tests were carried

actuators of the various Loureiro-Monte Novo canal infrastructu-

out during this year on the motor of group no. 2 of the Álamos

res, on the emergency generators of the Amoreira, Serpa, Brin-

pumping station, as well as the cleaning of canals and reservoirs

ches and Laje dams, and on the filters of the Magra filtration sta-

of the EFMA primary network. Additionally, mention should be

tion, which included the cleaning and repair of components of the

made of the repairs carried out on motor no. 2 at the Pedró-

Regarding the observation and behaviour of dams, and in com-

motor gearboxes, can be highlighted. We should also highlight

gão-Left Bank pumping station, following the breakdown of the

pliance with the provisions of the observation plans for the dams

the maintenance of the electric pump groups of the Pedrógão,

bearing on the coupling side and the repair of the sieves of the

comprising EFMA’s primary infrastructures, in 2020, the campaigns

Left Bank, Right Bank and S. Matias pumping stations, as well as

water intake of the Penedrão-Roxo hydraulic circuit, as well as

provided for therein were carried out for reading the installed

groups 2 and 4 of the S. Pedro pumping station and the Álamos

the intervention at the Pedrógão-Left Bank pumping station with

observation apparatus, and the good behaviour of these various

pumping station.

the replacement of the lower bearing of motor no. 2, in the au-

Primary and Secondary Networks

tomation systems for cleaning the grids of the ER10 and ER12 re-

structures and their hydraulic-operational safety equipment continued to be verified. During the year, several specialised visits

Also within the scope of preventive maintenance, during 2020,

gulation structures of the Alvito-Pisão Canal and the replacement

were made to different infrastructures of the Project.

maintenance work was carried out on the manoeuvring bodies

of bearings in the pump of group no. 3 at the S. Matias pumping

of canal regulation structures, pumping stations, Hydroelectric

station.

In the period under review there were several preventive and cor-

Power Plants and grate cleaners, namely, the lubrication of the

rective maintenance interventions in various infrastructures of

bearings of the electric pump groups, the cleaning of the grates

Also of note is the execution of the reinforcement of the slab

the primary network.

of the reservoir water intakes and of the siphon intakes, as well

of the engines of the electro-pump groups of the Álamos Pum-

as the cleaning of algae in canal stretches and in debris collec-

ping Station, to mitigate the abnormal levels of vibration in the

tion ditches.

groups, as well as the assembly of generator group no. 2 of the

The preventive maintenance work carried out on the equipment of
the Álamo, Brinches and Pedrógão - Left Bank pumping stations,
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Photo: S. Pedro Pumping Station

Alvito Hydroelectric Power Plant.
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In the secondary network, during 2020, the actions inherent to the

at São Matias, as well as the upgrading and rigidification of the

It should also be highlighted the integration of Alqueva in an

Regarding the analysis of the values of adhesion and water con-

implementation of the irrigation campaign and other processes

groups installed at the Almeidas pumping station.

innovative international project of water leakage detection in

sumption in the EFMA perimeters on 31 December 2019 and 31

large distribution networks - Project H2020 WADI. This project is

December 2020, there was an increase in adhesion of about 9.5%

took place, having been ensured all the operation and management component associated with the various infrastructures that

Given the period in which we live, associated to the state of

one of the challenges identified under Horizon 2020, and aims to

(8,925 ha), with the area registered at the end of the year being

integrate the Project.

emergency, some deferred preventive maintenance was resumed

contribute to the creation of a water and energy efficient society,

103,232 ha. As for water consumption at the end of 2020, it stood

in the last half of the year, as in the case of medium voltage,

resilient to the impacts of climate change.

at 282,563,426 m3, a value slightly lower than the consumption

The registration of beneficiaries in irrigation campaigns conti-

motors and variable speed drives. At the same time, alternatives

nued, as well as the execution of conditioned preventive mainte-

to the tele management systems implemented, and already deac-

nance and monthly/quarterly readings, which support the invoi-

tivated, due to being obsolete, were analysed and the cleaning of

cing of consumption, using NAVIA software.

semi-excavated reservoirs with HDPE mesh lining began.

verified in the same period , as shown in the table below.

2020
It should also be mentioned that pressure tests were carried out

Alqueva Perimeters

In addition to the management, maintenance and conservation of

Benefited Area
ha

at the beginning of the year on equipment installed at the pum-

EFMA, throughout 2020 EDIA has multidisciplinary teams working

ping stations of Estácio, Beringel, Beja, Almeidas, Baronia, Pias

daily in the field to ensure the full operability of the system, and

and Rio de Moinhos. And subsequently, in the Pedrógão subsys-

contact with farmers is made directly, based on a policy of pro-

tem, the start of work to expand the filtering station of Block 2

ximity, seeking solutions that ensure the efficient use of water.

Photo: Almeidas Pumping Station

2019

Registered Area

Consumption
ha

Benefited Area
m

ha

3

56 005

Consumption
ha

47 955

m3

56 005

53 227

Monte Novo

7 714

11 124

22 823 126

7 714

8 287

22 332 704

Alvito - Pisão

8 452

7 794

23 476 224

8 452

7 085

25 048 992

Pisão

2 588

1 747

6 830 553

2 588

1 657

8 013 673

Alfundão

4 216

4 145

11 458 886

4 216

4 113

12 286 453

Ferreira, Figueirinha and Valbom

5 118

3 254

8 567 829

5 118

3 629

10 991 045

Loureiro - Alvito

1 050

903

3 513 882

1 050

878

3 827 436

Ervidel

8 228

6 460

19 124 111

8 228

5 805

18 770 966

Cinco Reis - Trindade

5 600

7 121

22 616 616

5 600

6 607

23 095 026

Vale do Gaio

3 903

2 937

6 625 635

3 903

2 772

6 965 100

Alqueva Subsystem

146 614 084

Registered Area

149 464 419

Beringel-Beja

5 103

4 740

16 815 587

5 103

4 546

15 067 918

Roxo - Sado

4 033

3 002

4 761 635

4 033

2 576

3 065 106

Ardila Subsystem

28 562

25 580

65 459 698

28 562

24 043

67 706 773

Orada - Amoreira

2 522

2 129

3 900 577

2 522

2 008

4 607 549

Brinches

5 463

4 646

10 445 720

5 463

4 302

10 913 722

Brinches - Enxoé

4 698

4 838

14 399 208

4 698

4 810

14 393 037

Serpa

4 400

3 922

11 344 531

4 400

3 904

12 667 723

Pias

4 698

3 599

9 041 618

4 698

3 338

9 545 476

Caliços - Machados

4 664

4 396

12 550 755

4 664

3 743

11 597 273

Caliços - Moura

2 117

2 050

3 777 289

2 117

1 938

3 981 993

Pedrógão Subsystem

70 489 644

23 913

22 309

76 168 959

23 913

24 425

Pedrógão Margem Direita

4 016

3 937

7 724 279

4 016

3 616

9 886 515

Baleizão - Quintos

7 999

8 311

23 979 257

7 999

7 269

23 692 320

São Pedro - Baleizão

6 035

7 172

20 460 671

6 035

6 921

23 990 545

S. Matias

5 863

5 005

18 325 437

5 863

4 503

18 599 579

108 480

103 232

282 563 426

108 480

94 308

293 340 151

Total

* CIEFMA data as at 5 March 2021.
Note: Occasionally, small changes may occur in comparative figures for previous periods

Table 5: Water consumption at the EFMA perimeters
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The following table shows the water reinforcements made to re-

In general, the following can be concluded:

Alqueva Reservoir - Stored Volume / Useful volume Annual Variation 2020 (hm3)

servoirs, water sources, mainly from neighbouring perimeters and
public supply. In general terms, and compared with the same pe-

•

The total volume of water distributed was 394.91 hm3. Com-

riod in the previous year, there was an increase in these supplies

paring this figure with the 374.69 hm3 that occurred in 2019,

in 2020.

there is an increase of 20.21 hm3, i.e. about 5.39%;

Stored Volume

Useful Volume

3000

2500
m

3

Supplies

•

In the perimeters there was a decrease in consumption in

2020

2019

all EFMA subsystems (10.77 hm3), which represents about

0

3 297 938

3.67%, being this decrease, in absolute terms, more pro-

Campilhas e Alto Sado

11 894 677

13 337 135

Águas de Santo André

11 122 151

8 162 184

Vigia

3 145 870

2 403 725

Enxoé*

1 234 479

211 680

647 507

2 550 795

Roxo**

26 856 703

5 608 485

Odivelas

37 002 000

23 095 000

1 179 000

-

93 082 387

58 666 942

Vale de Gaio

Monte Novo

Luz

Total

2000

nounced in the Pedrógão subsystem. This reduction is a
consequence of the weather conditions experienced in this

1500

semester, marked by some periods of rainfall;

1000
•

Dec/19

The increase in supplies that influenced the overall results

Jan/20

Feb/20 Mar/20 Apr/20

was seen in the reinforcement of neighbouring reservoirs,

Apr/20

May/20 Jun/20

Nov/20 Dec/20

Chart 3: Volume of water stored in the Alqueva reservoir

at the end of 2019;
hm3

The value recorded in direct abstraction suffered a slight

Alqueva Reservoir

In this period, the global volume of water distributed

Table 6: EFMA water supply consumption

decrease in comparison with the same period of the preRegarding the consumption associated with direct abstractions, a
value of 19,261,730 m3 was recorded during 2020, which reflected
a decrease compared to the consumption observed in the same
period.

(394.91 hm3) represents around 63.70% of the volume of wa-

Date

Stored Volume

Useful Volume

ter allocated to priority uses defined in the concession contract

dez/2020

2 734

1 734

dez/2019

2 873

1 873

dez/2018

3 141

2 414

vious year, as a result, as with the reduction in supply to the
perimeters, of the meteorological conditions that occurred
(620 hm3), and 22.8% of the useful volume of the Alqueva reserduring the period.
voir at the end of 2020 (1,734 hm3).
In 2020, the evolution of the stored and useful volumes of the
Alqueva reservoir was as follows:

m

3

2020

2019

Consumption

19 261 730

22 686 411

Total

19 261 730

22 686 411

Useful Volume
1 873

jan/20

2 872

1 872

fev/20

2 826

1 826

The total consumption for Alqueva in 2020 is summarised in the

mar/20

2 786

1 786

table below:

abr/20

2 772

1 772

abr/20

2 865

1 865

mai/20

2 769

1 769

jun/20

2 767

1 767

Table 7: EFMA water abstraction consumption

m3

282 563 426

293 340 151

Supply

93 082 387

jul/20

2 646

1 646

ago/20

2 505

1 505

58 666 942

set/20

2 459

1 459

out/20

2 464

1 464

nov/20

2 589

1 589

dez/20

2 734

1 734

Direct abstractions

19 261 730

22 686 411

Total Consumption

394 907 543

374 693 504

2 245

dez/2015

3 209

2 209

Alqueva Reservoir
2 873

Alqueva Perimeters

1 786

3 245

hm

Stored Volume

2019

2 786

dez/2016

Table 10: Volume of water in the Alqueva reservoir - variation 2015-2020

Date

2020

dez/2017

3

dez/19

Alqueva Reservoir - Stored Volume / Useful Volume - Homogenous Variation (hm3)

Stored Volume

Useful Volume
3 245

3 141
2 873

2 734

2 414
1 734

Dec/2020

3 209

2 786

1 734

Dec/2019

2 245

2 209

1 786

Dec/2018

Dec/2017

Dec/2016

Dec/2015

Chart 4: Volume of water stored in the Alqueva reservoir

Note: These are volumes counted at the end of each month
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Oct/20

increase supplies after very low storage levels were noted

•

Table 8: Total Consumption - EFMA

Aug/20 Sep/20

with an increase of around 34.42 hm3, due to the need to

* No flow meter installed, value calculated by estimate and validated by AgdA.
** For Roxo the difference between the adduced and received volumes must be calculated
Adduced - Received in the year (57,538,000ha-30,681,297ha=26,856,703ha)

Direct Abstractions

Jul/20

Table 9: Volume of the Alqueva reservoir 2020
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The change in useful volume of the Alqueva reservoir between

In terms of hydroelectric power production, the Alvito, Odivelas,

1 January (1,873 hm3) and 31 December 2020 (1,734 hm3), recor-

Roxo, Serpa and Pisão plants produced, in 2020, 11,779 MWh which

ded a decrease of 139 hm3. At the end of December, the Alqueva

represents an increase of 44.9% compared with the same period

reservoir was at a height of 145, representing about 55% of the

of the previous year. It should be noted that the Roxo hydroe-

useful volume stored.

Energy

lectric power plant did not work, during this period, since it is in

2019

that, in 2020, the plants at the pumping station of Cuba Este and

Alvito Hydroelectric Plant

3 983

3 461

Lage entered into production, which contributed 53.6% of total

Odivelas Hydroelectric Plant

5 996

360

production in the year.

Roxo Hydroelectric Plant

-

-

Serpa Hydroelectric Plant

1 156

1 930

Pisão Hydroelectric Plant

Hydro plant. These works are conditioned by the current pan-

Total

demic situation, and the normal operation of this infrastructure

Novo, Loureiro-Alvito, Cuba - Este and Lage. It should be noted

2020

Hydroelectric Power Generation

the process of repairing damage to the turbine of the Roxo Mini

is expected to be restored in 2021. It should be noted that the
In recent years EDIA has been focusing on energy solutions that

MWh

644

736

11 779

6 487

Note: Data extracted from NAVIA 22-01-2021

Table 11: Hydroelectric power generation - EFMA

Odivelas hydroelectric power plant only started producing energy

MWh

Photovoltaic Energy Production

2020

2019

Alqueva Plant

57

47

Registered Office Plant

138

160

Orada Pumping Station

386

398

Pisão Pumping Station

292

341

are environmentally friendly and ecologically compatible with a

in the third quarter of 2019, thus contributing to the difference

As shown in the table below is the photovoltaic energy produc-

Monte Novo Pumping Station

473

197

process of sustained development that is desired for the region,

in production recorded, in 2020, compared to the same period of

tion for the years 2020 and 2019. An accumulated production of

Loureiro Alvito Pumping Station

474

125

thus giving its example through the materialization of photo-

the previous year.

3,924 MWh was recorded in 2020, which represents an increase

Alvito - Pisão (Cuba -Este) Pumping Station

1 053

-

Lage Pumping Station

1 051

-

Total

3 924

1 267

voltaic solutions. In 2020, EDIA continued the maintenance and

over the same period of the previous year of around 67.7%. Pho-

operation of the various photovoltaic and Mini Hydro plants of

tovoltaic energy is produced through the photovoltaic plants ins-

the Project.

talled at the Alqueva plant, in EDIA’s registered office, and the
plants installed near the pumping stations of Orada, Pisão, Monte

Note: Data extracted from NAVIA 22-01-2021

Table 12: Photovoltaic energy production – EFMA

Photo: Reservoir 3 of Cuba East Solar Plant
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Expropriation Procedures

Environmental Monitoring

With regard to projects in the final phase of the expropriation pro-

Environmental monitoring is an important management tool that

cess relating to the 1st Phase of construction of EFMA, the work

allows characterizing the reference situation and following the

carried out essentially concerned the resolution of situations in

evolution of different environmental descriptors. The monitoring

the processes of land registry, situations of undue occupation,

work, promoted by EDIA, allows to follow and understand the

registers of benefited areas and monitoring of situations in the

evolution of environmental variables in EFMA’s area of influence,

arbitration commission, namely expert opinions.

to collect and compile data to support decision-making within
the scope of the management and operation of the Project and to
Photp: Bat monitoring

Environment and Heritage

assess the effectiveness of the mitigation measures implemented
in the various environmental areas and, if necessary, propose new
measures.

Photo: Mallard duck’s nest

Regarding the conclusion of the formal procedures for Environ-

With regard to the conservation of Mediterranean Temporary

mental Impact Assessment of the Projects - associated to the

Ponds, monitoring work was carried out on the units included in

Thus, EDIA continued during 2020 to ensure the implementation

primary and secondary networks - included in Phase 1 of EFMA,

the Plan for the Conservation of Mediterranean Temporary Ponds

of environmental monitoring programs related to the different

some documents are still pending for the processes to be closed,

in EFMA (PCCTM), as defined in the DIA’s. Due to the restrictions

aspects and stages of EFMA, particularly at the level of the state

although most of the procedural issues have been concluded and

and limitations arising from the contingency plans related to CO-

of surface and groundwater bodies, fauna, flora, vegetation and

duly approved by the various supervisory entities.

VID-19, the work suffered some constraints, having proceeded

soils, for the Alqueva-Pedrógão system and primary and secon-

during this period to the completion of the Monitoring Report of

dary networks of the Project. The various ongoing monitoring

Within the scope of the Post-Evaluation phase provided for in De-

the Mediterranean Temporary Ponds in EFMA corresponding to the

programs are highlighted below.

cree-Law no. 151-B/2013 of 31 October and Order no. 395/2015 of

monitoring season 2020/2021, as requested by the entities.

4 November, complemented by what is defined in the Regulations

Projects in the Area Surrounding Alqueva
Regarding the project of the Observation and Command Post for
the Alqueva reservoir, the request for Recognition of Relevant Public Interest of the Occupation of Areas of the National Ecological
Reserve was approved by the Municipality of Portel during 2020.

Services were also provided in relation to the Project for the Area
Surrounding Alqueva, to be carried out within the scope of the Valorizar (Value) Program. The monitoring of the project continued
with the entities that are an integral part thereof (Municipality of
Moura, Alentejo Regional Coordination and Development Commission (CCDR Alentejo), Alentejo Tourism.

of the Hydroagricultural Perimeters, EDIA is responsible for pre-

Throughout the year, studies and projects continued to be car-

paring environmental reports and carrying out monitoring/ins-

ried out within the scope of promoting biodiversity, namely on

pection surveys of the areas benefited by EFMA. The main purpose

agro-ecology, rehabilitation of riparian habitats, monitoring of

of these monitoring visits is to verify compliance - by beneficia-

chiropteran populations and keratin compensation projects.

ries - with the implementation of the measures of the Environmental Impact Statements (EISs) on the ground and report to the

Within the scope of the ecological corridors project which objec-

Irrigation Authority any non-compliance with them.

tive is to preserve, conserve and restore the ecosystems present
in the Alentejo, favouring the mobility of fauna, the conservation
of priority habitats, as well as the protection of species and their

Photo: Archaeological Works within the Cuba-Odivelas Project

natural dynamism. The assessment and analysis of ecological
connectivity in the EFMA irrigated area continues, having carried
out and completed the first version of corridors for the projects
related to the first phase of EFMA and initiated the EFMA Ecological Connectivity Plan (PCEE), with its development expected in
the coming quarters.
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Alqueva-Pedrógão System and Primary Irrigation Network

Name/Activity

Status

State of Surface Water and Groundwater

The Global Program for Soil Monitoring in EFMA Irrigation Blocks

on solar radiation, leaf wetting, wind direction, wind speed, daily

- Operation Phase was internally approved and sent to the Portu-

evapotranspiration (ETo) and estimate evaporation using a class

guese Environment Agency (APA) for approval.

A evaporometric trough (with measurement of the trough water

Monitoring of Surface Water Resources of EFMA's Primary Network (Hydrological Year 2018/2020)

In progress

Monitoring of Surface Water Resources of EFMA's Primary Network (November 2020/December 2022)

In progress

Given the high importance of water resources in Alentejo and

Monitoring of the potential impacts of the Guadiana-Sado water transfer on Ichthyofauna (2019)

Preparation of the report to be sent to
the National AIA Authority

aware of the importance of the correct management and ope-

Monitoring of the potential impacts of the Guadiana-Sado water transfer on Ichthyofauna (2020)

Suspended

level and temperature).

ration of EFMA, EDIA, as the managing entity, has taken on the
responsibility of implementing and maintaining a surveillance

Management and Exploitation of Natural
Resources

Monitoring the effectiveness of microtamisators in Penedrão-Roxo and Vale do Gaio (2019)

Report to be sent to the National AIA
Authority awaiting superior approval

Monitoring the effectiveness of microtamisators in Penedrão-Roxo and Vale do Gaio (2020)

In progress

monitoring water quality and climate, equipped with telemetry

For the management and exploitation of natural resources, EDIA

Monitoring the zebra mussel in EFMA reservoirs through cable inspection

In progress

and tele-transmission of data.

has the supervision and surveillance team (EFV) that develops

and warning system, consisting of a set of automatic stations for

various surveillance and supervision activities in the field. Within

Fauna, Flora and Vegetation
Suspended

Monitoring of bat boxes around the Alqueva and Pedrógão reservoirs

Secondary Irrigation Network

Name/Activity

Status

State of Surface Water and Groundwater
Monitoring of Surface Water Resources in the Secondary Irrigation Network for the Operational Phase - 2019/2020

In progress

Monitoring of Groundwater Resources in EFMA for the Exploration Phase - 2020/2021

In progress

Monitoring of Surface Water Resources in the Secondary Irrigation Network in the Operational Phase - 2021/2022

Under preparation

The automatic water quality network is composed of 15 stations,

the scope of the activities of this team, several field visits were

equipped with telemetry and tele transmission of data, capable

made to the installation areas of some of the required abstrac-

of taking hourly readings in situ of the parameters water tem-

tions, in order to characterise the initial situation prior to the

perature, pH, Redox potential, electrical conductivity, dissolved

issuance of titles of private use and to monitor the evolution of

oxygen expressed in mg/l and in % of O2 and turbidity. The auto-

these areas after the award of titles.

matic stations are installed on buoys anchored in the reservoirs
of Alqueva, Alvito, Amoreira, Brinches, Caliços, Cinco Reis, Furta-

Throughout the year, we monitored various activities taking place

-Galinhas, Laje, Loureiro, Pedrógão, Penedrão, Pias, Pisão, São

around the reservoirs, such as the timely detection of pests or

Pedro and Serpa.

pollution phenomena, the collection of waste in the public hydric

Fauna, Flora and Vegetation
Bird Monitoring in the Alvito-Pisão Irrigation Block (2016-2018)

Report sent to the National AIA
Authority for approval

Bird Monitoring at the Alvito-Pisão Irrigation Block (2018-2020)

Report sent to the National AIA
Authority for approval

EFMA’s climatological network currently has 15 automatic sta-

Bird Monitoring at the Alvito-Pisão Irrigation Block (2020-2022)

In progress

tions equipped with telemetry that continuously measure climate

domain, occasional maintenance and repair work and help in controlling aquatic plants.

In 2020, the processes in progress in the Company were also

Bird Monitoring at the Secondary Irrigation Network (2018-2019) - Area B

Report sent to the National AIA
Authority for approval

Bird Monitoring of the Secondary Irrigation Network (2020-2021) - Area C

In progress

Bird Monitoring in the Secondary Irrigation Network (2021-2022) - Area D

Public Tender Launch

In the Alqueva reservoir area, three stations were installed in Sra.

truction of licence/concession requests for abstraction of surface

Bird Monitoring in the Secondary Irrigation Network (2021-2022) - Area E

Public Tender Launch

da Ajuda, Village of Luz and Alqueva-Ilha (north to south). The

water, in the context of self-monitoring provided for in the EFMA

Chiroptera Monitoring in the Caliços-Machados Irrigation Blocks 2019-2021

In progress

remaining automatic stations are installed near the Pedrogão,

concession contract. In the whole period, 12 requests for water

Public Tender Preparation

Loureiro, R4 Monte Novo Reservoir, Alvito, Penedrão, Cinco Reis,

abstraction were received, 6 requests for prior information (PIP)

Report sent to the National AIA
Authority for approval

São Pedro, Brinches, Serpa and Caliços reservoirs. EDIA also has

and 8 titles of use of water resources (TURH) were issued.

Chiroptera Monitoring at Moura Irrigation Block (2021)
Monitoring of Aquila fasciata (Osprey) in the Cuba-Odivelas Hydraulic Circuit (2018-2019)

In progress

Monitoring of Linaria ricardoi in the Secondary Irrigation Network (2020-2021)
Monitoring of Flora and Vegetation in the Odivelas Dam Supply and By-Pass Hydraulic Circuit (2020)

Report sent to the National AIA
Authority for approval

Solos
In progress, submit the campaign
report.

Soil Monitoring in EFMA Irrigation Blocks - Area A (operational phase - 2020)

variables in real time.

analysed, within the scope of support to applicants in the ins-

an automatic station installed in the Noudar Nature Park. All stations perform continuous measurement and systematic collection

In 2020, the monitoring of compliance with the operational con-

of information on the following climatic variables: air tempera-

clusions defined in the Study on Environmental Conditions in the

ture, dew point, vapour pressure deficit, relative air humidity and

Guadiana River Estuary and Adjacent Areas - Operational Condi-

precipitation.

tions (February 2005) continued.

In order to estimate evaporation in the Alqueva lake, there are

Within the scope of safety signage of the reservoirs integrated

two stations (Village of Luz; Alqueva-Ilha) that are equipped with

in EFMA, the restructuring of the safety signage installed in the

more equipment and sensors to measure and collect information

Alqueva-Pedrógão system is being prepared. As the current sys-

Table 13: Environmental Monitoring - EFMA

Within the scope of the Protocol signed between EDIA and the

of the Sado and Guadiana, the work was concluded, with the ex-

Higher Institute of Applied Psychology (ISPA,) with the aim of

traction of DNA from mussel tissue samples and the quality asses-

investigating the relationship between the environment and the

sment of the results of the genomic analyses.

genetics of river mussel populations in the hydrographic basins
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tem was installed around 15 years ago, and shows signs of wear,

In early 2019, activity began on an experimental basis, in the

Within the scope of territorial management, the monitoring by

a new contract was awarded in this area, with the installation of

first unit of the URSA Project - Alqueva By-product Recirculation

EDIA of the Municipal Master Plans (PDM), the Hydrographic Re-

the equipment planned for the beginning of 2021.

Units, located in Herdade da Abóbada, (Experimental Centre of

gion Management Plan and the Rural Intervention Plan (PIER)

Baixo Alentejo), in Vila Nova de S. Bento, in the context of the

should be highlighted.

With regard to exotic species, and despite the existing limitations

project financed by the Environmental Fund, under the promotion

and delays caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, within the scope of

of the Circular Economy. This demonstrative unit is intended for

the ACECA project, work continued on the installation of an auto-

the transformation of agricultural by-products into fertilizer for

matic station for collecting water hyacinth and control activities

application to the soil, with the ongoing production of a volume

The daily bulletin continued to be disclosed with information

on this aquatic species continued in the area upstream of the

of compost that allows the exchange of by-products delivered

on the evolution of the volume stored and daily variation in the

Alqueva reservoir.

by farmers for compost. In this context, the hiring of a service

quotas of the Alqueva and Pedrógão reservoirs, as well as daily

provision was carried out to enable the operation of the unit and

information on the flows recorded upstream and downstream of

to obtain the compost.

the Alqueva - Pedrógão system. The update of this bulletin is

The cables for early detection of zebra mussels in EFMA’s area of
influence were also monitored and the procedure for the purchase

Environmental Management Systems

available daily on the EDIA website.

of floating barriers to contain aquatic plants was carried out to

Thus, this year, some more protocols to join the URSA strategy

support the operation of the Project.

were sent to a varied set of entities with a view to expanding the

In order to control the flow released by the Pedrógão dam versus

network of organic recovery units in EFMA, in order to follow up

the value of the ecological flow to be ensured, an analysis of the

on the objectives of the project, but also to anticipate the gro-

flows discharged and the values recorded in the Guadiana River is

wing production of organic by-products associated with irrigated

carried out, and the value of the ecological flow to be met in the
following month is published.

Under POSEUR - Notice POSEUR-15-2019-22, an application was

Photo: Zebra mussel monitoring

approved called ‘Zone J, - River-side restoration of the cross-border section of the Guadiana River and Alqueva reservoir and

Regarding the acoustic barrier, which aims to prevent the passage

crops. In the URSA protocols sent, EDIA and the different entities

control of invasive exotic species such as water hyacinth (SIC

of fish fauna between the Guadiana and Sado river basins, the

will jointly develop the detailed design of each unit to ensure

Guadiana / Juromenha)’.

start of the procedure for a new maintenance action should be

its proper functioning and operability throughout the different

highlighted.

seasons of the year.

aquatic species, namely the water hyacinth, in the internatio-

Under the Environmental Fund Notice no. 7778/2020, EDIA, to-

EDIA will provide technical support to the different entities in the

nal stretch of the Guadiana River and Alqueva reservoir, at the

gether with APA/ARH-Alentejo prepared and saw approved the

implementation and operation phase, with the aim of ensuring

Guadiana/Juromenha site, also developing actions related to the

application for the project “Guadiana Zero - Combating aquatic

the implementation and optimisation of the unit’s operation, with

ecological improvement of this stretch, namely through the pro-

invasive alien species in the Guadiana basin”. The actions started

each entity being responsible for the work required to create the

motion, recovery and conservation of river ecosystems in order to

in the last quarter of the year.

Alqueva by-product recirculation unit, as well as the acquisition

simultaneously achieve the objectives of the Habitats and Birds

results of the monitoring of surface water resources regarding
the primary network are made available..

Cooperation and Partnerships

of equipment considered indispensable for its operation and the

Directives, the National Strategy for Nature Conservation and Bio-

The Guadiana Zero Project addresses, in an integrated manner,

diversity 2030, the Natura 2000 Network Sectoral Plan and the

the three strategic vertices of the National Strategy for Nature

Water Framework Directive.

Conservation and Biodiversity 2030 (ENCNB):

subsequent application of the compost.

•

COVID-19 pandemic, the actions to be carried out were reschedu-

The AIA procedure for some of EFMA’s blocks determines the need

Improve the conservation status of the natural heritage

but which objectively aims to establish protection and conserva-

(through active management;

tion measures for Linaria ricardoi based on the assessment car-

led, and the land preparation work in the Várzea Redonda area

ried out in the AIA and the monitoring program underway. In this
•

ment, canoe and accessories, monitoring equipment, a drone and

Promote knowledge of the value of natural heritage (through

sense, the Strategic Plan for the Safeguarding of Linaria ricardoi

activities and content aimed at various audiences); and

is being revised, from which the action plan for the safeguarding

high-tech cameras were also purchased.

and protection of this species will be subsequently drawn up, wi•

Fostering the appropriation of natural values and biodiver-

To boost a behaviour aligned with the principles of circular economy, encouraging good practices and at the same time develo-

to prepare a “Species Safeguard Plan”, which designation varies,

and the acquisition of plants were carried out. Navigation equip-

primary network, currently in operation, was internally published
on a monthly basis and, whenever requested by the irrigators, the

The aim is the prevention, early detection and control of invasive

The project began in the 1st quarter of 2020, however, due to the

On the other hand, the regime of ecological flows for the EFMA

thin the limits of the Project.

ping a solution to the problem of plastics in agriculture and the
urban circuit, is the general objective of the PlaCarvões team that
promotes this idea, with very positive results so far, being in course the preparation of the second phase of the project, through
an application to the ‘Urban Innovative Actions’(UIA). The UIA
Initiative is a European Union instrument and is managed by the
Directorate-General for Regional and Urban Policy (DGPRU) of the
European Commission (EC) under indirect management. Since EDIA
is not eligible as coordinator of the project, the application was

sity by society.
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submitted by the Intermunicipal Community of Central Alentejo

production, protection and conservation of soil and water resour-

analysis. The project also has as a pillar the circular economy,

The Park’s potentialities start from its richness in terms of lands-

(CIMAC), in partnership with the University of Évora, EDIA and En-

ces. EDIA has accompanied the work associated with this project,

intending to promote the reduction, reuse, recovery and recycling

cape, associated to the Alentejo’s beauty, allowing nature tou-

vironmental and Waste Management (GESAMB).

through the provision of logistical support.

of nutrients and energy. Complementarily, REUSE aims to study

rism, open air sports, bathing and bird watching, but are streng-

the effect of dilution, self-depuration and natural decay of pol-

thened by its proximity to the city of Beja, enhancing other more

The FitoFarmGest - Sustainable management of phytopharma-

REUSE is a project financed by the Environmental Fund, carried

lutants present in treated wastewater after discharge into the

cosmopolitan uses with restaurants, picnic parks, fitness circuits,

ceuticals in olive groves, vineyards and field crops in the EFMA

out in consortium between AdP Serviços, AgdA, COTR, EDIA, EFACEC

natural water environment, in order to clarify the dynamics of the

non-motorised water sports, among others.

area of influence is a project led by the Polytechnic Institute of

and ISA, which aims to promote the production of water for reuse

barriers created by these processes. The study area will be the

Beja (IPBeja) and has as main objectives: To assess the dynami-

(ApR) in irrigated agriculture in the Alentejo.

catchment area of the Odivelas reservoir in the zone of influence

The Cinco Reis dam is part of EFMA’s infrastructures and receives

of the Alvito WWTP discharge.

water from the Alqueva reservoir through a system of canals and

cs of the main groups of phytopharmaceuticals (with environmental and human impact on irrigated crops in the EFMA area

For this purpose, the project includes a demonstration pilot for

of influence); To identify/determine a group of biological and/or

the production of ApR using an environmentally sustainable and

The Cinco Reis Fluvial Park is based on the great potential of the

mediate reservoirs and being pumped in 2 large pumping sta-

physicochemical indicators for the evaluation of the sustainable

low-cost solar disinfection technology, which was installed at the

multifunctional use of an area very close to the city of Beja (4km)

tions. The development of this partnership with the City Council

use of phytopharmaceuticals, in order to improve the monito-

Beja Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP). After solar disinfection

centred on the Cinco Reis reservoir (with an area of 460,000 m2

of Beja (CMB) highlights the importance of the collaboration of

ring of their use and ensure a better degree of protection of the

of treated wastewater at Beja WWTP, the water is used for drip

- 46 ha), and as such with an enormous vocation to bring to this

EDIA, as a regional development company, with the municipalities

human population and ecosystems; To prepare a Manual of Good

irrigation of a pomegranate orchard, with the aim of developing

region a unique place that takes advantage of the presence of

in EFMA’s area of influence in the enhancement and promotion of

Practices in the field of sustainable management of phytophar-

methodologies to promote the reuse of wastewater in a safe and

this water plane, in a dry area with long and hot summers.

the territory and its natural values and heritage. This infrastruc-

maceuticals, contributing to the improvement of the quality of

adapted way for irrigation use, supported by a cost-effectiveness

pipelines about 90 km long, after crossing 4 reservoirs, 2 inter-

ture was inaugurated on 24 July.

Photo: Cinco Reis Fluvial Park
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Photo: Morgavél Supply System

Improvements to Existing Irrigation
In the primary network, work continued on the construction contract to boost the power of the Álamos pumping station, which
consists of installing two more groups, thus doubling the supply capacity to guarantee the growing demand for water in the
Alqueva subsystem.

Due to the pandemic caused by the COVID-19 virus, several works
Photo: Morgavél Supply System

on this project were suspended at the beginning of the year,

INFRASTRUCTURES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

which conditioned the completion of this contract and led to the

(2ND PHASE OF EFMA)

need for a deadline extension. At the end of the year, the equipment was in the reception phase, as well as the respective assem-

The publication of the 1st Call for the submission of applications,

Also during the 1st half of 2019, EDIA proceeded with the prepa-

on 29 April 2019, decisively marked the operationalization of the

ration of ten project applications for the 2nd phase of the Alqueva

PNRegadios, approved by the Portuguese State in October 2018,

irrigation scheme, representing a total investment of around EUR

and financed through the EIB and the CEB. It should also be no-

95 million. All these applications had been approved by the end

ted that, of the approximately EUR 560 million stipulated for the

of 2020, and the last one, the Reguengos de Monsaraz hydrau-

benefit of 100,000 ha throughout the country, EUR 236 million

lic circuit and respective block, received EIB approval in the last

is intended for the 2nd phase of implementation of the Alqueva

quarter of the year.

bly, namely the motors, the RAC’s and the electrical installations,
with all fronts in operation.

Also in the primary network, but in the Pedrógão subsystem, the
conclusion of the construction and equipment supply contract
for the installation of three additional groups at the São Pedro
pumping station should be highlighted.

irrigation scheme.
The contract for the construction and supply of equipment for the
Pedrógão - Right Bank EFMA pumping system - 2nd Phase was

111-000004
CubaOdivelas

111-000005
Évora

111-000006
LoureiroAlvito

111-000007
São Pedro

111-000008
Viana

111-000009
Morgavél

111-000010
Reguengos
(1)

111-000011
Vidigueira
(1)

111-000012
São Bento
(1)

111-000014
Pedrógão
MD

TOTAL

Total Investment

9 447 689,24

13 811 507,63

1 099 873,51

1 926 230,04

19 571 835,11

10 909 565,66

61 038 076,42

9 585 366,00

19 926 192,03

0,00

147 316 335,64

Investment Support
(PNRegadios)

9 424 386,66

13 627 714,00

1 099 873,51

1 822 884,25

18 948 510,00

10 909 565,66

30 056 751,31

422 258,40

430 964,00

4 400 000,00

91 142 907,79

2 790

2 970

1 107

14 024

4 606

688

10 273

2 190

4 232

24 529

67 409,33

No. of farms benefited
(units)

29

36

23

165

36

4

232

121

102

903

1 651

Farmers covered (units)

29

36

16

165

36

4

232

121

102

342

1 083

Average area of holdings
(ha)

96,21

82,50

48,13

84,99

128,00

172,00

44,28

18,10

41,00

71,72

786,93

Irrigation blocks (units)

1

1

1

2

1

1

4

3

2

4

20

1

1

1

1

Main Indicators

Total area benefited (ha)

Promotion of New Irrigation Areas

Pumping stations (units)

1

5

Irrigation hydrants (pc)

40

45

71

7

458

245

175

1 041

Hydrants (pc)

21

25

35

4

198

144

104

531

1

Pumping stations (pc)
Road network (km)
Other renewable energy
production units (pc)

awarded in the 4th quarter.

1
3,49

0,00

1

1

During 2020 the two photovoltaic plants of Lage and Cuba-Este
were physically completed and production began.

Following the start-up of construction of the 2nd phase of EFMA,
the construction contract for the connection to the Morgavél water supply system was awarded in January 2020, with completion
scheduled for 2021. During the year, the works continued.

2
3,49

After completion of the regulatory procedures relating to the
contracting of the construction of the hydraulic circuit in Viana

1

1

1

(1) Applications divided into two phases.
The Reguengos application included in this phase the primary network infrastructures, the Peral block and complementary actions and the applications from Vidigueira and São Bento included the photovoltaic plants of Cuba Este and Lage.		
										

5

do Alentejo, the work was awarded. It was stopped in March, by
mutual agreement between the parties, being interrupted for a
period of 45 days, because there were no conditions for the ex-

Table 14: Main Indicators for PNRegadios Applications - 1st Call
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Photo: Cuba Odivelas Water Intake

Project Execution

Revision of the Project
Execution

Environmental Impact
Assessment

Completed

Procedure was not launched

Completed

Partially completed

-

EIA Monitoring

Póvoa - Moura hydraulic circuit and blocks

Completed

Analysis of the Final Project sent
after the rectifications

Completed

Moura Block (integrated in the Póvoa-Moura Hydraulic Circuit and
Blocks)

Completed

Procedure was not launched

Completed

Lucefécit hydraulic circuit

In progress (the reformulation of
the channel was submitted at the
end of the year)

-

EIA Monitoring

Loureiro-Alvito Tunnel Final Floodgates (integrated in the Loureiro Alvito EE reinforcement project)

Final Execution Project submitted

-

_

Completed

-

Completed

Completed

-

EIA Procedure in Progress

Name of the Project
Alqueva Subsystem
Vidigueira hydraulic circuit and blocks
Hydraulic circuit connecting to Monte da Rocha reservoir and
Messejana blocks

Ardila Subsystem
São Bento Hydraulic circuit and blocks
Pedrógão Subsystem
Cabeça Gorda - Trindade Hydraulic circuit and blocks

Table 15: Summary point status of the Execution Project and EIA - EFMA-2nd phase projects

ecution of the works, due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Soon after
this stoppage, the preparatory work began, namely, staking, de-

Execution Projects and Environmental
Impact Studies

forestation and stripping, demolition of existing buildings, excavations and execution of some structures.

Throughout 2020, the analysis of several requests from farmers

Photo: Viana Supply System, connection to the São Miguel Reservoir

for the assessment of solutions for water use/capture in EFMA
The construction contracts for the Cuba-Odivelas and Évora hy-

infrastructures continued. In order to ensure access to water in a

draulic circuits and respective blocks, and following the issue of

timely manner, the development and, in some cases, implementa-

prior approval by the Court of Auditors for the respective con-

tion of abstraction solutions and expedited hydraulic circuits for

tracts, were awarded in January 2020. Their works are on sched-

execution by interested parties also took place.

ule, given the constraints generated by the national and global
context.

There was also continued contact and preparation of responses to
farmers and other agricultural entities, particularly with regard

The contract for the Viana main pumping station and respective

to issues related to the three subsystems of EFMA.

irrigation block was awarded on 1 April 2020, and work began.
In order to prepare the expansion of the new irrigated areas, the
Finally, in the second half of the year, the contract for remod-

monitoring of the preparation of some EIA’s also continued, in

elling the Lage pumping station was awarded (1st phase inter-

parallel with the development of the respective implementation

vention).

projects, as can be seen below.

It should also be noted that the construction contracts mentioned
above were duly monitored in terms of environmental management.
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Expropriation Procedures

The reopening of the Park took place in June, with a reduction
in capacity, reservations with a minimum of 2 nights, breakfast

Within the scope of the 2nd Phase of EFMA, tasks continued with

served individually and reinforcement of cleaning and hygiene

the aim of ensuring the expropriation procedures associated with

measures. Subsequently, the Park was also closed for prophylactic

ongoing projects, with interventions scattered throughout the

isolation from 27 August to 6 September.

intervention area of the Project. Work was carried out of verification/validation of the expropriation project, recognition of the

Throughout the year, maintenance activities were carried out in

areas to be intervened, notification of all owners and interested

connection with agro-forestry management, and the property’s

parties of the start of the project, collection of elements for the

forestry, livestock, hunting and agricultural management conti-

preparation of the bases of assessment, evaluations of the areas

nued. Attention should be drawn to the award of auditing ser-

to be affected and negotiations with owners and other interested

vices for Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and Program for the

parties.

Endorsement of Forest Certification (PEFC) certification, as well
as the services provided for the “Review of the Coitadinha’s PGF”,

Photo: Cuba East Solar Plant

Various activities were also carried out, according to the stage

and the fire prevention and surveillance campaign 2020, with the

reached by the different projects.

creation of firebreaks.

Energy

Environment and Heritage

EDIA has been investing in energy solutions that are

In 2020, work was carried out to minimise the impact on cultural

In the area of livestock, we highlight the completion of the 2019-

environmentally friendly and ecologically compatible with

heritage during the construction phase of some projects that had

2020 montanheira, the enclosure of cows for weaning, as well as

a process of sustained development that is desired for the

already begun. In environmental terms, the ongoing construction

region, thus setting an example through the implementation of

works were monitored.

SPECIAL PROJECTS

some fences. Noteworthy in this area, during this period, is the

Noudar Nature Park (PNN)

photovoltaic solutions.

In order to reduce the energy costs of its infrastructures, the

gement plans of the works that had begun were analysed as re-

The PNN arose following the acquisition of Herdade da Coitadi-

Company has also been developing procedures for the construction

quested in the measure “Submission of a Construction Monitoring

nha by EDIA in 1997, with the aim of developing on this property

of photovoltaic plants with a capacity of 50 MW, which allow for a

Report” and reports were submitted for the works in progress.

a project to compensate for the loss of habitats at the level of
cork oak forest ecosystems, riparian galleries and Mediterranean

mirrors next to the main pumping stations of the EFMA primary

During the period under review, the sending of condition sheets

network.

continued, which inform each beneficiary of the known environmental and heritage constraints on their agricultural plot.

Throughout 2020, the maintenance and operation of the various
photovoltaic and Mini Hydro plants of the Project continued.

of the processes relating to the minimisation of impacts on culDuring this period, the Directorate-General for Energy and Geology

tural heritage during the construction phase. Thus, the manage-

(DGEG) also inspected the two photovoltaic plants in Lage and

ment of each of the contracts is inherent to a vast set of activities

Cuba-Este, for the purpose of obtaining the respective operating

associated with both the execution of its object and the fulfilment

certificates. The development of synoptics of the supervision

of administrative procedures and other legal obligations. The

system and testing of the anchoring system was carried out and,

contracts currently underway are subject to archaeological moni-

in the construction contract of the photovoltaic power plant of

toring by teams associated with the respective contractors. In this

Laje, the development of synoptics of the supervision system and

context, reports of the archaeological monitoring work have been

communication works between equipment. It should be noted

sent to the Regional Directorate for Culture of Alentejo (DRCALEN).

that both plants are physically completed.

scrublands induced by Alqueva. The natural values present on the
estate, namely the cork oak forest, justified its acquisition and its
inclusion in the Natura 2000 Network. The project is based on the
principle that the use and activity promote the conservation of

As far as the heritage aspect is concerned, there was monitoring

installation of a barrier on the Pançona streambank, to the Ardila
river, on the border with Spain, as part of the planned actions to

With regard to the preliminary phase, the environmental mana-

production of 85 GWh (average year), to be installed on the water

the acquisition of organic feed, hay and straw and the repair of

combat the pandemic.

In terms of game management, five wild boar hunts were carried
out and, in terms of agricultural management, the support given
to the Barrancos ‘Estêva, Associação para o Desenvolvimento do
Concelho de Barrancos’ Solidary Garden should be highlighted.
Work continued on the recovery and expansion of vegetable gardens and orchards, as well as the creation of some farm buildings.

the territory and recreates the agricultural activity at Herdade da
Coitadinha, respecting the practices and traditions of the region.
EDIA’s mission is to ensure that this space, with unique characteristics, is maintained and valued.

With regard to the environmental component, actions continued in
connection with the projects LIFE MONTADO, POSEUR - LINX2020,
INTERREG V-A Spain-Portugal (POCTEP) - PRO-IBERLINX, PDR2020
– Operational Groups - OakRegeneration and PROJECT 2.1.5

As the Park has a touristic component, its activities were, this

PDR2020 - Action 8.1.3 – ZIF of Barrancos.

year, strongly conditioned due to the extraordinary measures
implemented as a response to the epidemiological situation of
the new coronavirus that devastated the country from March
onwards. The PNN was closed to the public during the months
of April and May, following EDIA’s COVID-19 Contingency Plan.

It is also worth mentioning the holding of the 3rd edition of the
Terras Sem Sombra Festival in the PNN, with 107 visitors on 3
February. In the area of dissemination and promotion, the monthly publication of the “Species of the Month” continued and the
Park’s Instagram account was created.
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Photo: Noudar Natural Park

The 1st TT tour of the Barrancos Festival Committee also took

of ‘Erasmus Mobility’ with the IES Aljanadic, Cordoba. The subse-

place, passing through the PNN (250 visitors) on 8 March, and the

quent scheduled events were cancelled due to the contingencies

As for activities associated with tourism and hotel operations,

process of approval of the pedestrian routes was monitored, in

imposed by the pandemic situation caused by COVID-19.

in this very atypical year and with major constraints, as already

terms of routes and signposting of the territory.

no.

mentioned, it should be noted that the park stopped receiving
Due to the same circumstances, holiday mini-camps and the ‘Terra

visitors in the first quarter of the year as part of the pandemic

In education and mediation, mention should be made of the study

Sem Sombra Kids’ event were cancelled. In this period it is also

contingency measures. On the other hand, the park registered se-

visits of the Barrancos Events Management Course, the Aljezur

worth mentioning the process of reconversion of the accommo-

veral periods of downtime in its activity. Thus, the values for 2020

International School with overnight stays and with the hiring of a

dation typology of Casa da Malta e do Monte.

compared to those recorded in 2019, marked a sharp decline.

Overnight stays
Visitors
Meals

2020

2019

2 006

3 819

598

2 638

3 202

7 103

Notes:
2019: The PNN closed in January.
2020: The PNN closed: in January for maintenance, from 16 March to 31 May due to general containment caused by the pandemic,
and also from 27 August to 6 September due to prophylactic isolation.

guide from the Alqueva Lake Observatory, as well as the holding
Table 16: Tourism and hotel operating indicators - PNN
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Several indicators related to the activity in the tourism area of
the PNN are also presented:

Indicators

2020

2019

Average daily rate per room

68,15 €

58,62 €

RevPAR (average return per room unit)

12,75 €

17,58 €

Guest Satisfaction Rate through Booking

9,31

9,13

No. of reservations cancelled

954

1 032

0

0

% of guests over no. of employees (employees assigned to the Tourism area of the PNN- 6 employees for T1 and
T2 and 8 employees for T1 and T4 low season)

7 016,8

12 927,2

Average revenue per guest

44,86 €

48,44 €

126

104

No. of School Visits

2

19

No. of Research/University visits

12

32

No. of complaints

No. of Posts (facebook only)

Table 17: Miscellaneous tourism area activity indicators

Photo: Luz Museum

Luz Museum
Open to the public since 2003, the Luz Museum is configured as a

In the Light Room, the exhibition ‘Além Tesouro’ (Beyond the

place of culture, art, memory and modernity, it was created as an

Treasure) by José Batista Marques is on show from 19 October to

interpretative space of the profound changes that occurred in this

20 February 2020. It is also worth highlighting the beginning of

territory, resulting from the appearance of the Alqueva dam and

the exhibition ‘Surviving Humanity’, a partnership with the Porto

the submersion of the old village of Luz. As an important cultural

Biennial of Photography, and curated by Virgílio Ferreira, from

With regard to the activity on the booking platform, the following

In 2020, the PNN continued to be promoted on specialised web

space in the Alqueva region, it offers a range of activities for the

27 February to 30 June. At the end of the year, the exhibition

graph also shows the actual bookings and cancellations in 2020.

platforms and networks, with a view to publicising this project.

enjoyment of local identity, stories and landscapes. In May 2010 it

‘Reflexos de Luz’ (Light Reflexes) by Gonçalo Jordão was on show.

It can be seen that the value of cancellations reached a high

Throughout the year emphasis was given to the external visibi-

joined the Portuguese Network of Museums (RPM), responsible for

percentage which is justified by the context experienced this year.

lity of the Park, using qualified disclosure and promotion as the

accreditation and qualification in the Museological area - the Luz

As far as itinerant exhibitions are concerned, the exhibition “Ar-

preferred vehicle.

Museum in the Directorate-General for Cultural Heritage.

queologia nos caminhos de água” (Archaeology on the waterways), at the Interactive Megalithic Museum in Mora, as well as

Bookings - 2020

Cancellations

Actual Bookings

40%

During the period under review the Museum was closed to the pu-

the exhibition “Castelo de Lousa”, at EDIA’s registered office in

blic during the months of April and part of May, following EDIA’s

Beja and the exhibition “38º 21’ N0 7º 24` O Castelo da Lousa, at

COVID-19 Contingency Plan. Its reopening took place on 19 May.

the Museum, are worthy of mention during this period.

With regard to exhibition activities, the exhibition ‘Memória Aldeia

In 2020 there was a decrease in the number of visitors compared

da Luz’ (Village of Luz memory) was held in the water room (as a

to the same period in the previous year, as shown in the following

permanent exhibition room). In terms of temporary exhibitions,

table, justified by the context that caused the Museum’s activities

the exhibition ‘Território de Alqueva: da transformação à moder-

to stop, as mentioned above.

nidade’ (Alqueva territory: from transformation to modernity)

No.

was still open in the memory room.

60%

Visitors

2020

2019

9 282

9 938

Table 18: Indicators of the Luz Museum
Chart 5: Booking 2020/PNN
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The table below shows some indicators verified at the Museum between 2015 and 2020:
No.

Geographical Information Systems and
Cartography

Tickets

Employees

Employees / Visitors

Daily Average of Visitors

2015

8 354

5

1 671

23

EDIA is able to provide innovative products and services in the

2016

6 665

4

1 666

18

field of geographic information production, being associated with

2017

7 744

4

1 936

25

projects involving the production of cartography, topography,

2018

7 461

4

1 865

24

geodesy and land registry. Its Cartography Centre has been cer-

2019

9 938

5

1 988

32

tified according to ISO 9001:2008, by the certifying body Portu-

2020

9 282

5

1 856

26

2020

2019

Aerial Coverage (ha)

0

1 200 000

Total Monitoring of Dams and
Reservoirs (no.)

22

22

Half-yearly (no.)

18

18

Annual (no.)

4

4

Table 22: Geodesic monitoring

guese Certification Association (APCER), since January 2010, and
during 2020 the actions for the maintenance of the Quality Mana-

Table 19: Miscellaneous indicators - Luz Museum - year-on-year change

gement System according to this standard and the preparation for
the transition to ISO 9001:2015 continued.
In terms of programming, from January to March, guided tours

activities carried out and to be carried out at the Museum, as well

for the general public took place, with routes that included visits

as its spaces and experiences, also continued. In addition to the

to the Church of Our Lady of Luz and Monte dos Pássaros, as well

Museum’s website and Facebook page, two other platforms (Ins-

as guided tours of the Museum exhibitions for the school public.

tagram and LinkedIn) were created.

Due to the pandemic caused by COVID-19, no guided tours for the
general public or school groups took place during the rest of the

Despite the contingencies, the Luz Museum Residencies program

year.

continued, which aims to offer creators and researchers the pos-

ks for the hydraulic circuit and irrigation infrastructures of the
On the other hand, it is worth highlighting, among the various

Reguengos block (Peral sub-block), and the Álamos Loureiro si-

activities carried out, the process of billing water from precarious

phon, as well as the launch of the service provision procedure for

areas supplied by hydrants that also irrigate infrastructure areas,

the topographical survey of the Reguengos irrigation block (Re-

as well as the adaptation of the billing process for the introduc-

guengos, Vendinha and Montoito sub-blocks), were other tasks

tion of corrections arising from complaints accepted regarding

carried out during this period.

estimated precarious consumption.

sibility of spending some time in isolation, in a tranquil environThroughout this period the dissemination and promotion of the

ment and in a singular landscape. Between 2020 and 2017, the

Museum’s activities and exhibitions continued. In the area of

values shown in the following table were recorded:

communication and platforms, the permanent promotion of the

A cooperation model was also developed with the local authoAlso relevant were the projects to integrate the GIS with the NAVIA

rities in EFMA’s area of influence, which allows EDIA to support

software and the new ViewGest telemetry platform, and the deve-

local authorities in the production of geospatial information for

lopment of the notification system to detect failures in obtaining

the Territorial Management Plans, including the approval of car-

remote data needed by NAVIA.

tography 1:10,000 and 1:2,000 with the Directorate-General for

No.

Residencies

The execution of staking and topographical support network wor-

the Territory (DGT). The first projects are underway, following the

2020

2019

2018

2017

Finally, reference should be made to the updating of the PDM

signing of cooperation protocols with the Municipalities of Beja

5

6

4

12

available for consultation on the EDIA WEB and GIS applications

and Vidigueira, and the project with the Municipality of Aljustrel

for the municipalities of Alandroal, Viana do Alentejo, Alvito, Vi-

has begun.

Table 20: Indicators for the Residencies Program - Luz Museum

digueira, Moura, Mourão and Sines.

In cartographic terms, it is worth mentioning the production of
In the area of communication and platforms, the promotion of the

tiatives, through the newsletter, continued. In addition to the Mu-

Museum’s spaces and experiences and the updating of the Mu-

seum’s institutional website, for the dissemination of its events

seum’s web communication platforms - website and Facebook, as

and activities, the Facebook social network page is the most used

well as the sending of news and the dissemination of Museum ini-

social network, with the values indicated in the table below.

altimetry, based on the 2019 photogrammetric project of EFMA’s

Other Services Rendered

area of influence, as well as the completion, and free availability
to the public, of the production of orthophotomaps, in an area of

Within the scope of the services provided for Águas Públicas do

about 1 200 000 hectares, following the acquisition of aeropho-

Alentejo (AgdA) (Alentejo Public Water), several activities were

togrammetric coverage of the Project (flight carried out in 2019).

developed, such as: contacts and negotiations, collection of documents necessary for the granting of compensation agreements,

No.

Facebook Posts

2020

2019

2018

2017

119

85

86

74

During this period, geodesic monitoring of some of the dams in-

preparation of compensation agreement processes for submission

cluded in EFMA took place, with no aerial coverage having been

to AgdA, characterisation and evaluation of plots and monitoring

carried out due to the restrictions experienced during the year

of works, among others. This service ended in June.

2020.
Table 21: Publication indicators - Luz Museum
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On the other hand, a service provision was started for the City

During this period, reference should also be made to EDIA’s con-

Council of Aljustrel, with the aim of preparing expropriation ser-

tribution to the “Alentejo Regional Water Efficiency Plan”, this

vices for the Aljustrel business area and the Ervidel business area.

plan encompasses actual consumption, forecasts of future consumption and lists and characterises a series of measures that

During this period, the provision of services to Águas de Santo

promote the increased availability of water and the efficient use

André, S.A (AdSA) also continued.

of the resource. It is also worth mentioning the conclusion of the
“Study of the Production Conditions of Olive Groves in Alqueva”,
a project that involved the study of the production conditions of
olive groves in Alqueva, in addition to the development of agricultural and economic themes.

SUPPORT STRUCTURE

In order to better understand the typology of its customer and

Information Systems

thus act more efficiently and effectively, EDIA continued the process of collecting and systematising information (CIEFMA - Com-

The year 2020 was unquestionably marked by the evolution of the

mercial), by conducting surveys of beneficiaries (irrigators and

pandemic situation, so it is worth highlighting the support work

non-irrigators) of the irrigation perimeters in operation.

carried out in this context, particularly with regard to teleworking and repairs to VPN systems, in order to ensure the regular

From this analysis, it can be seen in the chart below that the tran-

operation of the services provided by the Company, as well as the

sacted area, over the last few years, has decreased considerably,

renewal of 35% of the IT equipment allocated to EDIA employees.

with some consistency in the values of long-term rentals.
During the period under review, the signing of EDIA’s fixed and
mobile communications contract also stands out, with an increase
in internet speed, and encompassing around 800 mobile cards,
which allow communication at telemetry level with various EDIA
irrigation equipment. This renegotiation thus allowed the bandwidth available on the fixed network to be quadrupled, the data
cap on the mobile network to be increased and communication
costs to be reduced.

Promotion of irrigated land
EDIA, as the driving entity for the agricultural and agro-industrial

in the area of influence of EFMA. Thus, throughout the year 2020,
despite the contingencies required due to the pandemic situation

3500

experienced, it continued the possible contact with representati-

3000

ves of farmers’ groups, monitoring and providing information to
On the other hand, the conclusion of the implementation process
of the electronic invoicing system and the virtualisation project
of servers and SCADA customers of the various pumping stations

potential investors in various areas of investment, as well as field

in NAVIA, allowing the analysis and cross-checking with other
data from systems relevant to the management of the Project
and the start of the implementation of document management
software.

2500

visits with individuals and various national and foreign compa-

2000

nies.

1500

of the secondary network, allowing the abstraction of the hardware layer, the integration of data from meteorological stations

Evolution of Transacted Area (ha) between 2017 and 2020

development of Alqueva, has the purpose of promoting irrigation

3 285

2017

tential investors. EDIA also provides farmers served by the Alqueva infrastructures, free of charge, with the support tool Portal

2020

1 702
1 192
990

840

Regarding decision support systems, the dissemination of the

maintained, as well as the provision of results to users and po-

2019

2 458

1000
Support System for Determining Cultural Suitability (SISAP) was

2018

428

500

190

210
0

0
Sale

Short-Term Rental

121

224
47

26

234

7

Medium-Term Rental

Long-Term Rental

114

279
0

0

Partnership

Chart 6: Transacted area between 2017-2020

do Regante (Portal of the Irrigator). In this period it is worth
highlighting the development of the Portal do Regante 3.0 project, under the ‘Smart.Agri.Hubs’ application.
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The company during 2020, and within the contingencies in force,

support and financial areas are the categories that recorded the

continued to support the beneficiaries of the various perimeters

highest number of occurrences. Regarding their attribution to the

in the so-called ‘natural’ land consolidation, trying to identify

department that replies to the customer, the Customer Support

plots adjacent to their own, in order to increase the exploitation

Department and the Irrigation Infrastructure Operation Depart-

area. In this context, contact has been maintained with the Fo-

ment stand out. Regarding the type of occurrence, the item that

restry Department of the Higher Institute for Agronomy (DFISA),

had more requests was the change of ownership and billing.

577

DAC- Customer Support Department
DE-Expropriations Department 2

259

SUPPLY

21

DEA - Water Economy Department
DEIR - Irrigation Operation Department

135

27

ENVIRONMENT

40

DGAF- Financial Management & Admin. Dep
4

DPEP-Strategic Planning and Projects Department

230

WATER ECONOMY/CUSTOMER SUPPORT

GAJ- Legal Support Office 1
CC- Cartography Centre 3

222

FINANCIAL

8

DAOT- Environment & Land Planning Dep

in order to understand the applicability of agroforestry systems

Tickets per category - 2020

Tickets per EDIA department - 2020

DC - Accounting Department 1
4

DGP- Heritage Management Department

in the smallholding of EFMA. The aim will be to publicise and

We continued to draw up lists of available owners, to be made

promote this agricultural system on the Alqueva smallholding, as

available to all interested parties, companies or individuals, with

an alternative to traditional cultivation methods.

the aim of attracting partners.

In 2020, the majority of customer contacts with the company will

With a view to the continuous implementation of strategies ai-

be recorded in the customer management tool, C4Hana Service

med at improving the services provided, reference should also

Cloud. These records, called tickets, aim to obtain a total overview

be made to the completion of the Assessment Report on the Sa-

of customers and offer better quality service.

tisfaction Level of Alqueva Irrigators - 2019, which results were

HERITAGE/EXPROPRIATION

35

GIS/CARTOGRAPHY

37

DIAP - Environmental and Heritage Impacts Dep 1
13

DSIGC-Geo. Info. System and Cartography Dep
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Charts 8 e 9: Tickets 2020

subsequently disclosed in the Company. Due to the current panThis year, a total of 810 tickets were recorded. With regard to the

demic situation, means are being developed for the 2020 Satis-

tickets created by category, it appears that the supply, customer

faction Survey to be carried out digitally.

On the other hand, EDIA continued to promote, publicise and

mulated terms, and up to the end of the year, EDIA made available

boost the National Land Exchange (BNT) among all the benefi-

in the BNT 248 properties (2,364 ha), of which 99 properties (1,088

ciaries surveyed, banking institutions, representatives of farmers’

ha) were transferred, with 135 properties (1,171 ha) remaining in

groups and all agents with a relevant role in rural areas. In accu-

the exchange.

Tickets per type of occurence
6

Assistance to investors
Technical advice
Payment agreements
Ownership changes
Water analysis
Adjacent areas
Areas for sale/rental
Land exchange
Direct abstractions
Environmental constraints
Technical data for grid connection
Payment dates
Right of use of buildings
Discrepancies in consumption
Drawing up of maps
Straight lines/Marks
Outstanding invoices
Provision of geographical data
Registries
Invoice interpretation
Cleaning of water lines
Road maintenance
Soil monitoring
Opinions
Archaeological Heritage
Irrigation Portal
Precarious
Supply problems
Problems during the work
Registration process after expropriation
Quality of irrigation water
Land register after expropriation
SISAP
Tariff
Surplus land for sale/rental

90
22
135
2
23
85
3

Properties Provided

17
1
57
7

Properties Transferred

Properties Removed

Total Properties Advertised

No.

Area (ha)

No.

Area (ha)

No.

Area (ha)

No.

Area (ha)

248

2 364,04

99

1 087,96

14

105,06

135

1 171,02

5
8

Accrued Total

15
6
115
16

Table 23: National Land Exchange data

33
78
1
1
2
3
1
17
16
8
3

Reference should also be made to the availability, on the EDIA

farmers and investors develop sustainable agricultural activities,

website, of the 2019 Alqueva Agricultural Yearbook, produced by

providing a systematisation of existing and potential production

EDIA. This document assumes itself, increasingly, as a way to help

systems in Alqueva.

3
2
8
1
5
15
0

30

60

90

120

150

Chart 7: Tickets 2020
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Public Relations and Communication

The following table and charts show the distribution of water
distributed by class of area registered.

remaining events scheduled for this year that promote the development of the region and attract investment in the agricultural

During 2020, and as part of the dissemination and promotion ac-

Class of area registered

Consumption
m3

<1

1-5

5-20

20-50

50-100

>100

2017

1 161 391

7 828 807

46 466 344

71 203 094

41 226 047

78 377 665

and agro-industrial areas was cancelled.

tivities carried out by the Company, several activities and initia-

2018

834 858

5 679 747

33 614 337

57 979 097

36 800 268

61 696 523

2019

1 032 723

7 452 312

46 652 072

83 389 497

58 228 648

96 584 899

2020

922 272

6 043 484

42 881 920

76 185 167

55 964 221

100 566 361

Table 24: Water consumption by class of area registered

tives took place in order to promote EDIA’s communication and

Once the compulsory confinement was over, many of the activities

image with the Media (OCS), institutions and the general popu-

continued to be conditioned or prevented from being physically

lation. Several information materials aimed at the press were

carried out, so EDIA participated with a virtual stand at Agroglo-

produced and distributed, and the contents of digital platforms

bal/2020 and at the National Agriculture Fair.

where the Company is located were updated. Given the anomalous
situation experienced during the year 2020, with the pandemic

Fulfilling the tradition that has been maintained since 2002, the

crisis that took hold, the company made an effort to broaden

19th edition of the exhibition “Arte numa perspetiva diferente”

the scope of the news, in order to adapt them to the objectives

(Art from a different perspective) was held in December. This is

of EFMA, having invested in dissemination through digital media.

an EDIA initiative in collaboration with the Beja Cerebral Palsy
Centre, in which different paintings by the Centre’s users are exhi-

Water consumption (m3) per class of area
(5 to 20 ha, 20 to 50 ha, 50 to 100 ha, >100 ha)

Water consumption (m3) per class of area (<1 ha and 1-5 ha)
2017

2018

2019

2020
2017

8000000
7000000
6000000
5000000
4000000
3000000
2000000
1000000
0

2018

2020

2019

120000000

It should be noted, during the period under review, the produc-

bited, seeking to stimulate their intellectual development, stren-

tion and distribution of 29 press releases, which increases the

gthening their integration and social inclusion and increasing

rate of media penetration, while publicising EDIA’s activities and

their self-esteem.

initiatives, as well as the publication of 4 newsletters.

100000000

However, given the circumstances of the pandemic period, it was

80000000
60000000
40000000
20000000

<1 ha

0

1-5 ha

5-20 ha

20-50 ha

50-100 ha

>100 ha

It should be noted that during the pandemic state, the interactions

considered that it would not be appropriate to promote a physical

on social networks suffered an exponential increase, with a total

and public exhibition of the works, opting instead to promote

of 592 posts having been published, namely on Facebook (381),

the same exhibition on online platforms, particularly Facebook.

Instagram (112) and LinkedIn (99). EDIA’s social media pages as

Despite being an online exhibition, with the use of a short video

a whole recorded an average weekly reach of over 20,000 people

to complement it, it was possible to achieve the objectives of this

and, with regard to the videos produced by EDIA and uploaded to

initiative: to mark the International Day of Persons with Disabili-

Facebook, the monthly average is 1,600 minutes viewed.

ties, to stimulate and promote the inclusion of the Centre’s users

Chart 10 and 11: Water consumption by class of area registered

and to raise revenue for the activities developed by them. In the
Below is a table with the figures for the distribution of water to

Video content was produced for these social networks and the

latter case, it should be noted that 16 of the 20 works on display

the most representative crops.

Youtube channel, with a new video presentation layout, creating

were sold.

Consumption (m3) per crop
2020
2019

Crop

playlists with 10 different themes. During the year, 54 films were
inserted in Youtube.

During 2020, the management and maintenance of the Company’s
document collection continued to be ensured through the Docu-

Adult Almond

11 688 246

4 406 439

Young Almond

29 718 458

28 175 236

In order to enhance the value of the project, EDIA participated, in

mentation Centre (CD). Support continued to be provided to stu-

Melon

5 030 055

5 003 216

the first quarter of the year, in some national and international

dents, researchers, potential investors and the entire structure

Corn

33 002 636

37 630 493

Walnut

2 059 994

1 377 870

exhibitions such as AgroExpo - Don Benito in Spain, Fruit Logisti-

of EDIA, while disseminating information to employees regarding

Adult Intensive Olive Grove

69 967 674

84 239 626

ca, in Berlin (Germany), the International Agricultural Machinery

new publications or other matters of interest. Due to the pan-

Fair (FIMA) - Zaragoza, in Spain, and SISAB in Lisbon. It should be

demic caused by the COVID-19 virus, and as a space open to the

noted that with the entry of Portugal into a state of calamity, and

outside world, during part of the second quarter, this service was

later of emergency, the Company’s physical participation in the

closed, and requests were responded to through alternative ca-

1 454 321

3 443 465

Adult Super Intensive Olive Grove

56 810 465

37 709 672

Young Super Intensive Olive Grove

23 449 253

32 856 349

6 337 141

8 148 762

Young Intensive Olive Grove

Wine Grape

Note: Consumption is broken down because there are hydrants that have more than one associated crop, so the sum of the parcels may not correspond to the total annual consumption.

Table 25: Water consumption per crop
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nals. Subsequently, it continued to respond to internal requests

•

“O Alentejo entre Roma e o Islão – um território e Bár-

to the Company and external requests, mainly by telephone, email

baros?” (‘The Alentejo between Rome and Islam - a

and by providing the required information.

territory and Barbarians?)

•

On 16 March, the Alqueva Interpretation Centre (CIAL) closed per-

“Tolerância e convivência no Gharb Al-Andaluz – O

manently to the public under the Company’s Contingency Plan,

período islâmico nos campos de Beja’ - o período is-

and remained closed until 9 June. As of that date, the opening

lâmico no território do EFMA - séc. VIII ao séc. XIII”

hours were also changed, closing on Sundays. The number of vi-

(Tolerance and Coexistence in the Gharb Al-Andaluz -

sitors inside the building was also limited to five (5) people. This

The Islamic period in the fields of Beja - the Islamic

space also suffered other periods of closure during the rest of

period in the territory of EFMA - from the 8th to the

the year, thus responding to the need for restrictions felt in the

13th century)

ha

Total Surplus Area

Non-Rentable Surplus Area

Rentable

Non-Rentable

To Rent

Rent

Assigned to the Work

Direct Management

2019

320

331

217

103

3

321

2020

306

329

219

87

9

320

Table 27: Surplus Area - EFMA

RENTABLE SURPLUS AREA - 2020

TOTAL SURPLUS AREA - 2020

region due to the pandemic context.
◊

Rentable Surplus Area

Interactive Museum of Megalithics of Mora:

NON-RENTABLE SURPLUS AREA - 2020

Non - Rentable

Rent

Rentable

To Rent

Direct Management

3%

Assign to the Work

28%

For these reasons, the number of visitors to the CIAL suffered
52%

•

a major impact, since all group visits were cancelled and the

48%

‘“Arqueologia nos novos caminhos da água” (Archaeology in the new waterways)

number of occasional visitors fell, with only small family groups,

97%

72%

mainly Portuguese, visiting.
◊

Vila Viçosa Castlea:
Chart 12, 13 and 14: Surplus Area 2020

The number of regular visitors fell sharply in 2021, given the con•

text, with a total of 1,500 people having been received.

‘Arqueologia nos novos caminhos da água” (Archaeology in the new waterways)

€

At the end of 2020 there was an increase, compared to 2019, in
No.

Visitors

2021

2020

1 500

8 098

Table 26: CIAL data

2020

2019

Revenue

62 785

2 147

Costs

5 500

1 500

revenues and also in costs within the scope of the management of
the rural assets as shown in the table below.

Assets Management

Table 28: Analysis of Revenues/Costs Rural Assets - EFMA

Following the expropriation processes inherent to the implementation of EFMA infrastructures, and at the request of previous owners, EDIA acquired a set of plots of land adjacent to the expro-

Regarding dissemination, several exhibitions on cultural heritage

priated areas and which viability or usefulness was questioned.

were open to the public:

These plots are called surplus land and are made available by
EDIA for lease or sale.

◊

EDIA’s registered office in Beja:
EDIA’s rural assets at the end of 2020 comprised 363 buildings,
•

“Moinhos do Guadiana – A turbina hidráulica” (Mills of

with 302 buildings (306 ha) available for rent, of which 52 (87

the Guadiana - The hydraulic turbine)

ha) are rented, 45 fully and 7 partially. Of the 61 non-rentable
properties (329 ha), 9 (9 ha) are allocated to construction and the

◊

Museum Centre of rua do Sembrano, in Beja:

remainder (320 ha) are under direct management. At the end of
the year there was still 1 assignment, which corresponds to the

•

Sob a terra e as águas – 20 anos de Arqueologia entre

area of 8.3 (ha).

Guadiana e Sado” (Under land and water - 20 years of
archaeology between Guadiana and Sado)
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This increase recorded in revenue, in 2020 compared to the previous year, is justified by the land rental process, which generated

Sustainability in the Economic, Social and
Environmental Domains

revenue amounting to EUR 26,623.02, to which was added revenue
from the sale of rustic land totalling EUR 35,201.98, making a

Sustainable management practices are promoted and intrinsic, in

total of EUR 62,784.59.

a transversal way, to EDIA’s positioning and the way it operates.

Baixo Alentejo’. In this period exceptional measures were deve-

cooperation work in different areas and projects with the “Incu-

loped and put into practice to support families, to secure IPSS’s,

badora de Inovação Social do Baixo Alentejo” (Social Innovation

to raise means of protection for health professionals, the elderly,

Incubator of Baixo Alentejo), namely in the monitoring of the

children, workers.

initiative “Fénix – Sejam agentes do futuro!” (Fénix - Be agents
of the future!).

Thus, and at the level of the promotion and development of ac-

The consortium of entities ‘OPTA Alentejo’ - Organização Pontual

Within the scope of rural assets management, new public notices

tions that consolidate a growing involvement with the regional

no Tempo Atual (Punctual Organization in the Current Time), crea-

Regarding the “Alqueva vai à Escola” (Alqueva goes to School)

of sale of surplus property were drawn up, as well as the signing

community.

ted with the aim of providing local and regional responses to

Project, reference should be made to the partnership established

support the economic fabric most affected by the stoppage of ac-

with the Municipality of Beja with the referencing of an offer

Through its action, EDIA continues to contribute to the adequacy

tivity due to the pandemic, should also be mentioned. The balance

to schools of activities in partnership with other areas of the

Also noteworthy was the drafting of the Plan for the Manage-

of its medium and long-term strategic objectives to the great

of the activities of this partnership shows that 151 actions were

Company. However, and due to the confinement caused by the CO-

ment of Surplus and Inter-level Products (PGSI) 2020/2023, and

purpose of EFMA, the regional development, in the economic and

carried out, 59 people/families and 44 companies were helped.

VID-19 pandemic, the actions scheduled with the different school

the start of work to monitor the provision of services for firebrea-

social aspects of the Project, as an instrument of intervention in

ks and cleaning in the vicinity of CIAL. Reference should also be

the region, seeking the enhancement of natural resources, the re-

EDIA was one of the main driving forces behind the creation of a

ter, the project was resumed and readapted to the new school

made to the cleaning of firebreaks in Barca (Moura) and Marmelar

vitalization and boosting of economic activity and the settlement

collaborative platform between various entities, working as part

year due to all the existing constraints associated with school

(Pedrógão).

of the respective populations.

of a complementary network and providing support to specific

visits, group actions, imposed as safety measures by the DGS.

of leasing contracts for EDIA’s surplus property.

groupings were suspended in part of 2020. During the 4th quar-

target audiences directly or indirectly affected by the situation
Throughout this period, the monitoring of the AlquevaPark Project

The 2019 Sustainability Report was also made available on the

experienced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly

On the other hand, it should be noted that the EFMA management

continued, and the application being developed for the project

EDIA website. This document aims to measure, disseminate and

in the areas of trade and tourism, micro-enterprises, agricultural

and implementation model was referenced by the Association of

was tested.

report on the performance of the Company to all those who relate

entrepreneurs, the cultural sector, people on lay-off, integration

European Border Regions (AEBR) and the Extremadura Agency for

to us with a view to sustainable development.

into the labour market of the long-term unemployed and young

International Development Cooperation (AEXCID), and EDIA par-

people, among other cases.

ticipated in a cycle of conferences and seminars held between

With regard to urban assets, various maintenance and repair activities were carried out in the Park, Luz Museum, EDIA’s registered

The Guide to Good Agri-Environmental Practices prepared by EDIA,

office building, as well as other locations (primary network buil-

as the entity promoting and managing the EFMA hydro-agricul-

The integration of the Institute for Employment and Vocational

with digital presentations on EFMA and the Alqueva project, thus

dings and Alqueva). Of note during this period was the completion

tural facilities, in partnership with DGADR, was published at the

Training (IEFP) in the existing partnership between EDIA, Cáritas

enhancing the opportunities for cooperation with Latin American

of the extension works on the registered office building.

end of the year. It is a contribution to the dissemination of best

Diocesana de Beja and IPBeja, under the scope of the “Horta Nova

markets and countries.

agricultural practices that ensure the long-term sustainability of

Esperança Project” (New Hope Vegetable Garden), in its various

On 31 December 2020, EDIA’s fleet consists of 81 vehicles, of which

agricultural production and preservation of the territory’s natural

dimensions, also continued to be monitored.

42 are light passenger vehicles, 34 are all-terrain vehicles and 5

resources.

light goods vehicles. In addition there are 2 tractors to support

15 and 21 January in border regions of Colombia and Ecuador,

It is also worth mentioning the holding, in the EDIA auditorium
in Beja, of the action in partnership with ‘EAPN - European An-

EDIA also continued to monitor the actions arising from the proto-

ti-Poverty Network’, called the presentation session of the AC-

the agricultural activity of the PNN. Of the 81 vehicles, around 71

In the field of social responsibility, EDIA continued to participate

col signed with the Alqueva Lake Cross-border Association (ATLA),

CEDER\Alentejo project, in which the Spanish team (Andalusia)

are mostly hired under the AOV (Operational Lease of Vehicles)

in the two platforms of which it is a partner entity - the Local

as well as the development of the PROVERE Program (Strategy +

presented to businessmen from the Alentejo examples of access

modality.

Council for Social Action (CLAS) and the ‘Supra-Council Platform of

Alqueva), of which EDIA is a partner entity. It also continued the

to employment as a gateway to social inclusion.
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Photo: Álamos Pumping Station

CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

INVESTMENT AND FINANCING

PROJECT INVESTMENT
thousand EUR
Having been approved by the European Investment Bank (EIB)

Thus, the value of investment increased compared to previous

and the Council of Europe Development Bank (CEB) the loans that

years, as a result of the start of various contracts, both for new

YEARS
PROGRAMMES

UNTIL 2016

2017
1 Fase
a

2018
2 Fase
a

1 Fase
a

2019
2 Fase
a

1 Fase
a

2020
2 Fase
a

enable the construction of the 2nd EFMA infrastructure phase at

irrigation schemes (primary and secondary networks), and for

the end of 2017, in April 2018 the financing contracts between the

improvements in existing schemes (reinforcement of supply ca-

Alqueva Dam

609 665,51

Portuguese State, the EIB and the CEB were signed, to support

pacity).

Alqueva Hydroelectric Power
Station

130 944,62

Pedrógão Dam and Power
Station

87 790,89

Alqueva-Alamos Pumping
Station

43 654,39

Primary Network

687 399,18

1 095,94

313,69

7,12

250,98

250,40

1 979,20

Secondary Network

777 912,35

-33,64

419,84

244,23

530,06

131,54

3 252,67

Regional Development

11 816,44

55,23

2 349 183,38

1 066,87

the PNRegadios. Also in 2018, the necessary procedures for the
start-up of this new phase of the Alqueva Project were initiated.

The total investment made during 2020, not including the capitalisation of structure and financial charges, reached the amount

On 29 April 2019, the 1st Call for submission of PNRegadios appli-

of EUR 36,771.48 thousand, bringing the total investment in EFMA

cations was published and the year 2020 was marked by the start

from 1995 to the end of 2020 to EUR 2,400,940.15 thousand.

of construction of the first infrastructures belonging to the 2nd
phase of EFMA.

The following table shows the EFMA investments made until the

Total

-106,85

287,39

9,50

1 Fase
a

2a Fase

64,93

TOTAL
609 920,48
130 944,62

56,18

0,18
14,79

20,49
3 169,84

19,00
748,33

557,93

856,34
2 884,94

132,55
3 950,88

544,47

8 116,81

88 724,08
3 502,05

53 226,02

461,15

14 776,11

706 533,76

497,66

16 434,04

799 388,76

136,80

42,40

12 202,42

2 016,88

34 754,60

2 400 940,15

end of 2020, systematised “by Program”.

Table 29: Investment carried out “by Program “until 2020-EFMA
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PROJECT FINANCING
On 31 December 2020, the Company’s Share Capital, fully subs-

•

7 August 2020: Issue of 866,000 new shares, with a nominal

cribed and paid up, amounts to EUR 860,334,960.00 (made up of

value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed

172,066,992 shares), and is 100% owned by the Portuguese State,

and paid up was EUR 4,330,000; and

through the DGTF. The variation occurred in 2020 (21,524,640.00
EUR and 4,304,928 new shares) results from the following issues

•

6 October 2020: Issue of 2,765,000 new shares, with a nomi-

of shares with a nominal value of EUR 5 each:

nal value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed and paid up was EUR 13,825,000.

•

11 March 2020: Issue of 673,928 new shares, with a nominal
value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed
and paid up was EUR 3,369,640;

thousand EUR

Share Capital

Until 2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

464 341

64 960

280 233

29 275

21 525

359

2 736

33 473

Capital Increase to cover Losses

1 229 310

11 152

PIDDAC

151 974

1 052

Medium/Long Term Loans

682 791

-44 959

-313 424

-38 364

-9 958

Bonds

450 529

-6 739

-306 739

-6 739

-6 739

EIB

74 588

-6 685

-6 685

-31 624

-3 219

DGTF

157 674

-31 535

2 528 416

32 206

517

-8 729

14 674

Community Funds

234

371

Short Term Loans

Total

Table 30: EFMA financing

Photo: Orada Reservoir
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Photo: Wall of the Alqueva Dam

CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

OUTLOOK FOR 2021

Given the objectives assigned to EDIA in terms of management,

full operation of the system, with direct contact with farmers ba-

and systematize new mitigation measures for the areas identified

In 2021, a second call for applications is expected to be publi-

maintenance and conservation of EFMA, during 2021 a series of

sed on a policy of proximity, seeking solutions that ensure the

as relevant.

shed, which will allow EDIA to move forward with the remaining

daily activities will continue in order to optimise the functions

efficient use of water.

projects of the 2nd phase of EFMA. Thus, in addition to the proAs a driving force for the agricultural and agro-industrial develo-

jects submitted under the 1st call, which implementation will

In recent years EDIA has been focusing on energy solutions that

pment of Alqueva, EDIA aims to promote irrigation in the area of

continue in 2021, a set of activities associated with the remaining

are environmentally friendly and ecologically compatible with a

influence of EFMA. Based on the knowledge of farms in the region,

projects will also be carried out.

Throughout 2021, activities related to the maintenance and con-

process of sustained development that is desired for the region,

this company monitors and supports new agricultural projects, as

servation of the primary and secondary network infrastructures

thus giving its example through the materialization of photo-

well as expectations and intentions regarding the practice of irri-

and their equipment will continue, as well as the operation of

voltaic solutions. For 2021, EDIA intends to continue with the

gation. Crossing this information with the support systems for the

dam safety and operating equipment, to check their permanent

maintenance and operation of the various photovoltaic and Mini

best cultural options for the region, EDIA has the ideal conditions

operability, supply ecological flows and, whenever necessary,

Hydro plants of the Project, as well as the implementation of new

to provide a service of considerable added value to the beneficia-

carry out discharges.

projects in this area.

ries of the Project and potential investors. Thus, and similarly to

carried out by the Company, particularly in terms of providing a
quality service to customers.

The following contracts are expected to be completed next year:

•

Connection to the Morgavél water supply system;

•

Viana do Alentejo hydraulic circuit;

•

Cuba-Odivelas hydraulic circuit and respective block;

•

Construction contract for the Évora hydraulic circuit and

what has occurred in previous years, we plan to continue a series
The operation of the infrastructures of the Project will continue

Also within the scope of its competences, EDIA will ensure the

of activities related to the development of irrigation associated

in order to ensure the transfer of water between reservoirs and

permanent promotion and coordination of the implementation of

with the Project, with actions that promote its potential use.

tanks, and guarantee continuity and quality of supply to custo-

environmental monitoring programs relating to the different as-

mers of the secondary network and other end customers.

pects and stages of EFMA, namely at the level of the state of sur-

The publication of the 1st Call for submission of an application to

face water, the state of groundwater, fauna, flora and vegetation,

PNRegadios, on 29 April 2019, allowed EDIA, during the month of

In order to comply with the quality and efficiency of its mission

soils and agro-systems. Throughout 2021, the ongoing work in

May 2019, to submit ten applications for projects of the 2nd Phase

to operate the EFMA infrastructures, EDIA will continue to have

terms of environmental monitoring will be continued. A weighting

of Infrastructure of the Alqueva irrigation, which represent a total

multidisciplinary teams working daily in the field to ensure the

of the different results will also be carried out in order to identify

investment of about EUR 95 million.
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•

Reinforcement of the Álamos pumping station slab;

•

Reinforcement of the Álamos pumping station; and

•

Renovation of the Lage pumping station.

For 2021 work is expected to begin on the 2nd phase of the Pedrógão station - right bank, already consigned in 2020, as well as
the work on the Alqueva Observation and Command Post, which
tender is scheduled for the beginning of the year.

In parallel with the construction contracts for the primary and
secondary networks, environmental and asset monitoring will
also be carried out, as well as the environmental management of
the works in progress in 2021.

The environmental monitoring of the primary and secondary network contracts is also planned, with the consequent development
of audit reports to be submitted to the AIA Authority. In terms of
heritage, the survey and rescue of historical and cultural heritage
will continue, including impact minimisation measures that are
developed before and during the works, in order to enhance the
value of the finds, contributing to safeguard collective memory.

Photo: Pias Dam
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Photo: Espinheira Reservoir

CHAPTER 1 - MANAGEMENT REPORT

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY LAW

EDIA’s Board of Directors normally meets on a weekly basis. Thus,

•

The addendum to the cooperation protocol signed

•

The expenses on the contract for waterproofing the

graphy to support Land Management Plans was approved;

in 2020, 58 meetings were held, highlighting the following deli-

between EDIA and the Municipality of Moura, with the

water supply reservoirs of the buildings adjacent to

berations:

aim of developing and implementing the Moura/Al-

the Alqueva Dam was approved;
•

queva Nautical Centre was approved;
•

JANUARY 2020
•

The supply and assembly of a flowmeter at the Lourei-

•

The 2019 Alqueva Agricultural Yearbook was approved;

•

The Global Program for Soil Monitoring in the EFMA

ro - Monte Novo canal intake was awarded;

•

Irrigation Blocks - Operating Phase was approved and

Expenses on observation and safety control work was

Rules were approved for the 2020 Performance Evalua-

approved for the Alqueva and Pedrógão Dams, in their

tion;

operational phase, during 2020;

The draft contract regarding the hosting services in

•

the MEO Cloud of three virtual servers was approved;

The contract for the provision of communications services was awarded for a period of 24 months;

its submission to the Portuguese Environment Agency
•

The contracting of insurance policies for accidents at

(APA) was ordered;

•

The water tariff update was approved.

•

work, health, vehicle fleet, extra-contractual civil liability and vessel navigation was awarded;

The implementation services for the Cork Oak compensation project in Herdade Monte da Serra, parish of

•

The “Monitoring of EFMA’s Groundwater Resources for

Ervidel, municipality of Aljustrel, were awarded;

the Exploration Phase - 2020/2021” service was awar•

Auditing services were awarded to EDIA’s half-yearly

ded;

FEBRUARY 2020

and annual accounts;

The expenses estimated for the acquisition of auditing

The expenses on Monitoring Flora and Vegetation in
the Hydraulic Supply Circuit to the Odivelas Dam and

•
•

•

The protocol to be signed with the Estar Association
was approved;

•

The cooperation protocol to be signed between EDIA

By-Pass was approved;

and the Municipality of Aljustrel in the area of carto-

services (FSC and PEFC certification) was authorised;
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•

The contract was awarded for the work of rigidifying

•

the structure and reconditioning the pumps installed

The supply of a data management platform to integra-

APRIL 2020

•

te consumption values from dataloggers was awarded;

Campaign was approved;
•

at the Almeidas Pumping Station.
•

The expenses on the acquisition of Network equipment, Switch and Optical SFPs was approved;

The carrying out of internships, in a period to be de-

•

ces, was approved;

The principle of staggered water tariffs was approved,
with the details of its application still to be worked

fined later due to the current exceptional circumstan-

MARCH 2020

The proposal to allocate support to the SERHUMANO

•

The “Monitoring of Avifauna in the Alvito-Pisão Irriga-

out.

tion Block (2020-2022)” service was awarded;
•

Service provision for the management and supervision

•

The Annual Report and Accounts - Financial Year 2019

of the construction contract for the Viana do Alentejo

and Corporate Governance Report - 2019 were appro-

hydraulic circuit was awarded;

ved;

•

The extension of the deadline for the Supervision of
the Contract for the Strengthening of EE Álamos was

MAY 2020

approved;
•

The contract was awarded for the supply and assembly

•

of a grille cleaner and grates at the water intake at the

The terms of the revised invoicing manual were appro-

•
•

ved;

The service provision for monitoring “Linaria ricardoi

repair the letter of the speed variator of group 1 of the

in the Secondary Irrigation Network” was awarded;

Álamo Pumping Station was approved;

Cegonha Reservoir;
•
•

The provision of temporary employment services was

The provision of services for monitoring fish larvae

•

with light traps was awarded (2020);

in the accounts area;

•

•

The procurement of temporary labour services for the

was acknowledged;

The terms of the consignment and suspension of the
•

peline and respective Irrigation Block were approved;

The regulation for the attribution and use of mobile

•

policy was awarded;
•

The terms of the consignment and suspension of the

•

The EDIA COVID-19 Contingency Plan was approved and

the construction work of the Power Reinforcement of

vention of Risks of Corruption and Related Infringe-

the Álamos Pumping Station was approved;

Temporary employment services were awarded on an

The gender pay gap report - 2019 was approved and

open-ended contract basis for personnel in the expro-

determined its reporting in the legally prescribed ter-

priations area;

ms;

•

•

•

EDIA’s strategy for participation as a partner in the EE

The contract was awarded for Preventive Maintenance

The expenses on the acquisition of material for the

ping Station and the Soft Starters of the Pedrógão –

purchase of fabric for Beja Hospital was approved;

Right Bank Pumping Station;

The award for the supply of a UAV - Unmanned Aerial

•

Vehicle, to the company Acre Surveying, was approved;

•
•

•

of the Static Frequency Converter of the Álamos Pum-

ments for 2019 was approved;
•

The Assessment Report on the Degree of Satisfaction
of Alqueva Irrigators - 2019 was approved;

The draft of the additional contract (no. 1) regarding

The document on the Revision of the Plan for the Pre-

The Activity Report for the 1st quarter of 2020 was
approved;

•
•

•

•

do Alentejo were approved;

its dissemination by all employees;

•

The terms of the disposal of surplus plots - Edital 2020
were approved;

construction contract for the hydraulic circuit in Viana
•

The provision of technical advisory services for remuneration diagnosis in relation to EDIA’s current salary

equipment was approved;

Irrigation Infrastructure Operation Department (DEIR)
was awarded;

The report “Main Operating Indicators of EFMA – 2019”

distribution was approved;

construction contract of the Viana do Alentejo Main Pi•

The proposal for the application of the stipulated tariff scenarios and allocation of equipment with profile

awarded under an open-ended contract for personnel

The expenses with the additional material required to

The 1st Additional for the construction contract of the

The hiring of fire watchers for forest fire prevention in

Irrigation Infrastructures of the Cuba-Odivelas Block

the Noudar Nature Park - 2020 was approved;

was approved;

The collaboration protocol for the Village Renewal
Project - JFBarrancos was approved;

•

The expenses on upgrading the number of Teamviewer
licences/channels was approved;

Grants application was approved;
•
•

The technological upgrade services in the Secondary

The tenders for the 2020 irrigation campaign were

•

approved;

The provision of a sum to support a fund-raising cam-

•

Temporary employment services were awarded on an
open-ended contract basis to personnel in the area of

paign for Beja Hospital was approved;

electrical and mechanical maintenance;

School Network were adjudicated;
•

The 2019 Sustainability Report was approved.

•

The contract was awarded to repair the water leakage
upstream of Junction 5 of the Vidigueira 2 block;

•

The hiring of fire watchers for the 2020 Fire Prevention
Campaign was approved;
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•

The resumption of the execution of the works of the

pply system was approved;

•

Hydroelectric Power Plant Viana was approved;
•
•

The service provision for the “Monitoring of Avifauna

The proposal for registration in the EEGO was appro-

•

ject of the Hydroelectric Power Plant of Vidigueira and

project of the Observation and Command Post / In-

respective block were approved;

terpretation Centre of the Alqueva Dam was approved;

•
•

The expense with the diagnostic and repair services of

The contract works to remodel the Laje Pumping Sta-

•

The Automation Services for EFMA’s Secondary Net-

Power Plant was approved;

was awarded;
•

work Infrastructure were awarded;

•

The contract for technical assistance in the area of

The contracting of energy and fuel supply through ES-

research and monitoring of habitat improvement

PAP was approved;

measures, management of breeding enclosures and
control of wild rabbit populations, in the SCI Moura-

•

The works to stabilise and improve the bank and ac-

-Barrancos, was approved under the project Linx2020”

cess to the Automatic Water Hyacinth Collection Sta-

- POSEUR-03-2215-FC-000043;

Station was approved.

The expenses on services to repair the fibre optics on

velas Hydraulic Circuit was approved;

•
•

The implementation of a document management sys-

and vehicle location via GPS, in a rental regime, was

work for doubling the siphons on the Alamos-Loureiro

awarded.

JULY 2020

•

•

JUNE 2020

Pumping Station’s static frequency converter were
awarded;

The Contract for the Supply and Installation of Regula-

•

tion Gates for the Final Section of the Loureiro-Alvito

lity Management System in accordance with the ISO

Connection was awarded;

9001:2015 Standard was approved;

The Activity Report - 2nd quarter of 2020 was appro-

The expenses on the production of promotional mate-

•

The Gender Equality Plan 2021 was approved;

•

The Report of the Evaluation Coordination Board was

Service provision for the preparation of the Execution

approved and homologated the results of the perfor-

à Escola” (Alqueva goes to School) project was appro-

Project of the Floodgates for the Water Intake of the

mance evaluations for the 2019 financial year;

ved;

R1 Reservoir of the Roxo Sado Hydroelectric Power

Temporary employment services were awarded on an

rials for the work carried out under the “Alqueva vai

open-ended contract basis to personnel in the area of
electrical and mechanical maintenance;

•

Plant Roxo Sado was awarded;
•

the Sentinel platform was approved;

The report on the monitoring of cultural heritage located in EFMA reservoirs was approved;

•

The supply and installation of equipment for the im-

•

The Activity and Budget Plan - 2021 was approved;

•

The expenses on consultancy to support the accession
of the PNN to the PEFC forest certification standard

provement of the wild rabbit habitat was awarded
The execution of works relating to the Cuba-Odivelas

•

The sale of surplus energy for self-consumption pro-

Block Irrigation Infrastructures Construction Contract

duced in the Laje and Cuba-Este UPACs of EFMA was

- 2nd Additional was approved;

awarded;

was approved;

(POSEUR LINX2020 project).
•

The provision of services for the “Edition of the Report

•

and Accounts - Financial Year 2019” was awarded;

the Reguengos block (Reguengos, Vendinha and Mon-

•

tion work of a connection to the Morgavél water su-

•

The terms of the assignment of use of the Village of
Estrela pier were approved;

las Block - 3rd Additional was approved;
•

The draft Provision of services to clean canals and reservoirs in EFMA’s primary infrastructures was approved;
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The execution of the works on the Construction Contract for Irrigation Infrastructures for the Cuba-Odive-

The draft contract for the provision of services to
coordinate health and safety on site for the construc-

Station was awarded;

The service provision for the topographical survey of

toito subblocks) was awarded;
•

The contract for the Reinforcement of the Anchoring
Structure of Groups 1 and 2 of the Álamos Pumping

SEPTEMBER 2020
•

The expenses for the External Audit under the Qua-

ved;
•

•

The technological updating services for the Álamos

The contract for the supply of a management system

The project for the execution of the accesses to the

The expenses on the acquisition of information from

•

AUGUST 2020

Connection was awarded.

•

The proposed URSA protocol was approved;

tem and migration of the current system was awarded;
•

•

•

the Cuba-Vidigueira water supply system and the Odi-

tion were awarded;

•

The expenses with the inspection of the motor of the
main unit no. 2 of the Pedrogão - Left Bank Pumping

•

Service provision for the “Soil Monitoring in EFMA Irrigation Blocks - Zone A - Exploration Phase - 2020”

tion (1st phase intervention) were awarded;

the alternator of group 1 of the Alvito Hydroelectric
•

The adjudication of the alteration to the execution

ved;

in the Secondary Irrigation Network (2020-2021)” was
awarded;

The expenses with the alteration to the execution pro-

•
•

The supply of solar inverters for the Alqueva photo-

The Report and Accounts as at 30 June 2020 were
approved;

voltaic plant was awarded;
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•

The execution of the works Contract for the Construc-

NOVEMBER 2020

DECEMBER 2020

tion of the Évora Hydraulic Circuit and respective Irrigation Block - 2nd Additional was approved;

•

The Activity Report for the 3rd Quarter of 2020 was

•

approved;

approved;
•

The expenses for the acquisition of the Network-Attached Storage device was approved;

•

Surface water resource monitoring works for the EFMA

•

The contract for the provision of Cleaning Services of

The contract for the supply and replacement of components for the position indicators of the Alvito-Pe-

Primary Network (November 2020 to December 2022)
•

The renewal of the Checkpoint licensing contract was

nedrão Canal floodgates was awarded;

were awarded;

Canals and Reservoirs in Primary Infrastructures was
approved.

•

•

•

to-Pisão canal was awarded;

gation Block - 3rd Additional was approved;

the Loureiro - Monte Novo Canal’s Local Unit 1 (UL 1)

•
•

The contract for alteration work on the grille-cleaning
machine for the S3 siphon entrance work on the Alvi-

tion of the Évora Hydraulic Circuit and respective Irri-

The contract for corrective maintenance services of

floodgates was awarded.

The execution of the works Contract for the Construc-

The contract was awarded for preventive maintenance

The works to alter the grilles of the S4, S5 and S6 siphons in the Alvito-Penedrão canal were awarded;

services for the motor drives of the pumping stations
at Pedrógão-Left Bank, Amoreira, Álamo, Brinches and

OCTOBER 2020
•

•

S. Matias;

approved;

The Activity Report - 2nd quarter of 2020, in its updated version, was approved;

•

The contract for auditing the metering systems of the

•

Alvito, Odivelas, Pisão, Roxo and Serpa Hydroelectric
•

The contract for the renewal of safety signage at the

Auditing services within the scope of the Post Evaluation of EFMA Projects were awarded;

Power Plants and the Alqueva photovoltaic plant was

The awarding of the environmental audit works for the

awarded;

EFMA operation phase was approved;

•

The new Professional Categories Regulation was

•

The proposal for collaboration between EDIA and CIBIO/InBIo through EDIA’s membership of the Associa-

•

tion of Biological Station of Mértola was approved;

The company was awarded the services of hosting,
maintenance, integration of document management

Alqueva dam was awarded;

software;

•

The corrective maintenance services for the equipment
of the Pedrogão – Right Bank and Álamo pumping sta-

•

The proposal to integrate EDIA in the Cross-Border
Partnership for the Valorisation of Alex Renewable Ga-

•

The provision of temporary employment services was

tions were awarded.

Estrela pier were approved;

ses was approved;

•

The terms of the assignment of use of the Village of

•

The Management Plan for Surplus and Inter-level Areas
for the three-year period 2020-2023 was approved;

awarded under an open-ended contract for personnel
in the area of hygiene and safety at work;

•

•

The 2021-2023 film production was awarded;

•

The supply of water hyacinth containment barriers was

The acquisition of a trailer for the vessel Capivara was
awarded;

awarded
•

The Contract for the Supply and Installation of the Pedrogão Pumping Station Reinforcement - Right Bank,
was awarded.
Photo: Cuba East Solar Plant
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Photo: Vidigueira Reservoir
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AUTHORITY POWERS

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Profit and Loss Account
By Decree-Law no. 42/2007 of 22 February, EDIA was given the

it, and may also, under the terms of the law, temporarily

In this analysis, expenses and income do not include the invest-

works forming part of the EFMA secondary network owned by the

following authority powers:

occupy private land that it needs for building sites, to store

ment made in the Secondary Network, which is cancelled out by

State with the exception of Infrastructure 12 and the Village of

materials, to house workers and to set up offices, without

means of the variation in production (investment made in the

Luz perimeter).

•

The powers, under the terms of the law, namely the

prejudice to the right to any compensation that may be due.

Thousand EUR

expropriation code, to act as the expropriating entity of
the immovable assets and rights inherent thereto to be

Under the provisions of Decree-Law no. 313/2007, of 17 Septem-

Costs

expropriated that are necessary for the pursuit of its social

ber, which approved the bases of the concession granted by con-

Cost Goods Sold/Consumed Materials

purpose;

•

•

tract between the State and EDIA on 17 October 2007, EDIA holds,

2020

2019

Absolute deviation

Relative deviation

60 520

46 995

13 525

28,78%

69

61

8

13,99%

Supplies and External Services

21 698

21 654

44

0,20%

Personnel Costs

6 602

6 319

282

4,47%

as concessionaire of the management, operation and private use

Depreciation and Amortization Costs

5 735

5 788

-52

-0,91%

of the public hydric domain allocated to EFMA, the powers of ad-

Impairments

17 679

3 835

13 844

360,99%

domain of the state which are or will be assigned to the

ministration of that public hydric domain within the scope of its

Provisions

5 764

4 669

1 095

23,45%

exercise of its activity;

activity, the powers to grant titles regarding the abstraction of

The right to use and administer the goods of the public

The powers and prerogatives of the State in relation to

1 481

-1 318

-88,99%

3 115

-350

-11,24%

45

73

-28

-37,99%

46 665

44 324

2 341

5,28%

1 108

631

477

75,61%

34 432

32 328

2 104

6,51%

0

0

0

Own Work for the Entity

1 649

1 603

46

2,87%

Operating Subsidies

565

145

421

290,45%

271

-271

8 911

9 346

-435

-4,66%

-13 855

-2 671

-11 184

418,75%

Financial Costs and Losses

water for irrigation and power generation and also the powers to

Income Tax

supervise its use by third parties, as well as the power to initiate,

Income

the protection, evacuation, demolition and administrative

investigate and sanction administrative offence proceedings in

defence of possession of the lands and facilities that are

this scope.

allocated to it and of the works executed or contracted by

163
2 765

Other Costs and Losses

Sales
Services Rendered
Variations in Production Inventories

Impairment
Other Income and Gains
Net Result for Financial Year

Table 31: Profit and Loss Account
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In 2020, EDIA, presented a negative Net Result of EUR -13.86 mil-

•

Thousand EUR

“Other Costs and Losses” with a decrease of about EUR 1.32

lion, with a negative variation of EUR 11.18 million compared to

million (-88.99%), is justified by the fact that, in 2020, the

the same period in 2019.

procedure for the recognition of water resources fees has

Items

pared with the same period of the previous year, essentially due
to the following items:

31/dez/19

Absolute

Relative

Tangible Fixed Assets

13 307

12 502

805

6,44%

Investment Property

1 921

2 111

-189

-8,97%

325 669

330 168

-4 499

-1,36%

277

277

0

0,00%

Other Receivables

181 966

187 772

-5 806

-3,09%

Captive Deposits

91

91

0

0,00%

523 230

532 920

-9 689

-1,82%

Non-Current Assets

changed. In 2020 the assumptions for the recognition of
The costs show an increase of EUR 13.53 million (28.78%), com-

31/dez/20

costs and income associated with TRH were changed, due to

Intangible Assets

the fact that a large amount of this fee is collected by EDIA,

Financial Investments

to be transferred afterwards to APA. Thus, only the portion
collected from this fee that is actual revenue of EDIA was

•

“Personnel Costs” with an increase of EUR 0.28 million whi-

recognised in profit or loss, i.e. the part of the amount col-

Current Assets

ch is mainly due to salary updates and progressions which,

lected from TRH that is not transferred to APA, thus reducing

Inventories

24 985

7 695

17 290

224,70%

Customers

5 148

6 843

-1 696

-24,78%

compared to 2019, had a greater impact due to the fact that

the “Services Rendered” account and the “Other Costs and

in the latter year (2019) they were granted in stages and

Losses” account.

Advances to Suppliers

14

16

-2

-12,40%

State and Other Public Entities

861

1 490

-629

-42,19%

0

0

0

-

218 264

219 146

-882

-0,40%

110

221

-111

-50,29%

with a lower impact - 75% on 1 May and 25% on 1 Decem-

Shareholders/Partners

ber, whereas in 2020 they were granted at 100% with effect

Other Receivables

In the particular case of income, there was an increase in the

from 1 January 2020, the reduction in absenteeism and the

order of EUR 2.34 million, 5.28% compared with the previous year,

granting of Exemption from Working Hours (IHT) instead of

resulting essentially from:

Deferrals
Cash and Bank Deposits

TOTAL

fixed-term contracts;
•

8 430

13 169

-4 738

-35,98%

257 812

248 580

9 232

3,71%

781 043

781 500

-457

-0,06%

“Sales and Services Rendered” which showed a positive evoTable 32: Balance Sheet - Assets

•

“Impairment related to the water business, with an increase

lution of around EUR 2.58 million, around +7.83%, essen-

of EUR 13.84 million (360.99%) compared to the same period

tially reflecting income from the distribution of water and

last year due to the increase in investment in the Primary

energy production (Mini Hydro plants).

Network (non-saleable assets) allocated to the water segment;

This decrease resulted, essentially, from the following variations:

Current assets

Non-current assets

•

Balance
•

“Provisions” with an increase of EUR 1.10 million, justified
by the application of IFRIC12 - Service Concession Contracts

On 31 December 2020, EDIA has Net Assets of EUR 781.04 million,

to the infrastructures in operation, with a change in the mo-

with a decrease of about EUR 0.46 million compared to the end

del for calculating the value of the provision as explained

of 2019.

EUR 17.29 million increase in “Inventories” due to the investment made in the Secondary Network;

•

Decrease in “Intangible Assets”, by about EUR 4.50 million
(-1.36%), justified essentially by the depreciations recogni-

in point 20.2 of the notes to the financial statements; and

•

sed during the year, and

“Customers” as a result of the decrease of EUR 1.70 million,
justified on the one hand by the decrease in the average
collection period and, on the other hand, by the greater re-

•

Decrease of “Other Receivables” by EUR 5.81 million justified

cognition of impairment related to customer debts, explai-

by the decrease of the balance in 2020 that concerns the

ned by the change of assumption in the calculation of this

amortisation of assets, related to the concession contract

impairment; and

for the operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plants, in accordance with the financial plan built

•

Cash and Bank Deposits with a decrease of EUR 4.74 mil-

for this purpose, in which a fixed discount rate of 3.5% is

lion (-35.98%) due to the Company’s exploitation, financing

considered.

settlement, operating and investment activities and debt
service payment.
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“Equity” showed a positive variation of around EUR 7.67 million

2) negative deviation of EUR 2.67 million in “Retained Ear-

as a result of:

nings” justified by the application of the net results of 2019;
and

1) capital increase carried out during the year in the amount
of EUR 21.53 million;

Liabilities recorded the following changes:

due on 30 November 2020 to 31 May 2021 was authorised,
Reduction in Non-Current Liabilities in the order of EUR 71.78 mil-

for no additional costs (the outstanding amount referred to

lion, justified:

in the letters relates to the years 2018, 2019 and 2020); and

3) negative variation of the “Net Profit” in the amount of
•

EUR 11.18 million.

Thousand EUR

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Under “Provisions”, by the increase of EUR 7.35 million,

Contracts to infrastructure in operation in the amount of

the amortisation of subsidised assets in the amount of EUR

EUR 5.65 million and by the provision for legal proceedings

1.85 million and income from the concession contract for

with an increase of EUR 1.70 million justified essentially by

the Alqueva and Pedrogão Hydroelectric Power Plants in the
amount of EUR 12.65 million.

Absolute

Relative

Paid-up Capital

860 335

838 810

21 525

2,57%

Other Reserves

9 203

9 203

0

0,00%

the lawsuit brought by Tecnasol-FGE against EDIA, relating

-808 041

-805 370

-2 671

0,33%

to the Contract for foundation treatment and implementa-

0

0

0

Net Profit for the Year

-13 855

-2 671

-11 184

418,76%

TOTAL EQUITY

47 642

39 973

7 669

19,19%

Adjustments on Financial Assets

tion of the Pedrógão exploitation observation plan;

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

34 223

26 876

7 346

27,33%

Financing Obtained

116 667

181 304

-64 637

-35,65%

0

0

0

Other Payables

Decrease in “Financing Obtained” by about EUR 64.64 million

tained”, in the amount of EUR 54.70 million, and an increase un-

(-35.65%), mainly due to the transfer to current liabilities

der the item “Suppliers and Other Accounts Payable” of EUR 8.98

of the repayments to be paid in the short term up to the

million, justified by the increase in exploration and investment

end of 2021, related to the EIB financing (EUR 135.00 mil-

activities.

lion), amounting to EUR 26.38 million, the DGTF (EUR 189.00

381 783

396 275

-14 492

-3,66%

532 673

604 455

-71 782

-11,88%

Financing Obtained

159 256

104 563

54 693

52,31%

Suppliers and other payables

26 694

17 710

8 984

50,73%

254

275

-21

-7,64%

Deferrals

In Current Liabilities there was an increase of EUR 63.66 million,
essentially due to the variation under the item “Financing Ob-

•
LIABILITIES

Decrease in “Deferrals” of EUR 14.49 million (-3.66%), due
to the recognition in income, in the same proportion, of

31/dez/19

EQUITY

•

justified by the application of IFRIC12 - Service Concession

31/dez/20

Retained Earnings

654-DASF, the deferral of the payment of the debt service

million), amounting to EUR 31.54 million, and the bond loan
(EUR 94.35 million), amounting to EUR 6.72 million. With re-

Current Liabilities

Other Current Liabilities

14 525

14 525

0

0,00%

200 728

137 072

63 656

46,44%

TOTAL LIABILITIES

733 401

741 528

-8 127

-1,10%

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

781 043

781 500

-457

-0,06%

Deferrals

gard to the loan with DGTF, in the amount of EUR 189.00
million, on 24 February 2021, by Order no. SAI_DGTF/2021/

Table 33: Balance Sheet - Equity and Liabilities
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Financial Indicators

PROPOSAL FOR THE APPLICATION OF RESULTS
Thousand Euros

Financial Indicators

31/12/20

31/12/19

Deviation

Turnover

35 540

32 959

2 581

EBITDA

11 570

10 140

1 430

EBIT

-11 045

518

-11 563

Financial Results

-2 765

-3 115

350

Net Results

-13 855

-2 671

-11 184

Considering:

Net Free Cash Flow

15 368

11 423

3 945

A negative net profit of EUR 13,855,194 was recorded in the financial year 2020.

Investment

22 465

6 508

15 957

Under the terms of Article 66(5)(f) of the Commercial Companies Code, the Board of Directors,

Proposes:
Table 34: Balance Sheet - Financial Indicators

That the Negative Net Result calculated for 2020 and included in the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020 be carried forward to Retained Earnings.

Beja, 13 April 2021

In 2020, EDIA presents a negative net result of about EUR 13.86

•

The item “Impairment losses/reversals of investments/de-

million while in the same period of 2019 the negative result was

preciable/amortisable assets” shows an increase of about

EUR 2.67 million, being noteworthy that:

EUR 13.04 million compared to the same period last year,
contributing to a negative EBIT of EUR 11.04 million.

•

The Board of Directors

EBITDA shows an increase of around EUR 1.43 million when
compared to the same period last year, essentially due to

In turn, Net Free Cash Flows showed an increase of EUR 3.95 mil-

the increase in “Turnover” by EUR 2.58 million; increase in

lion compared to the previous year.

“Variation in Production Inventories” of EUR 13.58 million

Eng. José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salemaa

due to the investment in the secondary network, compensa-

EDIA presents a total investment of EUR 22.47 million without se-

ted on the expense side by the increase in “External Supplies

condary network and with capitalizations.

(Chairman)

and Services” of EUR 13.60 million, increase in “Provisions”
of EUR 1.10 million due to the application of IFRIC12, an
increase of EUR 1.07 million in “Impairment of Debts Re-

Dr Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

ceivable” and a decrease in “Other Costs and Losses” in the

(Member)

amount of EUR 1.31 million due to the change in the recognition procedure of the water resources charges; and by

Eng. Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez
(Member)
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CHAPTER 2
DISSEMINATION OF COMPLIANCE
WITH LEGAL GUIDELINES
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1- MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
ACTIVITY PLAN AND BUDGET

Irrigated Area
Perimeters under
EDIA management

Alqueva is based on the concept of multipurpose and on the inte-

Management Objectives
The strategic guidelines and objectives of the company for 2020
have not been defined by the Shareholder.

It should be noted, however, that in the programming of its activity, investments and financing of EFMA, EDIA’s main “Mission”
was:

•

tion, maintenance and conservation of the infrastructures
that make up EFMA’s primary system;

•

The design, execution and construction, on behalf of the
State, of the infrastructures that make up EFMA’s secondary
network; and

conditions of use of the resources allocated to EFMA.

Ministry of Finance, in conjunction with the Ministry of Agriculture, and the Company’s activity was guided in accordance with its
proposed Activities Plan and Budget - 2020 and other guidelines
issued by the Directorate-General for Treasury and Finance (DGTF)

ders launched, contracts awarded and financial indicators.

m3

Entry into operation by 2010

18 754

20 666

110,19

53 129 903

17 030

90,81

55 395 369

Monte Novo

7 714

11 124

144,21

22 823 126

8 287

107,43

22 332 704

8 452

7 794

92,22

23 476 224

7 085

83,83

25 048 992

1 747

67,51

6 830 553

1 657

64,03

8 013 673

Entry into operation by 2011

26 417

22 934

86,81

60 116 751

22 766

86,18

65 859 529

Alfundão

4 216

4 145

98,31

11 458 886

4 113

97,56

12 286 453

120,000 ha and an expansion area of more than 50,000 ha.

Ferreira, Figueirinha and Valbom

5 118

3 254

63,58

8 567 829

3 629

70,91

10 991 045

From Alqueva, dams and reservoirs are interconnected, gua-

Orada - Amoreira

2 522

2 129

84,41

3 900 577

2 008

79,62

4 607 549

ranteeing the availability of water, even in periods of extreme

Brinches

5 463

4 646

85,04

10 445 720

4 302

78,75

10 913 722

the districts of Beja, Évora, Portalegre and Setúbal, covering a
total of 20 municipalities.

The Alqueva reservoir, the largest artificial lake in Europe, extends

Brinches - Enxoé

4 698

4 838

102,99

14 399 208

4 810

102,38

14 393 037

Serpa

4 400

3 922

89,14

11 344 531

3 904

88,73

12 667 723

Entry into operation by 2012

9 278

7 362

79,35

22 637 993

6 683

72,03

22 598 402

Loureiro-Alvito

1 050

903

85,98

3 513 882

878

83,62

3 827 436

Ervidel

8 228

6 460

78,51

19 124 111

5 805

70,55

18 770 966

Entry into operation by 2013

4 016

3 937

98,04

7 724 279

3 616

90,04

9 886 515

Pedrógão - Right Bank

4 016

3 937

98,04

7 724 279

3 616

90,04

9 886 515

Entry into operation by 2015

19 634

22 604

115,13

67 056 544

20 797

105,92

70 777 891

gos de Monsaraz and Alandroal, occupying an area of 250 Km2.

Cinco Reis - Trindade

5 600

7 121

127,17

22 616 616

6 607

117,98

23 095 026

The total storage capacity of the Alqueva reservoir is 4,150 million

Baleizão - Quintos

7 999

8 311

103,90

23 979 257

7 269

90,87

23 692 320

São Pedro - Baleizão

6 035

7 172

118,85

20 460 671

6 921

114,68

23 990 545

Entry into operation by 2016

30 381

25 729

84,69

71 897 956

23 416

77,07

68 822 445

Vale de Gaio

3 903

2 937

75,25

6 625 635

2 772

71,02

6 965 100

83 km along the municipalities of Moura, Portel, Mourão, Reguen-

On the other hand, the periods of extreme drought that occur-

Beringel - Beja

5 103

4 740

92,89

16 815 587

4 546

89,08

15 067 918

red recently accentuated the undeniable positive impact of the

Pias

4 698

3 599

76,61

9 041 618

3 338

71,05

9 545 476

S. Matias

5 863

5 005

85,36

18 325 437

4 503

76,80

18 599 579

Caliços - Machados

4 664

4 396

94,26

12 550 755

3 743

80,25

11 597 273

Caliços - Moura

2 117

2 050

96,81

3 777 289

1 938

91,54

3 981 993

Roxo - Sado

4 033

3 002

74,43

4 761 635

2 576

63,87

3 065 106

TOTAL

108 480

103 232

95,16

282 563 426

94 308

86,94

293 340 151

Alqueva Subsystem

56 005

53 227

95,04

146 614 084

47 955

85,63

149 464 419

Ardila Subsystem

28 562

25 580

89,56

65 459 698

24 043

84,18

67 706 773

Pedrógão Subsystem

23 913

24 425

102,14

70 489 644

22 309

93,29

76 168 959

TOTAL

108 480

103 232

95,16

282 563 426

94 308

86,94

293 340 151

it was possible to develop agriculture and supply populations.
Thus, it is a cause for great satisfaction for all those involved,
the achievement, on the ground, of the expected results, with the
growing adherence to the perimeters, under EDIA management,
in recent years.

Regarding the analysis of the membership and water consumption

2020 will be listed, namely at the level of the irrigated area, ten-

Consumption
%

2 588

and the Directorate-General for the Budget (DGO).

Next, the management results achieved during the financial year

ha

Pisão

Alqueva reservoir, since, even in a situation of severe drought,
This mission was assigned by the State Shareholder through the

Registered Area
m3

Alvito - Pisão

The promotion, development and pursuance of other economic activities which benefits contribute to improving the

%

inhabitants, to agriculture, with an irrigated area of around

m3, and its usable volume in normal operation is 3,150 million m3.
•

Consumption

ha

with the reinforcement of 5 dams that supply around 200,000

drought, to an area of approximately 10,000 Km2, divided between
The design, execution, construction, management, opera-

2019

Registered Area

ha

grated management of its strategic water reserve. With Alqueva,
paths are mapped out for water: paths that lead to public supply,

2020

Benefited Area

values in the EFMA perimeters on 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, there was an increase in membership of about 9.5%

* CIEFMA data as at 5 March 2021.
Note: Occasionally, small changes may occur in comparative figures for previous periods

(8,925 ha), with the registered area at the end of the year being

Table 35: Water consumption by EFMA perimeter and by date of entry into operation of each perimeter

103,232 ha. As for water consumption at the end of 2020, it stood
at 282,563,426 m3, a figure slightly lower than the consumption
verified in the same period in the previous year.

m3
The following tables show the water reinforcements made to re-

Registered area and consumption in the years 2019 and 2020:

2020

2019

servoirs, water sources, mainly from neighbouring perimeters and

Consumption

19 261 730

22 686 411

public supply, and consumption associated with direct abstrac-

TOTAL

19 261 730

22 686 411

tion:
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Public tenders launched and awarded in 2020

m3

Supplies

2020

2019

0

3 297 938

11 894 677

13 337 135

Águas de Santo André

11 122 151

8 162 184

Vigia

3 145 870

2 403 725

Enxoé*

1 234 479

211 680

647 507

2 550 795

Roxo**

26 856 703

5 608 485

Odivelas

37 002 000

23 095 000

1 179 000

-

93 082 387

58 666 942

Vale de Gaio
Campilhas e Alto Sado

Monte Novo

Luz

TOTAL

* No flow meter installed, value calculated by estimate and validated by AgdA.
** For Roxo the difference between the adduced and received volumes must be calculated
“Adduced - Received in the year (57,538,000ha-30,681,297ha=26,856,703ha)

It can be concluded from the analysis of the summary table be-

Name

CP Number

Award Date

Award Value

Provision of communication services

01/2020

11/02/20

137 600,79

Monitoring of Linaria ricardoi in the secondary irrigation network (20202021)

02/2020

07/04/20

23 269,52

Monitoring of the cyprinid larvae community in water bodies of the
Guadiana and Sado basins (2020)

03/2020

24/03/20

75 000,00

Birds monitoring in the Alvito-Pisão Irrigation Block (2020-2022)

04/2020

07/04/20

38 000,00

Supply of 4 vehicles in the AOV (Operational Lease of Vehicles) modality

05/2020

24/03/20

21 068,80

Temporary work under an open ended contract for personnel in the
expropriations area

06/2020

31/03/20

106 426,56

Birds monitoring in the secondary irrigation network of EFMA 2020-2021

07/2020

19/05/20

125 985,00

Licensing contract for Microsoft products

08/2020

28/04/20

173 929,70

Supply of 2 light goods vehicles

09/2020

16/06/20

38 352,00

Provision of temporary work services under an open ended contract in the
area of electrical and mechanical maintenance

10/2020

02/06/20

118 357,08

Contract work to remodel Laje Pumping Station (1st phase intervention)

11/2020

28/07/20

177 700,00

Contract work for supply and installation of automatic regulation gates in
the final stretch of the Loureiro-Alvito connection

12/2020

11/08/20

124 900,00

Acquisition of aquatic plant containment barriers

13/2020

29/09/20

88 900,00

Provision of cleaning services for canals, reservoirs and EFMA primary
infrastructure

14/2020

29/09/20

213 338,24

Soil monitoring in EFMA's irrigation blocks - Area A - Operational Phase
2020

15/2020

08/09/20

59 730,74

Renewal of safety signs at the Alqueva Dam

16/2020

20/10/20

78 500,00

Monitoring of surface water resources on EFMA's primary network

17/2020

03/11/20

353 523,85

Provision of services to repair valves at the Amoreira and Lage Dam
Pumping Stations

18/2020

17/11/20

33 890,00

Hosting of document management solution, respective maintenance
services, management and integration with EDIA systems

21/2020

17/11/20

163 705,00

Provision of corrective maintenance services for the Pedrogão - Right
Bank and Alamo pumping stations equipment

25/2020

29/12/20

40 000,00

2020, which compared with the same period of the previous year
records an increase of 20.21 hm3, i.e. about 5.39%.

m3

2020

2019

Alqueva Perimeters

282 563 426

293 340 151

Supply

93 082 387

58 666 942

Direct abstractions

19 261 730

22 686 411

394 907 543

374 693 504

TOTAL CONSUMPTION

Table 38: Total Consumption - EFMA
Table 37: Water consumption from supplies - EFMA

Public tenders launched in 2019 and awarded in 2020
EUR

Name

EUR

low: The total volume of water distributed was 394.91 hm3, in

CP Number

Award Date

Award Value

Management and supervision of the construction works of hydraulic
circuit in Viana do Alentejo

05/2019

03/03/20

339 220,00

Contract for the supply and installation of the Pedrógão Right Bank EE

16/2019

27/10/20

3 122 438,00

Provision of auditing services for EDIA's half-yearly and annual
accounts

38/2019

07/01/20

92 760,00

Contract of work accident insurance, health, vehicle fleet, extracontractual civil liability and maritime vessel insurance

39/2019

07/01/20

852 877,37

Provision of monitoring services of EFMA groundwater resources for
the operation phase-2020/2021

43/2019

14/01/20

162 327,05

Provision of temporary employment services under an open-ended
contract for personnel in the Administrative and Financial Management
area

44/2019

04/02/20

52 930,80

Supply and assembly of a grill-cleaning and grates machine at the
water intake of the Cegonha Reservoir

45/2019

03/03/20

168 432,00
Table 40: Public tenders launched and awarded by EDIA in 2020

Table 39: Public tenders launched by EDIA in 2019 and awarded in 2020
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Public tenders launched in 2020 and not awarded
EUR

Name

CP Number

Launch Date

Baseline Price

Provision of preventive maintenance services for the high voltage (60Kv) medium
voltage (6_11_30Kv) and low voltage (0.4Kv) installations of the EFMA primary
network

19/2020

19/10/20

100 000,00

Supply, assembly and preventive maintenance of flowmeters in the primary and
secondary EFMA networks

22/2020

23/11/20

221 700,00

Provision of services for the characterisation of the reference situation for the CubaOdivelas, Reguengos, Viana do Alentejo and Evora irrigation blocks (2021-2022)

23/2020

17/11/20

65 000,00

Provision of services for the management and supervision of the construction of the
observation and command post and interpretation centre - Alqueva Dam

24/2020

18/11/20

200 000,00

Execution of the 2020 Activity Plan and
Budget regarding the Financial Reference
Principles

tion of EDIA’s investment in this year amounted to EUR 36,771,475,
i.e., about 42.82% of the forecast amount. A summary of the main
justifications for the occurrence of the deviations found is presented below.

The investment plan presented by EDIA for 2020 was prepared
from an economic perspective. The value of the investment plan-

Supply of vehicles in AOV - 9 light passenger vehicles, 2 light goods vehicles 4x4
3-seats and 5 electric light passenger vehicles required by EDIA during the 1st half
of 2021

26/2020

26/11/20

333 120,00

Birds monitoring in the secondary EFMA irrigation network 2021-2022

27/2020

21/12/20

140 000,00

ned for 2020 totalled an amount of EUR 85,865,022. The realiza-

EUR

PROGRAMMES

Investments - 2020

Deviation

Forecast

Carried Out

TotaL

Alqueva Dam

332 500

64 927

-267 573

-80,47%

Pedrógão Dam and Plant

25 000

856 343

831 343

3325,37%

Alqueva-Álamos Pumping Station

2 051 363

3 502 052

1 450 689

70,72%

Primary Network

27 192 587

15 237 251

-11 955 336

-43,97%

Secondary Network

32 669 185

16 931 707

-15 737 477

-48,17%

Regional Development

23 594 386

179 194

-23 415 193

-99,24%

TOTAL

85 865 022

36 771 475

-49 093 547

-57,18%

Table 41: Public tenders launched by EDIA in 2020

Financial Indicators
As stipulated in Council of Ministers Resolution no. 70/2008, later
revoked by DL no. 133/2013 of 3 October, the financial indicators
that apply to the reality of EDIA are shown in the following table:

Table 43: Project Investment - Foreseen 2020/Carried out 2020
Photo: Álamos Pumping Station

Financial Indicators
Year 2020

Efficiency
Operating Costs/EBITDA

245,19%

Personnel Costs/EBITDA

57,06%

Personnel Costs Variation Rate

4,47%
Year 2020

Average Payment Time
Average Payment Time

103

Evolution (days) compared to the previous year (homologous period)

40
Year 2020

Profitability and Growth
EBITDA/Revenues

32,55%

Revenue Growth Rate

7,83%
Year 2020

Return on Invested Capital

-1,61%

Net Profit/Invested Capital
Table 42: Financial Indicators
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◊

Program 1 - Alqueva Dam (EUR -267,573)

•

◊

Program 5 - Primary Network (EUR -11,955,336)

Personnel Costs

•

The deviations recorded in these programs are justified

The Personnel Costs show a deviation of - 2.85%, which was due

To calculate Personnel Costs, the Governing Bodies, managers and

is justified by the non-implementation of the amounts

by delays in the start of several works and supplies of

to the fact that the admission of 12 employees, foreseen in the

workers were considered, making a total of 184 employees.

foreseen for acquisitions, expropriations and indem-

the 2nd phase of EFMA, in particular, the works of the

2020 budget, was not authorised by the shareholder. Furthermo-

nities, since their processing depends on the deve-

2nd phase of the Pedrogão-Right Margin HS, the Re-

re, after the departure of a member of the Supervisory Board, no

lopment/conclusion of the contentious expropriation

guengos HS, the Vidigueira HS and the Vila Nova de S.

nomination was made to replace him.

processes taking place in court;

Bento HS. On the other hand, it is worth mentioning

The deviation, which affected mainly the item “Land”,

some delays suffered in ongoing contracts due to the
context experienced, particularly in the Connection to
◊

the Morgavél System;

Program 3 - Pedrógão Dam and Plant (EUR 831.343)

•

EUR

Forecast

Execution

2020

2020

Value

%

6 795 056,00

6 601 620,00

-193 436,00

-2,85%

344 217,00

334 198,00

-10 019,00

-2,91%

(b) Management Expenses

1 386 154,00

1 417 241,00

31 087,00

2,24%

fied by delays in the start of various works in the Re-

(c) Personnel remuneration

4 735 115,00

4 573 839,00

-161 276,00

-3,41%

guengos, Vidigueira and Vila Nova de S. Bento blocks.

(i) Base salary + Vacation Allowances + Christmas Allowances

3 098 765,00

2 985 877,00

-112 888,00

-3,64%

(ii) Other Subsidies

1 506 350,00

1 450 753,00

-55 597,00

-3,69%

(iii) Remunerations

130 000,00

137 209,00

7 209,00

5,55%

0,00

0,00

0,00

0,00%

21 870,00

10 177,00

-11 693,00

-53,47%

305 700,00

265 240,00

-40 460,00

-13,24%

2 000,00

925,00

-1 075,00

-53,75%

6 663 056,00

6 463 486,00

-199 570,00

-3,00%

197

184

-13

-7%

No. of Governing Bodies (GB) (number)

6

5

-1

-17%

No. of Management positions without Governing Bodies (number)

24

24

0

0%

No. of Employees without GB and without Management Positions
(number)

167

155

-12

-7%

20,41%

21,47%

HR

In the 2nd quarter of 2020, there was an increase in
the commitments assumed by EDIA, mostly relating

◊

to a strengthening in the amount of EUR 846,343 of

Program 6 - Secondary Irrigation Network
(EUR -15,737,477)

Total personnel costs (1) = (a)+(b)+(c)+(d)+(e)+(f)+(g)
(a) Expenditure on Corporate Bodies

Var. 2020 / 2020

the provision for the legal proceedings relating to the
•

contract for the treatment of foundations and implementation of the Pedrógão plant observation plan;

The deviations registered in these programs are justi-

On the other hand, it should be noted that some delays
◊

were experienced in works in progress due to the con-

Program 4 - Alqueva-Alamos Pumping Station

text, namely in the Viana do Alentejo and Cuba Odi-

(EUR 1,450,689)

velas blocks;
•

(d) Post-employment benefits

In program 4, the deviation occurred in the construc-

(e) Expenses Subsidies

tion contract of the power reinforcement of the EFMA

(f) Other Charges

Álamos pumping station. This contract suffered some

◊

Program 7 - Regional Development (EUR -23,415,193)

(g) Severance Payments

delays which were reflected in its invoicing, which was
initially planned for 2019 and slipped to 2020;

•

The deviations in this program were essentially due
to the delay in starting up the photovoltaic plant in

Total Personnel Costs (2) = (1) without the impact of the measures
identified in (iii) and (g)

Designation

Alqueva, and also to expenses related to the Alqueva
POC and the Alqueva dam.

Total HR No. GB + Management positions + Workers)

Expenses for Managers/Personnel [(b)/((1)-(g))]

1,07%

Table 44- Personnel costs
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Projects

Level of Indebtedness

In the following table we present the budget of projects, showing the transfers made and the expenses paid in the period.

Since 2015, EDIA has not resorted to borrowed capital.

EUR

Project

Designation

Initial Approved
State Budget 2020

State Budget 2020
After Budget Changes

Costs Paid

Degree of Execution
Given the Amended
Budget

EUR

2020 Foreseen

2020 Executed

Deviation

2020 Remunerated Financing

195 922 008,00

275 922 585,16

-80 000 577,16

2019 Remunerated Financing

222 789 774,00

285 866 369,17

-63 076 595,17

09551

Complementary Actions

11 818 219

10 364 316

2 102 835

20%

2020 Share Capital

950 723 860,00

860 334 960,00

90 388 900,00

09521

1 000

125

0

0%

2019 Share Capital

905 324 790,00

838 810 320,00

66 514 470,00

Barras, Torrão and Baronia
Baixo Block

2020 New Investments

63 780 000,00

34 754 600,00

29 025 400,00

09529

Moura Gravitico Block

130

16

0

0%

-4,01%

-2,06%

-1,95%

09527

Pias Block

7 396

169 831

0

0%

09554

Caliços-Machados Block

21 380

3 507

833

24%

09519

Baronia and Alvito Altos and
Alvito Baixo Blocks

1 000

125

0

0%

Variation in Indebtedness

Table 45- Variation in indebtedness

The variation in indebtedness foreseen in the Activities Plan and

ving instead considered financing through a capital increase, in a

09510

Beja Blocks

6 390

799

0

0%

Budget (PAO), relative to that executed, is justified by the fact

much lower amount than that proposed.

09514

Beringel-Álamos Blocks

1 250

37 026

29 975

81%

09525

São Matias Blocks

2 000

366 866

268 378

73%

09532

São Pedro Blocks

2 878

360

0

0%

09508

Roxo-Sado Blocks

2 900

363

0

0%

EDIA in May 2020 transferred from the activities budget to

09467

Roxo-Sado Hydraulic Circuit

60 200

24 919

6 229

25%

In addition to the above, the loan to be contracted with the CEB,

the projects budget, the amount of EUR 17,742,115, to meet

09530

Loureiro-Alvito Block

13 604

13 604

100%

foreseen in the PAO, to finance the investments in the Photovol-

the investment in PNRegadios projects. Financing Source

09468

1 753 700

5 007 023

3 877 267

77%

taic Park, was not carried out, due to the delay in starting the

(FF) 721;

Installation of Groups 3 and 4
Álamos and Álamos- Loureiro
Plant

09427

Connection to the Morgável
Supply System

0

2 898 275

2 237 592

77%

10746

Installation of 3 Additional
Groups at São Pedro Plant

0

747 752

675 861

90%

10774

Cuba-Odivelas Hydraulic Circuit
and Block

0

4 533 232

4 533 232

100%

11062

Évora Hydraulic Circuit and
Block

0

7 232 469

6 132 170

85%

11063

Viana Hydraulic Circuit, Main
Supply System and Block

0

4 116 224

2 649 086

64%

11064

Reguengos Hydraulic Circuit
and Block

0

107 722

82 151

76%

that the amortisation of the loan with the DGTF did not occur, in
accordance with Order no. 962/2020-SET of the Secretary of State

During 2020 the budget for projects - Expenses, had the following

for the Treasury, in which the deferral of debt service payments

changes, by source of financing (FF):

from 30 November 2020 to 31 May 2021 was approved.
1.

construction of this project, awaiting the necessary authorisations from the Ministry.

2.

In October EDIA reinforced the projects budget via the activities budget in the amount of EUR 3,561,520 to carry out
PNRegadios investments. FF 513;

Degree of Execution of the Budget
uploaded in SIGO/SOE
The expenses budget proposal presented by EDIA of EUR

3.

EDIA in November made a reinforcement through a Special
Credit Change Request for EUR 370,927. FF 359;

4.

Also in 2020, in the month of December, an amount of

124,654,517 was adjusted by the Ministry, leaving the corrected

EUR 29,258 was reflected in the projects budget concerning

allocation at EUR 91,912,862, a reduction of EUR 32,741,655. The

the environmental fund. FF 540; and

11065

2nd Phase of Pedrógão Right
Bank Plant

0

62 401

35 877

57%

EDIA submitted a Request for Authorisation to Apply Ope-

11066

Vidigueira Hydraulic Circuit
and Block and Cuba Este
Photovoltaic Plant

30 000

410 665

256 517

62%

11067

São Bento Hydraulic Circuit and
Block and Lage Photovoltaic
Plant

30 000

396 893

216 857

55%

13 738 443

36 494 513

23 118 463

63%

corrected allocation is divided between activities and projects,
with amounts of EUR 78,174,419 and EUR 13,738,443, respectively,
but these values have changed during 2020.

5.

ning Balances totalling EUR 1,052,250 to allocate the national counterpart of the Álamos power reinforcement project.

Of the alterations made, we highlight the elimination by the Mi-

FF 358.

TOTAL

nistry, of the financing proposed through the PNRegadios, haNote: Complementary Actions - These include the investments foreseen in the 2nd Phase of EFMA that will be considered in autonomous projects, as soon as the projects are individually approved in the National Irrigation Programme. 			
		

Table 46: Degree of execution of the Projects budget (expenses) - SIGO/SOE
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Thus, at the end of 2020, the activities budget stood at EUR

•

61,074,892 and the projects budget at EUR 36,494,513.

11066 - Floating photovoltaic plant at Cuba Este (Vidigueira project);

•

The difference between the initial approved project budgets and

11067 - Lage photovoltaic plant (São Bento Project).

after budget changes is EUR 22,756,070 (36,494,513-13,738,443)
The following construction works were started:

and reflects the reinforcements of the project budget by decreases in the Activities Budget, the reinforcement of the project budget by special credit and the application of opening balances.

•

09427 - Connection to the Morgavél supply system;

A caption of EUR 1,478,913 was applied to the amount of EUR

•

10774 – Cuba-Odivelas Hydroelectric Power Plant and
Block;

36,494,513, thus making the 2020 expenses budget EUR 35,015.60.

This budget provided for the development of several works of

•

11062 – Évora Hydroelectric Power Plant and Block;

•

11063 - Viana do Alentejo hydraulic circuit; and

•

11063 - Viana do Alentejo main supply system and its

the 2nd phase of EFMA, integrated in PNRegadios, and the completion of complementary actions related to the infrastructure of
the 1st phase of EFMA. In 2020 5 works were started: Connection
to the Morgavél Supply System; Évora Hydroelectric Power Plant

Photo: Álamos Pumping Station’s Generator Levelling

block.

and Block; Cuba-Odivelas Hydroelectric Power Plant and Block;
Viana Hydroelectric Power Plant and Main Water Supply System
The execution of the project income budget, after budget chan-

In 2020, the projects in the Alqueva area continued and work was

ges, showed a deviation of EUR 13,376,050, essentially due to the

carried out on the project for the implementation of the Alqueva

At the end of 2020 the realised value in the project budget was

slippage in the beginning of the works on the Alqueva Photovol-

Observation and Command Post (POC) with the project review

EUR 23,118,463, of which EUR 1,264,755 related to the 1st phase

taic Park, although the financing was contracted with the Council

and EUR 21,853,708 to the 2nd phase of EFMA.

of Europe Development Bank.

and Viana Block.

With regard to the Alqueva photovoltaic park, which is expected

In 2020 we had approved by the Implementation Unit of PNRe-

to be built in 2020, work has not started due to delays in obtai-

gadios (UEP), 9 of the 10 applications submitted in the 1st Call,

ning the necessary permits.

which represents an approved financing of EUR 61,086,156.48. The

was previously approved by the European Investment Bank in the

cern the following infrastructures:

last quarter of 2020, and is expected to be approved by the UEP of

•

2nd Phase of EFMA

•

In 2020, the following construction and equipment supply contracts continued and some essential works were completed:

Continued preparation of the following projects for the neighbouring areas:

•

09468 – Power reinforcement of the Álamos pumping
station (in progress);

•

09551 - Remodelling of Lage Pumping Station (1st
phase intervention) (in progress);

•

Connection to the Morgavél Water Supply System;

Cuba-Odivelas Hydraulic Circuit and Block;

•

Viana Hydraulic Circuit;

•

1st Phase of EFMA
09530 - Power reinforcement of the Loureiro - Alvito
block pumping station - (completed);

The projects relating to the 1st phase of EFMA, supported under

•

•

Viana do Alentejo Main and Block;

disputed expropriation processes.

•

10746 - Installation of three additional groups at the

for environmental impact assessment); and

São Pedro pumping station (concluded);
•

•

Évora Hydraulic Circuit and Block.
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09551 - Connection to Monte da Rocha reservoir and
Messejana Block (PE completed and submitted to APA

the previous Community Support Framework, had lower outputs
than expected, since the planned investments relate mainly to

09551 - Cabeça Gorda - Trindade Hydraulic Circuit and
Blocks (in APA);

•
•

09468 - Accesses to the siphons duplication work
(completed);

•

Groups 3 and 4 of the Álamos pumping station;

09530 - Floodgates for regulating the final stretch of
the Loureiro -Alvito connection.

PNRegadios in early 2021.
•

11065 - 2nd Phase of the Pedrógão - Right Bank Pumping Station; and

Reguengos project, with a total investment of over EUR 50 million,
The most significant investments of the 2nd phase of EFMA con-

The following construction contracts were awarded:

09551 - Lucefécit hydraulic circuit and blocks - Capelins.
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The table below shows the amounts allocated to projects in the
revenue budget:

EUR

Initial Approved State
Budget 2020

Corrected Forecasts

Executed

Deviation

Degree of
Execution

Current Transfers

1 907 151

3 957 336

2 842 662

1 114 674

71,8%

Services

2 197 636

6 529 862

5 311 046

1 218 816

81,3%

87 505

-87 505

24 955 065

13 825 000

11 130 065

1 052 250

1 052 250

36 494 513

23 118 463

Revenue Budget

Other current revenues
Capital Transfers
Financial Liabilities

9 633 656

Previous year's balance

TOTAL EDIA

13 738 443

55,4%
100,0%

13 376 050

63,3%

Table 47: Degree of execution of the Projects budget (revenues) - SIGO/SOE

Photo: Évora block

The initial revenue budget was EUR 13,378,443 and ended at EUR
Photo: Photovoltaic Plant, Lage Dam

23,118,463, as did the expenses budget.

5.

EDIA submitted a Request for Authorisation to Apply Opening
Balances, for a total amount of EUR 1,052,250, to allocate to
the national counterpart of the Álamos power reinforcement

Thus, at the end of this period, the budget of the corrected fore-

project. FF 358 (management balance).

cast of revenues from projects is EUR 36,494,513, after the budget
changes, which affected both the expenses budget and the reve-

EDIA prepared in May a request to increase capital, in order to

nue budget, as detailed below:

carry out the investments approved under the PNRegadios during
the 1st half of 2020. This request was approved by the DGTF, and

1.

Increase of EUR 17,742,115 in FF 721. This revenue was ini-

the amount of the capital increase was transferred to EDIA on 7

tially considered in the activities budget, but was transfer-

October, in the amount of EUR 13,825,000 (Financial Liabilities).

red to the projects budget in order to implement the PNRegadios (Financial Liabilities);

The financing for the construction of the photovoltaic park in Alqueva (financial liabilities item) has already been contracted.

2.

Reinforcement of the projects budget via the activities bud-

However, the construction work has not started as planned, as

get in the amount of EUR 3,561,520 for carrying out PNRe-

the Ordinance on Extension of Charges has not yet been appro-

gadios investments. FF 513 (services);

ved, which has postponed the receipt of revenue. Thus under the
financial liabilities item that includes the PNRegadios projects

3.

EDIA made a reinforcement through a Special Credit Amend-

classified in FF 721, plus the photovoltaic projects FF 712, EDIA

ment Request in the amount of EUR 370,927. FF 359 (current

had a deviation of EUR 11,130,065.00.

transfers);

4.
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Reinforcement of EUR 29 258. FF 540 (current transfers);
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Activities

In the case of revenues, they show an execution relative to the

As at 31 December 2020, the financing structure was composed of:

budget of 71% due to:
•

The following map compares the final execution with the approa.

ved budget of the Activities Budget.

Current transfers show 49% due to a lower than expec-

Share capital increases in the amount of EUR 860.34
million;

ted execution;
•
EUR

Activities Budget

2020 Approved Budget

2020 Execution

Deviation

b.

Degree of
Execution (%)

6 300 000

6 490 669

190 669

103%

Acquisition of Goods and Services

24 535 675

29 880 169

5 344 494

122%

Interest and Other Charges

2 951 742

1 959 403

-992 339

66%

Other Current Expenses

4 977 696

775 238

-4 202 458

16%

Acquisition of Capital Goods

29 451 421

1 206 430

-28 244 991

4%

Financial Liabilities

9 957 885

9 957 882

-3

100%

TOTAL

78 174 419

50 269 791

-27 904 628

64%

in the areas of water distribution and lower than fo-

c.

ded in the approved budget led to a 35% execution;

d.

Bank loans in the amount of EUR 275.92 million.

In Other Current Revenue the non-receipt of VAT inclu-

Financial Risk Management Policies

Financial Liabilities show an execution of 26%, as

-504 355

49%

initially foreseen for the payment of loan repayments

Sale of Goods and Services

44 041 741

37 259 212

-6 782 529

85%

did not take place, being replaced by the use of ma-

Other current revenues

4 073 485

1 434 352

-2 639 133

35%

nagement balances in the amount of EUR 4,230,000, in

Financial Liabilities

29 066 344

7 699 640

-21 366 704

26%

accordance with the guidelines of the Secretary of State

0

9 010 779

9 010 779

_

for the Treasury and due to the transfer of projects to

78 174 419

55 892 477

-22 281 942

71%

the budget in order to finance the PNRegadios.

TOTAL

153.4 million; and

•

488 494

Management Approved Balances

Investment Subsidies - PIDDAC in the amount of EUR

income of this nature to the projects budget;

992 849

Current Transfers

•

recast in the State Budget and a greater allocation of

a result of the fact that part of the capital increases

Revenue

1,243.7 million;

an execution of 85% as a consequence of the receipts

Costs
Personnel Costs

The captions Sales of Current Goods and Services show

Investment Subsidies - EU funds in the amount of EUR

EDIA recognises the financial risks that may significantly alter its
asset value, such as interest rate risk and liquidity risk.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is normally associated with changes in spreads
and interest rate variation risks. EDIA has never subscribed any

Table 48: Level of implementation of the activities budget (expenses and revenue) - SIGO/SOE

interest rate coverage, all external financing is indexed to a variable rate. In our opinion, this policy has been the right one

2 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

since the market has relatively low rates, thus presenting itself
as an advantage compared to the higher charges resulting from

Regarding the Activities Budget, the expenses present a degree of

c.

execution of 64%, where the main deviations are:

Other Current Expenses with a 16% execution due to
scheduled payments of taxes and duties that did not

Financial risk management, under the terms of Order no. 101/09SEFT, of 30 January.

occur or were lower than expected and because the
a.

Acquisition of Goods and Services with an execution of

budget includes a specific amount reserve, in accor-

122% compared to the initial forecast, due essentially

dance with the instructions for preparation for the 2020

to an increase in the item facility costs, namely energy

State Budget;

this type of operation. Establishing a comparative analysis of the
financial charges over the lifetime of each financing, we conclude
that the average rate in 2020 is close to 1.00%, which is clearly

PROCEDURES ADOPTED FOR RISK ASSESSMENT AND THE RESPECTIVE HEDGING MEASURES

advantageous in view of the contractualisation of this type of
financial instrument, namely the fixing of interest rates.

costs with pumping, justified by an increase in water
consumption and a decrease in the time limit for payment to suppliers;

d.

Acquisition of Capital Goods with an execution of 4%
due to the acquisition of equipment and works in buil-

Diversification of financing instruments,
available interest rate modalities and
creditor entities

dings initially planned but which did not take place,
b.

Interest and Other Charges with an execution of 66% as

transfer of the planned amount to the PNRegadios pro-

a result of lower than expected interest rates;

ject budget and as reinforcement for the item of facilities costs to meet the increase in energy consumption
not foreseen in the approved State Budget.
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EDIA presents an accumulated investment, from 1995 to the end
of 2020, of approximately EUR 2,401 million. This investment is
funded not only with equity and investment subsidies (EU funds
and PIDDAC), but also with borrowed capital, through bank loans.
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Average Annual Interest Rate

the settlement of the repayments of the various loans and related

all EDIA’s financing is based on the premise of a personal State

financial charges, as well as the payment of ongoing investment,

guarantee and identification of the financial resources strictly

not supported by its own revenues or EU financing.

necessary to meet the investment in a given period, in order to
facilitate obtaining credit under the best market conditions.

6,00%
ADOPTION OF AN ACTIVE POLICY OF PERMANENT CAPITAL

4,00%

REINFORCEMENT

2,00%
0,00%

When contracting external financing operations, both EDIA and
the DGTF (the latter as the representative of the sole shareholder,

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Chart 15: Average annual interest rate

Consolidation of interest-bearing liabilities
by transforming short- to medium- and
long-term liabilities in favourable market
circumstances

the State) pay special attention to minimising restrictive clauses
through the analysis of the documentation.

From the year 2011, due to the economic and financial framework,
and the constraints of bank financing at national level, EDIA con-

As a result of the more favourable market conditions, and whene-

tracted short-term loans, until the end of 2013, with the natio-

ver EDIA is unable to obtain financing through capital increases,

nal banking sector in the amount of EUR 161.5 million, without a

From mid-2011 a new reality emerged for EDIA, with the eco-

it is forced to resort to financing from third-party capital. At that

guarantee from the Portuguese State (arising from negotiations

nomic and financial situation deteriorating worldwide, access to

time, there was a concern to consolidate short-term remunerated

between the Secretary of State for Treasury and Finance and the

The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the following

new financing became increasingly difficult. The downgrade ope-

liabilities into medium and long-term.

CGD, BES, BCP, BPI and Santander-Totta banks under the financing

assumptions:

rated to the Portuguese State by the main international rating

Sensitivity Analysis

•

Changes in interest rates affect interest receivable or

of the State Business Sector companies).

agencies, led to an increase in credit risk to all SEE companies,

As previously mentioned, following its entry into the public ac-

and consequently, the financing spreads increased significantly.

counts perimeter, EDIA, as a reclassified company, can only resort

The current financing contract of EUR 189.21 million with DGTF,

to financing from the DGTF or EU financing as provided for in the

contracted in 2014, has no restrictive clauses (covenants).

payable on variable rate financial instruments; and
From 2012, in order to ensure the liquidity necessary for the nor-

Legal Regime of the Public Business Sector (RJSPE).
In October 2019, EDIA, contracted a medium and long-term loan,

The analysis was based on the financial instruments in

mal operation of the Company, both to ensure the investment

place during the current financial year.

made and also to meet the financial charges, all EDIA’s financing

In November 2014, it restructured the short-term debt incurred

in the amount of EUR 45 million, with CEB, for the installation of

and refinancing needs were ensured by 5 banks (CGD, BES, BCP, BPI

since September 2011 by signing a medium and long-term con-

a set of floating photovoltaic plants near pumping stations of the

Thus taking into account the assumptions, and a variation in the

and Santander-Totta), as a result of mediation by the Secretary of

tract in November 2014 for the amount of EUR 189.21 million with

primary network of the Alqueva Project.

interest rates of the financial instruments, by 1%, its impact on

State for Treasury and Finance and the DGTF with the respective

the DGTF.

the Financial Results, as well as on the Net Results of the Finan-

banks.

•

cial Year would be, approximately, EUR 1.50 million in 2020 and
EUR 1.60 million in 2019.

Liquidity Risk
Until 2010, all external financing operations (borrowed capital)
were subject to careful analysis as a result of consultation with
the Banks, considering the best market conditions, both financially and fiscally, and always opting for the one with the most
favourable all-in-cost for the Company.
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With the entry into force of Decree-Law no. 133/2013 at the be-

As regards the guarantee contract, the clauses were previously
In 2020, EDIA’s financing took place through capital allocations

validated by IGCP and DGTF as the State’s representative. In 2020

amounting to EUR 21.53 million.

the tender procedure was prepared and its launch was depen-

ginning of December 2013, all EDIA financing operations require

dent on the authorisation of the Ministry of Finance, which was

approval from the DGTF and an opinion from the IGCP.

obtained in January 2021, and the approval of the Ordinance of

In November 2014 following the entry into the perimeter of public
accounts, EDIA took out a loan granted by the DGTF in order to

Minimisation of the provision of real
guarantees and restrictive clauses
(covenants)
Considering that the EFMA project is of great national interest
since it represents a work of harnessing the water resources as-

From 2015, in order to meet EDIA’s financing needs, the shareholder has made capital increases in order to ensure availability for

MEASURES PURSUED WITH A VIEW TO OPTIMISING THE COMPANY’S
FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

meet the financial needs until the end of the year and to settle
and replace short-term debt amounting to EUR 189.21 million.

Extension of Charges.

sociated with the Guadiana River and contributing to the promotion and economic and social development of the Alentejo region,

Since its creation, EDIA has focused its activity on the implementation of a set of infrastructures that comprise EFMA, of which the
Alqueva and Pedrógão dams and respective Hydroelectric Power
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Plants and the overall water supply system stand out due to their

On 31 December 2020, the Company’s Share Capital, fully subs-

size.

cribed and paid up, amounts to EUR 860,334,960 (made up of

FINANCING POLICY
Thousand Euros

Years

172,066,992 shares), and is 100% owned by the Portuguese State,
Both EDIA’s investment and financing decisions are dependent on

through the DGTF. The variation occurred in 2020 (EUR 21,524,640

Financial Charges (€)

the State’s approval, as indicated in the following paragraphs.

and 4,304,928 new shares) results from the following issues of

Average Financing Rate (%)

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2 772,01

3 123,14

5 179,42

6 416,66

7 198,28

1,00%

1,09%

1,60%

1,01%

1,04%

shares with a nominal value of EUR 5 each:
•

According to paragraph 1(c) of Article 3 of Decree-Law no.
42/2007 of 22 February, the object of EDIA is “the design,

Table 49 - Financing Policy

•

March 2020: Issue of 673,928 new shares, with a nominal

implementation and construction of infrastructure that

value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed

make up the secondary network assigned to the Project, on

and paid up was EUR 3,369,640.00 (March 11);

behalf of the State and in accordance with the instructions
given to it by the Minister for Agriculture, Forestry and Ru-

•

August 2020: Issue of 866,000 new shares, with a nominal

ral Development”. Financing should be ensured as defined

value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subscribed

under paragraph 2, i.e. “Through the Ministry of Agriculture,

and paid up was EUR 4,330,000 (7 August); and

Forests and Rural Development, the State ensures the financing and other conditions relating to the performance

October 2020: Issue of 2,765,000 new shares, with a nomi-

of EDIA, with regard to the pursuit of the object defined in

nal value of EUR 5 each, paid up in cash. The amount subs-

subparagraph c) of the previous paragraph, and the respec-

cribed and paid up was EUR 13,825,000 (6 October).

tive works are the property of the State”;

•

•

For the 2013-2014 period, the need to finance EFMA’s investment

related to the variation of this rate, which since 2017 show his-

activities as well as the payment of debt service, implied recourse

torical lows.

to borrowed capital, through the contracting of bank loans.
The financing contracted in 2014 with DGTF in the amount of EUR
From 2015 onwards, the increase in own revenues with the in-

189.21 million, has a nominal annual fixed rate, equivalent to the

crease in operating activities, the change in the financial policy

Republic’s cost of financing on the date of disbursement.

defined by the Shareholder and, previously based on contracting
loans, and currently through capital appropriations sufficient to

In 2020, there was a decrease in Interest Bearing Liabilities, as

accompany the pace of investment and support the charges rela-

there was no borrowing, with only the repayment of part of the

ting to debt servicing, resulted in a decrease in financial charges

loan with the EIB (EUR 3.22 million) and the bond loan in the

(-65.72%).

amount of EUR 94.35 million (EUR 6.74 million).

Regarding the primary network, paragraph 3 states that
“The construction of the primary and secondary irrigation

The bond financing is indexed to variable interest rates, namely

networks integrated into the Project depends on the prior

Euribor, so the evolution of the average financing rate is directly

approval of the projects by the Minister of Agriculture and
Sea, who must accompany the entire process, under the ter-

Photo: Viana do Alentejo Supply System

ms of the legal regime for hydro-agricultural works”. There
is also, for the execution of the primary network, the requirement for prior approval by the State Shareholder; and

•

As for the contracting of financing and guarantees, paragraph 1 of Article 8 of the same Decree-Law states that “The
contracting of medium and long-term financing by EDIA requires authorisation from the Ministry of Finance.”

In programming EFMA’s investments and financing, EDIA’s sole
purpose is to meet the objectives assigned to the Company by the
Shareholder, and with regard to financing, the EU funds available
in the various operational programs for EFMA are always taken
into account, complemented by recourse to capital allocations
from the Shareholder.
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EDIA, S.A.’s PMP for the years 2020 and 2019 (according to the

3 - LIMITS TO THE GROWTH OF INDEBTEDNESS

DGTF formula) is presented below:

EUR

EUR

2020

Remunerated liabilities

2019
Values (€)

Variation 20/19
Value

%
-3,48%

Remunerated Financing (Current and Non-Current)

275 922 585,16

285 866 369,17

-9 943 784,01

...of which granted by DGTF

126 139 523,33

126 139 523,33

0,00

Capital Increase for paid-up capital

21 524 640,00

29 275 440,00

-7 750 800,00

Capital Appropriation for Loss Coverage

0,00

0,00

0,00

Capital Increase by Conversion of Credits

0,00

0,00

0,00

PMP
Deadline (Days)

2020

2019

103

63

Variation 20/19
Value

%

40

63,49%

Table 52: Average Payment Time

-26,48%

New Investments

During 2020 the PMP suffered an increase of 40 days, compared

65-A/2011 of 17 May: “non-payment of an invoice corresponding

to the deadlines presented in 2019, about 63.49%. This variation

to the supply of goods and services in the following article after

is justified by the delay and lack of financing for the ongoing

90 days or more have elapsed since the date agreed for the pay-

investment in PNRegadios.

ment of the invoice or, failing this, the date stated in the invoice”.

As the financing requested for the 1st semester was only received

Article 26(2) of Decree-Law no. 84/2019 of 28 June obliges public

in October 2020, and the financing for the 2nd semester was not

companies, with an Average Payment Time of more than 60 days,

carried out, the investment amounts invoiced as planned could

to disclose on their websites, and update by the end of the month

not be settled on the set date, which aggravated, for reasons

following the end of each quarter, an updated list of their debts

unrelated to EDIA, the PMP.

that are certain, net and due for more than 30 days.

In addition to the delay in financing, there were also difficulties

EDIA, to comply with the law, as referred to above in Article 26(2)

in validating some invoices.

of Decree-Law no. 84/2019 of 28 June, discloses on the EDIA, SI-

EUR

2020
2020 Remunerated Financing

275 922 585,16

2019 Remunerated Financing

285 866 369,17

2020 Share Capital

860 334 960,00

2019 Share Capital

838 810 320,00

2020 New Investments

34 754 600,00

Variation in Indebtedness

-2,06%
Tables 50 and 51: Limits to the Growth of Indebtedness

RIEF, SIGO website an updated list of its debts that are certain, net
and due for more than 30 days.

ARREARS

As shown in the previous table, there was a -2.06% reduction in

In accordance with the provisions, the final list and identification

indebtedness, due to the repayment of loans, financed by a capiThe debts to be reported relate to the supply of goods and ser-

tal endowment from the State shareholder.

of EDIA, S.A.’s payment arrears on 31 December 2020 is presented:

vices for which payment is overdue, as defined in Decree-Law no.

4 - AVERAGE PAYMENT TIME

Overdue Debts
Acquisition of Goods and Services

EVOLUTION OF THE AVERAGE PAYMENT TIME

Value (€)
0-90 Days

Value of overdue debts according to Art. 1 DL 65-A/2011 (€)
90-120 Days

120-240 Days

240-360 Days

> 360 Days

3 906 182,01

Capital Acquisition

The evolution of the Average Payment Time (PMP), in accordan-

the “Pay on Time” Program and which aims to reduce the Average

ce with the RCM no. 34/2008, of 22 February, with the alteration

Payment Times practised by public entities to suppliers of goods

introduced by Order no. 9870/2009, of 13 April, which approves

and services.

Total

3 906 182,01
Table 53: Overdue Debts

On 31 December 2020 EDIA had no arrears as defined by Article 1
of DL 65-A/2011.
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5 - STEPS TAKEN AND RESULTS OBTAINED
IN COMPLYING WITH THE SHAREHOLDER’S
RECOMMENDATIONS

due to the delay and lack of financing for the ongoing investment
in PNRegadios.

•
At the Company’s Annual General Meeting of 5 June 2020, it was

rectors to take steps to comply with:

•

to comply with the provisions of Law no. 2/2020, of

2020, due, on the one hand, to the overall increase of 0.3% allo-

31 March, as well as with Decree-Law no. 84/2019, of

cated to all employees - Decree-Law no. 10-B/2020 of 20 March

28 June, concerning:

2020, applicable to EDIA under the provisions of its Article 5.5,

the provisions of paragraph 3 of article 33 of Decree-law no. 71/2007, of 27 March, as amended, with

recommended by the Sole Shareholder, State, to the Board of Di-

•

and, on the other, to salary progressions. Added to this is the
Maintenance or reduction of the weight of ope-

sharp reduction in the absenteeism rate in 2020. Finally, it should

regard to expenses related to company vehicles as-

rating expenses over turnover, compared to

be noted that, compared to 2019, in which the salary increases

signed to the members of the Board of Directors;

2019;

relating to salary progressions had a more limited impact (50%

the objective of the payment deadline to suppliers

The amount executed under these items reflects the result of bu-

in accordance with the criteria defined in the Reso-

siness dynamics combined with the geographical dispersion of

lution of the Council of Ministers no. 34/2008, of 14

implementation of the Alqueva project. In 2020, the limits set

February;

were met, with significant reductions compared to the previous

i.

with an impact on 10 months and the remaining 50% with an
EDIA reduced the weight of operating expenses over turnover in

impact on only one month), in 2020 the salary increases were

2020 (79.23%) compared to 2019 (84.49%).

awarded with effect from 1 January.

i.

year due to the pandemic caused by the COVID-19 Virus. (see TaDuring 2020, the PMP has increased by 40 days compared to the

Maintenance or reduction of personnel costs,

Total 2020

6 601 620

sions of Article 21 This is in accordance with the

Correction concerning paragraph 1, art. 17 State
Budget 2020

-137 209

Correction concerning paragraph 5, art. 5, DL 10B/2020, of 20 March 2020

-13 692

terms of the provisions of Law no. 2/2020, of

Absenteeism Reduction

-86 827

31 March.

Social Charges arising from corrections

-56 790

provisions of Law no. 42/2016, of 28 December,

2020

2019

Deviation

and of remuneratory valorisations under the

Deviation

Forecast

Executed

Executed

2020 Fore./2020 Exec.

2020 Exec./2019 Exec.

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

5 836,80

4 981,99

7 626,81

-854,81

-2 644,82

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

4 669,80

2 886,43

4 832,09

-1 783,37

-1 945,66

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

4 669,80

2 978,38

5 926,97

-1 691,42

-2 948,59

Following the guidelines transmitted by the Ministry, the Com-

Total

15 176,40

10 846,80

18 385,87

-4 329,60

-7 539,07

pany, despite the strong component of the exploitation, opera-

Total 2020 Corrected

Table 54: Expenses allocated to Board of Directors’ vehicles - variation

•

Values

payments, from the application of the provi-

EUR

2020

Personnel Costs

corrected for charges arising from severance

ble 54)

deadlines presented in 2019, with the worsening of this deadline

Member of the Board of Directors (Name)

EUR

6 307 102
Table 56: Change in personnel costs

tion and maintenance of irrigation perimeters, according to the

In accordance with its objectives and by-laws, the strong com-

programming of activities approved by the State Shareholder, has

mitment of EDIA’s human resources was demonstrated, in a par-

managed to stabilise its overall number of employees, favouring

ticularly expressive way, by strengthening the appreciation and

the redistribution of tasks among employees already in its servi-

introduction of the concepts of flexibility and versatility within

include a reference to prior consultation with Par-

provided that duly substantiated and demonstrated the impossi-

ce, through the adoption of internal mobility policies. In fact, on

the organisation, a fact that gave rise to the transfer of emplo-

pública, Participações Públicas, SGPS, S.A. pursuant

bility of meeting the needs through own resources, may be taken

31 December 2011, EDIA’s workforce consisted of 189 employees,

yees between areas, reinforcing the areas of operation and equi-

to the provisions of Article 49 of Decree-Law no.

by the Company.

having increased to 188 in 2012, 187 employees in 2013, 185 em-

pment maintenance. The policy pursued by EDIA throughout the

ployees in 2014 and 2015 and 179 employees in 2016, 2017, 2018,

year focused on redirecting some of its human resources to new

2019 and 2020.

areas of activity of the organisation, through the conversion of

89/2019 of 28 June, with regard to the contracting of
EUR

studies, opinions, projects and consultancy services

Amount

in future Management Reports and Accounts.

the tasks for which they became responsible. It should be noted

Environmental Consultancy Services

36 549,45

Regarding the figures implemented, the increase of 4.4% in Per-

that this increase and diversification of the Company’s activities

In accordance with paragraph 2 of Article 49 of Decree-Law no.

Environmental Consultancy

20 574,15

sonnel Costs is justified by the allocation of salary increases for

was carried out on the basis of a personnel that has stabilised.

89/2019, of 28 June, only studies, projects and consultancy, ex-

Computer Consultancy

43 171,58

Environmental Studies

15 671,59

Environmental Monitoring

57 973,41

cluding judicial representation and forensic mandate, focusing on
economic-financial or legal matters, of an imminently strategic
nature should be requested from PARPÚBLICA, and EDIA did not
contract, in 2020, services of this nature. For the remaining services of studies, projects and consultancy, according to paragraph 1
of that article, the decision to contract, in exceptional situations,
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132 845,86

Environmental Project

500,00

Tax Consultancy

General Total

307 286,04

Table 55: Contracting of studies, opinions, projects and consultancy
services in 2020
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6 - REMUNERATIONS/FEES

Governing Bodies

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE REMUNERATORY STATUS

cessive deficit and the control of the growth of public debt provi-

no. 36/2012, of 26 March, in article 29 of Law no. 64-B/2012, of 30

ded for in the Stability and Growth Program (PEC), the 5% reduc-

December (LOE 2012), in article 37 of Law no. 66-B, of 31 Decem-

tion of the salaries of public managers and equivalent, provided

ber (LOE 2013), in article 41 of Law no. 83-C, of 31 December (LOE

for in Article 1(1) of Law no. 12-A/2010 of 30 June, is maintained.

2014), in article 41 of Law 82-B/2014 of 31 December (LOE 2015),

GENERAL MEETING BOARD
Shareholder Order of 23 May 2018:

Chairman

(a)

Attendance Voucher in the amount of EUR 575.00 (per General Meeting, normally one per year).
Shareholder Order of 23 May 2018: (a)

Secretary

Attendance voucher in the amount of EUR 375.00 (per General Meeting, normally one per year)

in article 18 of Law 7-A/2016 of 30 March (LOE 2016), in article 19
There is still no place for the attribution of management pre-

of Law no. 42/2016, of 28 December (LOE 2017), article 20 of Law

miums as provided for in article 4 of Decree-Law no. 8/2012, of 18

no. 114/2017 of 29 December (LOE 2018) and article 27 of Law no.

January, and in paragraph 4 of the Council of Ministers Resolution

71/2018, of 31 December (LOE/2019).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Executive Directors)
CHAIRMAN
Shareholder Order of 23 May 2018: (a)
Remuneration of EUR 4,864.34 (14 times per year) plus 40% representation expenses of EUR 1,945.74 (12 times per year)
Remuneration applied:

GENERAL MEETING BOARD

(b)

Remuneration of EUR 4,621.12, plus EUR 1,848.453 as representation expenses (includes a 5% reduction provided for in paragraph 1 of Article 12 of Law No.
12/2010 of 30 June)
Service Vehicle (purchase limit of EUR 40,000.00); Driver; Mobile Phone (monthly limit of EUR 80.00); Health Insurance (EUR 360.83 per year).

MEMBERS

Term of Office

Position

Name

Established Voucher
Value

Gross Earned Value

(€)

(€)

(Start-End)

Shareholder Order of 23 May 2018: (a)

(2018 - 2020)

Chairman

Henrique António de Oliveira Troncho

575

575

Remuneration of EUR 3.891,47 (14 times per year) plus 40% representation expenses of EUR 1.556,59 (12 times per year)

(2018 - 2020)

Secretary

Ana Luísa Soares

375

375

(2018 - 2020)

Secretary

José António Brito Ramos

375

375

1 325

1 325

Remuneration applied:

(b)

Remuneration of EUR 3.696,90, plus EUR 1.478,76 as representation expenses (includes a 5% reduction provided for in paragraph 1 of Article 12 of Law No.
12/2010 of 30 June)
Table 58: General Meeting Board

Service Vehicle (purchase limit of EUR 40,000.00); Driver; Mobile Phone (monthly limit of EUR 80.00); Health Insurance (EUR 360.83 per year).

SUPERVISORY BODIES
Statutory Auditor

Remuneration corresponding to 22.5% of the value of 12 months of the overall gross monthly remuneration legally attributed to the
Chairman of the Board of Directors of EDIA, S.A. EUR 6,469.57 * 22.5% = 1,455.65 * 12 = EUR 17,467.80
Travel expenses (transport and accommodation) as per Article 59 of the Statutes of the Statutory Auditor

CHAIRMAN

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Shareholder Order of 23 May 2018: (a)

Supervisory Board

Monthly salary of EUR 1,362.01 (14 times per year)

MEMBERS
Shareholder Order of 23 May 2018: (a)

Term of
Office

Appointment
Position

OPRLO or option for the average of the last 3 years (2)

Name

(Start-End)

Type (1)

Date

Yes/No

Entity of
Origin

Monthly salary of EUR 1.021,51 (14 times per year)

Table 57- Fixed Remuneration Status

(a) The Unanimous Written Social Resolution of 23 May 2018 fi-

der’s Order, in a phased manner, as set forth in paragraphs 1 and

xed the remuneration status of the members of EDIA’s Governing

2 of Article 16 of the LOE.

Bodies for the 2018-2020 term of office. Following the publication of the Budget Execution Decree-Law for 2019 (Decree-Law

(b) The value of the total amount of remuneration earned was

no. 84/2019, of 28 June), and the provisions of Article 209(1) of

subject to change at the beginning of 2018. In the context of

this Decree-Law, the remuneration of the members of the BD was

the approval of a set of additional fiscal consolidation measures

changed to the remuneration status approved by the Sharehol-

aimed at strengthening and accelerating the reduction of the ex-
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No. Of
Terms of
Paying Entity Identification of authori- Office
(O/D)

zation date and type

(2018 - 2020)

Chairman*

José Pedro Mendes
Barbosa da Costa
Salema

AG

23/05/18

Yes

EDIA

D

AG

3

(2018 - 2020)

Member **

Augusta Manuel
Pereira de Jesus
Cachoupo

AG

23/05/18

Yes

EDIA

D

AG

4

(2018 - 2020)

Member ***

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

AG

23/05/18

Yes

EDIA

D

AG

3

Caption:
(1) Indicate Resolution (R)/AG/DUE/Order (D)
“(2) Option for the Remuneration of the Place of Origin (OPRLO) or option for the average of the last 3 years - foreseen in paragraphs 8 and 9 of article 28 of the EGP. Indicate paying entity (O-Origin/D-Destination) “
Note:
* Starting date of 1st term of office- 02/12/2013
** Starting date of 1st term of office - 21/04/2010
*** Starting date of 1st term of office - 08/03/2012

Table 59: Board of Directors - composition
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Vehicle Costs

Accumulation of functions
Entity

Function

Regime

Identification of
authorization date
and type

[Identify]

[Identify]

[Public/Private]

AG/DUE/D

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

-

-

-

-

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

-

-

-

-

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

-

-

-

-

Member of the Board of Directors
[Name]

Table 60: Board of Directors - accumulation of functions

Assigned
Vehicle

Conclusion
of a
Contract

Reference
Value of the
Vehicle

Modality (1)

[Y/N]

[Y/N]

[€]

[Identify]

[€]

[€]

(No.)

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa
da Costa Salema

Y

08/10/17

24 840

Acquisition

-

-

-

Augusta Manuel Pereira de
Jesus Cachoupo

Y

22/01/15

18 885

Acquisition

-

-

-

-

-

Jorge Manuel Vazquez
Gonzalez

Y

20/02/15

18 885

Acquisition

-

-

-

-

-

Member of the Board of
Directors [Name]

Start
Year

End
Year

Monthly Rent Annual Cost
Value
with Rents

Contractual
Instalments
Remaining

(1) Acquisition; ALD; Leasing or other

Table 64: Board of Directors - vehicle costs

EGP

Member of the Board of Directors
[Name]

Established

Classification

Gross Monthly Salary (€)

(Y/N)

(A/B/C)

Monthly Salary

Representation Costs

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

S

B

4 864

1 946

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

S

B

3 891

1 557

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

S

B

3 891

1 557

Member of the Board of Directors
[Name]

Table 61: Board of Directors - Public Manager Statute

Annual Remuneration (€)

Member of the Board of Directors
[Name]

Fixed (1)

Variable (2)

Gross Value (3)=(1)+(2)

Remuneratory Reductions(4)

Final Gross Value (5)=(3)-(4)

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

91 450

-

91 450

4 573

86 877

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

73 160

-

73 160

3 658

69 502

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

73 160

-

73 160

3 658

69 502

237 770

11 889

225 881

Accommodation
Costs

Daily
Allowances

Identify

Value

Total Travel Costs
(Σ)

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

237

513

538

-

-

1 287

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

159

173

1 029

-

-

1 361

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

80

1 714

1 167

-

-

2 961
5 609

SUPERVISION
Supervisory Board

Table 62: Board of Directors - remuneration

Term of
Office

Value/Dat

Social Protection Regime

Amount Paid
Per Year

Identify

Annual Charge

Health Insurance
Annual Charge

Life Insurance
Annual Charge

Outros
Identify

Value

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa
da Costa Salema

4,77

1 059

Seg. Social

20 641

360

-

-

-

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus
Cachoupo

6,91

1 444

Seg. Social

16 898

360

-

-

-

Jorge Manuel Vazquez
Gonzalez

6,91

1 589

Seg. Social

16 898

360

-

-

-

54 437

1 080

-

4 092

Position

Name

(Start-End)

Social Benefits (€)
Mean Allowance

Other

Service Travel

Table 65: Board of Directors - travel

Note:
(1) The value of the fixed remuneration corresponds to the salary + representation expenses (without reductions)
(4) Reduction foreseen in article 12 of Law no. 12-A/2010, of 30 June

Member of the Board of
Directors [Name]

Annual Costs associated with Service Travel (€)

-

Type (1)

Date

Monthly Fixed
Remuneratory
Status (€)

Appointment

No. Of
Terms of
Office

(2018 - 2020)

Chairwoman

Sara Alexandra Pereira Simões Duarte Ambrósio

AG

23/05/18

1 362

1

(2018 - 2020)

Member (*)

Nelson Manuel Costa dos Santos

AG

23/05/18

1 022

3

(2018 - 2020)

Member (**)

Hugo Alberto Cordeiro Lobo

AG

21/10/19

1 022

1

(2018 - 2020)

Alternate Member

Cristina Maria Pereira Mascarenhas Vieira Sampaio

AG

23/05/18

-

4

Caption:
(1) Indicate AG / DUE/Order
(*) Date of first term of office: 27/03/2013
(**) Started office on 21/10/2019 and ended on 27/03/2020

Table 66: Supervisory Board - composition/ ERFM

Table 63: Board of Directors - social benefits
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Annual Remuneration (€)

Name

Gross (1)

Remuneratory Reductions(2)

Final Value (3)=(1)-(2)

Sara Alexandra Pereira Simões Duarte Ambrósio

19 068

-

19 068

Nelson Manuel Costa dos Santos

14 301

-

14 301

Hugo Alberto Cordeiro Lobo (*)

3 458

-

3 458

-

-

-

Cristina Maria Pereira Mascarenhas Vieira Sampaio

Identification of the External Auditor
Name of the External Auditor
BDO & ASSOCIADOS,
SOCIEDADE DE REVISORES OFICIAIS
DE CONTAS, Lda

36 827

OROC No.

CMVM No.

29

20161384

Hiring Date

Duration of
the Contract

No. Of Years with the
Group

No. Of Years with the
Company

27/01/20

2020-2022

-

1

Caption:
(*) EDIA’s External Auditor with the CMVM is the ROC

(*) started office on 21/10/2019 and ended on 27/03/2020

Table 70: External Auditor - identification
Table 67: Supervisory Board - remuneration

Statutory Auditor and Auditor Registered with the CMVM

External Auditor Name

elected the Statutory Auditor for the three-year period 2015-2017,
and has been working at EDIA since then. It should be noted that

A RCA - Rosa, Correia & Associados, SROC, S.A. began working on

the ROC was elected to complete the 2018-2020 mandate by DUE

19 December 2016, the date on which EDIA’s General Meeting

of 30 May 2019.

SROC/ROC Identification

Term of Office
Position
(Start-End)

(2018 - 2020)

BDO & ASSOCIADOS,
SOCIEDADE DE REVISORES OFICIAIS DE CONTAS, Lda

Statutory
Auditor

RCA - Rosa, Correia & Associados, SROC,
S.A. Represented by Dr. Paulo Fernando
da Silva Pereira, as Main Statutory
Auditor and by Dr. Luís Francisco Pereira
Rosa, as Alternate Statutory Auditor

143

Type (1)

20161455

AG

Date

Value (1)

Reductions (2)

20 917

-

Final Value
(3)=(1)-(2)

20 917

Annual Value of Additional Services - 2020 (€)
Service
Identification

Value (1)

-

-

Reductions

Final Value

(2)

(3)=(1)-(2)

-

-

Table 71: External Auditor - remuneration

Appointment

Registry Registry No.
No. at OROC At CMVM

Name

Annual Service Contract Value - 2020
(€)

Contract
Date

No. of Years
with the
Group

30/05/19 03/10/19

-

No. Of Years
with the
Company

5

Note: Must be identified main (SROC and ROC) and alternate (SROC and ROC)
(1) Indicate GA /DUE/Order (D)
Appointment of the ROC for the 2018-2020 three-year term, at the GM of 04/10/2019.

The contractual auditing of EDIA’s accounts is carried out by BDO

20161384) provides services to EDIA, ensuring the audit of EDIA’s

& Associados, Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, LDA, and

half-yearly and annual accounts, the objective of this service

EDIA’s external auditor with the CMVM is RCA - Rosa, Correia &

provision being to audit the Company’s accounts annually and

Associados, SROC, S.A, which performs the functions of statutory

half-yearly, in accordance with the legal obligations in force.

auditor (thus ensuring the legal revision of the accounts) and

The Statutory Auditor responsible for the contractual audit is Dr

auditor registered with the CMVM for the purposes of the Securi-

Gonçalo Raposo da Cruz, holder of number 1189 in the Statutory

ties Code.

Auditors Association (OROC) and registration number 20160800 in

Table 68: Statutory auditor - identification

the CMVM.
BDO & Associados, Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas (registered with the OROC under number 29 and with CMVM number

Name
ROC/FU

RCA - Rosa, Correia & Associados, SROC, S.A.
Represented by Dr. Paulo Fernando da Silva
Pereira, as Main Statutory Auditor

Annual Service Contract Value - 2020 (€)

Annual Value of Additional Services - 2020 (€)

Value (1)

Reductions (2)

Final Value (3)=(1)-(2)

Service
Identification

Value (1)

Reductions (2)

23 911

-

23 911

-

-

-

Final Value
(3)=(1)-(2)

-

Table 69: Statutory Auditor – remuneration
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7 - ARTICLES 32 AND 33 OF THE PUBLIC

8 - NON-DOCUMENTED EXPENSES

11 - PUBLIC PROCUREMENT

EDIA has no expenses of this nature recorded in its accounts.

With regard to the application of Public Procurement Standards,

MANAGER STATUTE
Since April 2012, the remuneration of public managers is regu-

Statement on Remuneration Policy for the members of EDIA’s Ma-

EDIA is subject to the Public Procurement Code (CCP), approved by

lated by the new Public Manager Statute (EGP), republished by

nagement and Supervisory Bodies.

Decree-Law no. 18/2008 of 29 January, by virtue of the provisions

Decree-Law no. 8/2012, of 18 January, object of the Rectification

of its Article 2(2)(a). In the application of public procurement ru-

Declaration no. 2/2012, of 25 January, in conjunction with the

On the other hand, also in line with what is stipulated in Arti-

RCM no. 16/2012, which approves the criteria for determining the

cle 32 of the EGP, and as republished by Decree-Law no. 8/2012,

salary of public managers, and no. 36/2012, which approves the

in particular with regard to the application of the provisions of

classification of public companies and public entities integrated

paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 32 of the aforementioned Decree-

in the National Health Service for the purposes of determining the
salary of the respective managers, as well as the classifications
attributed to the companies in its annex in three groups (A, B and

-Law, the Board of Directors of EDIA does not use credit cards or
other payment instruments used by public managers, with the
aim of making expenses at the service of EDIA, nor does it receive

C), with EDIA classified in group B, with effects on the setting of

reimbursements for any expenses that fall under the concept of

the remuneration of the members of the governing bodies.

personal representation expenses.

9 - REPORT ON REMUNERATION PAID TO
WOMEN AND MEN

les, EDIA is guided by the principles of equality, non-discrimination and transparency set out in national and European public
procurement law, without losing sight of other equally relevant
values such as economy or sound financial management of public

The report on remuneration paid to women and men, as determined in paragraph 2 of the Council of Ministers Resolution no.
18/2014 of 7 March, was disclosed internally and is available on
the EDIA website at the following link.

resources and the selection of the most suitable proposal for the
public interest. The decisions authorising expenses are based on
information which justifies the need to contract and proposes the
most appropriate procedure, following the procedure established
in the CCP and the procedural rules established in internal re-

https://www.edia.pt/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Relatorio_Dif_
gulations, bearing in mind the need to disaggregate functions
Salariais_EDIA_2019.pdf

At the General Meeting no. 30 of 23 May 2018, the remunera-

The following tables systematize, respectively, the value of ex-

tion statute of the members of EDIA’s Governing Bodies for the

penses associated with communications, and the amount of fuel

of defining the respective award criteria. The guidelines issued by

2018-2020 term of office was set, also incorporating the Annual

and tolls allocated monthly to service vehicles (Articles 32 and

the Ministry of Finance on the procurement of services by public

33 of the EGP).

companies, in particular services, were also incorporated into the

and objectify the parts of each procedure, particularly in terms

public procurement procedures implemented at EDIA.

Member of the Board of Directors
(Name)

10 - ANNUAL REPORT ON CORRUPTION
PREVENTION

Communication Costs (€)
Established Monthly Plafond

Annual Value

Remarks

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

80

145

-

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

80

204

-

Taking into account the legal regulations applicable to SEE, the

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

80

146

-

actions set out in the Plan for the Prevention of Risks of Cor-

For several years now, EDIA has been implementing a set of measures that allowed a significant reduction in the average cost of
purchases per employee, thus anticipating some of the measures

495

ruption and Related Infractions (PPRCIC), the ethical commitment
and mission of EDIA, in order to promote and ensure the pro-

Table 72: Board of Directors - communication costs

per functioning of its internal management within the scope of

now being addressed. On the other hand, and following the implementation of these measures and the concomitant effect seen
in terms of cost reduction, their maintenance has been the main
concern, without neglecting the possibilities that arise within the
scope of possible additional reductions in these costs.

the monitoring of risk management policies and the Company’s
communication policy, the annual monitoring of the implemen-

Member of the Board of Directors
(Name)

tation of the PPRCIC substantiated through the Annual Report on

Annual Costs Associated to Vehicles (€)

Monthly Plafond
Fuel and Tolls

Fueld

Tolls

Total

Remarks

José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema

486

2 977

2 005

4 982

-

Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo

389

1 984

902

2 886

-

Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez

389

1 861

1 118

2 978

-

10 847

the Implementation of the Plan for the Prevention of Risks and
Related Infractions (2020).

The development of the procurement procedures foreseen in the
CCP commonly used in the Company, that is, the public tender,
the prior consultation and the direct adjustment according to the
general regime foreseen therein is carried out on an electronic
platform, in line with the dematerialisation already operated wi-

The Summary Report on the Implementation of the Plan for the

thin the scope of the Company’s internal document management.

Prevention of Risks of Corruption and Related Infractions (PPRCIC)
is available on EDIA’s institutional website.

Table 73: Board of Directors - expenses related to vehicles

Also within the scope of the manuals for the acquisition of goods
and services, and also in accordance with the concerns underlying

https://www.edia.pt/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Revisao_PPR-

DGTF Circular no. 6132 of 6 August 2010, it had already been de-

CIC_EDIA_2020.pdf
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termined that, in service provision contracts with a value equal to

sources, a strategy that continued to be pursued in 2020, without

procurement platform, interconnected with the Official Portal for

nificant weight in the awarding criteria adopted, and that these

or greater than EUR 125,000.00 (exclusive of VAT), the award must

jeopardising the pursuit of planned activities.

Public Procurement.

are preceded by adequate support and justification of the need

be preceded by justification of the need to contract, both from an

to contract and an analysis of the non-existence of alternative

economic point of view and in terms of the absence of internal

Finally, bearing in mind the budget containment measures, in ar-

Finally, and given the context of the need to contain costs, the

internal solutions, seeking in this way to obtain gains not only

solutions, as well as an explanation of the objectives intended

ticulation with all the guidelines issued by the Ministry of Finance

guideline was also defined so that the price factor assumes sig-

in terms of efficiency and rationalisation, but also transparency.

to be achieved from the point of view of a cost-benefit analysis.

regarding control measures and execution of public expenses, the
competences for the realisation of expenses and matters of ac-

At this time, the need to comply with the provisions of Article 127

quisition of goods and services are defined in the Service Order

of the CCP (as amended by Law no. 64-B/2011, of 30 December,

no. 1/2013, which aims to establish clear and effective rules for

which entered into force on 1 January 2012) has already been

the management of the Company’s financial resources. This docu-

incorporated into the respective internal procedures manual no.

ment defines in a detailed way:

Photo: Furta Galinhas Dam

64-B/2011, of 30 December, effective from 1 January 2012), under
the terms of which the publication in the public contracts portal

•

of all contracts concluded by direct agreement and with a value

A tiered hierarchy of delegation of powers by levels of
responsibility; and

equal to or greater than EUR 5,000.00, must contain the grounds
for the need to resort to direct agreement, in particular on the
impossibility of satisfying the need through the Public Adminis-

•

The form of approval, checking and validation of the
expenses incurred.

tration’s own resources. In 2020, there are no contracts awarded
within these criteria.

On the other hand, and with regard to the justification of the

12 - NATIONAL PUBLIC PROCUREMENT

realisation of each expense, the need to use competitive pro-

SYSTEM

cedures has been given substance, requiring, in the manuals for
the acquisition of goods or services in force in the Company, that

In the procurement of goods and services required for its acti-

the option to invite a single entity to participate in the procedure

vity, EDIA scrupulously complies with the legislation in force and

must always be accompanied by technical, economic, urgent or

the guidelines issued by its Shareholder. The existence of a go-

other justification, so as not to widen the universe of competitors.

vernance model clearly known by all employees, with diversified
attributions of competences, and of central purchasing services,

Once the guideline was defined so that the price factor would

allows economies of scale to be obtained that have proven to be

assume increasing weight in the award criteria, gains were thus

efficient and advantageous in the management of the Company.

sought not only in terms of efficiency and rationalisation but also

In this regard, the results obtained in the area of IT service pro-

of transparency. A computer application was also implemented to

vision, mobile communications, asset management and consu-

facilitate the control of the limits established by paragraph 2 of

mables stand out.

article 113 of the Public Contracts Code during the selection and
proposal of the entities to be invited.

It should also be noted that EDIA has already dematerialised the
entire cycle of the public procurement procedure. Internally, from

With regard to the recommendation to encourage companies to

the authorisation of expenses, validated on the document ma-

sound out their internal competences, throughout this report se-

nagement platform and supported by SAP, and in terms of the

veral references are made to the significant effort made by EDIA

relationship with suppliers through the use of an electronic public

to develop its activity with the same or, if possible, fewer re-
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13 - MEASURES TO OPTIMISE THE STRUCTURE OF OPERATING COSTS

EUR

PRC

2020 Exec

2020 Budget

2019 Exec.

2018 Exec.

(0) EBITDA

11 569 902

11 009 034

10 140 058

(1) CMVMC

69 178

55 975

38 629 323

2020/2019

In 2020, there was an increase in turnover compared to 2019

on only one month), in 2020 the salary increases were awarded

(7.83%), justified essentially by the increase related to water

with effect from 1 January.

distribution and energy production (Mini Hydro plants). EDIA
managed to ensure a reduction in total costs under the item of

In accordance with its objectives and statutes, the strong com-

Absolute Var

Var. %

expenses for travel and accommodation, daily allowances, and

mitment of EDIA’s human resources was demonstrated, in a par-

8 726 516

1 429 844

14,10%

vehicle fleet by -13.08%, due mainly to the limitations caused

ticularly expressive way, by strengthening the appreciation and

60 689

59 254

8 489

13,99%

by COVID-19.

introduction of the concepts of flexibility and versatility within

46 264 947

25 034 798

16 954 589

13 594 525

54,30%

16 931 707

22 561 517

3 381 190

774 290

13 550 517

400,76%

With regard to the vehicle fleet, due to the measures developed

yees between areas, reinforcing the areas of operation and equi-

6 601 620

6 795 056

6 319 342

6 016 909

282 278

4,47%

throughout 2020 and the limitations caused by COVID-19, costs

pment maintenance. The policy pursued by EDIA throughout the

(3.I) Severance costs

925

2 000

1 407

696

-482

-34,25%

were reduced compared to 2019. A cycle of new contracts began

year focused on redirecting some of its human resources to new

137 209

130 000

184 524

139 231

-47 315

-25,64%

within the scope of the EFMA extension, with EDIA maintaining

areas of activity of the organisation, through the conversion of

(3.II) Remunerations

its daily activity. On the other hand, the reduction of a large part

the tasks for which they became responsible. It should be noted

(3.III) Impact of IRCT application

0

0

0

0

0

of long distance travel contributed to a reduction in the average

that this increase and diversification of the Company’s activities

(4) Personnel costs for operational
efficiency purposes (3-3.i) - 3.ii) - 3.iii))

6 463 486

6 663 056

6 133 411

5 876 982

330 075

value of fuel in relation to 2019, which led to a reduction in costs.

was carried out on the basis of a personnel that has stabilised.

(2) FSE
(2.i) Secondary Network Investment
(3) Personnel costs

5,38%

the organisation, a fact that gave rise to the transfer of emplo-

On 31 December 2020, EDIA’s vehicle fleet was composed of 81
(5) COVID 19 pandemic impact on
Operational Expenses (CMVMC, FSE, and G.
Personnel )

70 751

0

0

70 751

vehicles, with one more vehicle than in the previous year, since
one is on loan to the Ministry of Agriculture.

(6) Operating costs for the purpose of
calculating operating efficiency = (1) + (2) (2.i) + (4) - (5)

28 159 529

30 422 461

27 847 708

22 116 534

311 821

1,12%

(7) Turnover

35 539 712

35 353 212

32 958 960

28 920 238

2 580 752

7,83%

0

0

0

0

0

35 539 712

35 353 212

32 958 960

28 920 238

2 580 752

7,83%

79,23%

86,05%

84,49%

76,47%

12,08%

(I) Travel Expenses (FSE)

6 816

12 619

21 213

15 530

(II) Expenses with daily allowances and
accommodation (G with Staff)

10 177

29 938

24 566

(III) Costs associated with the vehicle
fleet (b)

634 980

673 402

Total = (I) + (II) + (III)

651 973

(7.i) Loss of revenue due to pandemic by
COVID 19 (+)

14- CONTRACTING STUDIES, OPINIONS,
Following the guidelines transmitted by the Ministry, the Com-

PROJECTS AND CONSULTANCY

pany, despite the strong component of the exploitation, operation and maintenance of irrigation perimeters, according to the

In these cases, in the information supporting the expense, sub-

programming of activities approved by the State Shareholder, has

mitted for approval by the Board of Directors, or in its expla-

14,30%

managed to stabilise its overall number of employees, favouring

nation, personally, a justification is presented for the need and

-14 397

-67,87%

the redistribution of tasks among employees already in its servi-

impossibility of resorting to own resources.

21 870

-14 389

-58,57%

ce, through the adoption of internal mobility policies. In fact, on

704 262

712 837

-69 282

-9,84%

31 December 2011, EDIA’s workforce consisted of 189 employees,

715 959

750 041

750 238

-98 068

-13,08%

having increased to 188 in 2012, 187 employees in 2013, 185 em-

307 286

208 376

315 605

315 846

-8 319

-2,64%

184

197

185

184

-1

-0,54%

No. of Governing Bodies (GB)

5

6

6

5

-1

No. of Directors (D)

24

24

24

24

No. of Employees (without GB and without
D)

155

167

155

No. of Employees/No. of Directors

6,46

6,96

81

84

(8) Turnover for the purposes of calculating
operating efficiency (7+7.i)
(9) Spending/NV weight = (6)/(8)

(7) Expenses for studies, opinions, projects
and consultancy services

Total No. of HR (GB+ D+ Employees)

No. of Vehicles

ployees in 2014 and 2015 and 179 employees in 2016, 2017, 2018,

15 - PRINCIPLE OF THE STATE

2019 and 2020.

TREASURY UNIT

-16,67%

Regarding the figures implemented, the increase of 4.47% in Per-

EDIA, under Decree-Law no. 191/99 of 5 June, which approves the

0

0,00%

sonnel Costs is justified by the allocation of salary increases for

State Treasury System and Article 28 of Decree-Law no. 133/2013

155

0

0,00%

2020, due, on the one hand, to the overall increase of 0.3% allo-

of 3 October, legislation establishing the principles and rules

6,46

6,46

0

0,00%

cated to all employees - Decree-Law No. 10-B/2020 of 20.03.2020,

applicable to the public business sector, is part of the universe

80

80

1

1,25%

applicable to EDIA under the provisions of its Article 5.5, and,

of bodies subject to the rules on the State Treasury Unit (UTE)

on the other, to salary progressions. Added to this is the sharp

and, consequently, has accounts opened with the IGCP, EPE (IGCP)

reduction in the absenteeism rate in 2020. Finally, it should be

through which it must carry out all financial transactions, mee-

noted that, compared to 2019, in which the salary increases rela-

ting the compliance with the Treasury Unit Principle (PUT) provi-

ting to salary progressions had a more limited impact (50% with

ded for under Article 28 of Decree-Law No. 133/2013 of 3 October.

(a) The impacts of the measures taken to address the COVID-19 pandemic were for the acquisition of: EUR 4,701 in hygiene items, EUR 10,359 in personal protection items, EUR 5,846 in IT equipment and
EUR 1,845 in VPN configurations and increasing the level of security in firewalls.
(b) To assess the degree of compliance with the measures to reduce operating expenses (CMVMC + ESF-secondary network + Personnel costs), expenses with severance payments, remunerations and
impact of the application of the IRCT.
(c) Turnover is corrected by operating subsidies and compensatory indemnities.
(d) Costs with vehicles include: rentals/amortizations, inspections, insurance, tolls, fuel, maintenance, repairs, tyres, taxes and fees.

an impact on 10 months and the remaining 50% with an impact
Table 74: Reduction in Operating Costs
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However, due to the nature and diversity of financial operations,

equivalents with the IGCP for the year 2020 under Article 28 of

EDIA has accounts at the Commercial Bank which it uses as accou-

both by virtue of the rules on the use of EU funds, and limitations

Decree-Law no. 133/2013 of 3 October. On 22 December 2020, EDIA

nts receiving receipts from customers, from which it periodically

on the functionalities and services provided by IGCP, as a “public

received a letter from the Treasury and Public Debt Management

makes transfers to the IGCP account, where all other movements

treasury bank” (namely medium and long-term bond loans, as

Agency, to exempt from compliance with the UTE, for the years

are centralised and from which all payments are made, i.e. the

well as bank guarantees), EDIA has to contract some services/

2020 and 2021, only the following services:

balances shown relate to collections received.

18 – PREPARATION AND DISCLOSURE OF
NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable. On 31 December 2020 EDIA had 179 employees on
its personnel.

products in commercial banking, so that the normal functioning
a.

of financial services is not compromised. It should be noted that
at the end of 2020 the rate of centralisation of funds in IGCP was

The amounts strictly necessary for loading meal cards;

To alleviate this situation, EDIA is promoting among its various

and

customers that all payments be made directly to the IGCP account,
in order to cancel the receipts outside this institute.

80.89%.
b.

The values of bank guarantees that cannot be replaced
by escrow deposits.

Considering that compliance with the rules of the UTE may be

19 – INFORMATION REPORTED UNDER
SIRIEF

The commercial bank accounts are not remunerated, so EDIA does
not earn any income from them

waived annually, by means of authorisation from the holder of
the shareholder function in the case of Public Companies (EP), in

The remaining amounts should therefore be handled by EDIA

view of the context and the constraints presented, EDIA requested

through accounts in the IGCP, by using the banking services pro-

the waiver of full concentration of the Company’s cash and cash

vided by this Agency.

The information, regarding the execution of the year 2020, reported in this report is consistent with the information reposted
under SIRIEF.

16 - RECOMMENDATIONS RESULTING
FROM COURT OF AUDITORS’ AUDITS
The Court of Auditors has not conducted any audit of EDIA during
the last three years, i.e. 2018 and 2019, 2020.

Commercial Banking *

1st Quarter €

2nd Quarter €

3rd Quarter €

4th Quarter €

Caixa Geral Depósitos - Beja

185 697,01

89 875,06

284 311,82

670 282,53

Banco Comercial Português

9 127,75

9 005,83

8 820,74

8 759,45

Novo Banco

79 513,88

79 369,97

79 321,34

79 248,20

Caixa Banco Investimento

2 073,96

2 073,95

2 073,95

2 073,95

Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo

398 620,79

127 947,47

275 098,19

805 622,90

Santander-Totta

20 655,97

20 890,06

21 636,93

29 362,68

1 311,72

9 004,64

5 139,70

5 373,24

Banco Português Investimento

Total

697 001,08

338 166,98

676 402,67

1 600 722,95

20 – INFORMATION ASSOCIATED WITH
COVID-19
Economic activity in 2020, in Portugal and the rest of the world,
was deeply affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, due to the con-

17 – DEVELOPMENT AND DISSEMINATION
OF THE EQUALITY PLAN
EDIA has complied with the provisions of the Normative Order no.
18/2019, of 21 June 2019, having proceeded with the preparation
and dissemination of the Equality Plan for the competent entities.

tainment measures and the impact on the behaviour of economic
agents.

In Portugal, a state of calamity and subsequent state of emergency was decreed, causing, in general, major constraints on the
activities of companies. At EDIA, with the effort of all those involved, the activities vital to its proper functioning were essentially

Interest Earned **

The Equality Plan is available on EDIA’s institutional website.

guaranteed.

* Identify the institution with which the cash and cash equivalents and/or financial investments are held by adding the necessary lines.
** Identify the interest earned (in cumulative terms, since 1 January 2016) on all financial applications that are with Commercial Banking (CB).

https://www.edia.pt/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/PlanoIgualda-

IGCP

1st Quarter €

2nd Quarter €

3rd Quarter €

4th Quarter €

4 303 628,64

4 850 538,48

4 767 388,82

6 773 664,53

Table 75 and 76: State Treasury Unit

deGenero2021_EDIA.pdf

In this period, Order No. 4146-A/20203, of 3 April (regulations
specifically applicable to EDIA/EFMA), issued by the Office of the
Minister of Agriculture, establishes in its paragraph 4, the following guidelines concerning EDIA, during the context of the pandemic:

3
Order No. 4146-A/2020 - Establishes essential services and the necessary measures to ensure normal conditions of production, transport, distribution and supply of agricultural and livestock goods and services, and those essential to the agri-food chain, within the scope
of the powers of the bodies and services of the Ministry of Agriculture
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the Company, as well as the renewal of 35% of the IT equipment

Also most of the scheduled events were cancelled due to the con-

allocated to EDIA employees, should be highlighted.

tingencies imposed by the pandemic situation.

It should also be noted here the attitude of solidarity shown by

Luz Museum was also conditioned by the impact of the pandemic

EDIA towards those who sought in some way to help in the fight

and was closed to the public during April and part of May, follo-

against the pandemic, having associated itself with solidarity

wing EDIA’s COVID-19 Contingency Plan, and its reopening took

movements in the fight against COVID-19, particularly in terms of

place on 19 May.

fundraising for the Unidade Local de Saúde do Baixo Alentejo [Local Health Unit of Baixo Alentejo] (ULSBA), for Cáritas Diocesana

During 2020 there was a decrease in the number of visitors in re-

of Beja and also in the purchase and offer of fabric for the pro-

lation to the same period in the previous year, due to the context

duction of protective equipment for ULSBA health professionals.

that caused the Museum’s activities to stop, as mentioned above.
Also due to the constraints caused by the pandemic, there were

Despite the measures adopted, due to the restrictions and limi-

no group visits for the general public or for the school public

tations arising from the contingency plans related to COVID-19,

from March onwards.

several works associated with different areas of the Company
suffered some constraints, or were even suspended for a period

The Alqueva Interpretation Centre also closed to the public, un-

of time which led to the need for rescheduling of their execution

der the Company’s Contingency Plan, on 16 March, and remained

schedules implying an extension in the deadlines for completion,

closed until 9 June. As of that date, the operating period was

such as the construction contract of the hydraulic circuit of Viana

also altered, closing on Sundays. The number of visitors inside

do Alentejo. The work was halted in March, by mutual agreement

the building was also limited to five (5) people. This space also

Acquisition of hygiene and protection products, na-

between the parties, being interrupted for a period of 45 days,

suffered other periods of closure during the rest of the year, thus

mely hand sanitizer, masks, visors, among others;

due to the lack of conditions for the execution of the work, be-

responding to the need for restrictions felt in the region due to

cause of the COVID-19 pandemic.

the pandemic context.

Also due to these constraints, some work was postponed, such as

Impact of COVID-19 on expenses and revenue

Photo: Caliços Pumping Station

“4 — In order to ensure the continuity and uninterruptibi-

•

lity of the provision of public water supply services for the
exercise of agricultural activity, the Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infraestruturas do Alqueva, S. A., must continue to

•

In cases where the nature of the functions allows it,
employees have been placed on teleworking;

guarantee the following essential activities:

the monitoring of the units related to the Mediterranean Tempoa.

Management and operation of the supply systems, en-

•

suring the functioning of the supply and distribution

Reduction in the number of employees to 1 in each

rary Ponds conservation project and the work to be carried out

At the level of executed expenses, under the COVID-19 Contin-

room/office, with weekly rotation; and

on projects with exotic species, and an effort has been made to

gency, the amount of EUR 70,751.54 was recorded at the end of

continue the work until the end of the year.

December. The impact of this increase in expenses was partly off-

networks, as well as all the equipment and infrastructure;

•

or email.
b.

The immediate assessment and reporting of distur-

In the Noudar Nature Park, the tourism component of its activi-

adoption of the teleworking regime, such as fuel costs, tolls and

ties was, this year, strongly conditioned due to the extraordinary

parking, travel and accommodation and representation costs.

bances in the exercise of the activities provided for in

Measures to protect against the pandemic have been reinforced,

measures implemented in response to the epidemiological situa-

the preceding subparagraph.”

complying with the Specific Contingency Plan approved in March

tion of the new coronavirus. The PNN was closed to the public

In revenues, in the water distribution and energy activity, there

2020, as well as the guidelines issued by the Directorate-General

during the months of April and May, following EDIA’s COVID-19

is no variation in own revenues associated with COVID-19, but

for Health (DGS).

Contingency Plan. The reopening of the Park occurred in June,

in PNN the value of service provision registered a drop of about

with reduced capacity, reservations with a minimum of 2 nights,

EUR 60,909.

In this context, the Company adopted several measures, of which
the following are highlighted:

•

set by the reduction in some variable costs, resulting from the

Customer service is now provided by telephone and/

The support work carried out in this pandemic context, particu-

breakfast served individually and reinforcement of cleaning and

Drawing up and approval of a Specific Contingency

larly with regard to teleworking and repairs to VPN systems, in

hygiene measures. Subsequently, the Park was also closed for

Plan;

order to ensure the regular operation of the services provided by

prophylactic isolation from 27 August to 6 September.
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21 - INFORMATION DISCLOSED - DGTF

Information to be included on the SEE website

DISCLOSURE

COMMENTS

Y/N/N.A.

UPDATE DATE

Articles of Association

Y

07 de março de 2019

-

Characterisation of the Company

Y

08 de março de 2019

-

Ministry and Shareholder Role

Y

03 de março de 2020

-

Identification of the Governing Bodies

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Fixed Remuneration Status

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Disclosure of the remuneration received by the Governing Bodies

Y

03 de março de 2020

-

Identification of the functions and responsibilities of the members of the
Board of Directors

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Disclosure of the curricular summaries of the members of the Governing
Bodies

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Public Financial Effort

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Summary Sheet

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Historical and Current Financial Information

Y

03 de março de 2020

-

Internal and External Regulations to which the Company is subject

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Relevant transactions with related entities

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Other transactions

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Economics

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Social

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Environmental

Y

20 de agosto de 2020

-

Evaluation of Compliance with Good Governance Principles

Y

12 de maio de 2020

-

Code of Ethics

Y

04 de outubro de 2018

-

Governance Model/Members of the Governing Bodies

Principles of Good Governance

Analysis of the Company's Sustainability in the areas of

Table 77: Information to be included on the SEE website

Photo: Cuba East Solar Plant
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SYSTEMATISATION OF INFORMATION ON COMPLIANCE WITH LEGAL GUIDELINES

Compliance with Legal Guidelines - 2020

Compliance
Y/N/N.A

Quantification /
Identification

Justification / Reference to
the Report (page)

Supervisory Board (FC/ROC/FU) - remuneration cuts effective in 2020 (if applicable)

N.A.

127 - 128

External Auditor - remuneration reductions effective 2020 (if applicable)

N.A.

129

Non-use of credit cards

Y

130

108

Non-reimbursement of personal representation expenses

Y

130

Maximum value of expenses associated with communications

Y

130

Maximum monthly value of fuel and tolls allocated to service vehicles

Y

130

Y

131

Management Objectives

N.A.

Management Objective

100

Targets set in the PAO 2020

42,82%

PMO - article 32 and 33 of the PMO

Investment

Y

Level of Indebtedness

Y

108

Projects

Y

109

Costs

Y

63%

109

Non-documented or confidential expenses - article 16, paragraph 2 of the
RJSPE and article 11 of the PMO

Revenue

Y

63%

112

Prohibition of non-documented or confidential expenses

Activities

Y

Costs

Y

64%

114

Promotion of equal salaries between women and men - paragraph 2 of the
RCM no. 18/2014

Revenue

Y

71%

114

Preparation and disclosure of the report on remuneration paid to women and men

Y

131

Financial Risk Management

Y

1%

115

Debt Growth Limits

Y

-2,06%

120

Preparation and dissemination of the Annual Report on Corruption Prevention

Y

131

Evolution of MTP to Suppliers

Y

+40 (103)

120

Public Procurement

Disclosure of Delays in Payments ("Arrears")

Y

0,00 €

121

Application of public procurement rules by the Company

Y

131 - 132

Application of public procurement rules by subsidiaries

N.A.

131 - 132

Contracts submitted for prior approval by the TC

N

131 - 132

Adherence to the National Public Purchasing System

Y

132 - 133

Operating Expenses of Public Companies

Y

134

Contracting of studies, opinions, projects and consultancy services (article 49 of DLEO
2019)

Y

135

Principle of State Treasury Unit (Article 28 of DL no. 133/2013)

Y

Cash and cash equivalents and applications centralized in IGCP

N

80,89%
(6.773.644,53€)

135 - 136

Cash and applications at the Commercial Bank

Y

1.600.722,95€

135 - 136

Interest earned in breach of UTE and delivered as State Revenue

Y

0,00 €

135 - 136

Level of Execution of the Budget uploaded in SIGO/SOE

114

Shareholder Recommendations on the last approval of Accounts
Recommendation 1: To the objective of the payment period to suppliers in accordance
with the criteria defined in the Resolution of the Council of Ministers no. 34/2008, of
14 February

N

Recommendation 2: To the provisions of Paragraph 3 of Article 33 of Decree Law no.
71/2007, of 27 March, in its current wording, in relation to the expenses related to the
service vehicles assigned to the members of the Board of Directors

Y

Recommendation 3: Include a reference to prior consultation with Parpública,
Participações Públicas, SGPS, S.A. in accordance with the provisions of Article 49
of Decree-Law 89/2019 of 28 June, regarding the contracting of studies, opinions,
projects and consultancy services in future Management Reports and Accounts.
Recommendation 4: Maintenance or reduction of the weight of operating expenses
over the turnover, compared to 2019
Recommendation 5: Maintenance or reduction of personnel expenses, corrected for
charges resulting from severance pay, the application of the provisions of Article 21
of Law 42/2016, of 28 December, and remuneration increases under the provisions of
Law 2/2020, of 31 March

122 - 123
122 - 123

Y

122 - 123

Y

122 - 123

N

122 - 123

Audits by the Court of Auditors

Remunerations/Fees

Y

Non attribution of management bonuses

CA - remuneration reductions in force in 2020 (if applicable)

Y

124
5% reduction in
salaries, as provided for in Article 1,
paragraph 1 of Law
No. 12-A/2010 of
30 June

Recommendations

N

137

Preparation of the Equality Plan as required by Article 7 of Law 62/2017, of 1 August

Y

137

N.A.

137

Presentation of the non-financial statement

124

Table 78: Systematisation of Information on Compliance with Legal Guidelines (Cont.)

Table 78: Systematisation of Information on Compliance with Legal Guidelines
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CHAPTER 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS
AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
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FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT

EUR

Financial Position Statement

Notes

31/dez/20

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT

31/dez/19
EUR

ASSETS

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Non Current Assets
Tangible Fixed Assets

6

13 307 158

12 501 998

Sales and Services Rendered

Investment Property

7

1 921 262

2 110 655

Operating Subsidies

8 e 19

325 668 881

330 167 925

9

276 571

276 571

4 690

2 644

Other Receivables

16

181 960 921

187 769 005

Captive Deposits

11

Intangible Assets
Financial Investments - Other Methods
Other Financial Assets

90 745

90 745

523 230 228

532 919 543

Notes

2020

2019

13

35 539 712

32 958 960

565 426

144 815

Variation in Production Inventories

23

17 710 972

4 128 767

Own Work Capitalised

24

869 536

855 451

(69 178)

(60 689)

25

(38 629 323)

(25 034 798)

Costs with personnel

26

(6 601 620)

(6 319 342)

Provisions (Increases/Reductions)

20

(5 763 775)

(4 669 466)

Cost of Goods Sold and Consumed
Supplies and External Services

Impairment of Debts Receivable (Losses/Reversals)

19

(799 762)

271 278

Inventories

12

24 984 843

7 694 780

Other Income and Gains

27

8 910 899

9 345 664

Trade Accounts Receivable

13

5 147 737

6 843 249

Other Expenses and Losses

Advances to Suppliers

14

13 834

15 793

State and Other Public Entities

15

861 467

1 490 059

Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses/Reversals

Other Accounts Receivable

16

218 264 091

219 146 477

Impairment of Depreciable/Amortizable Investments (Losses/Reversals)

Deferrals

17

110 108

221 493

Cash and Bank Deposits

4

Current Assets

Total Assets

8 430 247

13 168 507

257 812 327

248 580 359

781 042 555

781 499 902

28
Income Before Depreciation, Financial Expenses and Taxes

30
19

Operating Income (Before Financing Costs and Taxes)

29

Interest and Similar Costs
Profit Before Tax

10

(1 480 582)
10 140 058

(5 735 262)

(5 787 649)

(16 879 178)

(3 834 860)

(11 044 537)

517 548

(2 765 442)

(3 115 466)

(13 809 980)

(2 597 918)

(45 214)

(72 918)

Net Profit for the Period

(13 855 194)

(2 670 836)

Comprehensive Income for the Period

(13 855 194)

(2 670 836)

Income Tax for the Period

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(162 985)
11 569 902

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED IN EQUITY

Equity
Paid-up Capital

18

860 334 960

838 810 320

Other Reserves

18

9 202 700

9 202 700

18 e 19

(808 040 794)

(805 369 958)

(13 855 194)

(2 670 836)

Basic

-0,081

-0,016

47 641 672

39 972 226

Diluted

-0,081

-0,016

Retained Earnings
Net profit for the period

Total Equity

Other Comprehensive Income for the Period

NET PROFIT PER SHARE

Non Current Liabilities
Provisions

20

34 222 810

26 876 349

Borrowings

21

116 666 964

181 303 842

Deferrals

17

381 782 995

396 275 006

532 672 769

604 455 196

5 283 169

5 156 641

9 558

9 418

Table 80: Comprehensive Income Statement

Current Liabilities

22

Suppliers
Advances from Customers
State and Other Public Entities

15

244 842

266 018

Financing Obtained

21

159 255 621

104 562 527

Other Accounts Payable

22

21 410 390

12 553 341

Deferrals

17

14 524 535

14 524 535

200 728 114

137 072 480

Total Liability

733 400 883

741 527 676

Total Equity and Liability

781 042 555

781 499 902

Table 79: Financial Position Statement

The Certified Accountant
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CHANGES IN EQUITY STATEMENT

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
EUR

Changes in Equity Statement
Balance at 31 December 2018

2020

2019

42 316 749

38 308 867

Suppliers

(41 438 634)

(27 540 888)

Personnel

(6 556 616)

(6 251 960)

Cash Generated From Operations

(5 678 502)

(33 792 848)

Ajustments
in Financial
Assets

Other
Reserves

Retained
Earnings

Net Result of
the Period

TOTAL

809 534 880

0

9 202 700

(801 434 891)

(3 935 067)

13 367 622

Payments to:

(2 670 836)

(2 670 836)

(2 670 836)

(2 670 836)

3 935 067

0

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period

(3 935 067)

Appropriation of Net Result for 2018
Increase in Paid-in Capital

29 275 440

Balance at 31 December 2019

838 810 320

0

9 202 700

(805 369 958)

Net Profit for the Period
Total Comprehensive Income for the Period

(2 670 836)

Appropriation of net profit for 2019

Balance at 31 December 2020

Cash Flows Statement

Paid-up
Capital

Net Profit for the Period

Increase in Paid-in Capital

EUR

0

9 202 700

(808 040 794)

Receipts from Customers

29 275 440

Income Tax Payment/Receipt

(72 136)

(87 038)

(2 670 836)

39 972 226

Other Receipts/Payments Relating to Operating Activities

1 302 343

370 289

(13 855 194)

(13 855 194)

(4 448 294)

(33 509 597)

(13 855 194)

(13 855 194)

2 670 836

0

22 129

158 824

2 515 487

92 040

21 524 640
860 334 960

Operational Activities:

(13 855 194)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Investing Activities:
Receipts from:

21 524 640

Tangible Fixed Assets

47 641 672

Investment Grants

4 304

Interest and Similar Income
Table 81: Changes in Equity Statement

2 541 920

250 864

Tangible Fixed Assets

(1 192 287)

(625 408)

Intangible Assets

(11 246 922)

(4 632 622)

(12 439 209)

(5 258 029)

(9 897 289)

(5 007 166)

21 524 640

29 275 440

21 524 640

29 275 440

(9 957 885)

(38 363 682)

(1 959 433)

(2 220 558)

(11 917 317)

(40 584 240)

9 607 323

(11 308 800)

Changes in Cash and Cash Equivalents

(4 738 260)

(49 825 563)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period

13 168 507

24 685 203

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Period

8 430 247

-25 140 360

Payments Related to:

Photo: Álamo Reservoir

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Financing Activities:
Receipts Arising from:
Capital Receipts
Hedging of Losses
Financing Obtained

Payments in respect of:
Financing Obtained
Financial Lease Contracts
Interest and Similar Costs

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Table 82: Cash Flow Statement
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Brief Description of the Company
EDIA - Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infra-estruturas do Alqueva (hereinafter “EDIA”, “Company” or “Entity”) was set up through

irrigation component, Decree-Law no. 313/2007 was published

plant; Álamos pumping station; primary network; secondary net-

The Portuguese State, in October 2018, in the Council of Minis-

on 17 September, approving the bases of the concession contract

work and regional development) are perfectly stabilised, given

ters Resolution no. 133/2018 of 12 October, approved the PN-

to be signed between EDIA and the conceding State. This decree

that practically all the contracts have been awarded. Only about

Regadios and regularized the operationalization of the Project

established the granting of operating rights for the Alqueva and

10% of the total investment is in an initial phase and corresponds

Implementation Unit (UEP), also highlighting the operationali-

Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plants, respecting the rights ac-

essentially to the projects covered by the PNRegadios and the

zation and launch of the 1st Call for submission of applications

quired by third parties under previous legislation.

Alqueva Photovoltaic Park. This way we indicate the best possible

for this Program. Following this approval, on 29 January, Ordi-

estimates given the information currently available.

nance no. 38/2019 was published (Official Gazette no. 20/2019,

Decree-Law no. 32/95 of 11 February, under which it became the
holder of all the rights and obligations that belonged to the Alqueva Installing Committee. Its share capital is wholly owned by
the Portuguese State, through the DGTF. At 31 December 2020, the
Share Capital is 100% subscribed and paid up.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 2 of that diploma, as

In view of the legislation in force that regulates the water resources sector, EDIA appears as the concessionaire for the mana-

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of 13 March 2018, the

the projects provided for in PNRegadios, making funds available

gement and operation of the Project and also as the holder, on

multi-annual reprogramming was approved, which includes the

for new irrigation projects. On 27 March, Order no. 3378 (Official

an exclusive basis, of the rights to the private use of the public

values executed up to 2017 and the investment forecasts for the

Gazette no. 61/2019, Series II) opened the 1st PNRegadios call for

hydric domain allocated to EFMA for the purposes of irrigation

following years, in the global amount of EUR 2,639.32 million. The

submissions.

and hydroelectric operation.

difference from the previous forecast of EUR 2,556 million is es-

amended by Decree-Law no. 232/98 of 22 July, no. 335/01 of 24
December and no. 42/07 of 22 February, EDIA’s corporate object
is currently:

•

The use of the public hydric domain allocated to EFMA
for irrigation and hydroelectric operation purposes,
under the terms of the contract entered into with the

On 17 October 2007, the Company signed the concession contract

infrastructures forming the EFMA primary system, as
well as their management, operation, maintenance
and conservation;

•

•

Following the approval and opening of the 1st PNRegadios Call

of the Alqueva Photovoltaic Park, in the amount of EUR 50 million.

(Notice of Opening no. 01/DRE/2019, of 29 April), concerning ‘Efficient Irrigation Development Operations’, EDIA proceeded to

nal Development, which regulates the use of water resources to

By the end of 2020, of the total planned investment, without ca-

prepare ten applications for projects of the 2nd Phase of the Al-

capture water for irrigation and electricity generation in the EFMA

pitalizations, EUR 2,400.94 million were made, approximately 90%

queva irrigation infrastructure. To date, all have been approved

primary system.

of the total. Within the scope of applications for EU financing,

and awarded, except for the Reguengos project, which approval

EDIA has obtained, to date, EUR 1,243 million of EU funds, about

by the EIB occurred in late 2020, awaiting the sending of the term

On 24 October 2007 a contract was signed between EDIA and EDP

52% of the investment made. In order to face the national cou-

of acceptance by the UEP of PNRegadios.

- Gestão da Produção de Energia, S.A. (EDP), which awarded EDP

nterpart of the investments supported by FEOGA-O and FEADER,

the operation of the Alqueva Hydroelectric Power Plants (260 MW),

under CSF III, PRODER and PDR2020, EUR 153 million were obtai-

The project of the photovoltaic park of Alqueva will be financed

under the market regime, and Pedrógão (10 MW), under the spe-

ned from PIDDAC. The financing required both for the remaining

by the loan granted by CEB, in the amount of EUR 45 million.

cial regime, for 35 years. This contract also establishes the rights

national counterpart of the projects supported by EU funds, as

The tender process for the contracting of this project, despite the

of private use of the respective water domain, having boosted the

well as for other expenses (operating and financial charges), ori-

slippage justified by the health crisis experienced in Portugal, re-

electrical value of the Alqueva-Pedrógão system.

ginated from capital appropriations (EUR 893.8 million), of which

sulting from COVID-19, is completed and approved by the Minister

EUR 33.47 million through loss coverage, bank and bond loans

of Agriculture, leaving the launch of the tender only pending the
publication of the Ordinance of Extension of Charges.

gional Development, representing the State;

The design, implementation and construction of the

sentially due to the investment now planned for the construction

with the Ministry of the Environment, Land Planning and Regio-

Ministry of the Environment, Land Planning and Re-

•

Series I), which regulates the support scheme to be granted to

The design, implementation and construction of the
infrastructures forming part of the secondary network

In April 2013, EDIA signed with DGADR a “Concession Contract on

and from the DGTF, which outstanding amounts at this date are

assigned to EFMA, on behalf of the State and in accor-

the Management, Operation, Maintenance and Conservation of the

EUR 149.78 million and EUR 126.14 million, respectively.

dance with the instructions given by the Ministry of

EFMA Secondary Network Infrastructures”, ending on 31 Decem-

Agriculture, Sea, Environment and Land Planning; and

ber 2020. This contract establishes that EDIA (concessionaire) will

The total investment includes the implemented and planned in-

deliver to the State (grantor), represented by DGADR, the infras-

vestments in the secondary network (EUR 889 million), which is

The promotion, development and pursuance of other

tructure relating to the secondary network, drainage and agricul-

owned (with the exception of infrastructure 12, which has an ex-

economic activities which benefits contribute to im-

tural roads, the goods and equipment necessary for its operation

ceptional concession arrangement) by the Ministry of Agriculture.

proving the conditions of use of the resources allo-

and exploitation, and the areas acquired and expropriated for the

cated to EFMA.

implementation of the infrastructure of EFMA hydro-agricultural

EDIA, for financing the investment to be made, by guidelines from

facilities.

the Ministry, presented an expression of interest in the EIB and

Following the consolidation of the energy exploitation poten-

The Company, with registered office in Beja, has 179 employees

2. Accounting Standards for the
Preparation of Financial Statements
2.1. Presentation Bases

CEB financing, for EFMA projects, included in the PNRegadios, and

tial, not exclusively hydroelectric, which is an important potential

The overall figures for each of the main investment programs

the contracts were signed in April 2018, between the Portuguese

source of revenue as well as an important complement to the

(Alqueva dam; Alqueva power plant; Pedrógão dam and power

State and the respective Banks.
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•

Amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and Annual

ted by the European Union. The IAS/IFRS include the standards is-

business, seeking to clarify the identification of bu-

modifications of financial assets, financial liabilities

sued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the

siness acquisition or acquisition of a group of assets.

and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and disclosu-

Improvements 2018-2020. These amendments cor-

respective interpretations issued by the International Financial

The revised definition also clarifies the definition of

res. This amendment is applicable to financial years

respond to a set of updates to the various standards

Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and its predecessor

output of a business as the provision of goods or ser-

beginning on or after 1 January 2021. It will have no

mentioned, namely: (i) IFRS 3 - update of the refe-

bodies.

vices to customers. The amendments include examples

significant impact on the Company’s financial state-

rence to the 2018 conceptual framework; additional

for identifying the acquisition of a business. (Commis-

ments (Commission Regulation (EU) 2021/25 of 13 Ja-

requirements for analysis of obligations under IAS 37

sion Regulation (EU) 2020/551 of 21 April 2020).

nuary 2021).

or IFRIC 21 at the acquisition date; and explicit cla-

Standards and interpretations that became effective on 1 January 2020, and that EDIA applied in the preparation of its fi-

rification that contingent assets are not recognised
•

Amendment to IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts - De-

in a business combination; (ii) IAS 16 - prohibition of

reference/ benchmark interest rates (IBOR Reform).

ferral of IFRS 9. Corresponds to the amendment to

deduction from the cost of a tangible asset of reve-

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the

Corresponds to amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS

IFRS 4 that extends the deferral of application of IFRS

nue related to the sale of products before the asset is

following accounting standards, interpretations, amendments

7 related to the benchmark interest rate reform pro-

9 to years beginning on or after 1 January 2023. This

available for use; (iii) IAS 37 - clarification that costs

and revisions have been endorsed by the European Union, with

ject (“IBOR reform”) in order to decrease the potential

amendment will have no significant impact on the

of fulfilment of a contract correspond to costs directly

mandatory application for the financial year beginning on

impact of the change of benchmark interest rates on

Company’s financial statements (Commission Regula-

related to the contract; and (iv) Annual improvements

1 January 2020:

financial reporting, namely hedge accounting. (Com-

tion (EU) 2020/2097 of 15 December 2020).

2018-2020 correspond essentially to amendments to

nancial statements

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (amendment) - Reform of

•

mission Regulation (EU) 2020/34 of 15 January 2020).
•

Amendments to references to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards. Corresponds to amend-

•

IFRS 16 (amendment) - Leases - “Covid 19 Rela-

4 standards, IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41. TheStandards, amendments and interpretations published but not

se amendments are not expected to have significant

yet adopted by the European Union

impacts on the financial statements of the Company.

ments in several standards (IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IAS

ted Rent Concessions”. This amendment introduces

1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC

an optional practical expedient whereby lessees are

As of 31 December 2020, the following standards and interpreta-

The estimates and assumptions with impact on the financial sta-

20, IFRIC 22 and SIC 32) in relation to references to

exempted from analysing whether rent concessions,

tions had been issued by the International Accounting Standards

tements are continuously evaluated, representing at each re-

the revised Conceptual Framework in March 2018. The

typically rent suspensions or rent reductions, related

Board (“IASB”) and have not yet been endorsed by the European

porting date the Board’s best estimate, taking into account the

revised Conceptual Framework includes revised defi-

to the “Covid-19” pandemic correspond to contractual

Union:

historical performance, accumulated experience and expectations

nitions of an asset and a liability and new guidance

modifications. (Commission Regulation (EU) 2020/1434

on measurement, derecognition, presentation and dis-

of 9 October 2020).

about future events that, under the circumstances, are believed
•

IFRS 17 - Insurance contracts. This standard esta-

to be reasonable. The intrinsic nature of the estimates may cause

blishes, for insurance contracts, within its scope of

the actual reflection of the situations that had been estimated to

The adoption of the above amendments had no material effect

application, the principles for their recognition, mea-

differ from the estimated amounts for the purposes of financial

on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 De-

surement, presentation and disclosure. This standard

reporting.

cember 2020.

replaces IFRS 4 - Insurance contracts. The futu-

closure. (Commission Regulation (EU) 2019/2075 of 29
November 2019).

•

IAS 1 and IAS 8 (amendment) - Definition of material. This amendment clarifies the definition of material in IAS 1. The definition of material in IAS 8 now

Standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the

refers to IAS 1. The amendment changes the definition

European Union with mandatory application in future financial

of material in other standards to ensure consistency.

years

The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of cau-

EDIA’s financial statements.

sing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are essentially impair-

•

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Sta-

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (amendment) - Phase 2 -

non-current. This amendment published by the IASB

to influence the decisions of primary users of financial

Reform of reference/ benchmark interest rates (IBOR

clarifies the classification of liabilities as current and

statements based on the financial statements. (Com-

reform). Corresponds to amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39

non-current by analysing the contractual conditions

mission Regulation (EU) 2019/2104 of 29 November

and IFRS 7 issued on 27 August 2020, related to the

existing on the reporting date. The future adoption of

2019).

second phase of the benchmark interest rate reform

this standard will have no impact on EDIA’s financial

project (“IBOR reform”), referring to changes in ben-

statements.

ment or concealment it could reasonably be expected

IFRS 3 (amendment) – Definition of business. EThis

ments and provisions.

tements - Classification of liabilities as current and

Information is material if by its omission, misstate-

•

re adoption of this standard will have no impact on

•

All estimates made by the Board of Directors, were based on their
available knowledge, as at 31 December 2020, of current events
and transactions.

However, events may occur in subsequent periods that, not being
foreseeable at the date of approval of the financial statements,
were not considered in these estimates.

chmark interest rates and the impacts at the level of

amendment constitutes a revision of the definition of
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EDIA’s objective is to facilitate the meeting between land supply

Changes to the estimates that occur after the date of the financial

The estimates and underlying assumptions were determined ba-

statements will be corrected prospectively. For this reason and

sed on the best knowledge existing at the date of approval of the

given the degree of uncertainty associated, the actual results of

financial statements of the events and transactions in progress,

Land and Natural Resources

the transactions in question may differ from the corresponding

as well as the experience of past and/or current events. However,

Buildings and Other Constructions

estimates.

events may occur in subsequent periods that were not foreseeab-

Basic Equipment

2 - 32

le at the date of approval of the financial statements and so were

Transport Equipment

2-8

In accordance with IAS 40 - Investment Property, an investment

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors

not considered in those estimates. Changes to estimates that oc-

Administrative Equipment

1 - 16

property should be recognised when it is probable that future

and authorised for issue on 13 April 2021.

cur after the date of the financial statements will be corrected

Other Tangible Fixed Assets

1 - 24

economic benefits associated with the investment property will

Years

Account

Useful Life

and demand, making land with agricultural aptitude available for

-

rent, sale or for other types of assignment, publishing them in a

50

public notice.

flow to the entity and the cost of the investment property can be

prospectively. For this reason and given the degree of uncertainty
Table 83: Tangible Fixed Assets

measured reliably.

associated, actual results of the transactions in question may differ from the corresponding estimates.

3. Main Accounting Policies

The item “Investment Properties” is presented in the Financial
EDIA performs impairment tests on its tangible fixed assets whe-

3.1.a. Tangible Fixed Assets

The main accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the
attached financial statements are as follows:

Tangible fixed assets are stated at acquisition cost, plus transport
and assembly costs necessary to put them into operation, less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

3.1. Measurement Bases Used in the Preparation of
the Financial Statements and Accounting Policies
The financial statements are expressed in euros, the Company’s
functional currency.

Income and expenses are recorded on an accrual basis, so that
they are recognised as and when generated or incurred, regardless of when they are received or paid.

Charges with Financing Obtained that are directly attributable to
the construction or production of an asset eligible for capitalisation are capitalised until such time as the assets are substantially
complete.

Position Statement, in Non-Current Assets.
never events or changes in circumstances are identified that indicate that the amount at which an asset is measured may not be
recoverable. Whenever the amount at which an asset is recognised is greater than its recoverable amount, an impairment loss
is recognised, recorded in the Comprehensive Income Statement

EDIA has chosen as accounting policy for measurement, after recognition, the cost model for all its investment properties, which
comprises their purchase price, transaction costs and other directly attributable expenses.

under the item “Impairment of Depreciable/Amortisable Investments (losses/reversals)”. The recoverable amount corresponds
to the higher of the net selling price (amount obtainable from
the sale of an asset in a transaction within the capability of the

Direct expenses related to the technical areas involved in building

parties involved, less the costs directly attributable to the sale)

the Company’s assets are capitalised under tangible fixed assets.

and the value in use (present value of estimated future cash flows

This capitalisation is made according to the internal resources

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset and from its

used and time spent, against the item “Own Work for the Entity”.

sale at the end of its useful life).

Under IFRIC12 - Service Concession Contracts, the assets relating

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is re-

to the “concession” are shown under “Intangible Assets”.

corded when the reasons for recording them cease to exist and

After initial recognition, as EDIA has opted for the cost model it
will measure its investment properties according to the requirements of IAS 16 – Tangible Fixed Assets for that model, i.e. an
asset should be carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Accordingly, the depreciation of an investment property will be made in accordance
with that prescribed for tangible fixed assets.

Income and expenses recognized in the Comprehensive Income
Statement that have not yet been invoiced or which acquisition
invoice has not yet been received are recorded against “Debtors

consequently the asset ceases to be impaired.
by Accrued Income” or “Creditors by Accrued Expenses” recorded under the items of the Financial Position Statement in “Other
Receivables” and “Other Payables”, respectively. Income received
and costs paid in advance are recorded under “Deferrals” under
Liabilities and Assets respectively.

No material errors relating to estimates made in preparing the
financial statements of previous years were recognised.

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets, that is, assets not assigned
to the concession, are calculated using the straight-line method

3.1.b. Investment Property

and on a monthly basis in accordance with the following periods

sents the public notices where the land properties are available
for sale, and there is a reference value for the bidding, the Company is analysing internally each of these “Investment Properties”, with the aim of measuring and recording at fair value in
the future.

of expected useful life of the assets, based on the maximum rates

The item “Investment Properties” records the carrying amount of

accepted for tax purposes.

investment properties held by EDIA, namely land, not for use in

3.1.c. Intangible Assets

production, supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes, but with the aim of capital appreciation and/or obtaining
rents.
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Financial costs related to Financing Obtained to finance invest-

In 2018, the Company decided to award to the National Labo-

sets are depreciated as from the month they are in condition to

With this new reality and bearing in mind that the volume of in-

ments in progress, are capitalised until such time as the infras-

ratory of Civil Engineering (LNEC), a credible entity with special

be used for the intended purposes.

vestment in these neighbouring areas will tend to grow, it is clear

tructure is substantially complete.

competences assigned by the Dam Safety Regulation, a study on

that the costs of the activities developed by some departments of

the “Valuation of the infrastructures of the primary network of

As EDIA is in a second phase of investment, the following have

the Company are subject to capitalisation, since they effectively

In 2010, EDIA adopted the interpretation IFRIC12 - “Service Con-

the Alqueva Project”, for the purpose of updating the initial es-

been capitalized:

and directly contribute to the construction of new EFMA infras-

cession Contracts”, applicable to the activities of energy pro-

timate of the provision for major repairs and replacements, with

duction and water distribution developed under the concession

a detailed plan of interventions in the various infrastructures,

contract concluded with the State. Thus, in 2010, the Company:

object of the concession contract, based on a set of assumptions

vestment that is still under construction/development,

The expense capitalisation policy remained identical to that

and estimates of a financial, operational and technical nature.

until such time as each infrastructure is substantially

adopted at 31 December 2019 and is based on the following as-

complete;

sumptions:

•

tructures.
•

Transferred all the investment associated with those
activities from the item “Tangible Fixed Assets” to “In-

By mid-2020, the results of the study and the forecast of rehabili-

tangible Assets”;

tation investment needs in EFMA infrastructures had already been

•

Adjusted the depreciation/amortisation policy of the-

adherence to the assets of the Alqueva Project and the appli-

se investments and the recognition of the respective

cability of this new model were verified, already reflected in the

subsidies as income, all of which are now amortised

accounts of the 1st half of 2020.

using the straight-line method over the concession
period, i.e:

◊

Personnel costs directly related to the planning and

•

construction activity; and

completed, and after in-depth and consolidated analysis, their
•

Financial costs directly related to the financing of in-

expenses are not capitalised relating to: a) the governing bodies and secretariat; b) the Administration and Finance Department, with the exception of

•

External supplies and services, which are, by their na-

the Departments of Planning and Investment Control

ture, recorded in cost centres directly related to in-

and Information Systems; c) the Assets Management

frastructure construction.

Department, with the exception of the Expropriations

The assumptions used for the calculation of these investment fo-

Department; d) the Water Economy and Irrigation Pro-

recasts, as well as the identification of the metrics used, inflation

3.1.e. Capitalisation Policy for Structure and Fi-

motion Department and e) the Development and Social

rates and discount rates are described in detail in Note 20.

nancial Charges

Responsibility Office.

November 2007) are amortised over the 75 years

EDIA has been performing impairment tests on its intangible as-

The Company’s structural costs, as well as the financial costs with

of the concession, that is, from November 2007 to

sets, whenever events or changes in circumstances are identified

loans directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of

that most contribute to its activities in this investment

October 2082; and

that indicate that the amount at which an asset is measured may

fixed assets, or associated to concessions, have been capitalised,

phase in the primary (RP) and secondary networks (RS)

not be recovered. Whenever the carrying amount of an asset ex-

consistently over time, while the infrastructure construction acti-

are capitalised, with the following allocation:

The infrastructures that were not yet available

ceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised

vities (or others that are necessary to prepare the infrastructure

for use on 1 November 2007 are amortised from

and recorded in the Comprehensive Income Statement under the

for its intended use) are in progress.

the date when each one of them became or will

item “Impairment of depreciable/amortisable investment (losses/

become available for use until the end of the

reversals)”. Since, under the concession contract, these are not

With the conclusion of the 1st phase of construction of the infras-

concession period (October 2082).

alienable assets, the recoverable amount corresponds to the res-

tructures, operation of the dams and Hydroelectric Power Plants

pective value in use (present value of estimated future cash flows

of Alqueva and also the entry into operation of the 22 irrigation

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset).

perimeters, the costs related to these infrastructures are now

The infrastructures already available for use at
the date of the beginning of the concession (1

◊

•

Set up and started to update annually a provision
to cover the estimated charges for the contractual

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is re-

throughout the concession period.

corded when the reasons for recording them cease to exist and
consequently the asset ceases to be impaired.

The provision to meet the obligation to maintain/preserve the

◊

Engineering, Environment and Planning Directorate - 50% Investment (25% RP + 25% RS) + 50%

nancial costs are no longer capitalised.

Operation

◊

Infrastructure and Energy Directorate - 50% Investment (25% RP + 25% RS) + 50% Operation

3.1.d. Investments in Progress

◊

Planning, Studies and Projects Department 100% Investment (50% RP + 50% RS)

In parallel and in order to maximise the natural evolution of
EFMA, to optimise the benefit of the competitive advantages

that are expected to be made during the concession period, thus

◊

Environmental and Property Impacts Department

provided by the Project and the full use of the available water

- 50% Investment (25% RP + 25% RS) + 50%

resources, EDIA is developing a strategy to promote and increa-

Operation

not including the current maintenance and conservation of these

“Investments in Progress” represent the tangible and intangible

se irrigation in Alqueva, developing studies, projects and works,

assets, which are recognised as expenses in the period in which

assets still under construction/development and are recorded at

having identified potential irrigation areas in areas contiguous to

they occur.

acquisition cost net of accumulated impairment losses. These as-

the Project of around 50,000 ha.
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◊

Irrigation Infrastructure Construction Department

3.1.g. Financial Holdings

- 100% SR Investment
Other Financial Holdings
◊

Expropriations - 100% Investment (50% RP +
50% RS)

◊

3.1.i. Financial Instruments - Financial Assets and

preciation of the tangible fixed asset relating to the right of use

Liabilities

of the leased asset, and by the implicit interest costs of the lease
over the term of the contract.

The shareholdings in the capital of entities that do not grant EDIA

asset in one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at the present value

Investment Planning and Control Department -

presenting less than 20% of the respective capital) are recorded

of the instalments payable over the contract, also including the

50% Investment (25% RP+ 25% RS) + 50% Ope-

at acquisition cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

initial costs of the contract. This present value is determined by

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Financial

discounting the instalments to present value using the interest

Position Statement when the Company becomes a party to the

As provided in IAS 32 - Financial Instruments - Presentation and

rate implicit in the lease, if this rate can be determined, or by a

corresponding contractual provisions.

Information Systems Departments - 50% Invest-

IAS 39 - Financial Instruments - Recognition, at the reporting

market interest rate, if there is no interest rate associated with

ment (25% RP + 25% RS) + 50% Operation

date, EDIA assesses the impairment of all financial assets that are

the lease.

not measured at fair value through profit or loss. If there is ob◊

◊

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial

a dominant or significant influence (as a rule, shareholdings re-

ration

◊

charges are now charged to profit or loss on the basis of the de-

jective evidence of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised

However, in accordance with IFRS 16, a lessee may choose not to

25% RS) + 50% Operation

in the Comprehensive Income Statement.

recognise in its Financial Position Statement the assets and lia-

3.1.h. Leases

Investment (25% PR + 25% SR) + 50% Operation

3.1.f. Own Work for the Entity

For financial assets with impairment indicators, the respective
recoverable value is determined, with impairment losses being

Legal Support Office - 50% Investment (25% RP +

Public Relations and Communication Office - 50%

in another entity.

charged against income.

bilities relating to short-term leases (lease period of 12 months

A financial asset is any asset that is either cash or a contractual

or less), or to leases which underlying assets are of low value.

right to receive cash.

Therefore, it is possible for the lessee to decide, opting for the
IFRS 16 - Leases, entered into force in the European Union on 1

exemption of the recognition, i.e., that the payments relating to

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation

January 2019, so for entities that report under IFRS, it is already

these leases are recognised as expenses in the year in which they

to deliver cash.

the second year of application of the standard. One of the most

are incurred, on a linear basis over the contract.

This item records revenue corresponding to the cost of resources

relevant aspects of IFRS 16 was the introduction of a single model

directly attributable to tangible and intangible fixed assets du-

for accounting for leases by lessees, eliminating the distinction

EDIA has decided to apply the exemptions provided for in the

ring their development and construction phase, when it is conclu-

between financial and operational leases, leading to the recogni-

standard to lease contracts which lease period ends within the

ded that they will be recovered through the realization of those

tion, at the beginning of a lease contract, in the Financial Position

next 12 months from the date of initial application and for which

Financial liabilities are mainly the “Financing Obtained”, “Su-

assets.

Statement under Assets, of a right of use and the corresponding

the underlying asset has little value.

ppliers” and “Others Payable”.

In the Comprehensive Income Statement, instead of the previous

Due to the reduced expression (immateriality) of the lease con-

Customers and Other Receivables

operating expense, recognised under the previous IAS 17 - Leases

tracts in force and because it is considered that it does not pro-

for operating leases, the depreciation of the right of use (on a li-

vide relevant additional information for the knowledge of the

The debts shown under “Customers” and “Other Receivables” are

near basis) and implicit interest under the Lease Liabilities (which

financial position, financial performance of the Company and for

recorded at their nominal value, less any impairment losses. Im-

will decrease over the lease term) are now recorded.

the decision-making of the various users of information, EDIA

pairment losses correspond to the difference between the amount

maintained the procedure for accounting lease costs, currently

initially recorded and its recoverable value, this being the present

The non-current Asset related to the right of use of the leased

in force, as expenses on a linear basis over the contract period

value of the expected “cash-flows” (discounted at the effective

item is initially measured at the present value of the lease pay-

(previously provided for operating leases). However, the assess-

rate whenever the effect of the time value of money is signifi-

ments, discounted at the implicit interest in the lease (Liabilities),

ment as to the materiality of lease contracts will be carried out

cant), which are recognised in the Comprehensive Income State-

plus the initial direct costs related to the lease and subsequently

regularly, and the procedure for the recognition of leases in the

ment for the period in which they are estimated.

is subject to depreciation based on the estimated useful life, in

financial statements may be changed when the situations that, to

accordance with IAS 16 - Tangible Fixed Assets. Thus, the lease

date, provide an exception cease to exist.

The Company’s financial assets are mainly “Customers”, “Other
Receivable” and “Cash and Cash Equivalents”.

Lease Liability, for the obligation to pay charges to the lessor.
They are measured at cost, recognised without any margin, based
on specially prepared internal information (internal costs) or on
acquisition costs.

Construction works, carried out by the Company itself, as well
as equipment repairs that include expenses on materials, direct
labour and general expenses, are associated with EFMA’s ongoing
works.

The Company capitalises the structural costs, against the “Own
work for the entity” account, since they reflect the cost of personnel and work performed by third parties under the direct administration of the Company

Regarding “Customers”, the debts result from the services rendered by the Company in the normal course of its activity, carried
out in accordance with the normal conditions of short-term cre-

.
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cash flows receivable, less impairment losses, and it is expected

at the undiscounted value of cash flows receivable (there are no

Financial charges, related to Financing Obtained to finance the

the tax execution process, so it is necessary to present a bank

that they will be collected within one year or less, and so, they

impairment losses in this case, because only those subsidies that

investment in progress, are capitalised until such time as the in-

guarantee, bond or insurance-guarantee to suspend this process

are recorded under “Current Assets”.

meet the recognition criteria established in IAS 20 - Accounting

frastructure is substantially complete.

and avoid seizures.

Accounts Payable

However, for processes which amounts are materially relevant,

for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
The criterion for measuring amortised cost is not applied to “Cus-

are recognised as receivables, i.e. when there is assurance that

tomers” balances, as the deadlines for receipt defined are mostly

EDIA will comply with the conditions attached to them and that

met and no significant delays or deferrals in receipt are expec-

the subsidies will be received).

ted at the time of their initial recognition. Thus, the application

the Company estimates the date of occurrence of the associated
The balances of “Suppliers - current accounts payable”, “Investment Providers” and “Other Creditors” (not including, therefore,

of amortised cost in the measurement of the financial assets in

In view of the above, EDIA considers that the impact that the

the Financing Obtained, which have an autonomous section) re-

question would not be appropriate.

amortised cost criterion would have on its accounts would be nil.

late to most purchases of goods and services contracted by the

In 2020, EDIA recognised impairment losses in this type of finan-

cash flows and consequent application of amortised cost.

Cash and Bank deposits / Cash and cash equivalents

cial assets.

33.1.k. Inventories

Company, in the normal course of its business and in accordance

The value of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of

with normal market conditions, which correspond to a short-term

conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to

credit.

their present location and condition and are stated at acquisition

In the Financial Position Statement, the amounts included under

cost.

“Other Receivables” are recorded at their nominal value, less any

the caption “Cash and Bank Deposits” correspond to amounts held

Accounts payable are recorded at their nominal value, less any

impairment losses, because EDIA considers that the impact that

in cash and demand or term deposits. In the Cash Flow State-

interest calculated and recognised in accordance with the effec-

Following Decree Law no. 335/2001 of 24 December, which (with

the criterion of amortised cost would have on its accounts would

ment, the item “Cash and Cash Equivalents” includes cash and

tive interest rate method.

the exception of Infrastructure 12, which has an exceptional

be nil.

demand deposits, as well as highly liquid short-term financial

concession regime) provided for the transfer to the State of the

investments (including term deposits) that are readily convertible

It should also be noted that normal market conditions correspond

infrastructures forming part of the secondary network allocated

Impairment losses correspond to the difference between the

to known amounts and which are subject to an insignificant risk

to a short-term credit (Average Payment Time: 104 days), so EDIA

to EFMA, EDIA, up to 31 December 2012 (inclusive) showed the

amount initially recorded and its recoverable value, this being

of changes in value.

considers that the impact that the amortised cost criterion would

construction cost of the secondary network under the item “In-

have on its accounts would be nil.

ventories”.

the present value of the expected “cash-flows” (discounted at the
effective rate whenever the effect of the time value of money is

For purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, “Cash and Cash Equi-

significant), which are recognised in the Comprehensive Income

valents” is reduced by bank overdrafts, which in the Financial

If payment is due within one year or less, they are classified as

Under the Delivery Contract and respective “Concession Contract

Statement for the period in which they are estimated.

Position Statement are included in the item “Financing Obtained”,

“Current Liabilities”, otherwise they are classified as “Non-Current

for the Management, Operation, Maintenance and Conservation

as they are repayable on demand and form part of the Company’s

Liabilities”.

of the EFMA Secondary Network Infrastructure”, signed on 8 April

For the purpose of determining impairment losses, doubtful debts

3.1.j. Captive Deposits

are those where the risk of uncollectibility is duly justified, which
is verified in cases where the debts are more than twelve months

2013, by EDIA and the State, represented by DGADR, EDIA delivered

cash management.

Financing Obtained

to the State, the infrastructure relating to the secondary network,
already completed. Thus the investment made in these infrastruc-

OThe period for resolution of the processes to which the captive

tures of the secondary network that were already substantially

Financing Obtained are recorded under Liabilities at amortised

deposits are allocated, within the scope of a tax inspection, in

complete, previously shown under the sub-account “Finished and

cost, with the corresponding financial costs calculated according

terms of corporate income tax, for the years 2009 and 2010, by

Intermediate Products”, less the respective investment subsidies,

The balance of the item “Other Receivables” essentially reflects:

to the effective interest rate and recognised in the income state-

the Tax Authorities, relating to depreciation made by EDIA of sub-

were transferred to the DGADR account under “Other Receivables”.

(i) debt from DGADR; (ii) revenue from the Concession Contract

ment on an accruals basis.

merged land, may cover several years.

overdue from the respective due date and there is objective evidence that diligent steps have been taken to receive them.

In November 2013, through a new Delivery Contract between EDIA

with EDP; and (iii) debtors for accrued income (see Note 16).
They are expressed in Current or Non-Current Liabilities, depen-

When the process of tax execution was initiated, EDIA was notified

and DGADR, as with other secondary network infrastructures, EDIA

The “Debtors by Accrued Income” are settled in the short term,

ding on whether they mature in less or more than a year, res-

by the Tax Office and had a period of 30 days from that date to

carried out, on behalf of the State, the design, implementation

being recognised at the undiscounted value of the income recog-

pectively. Their derecognition only occurs when the obligations

lodge an opposition to the execution.

and construction of the infrastructures comprising the irrigation

nised during the year.

arising from the contracts cease, namely when there has been
settlement, cancellation or expiry.

and drainage network, as well as all goods and equipment alloThe judicial claim, by itself, did not suspend the beginning of

cated to it, of the Aljustrel hydro-agricultural operation, which

As for EU funds, they are received in the short term after the date
of the Financial Position Statement and are therefore measured
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investment was recorded under “Products and Works in Progress”

3.1.l. Income and Expense Recognition

and was transferred to the DGADR account, under the item “Other
Receivables” (see Note 16).

Costs and income are recorded in the period to which they refer

is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle

Network Infrastructure of the Alqueva Project”, to LNEC, with a

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount

detailed plan of interventions in the various infrastructures, ob-

of the obligation.

ject of the concession contract, based on a new set of assumptions and estimates of financial, operational and technical nature.

regardless of when paid or received, in accordance with the acThus, the balance under the item “Inventories” essentially reflects

crual basis of accounting. The differences between the amounts

The amount recognised for provisions consists of the present

the value of the sub-account “Products and Works in Progress”,

paid and received and the respective expenses and income are

value of the best estimate (at the reporting date) of the resour-

At the date of this report, the results of the study, forecast of

relating to the investments allocated to the blocks under cons-

recorded under Liabilities and Assets, respectively.

ces required to settle the obligation. This estimate is determined

investment needs in rehabilitation in EFMA infrastructures, have

considering the risks and uncertainties associated with the obli-

already been completed and reflected in the accounts.

truction of the 2nd phase of the EFMA investment.
•

Revenue (more detailed description in Note 3.1.o)

gation.

This Concession Contract was due to expire at the end of 2020.

The assumptions used for the calculation of these investment foRevenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits during the pe-

Provisions are reviewed on the reporting date by the Company’s

recasts, as well as the identification of the metrics used, inflation

However, at the date of this report, EDIA is already aware, through

riod arising in the course of EDIA’s ordinary activities when those

Legal Department and approved by the Board of Directors, and

rates and discount rates are identified in detail in Note 20.

the Order of the Minister of Agriculture, information no. 12538

inflows result in increases in equity, other than increases relating

are adjusted to reflect the best estimate of the respective future

of 24 September 2020, that the term of the concession relating

to contributions from equity participants.

liabilities, at that date, taking into account the risks and uncer-

In this sense, provisions are made for expenses on maintenance

tainties inherent in such estimates.

and conservation of assets, responsibility of EDIA relating to the

to the management, operation, maintenance and conservation
of the infrastructures of the EFMA secondary network has been

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration recei-

extended for a further 10 years and with the maximum limit of

ved or receivable.

the term of the concession for the private use of water resources

contractual obligation to maintain and conserve the infrastrucProvisions are made for legal proceedings underway and for disputed expropriations, as well as all the estimated costs, for which

in the public domain, obtained under the provisions of the Water

Revenue may arise from sales of goods, provision of services and

the Company is responsible, when there is a reliable estimate of

Law.

the use of assets producing interest, royalties and dividends.

the costs to be incurred as a result of lawsuits filed by third par-

The government decision on the Management of the Alqueva

ture of the primary network throughout the concession period.

•

Charges with Financing Obtained

Hydroagricultural Development aims to produce a lasting deci-

3.1.n. Subsidies

ties, based on the assessment of the likelihood of payment, based

With the exception of subsidies relating to secondary network in-

on the opinion of external lawyers and experts from Arbitration

frastructures (already transferred or to be transferred to DGADR)

Courts.

and those associated with the water distribution activity (whi-

sion that provides stability to the various stakeholders involved.

In accordance with IAS 23 - Charges with Financing Obtained,

A decision that, for this very reason, must also take into account

Charges with Financing Obtained are recognised as an expense

Following the concession contract signed with the State in Octo-

granted by the Portuguese State and the European Union (EU) to

the unique characteristics of EFMA. The complexities of hydraulic

in the period in which they are incurred on an accrual basis in

ber 2007 and following the entry into force of IFRIC12 - Service

finance investments in fixed assets are recognised under “Defer-

management, equity of access to water in the different areas of

accordance with the effective interest rate method.

Concession Contracts, EDIA increases or reverses, in each year, the

rals” and subsequently recognised as “Other Income and Gains” in

provision to cover the estimated charges for the contractual obli-

the same proportion of costs with the depreciation of subsidised
assets and respective percentage of contribution.

the Project, energy optimisation, the performance of the Company

ch assets have been concluded to be fully impaired), subsidies

and also the interests of the irrigators, are all factors that cer-

Charges with Financing Obtained directly related to the construc-

gation to maintain/preserve, throughout the concession period,

tainly require a well-structured consideration.

tion of fixed assets or associated with concessions are capitalised

the infrastructure related to the activities of generating ener-

as part of the cost of the asset. The capitalisation of these char-

gy and distributing water, which revert to the State at the end

The subsidies for the construction of the secondary network are

The identification of some limitations of the classic management

ges begins after the start of the preparation of construction ac-

of the concession period. This provision covers only those major

reflected under liabilities until the moment when the corres-

model, in which the entity that manages the primary system is

tivities or development of the asset and ends when construction

repairs and replacements that are expected to be made during

ponding infrastructures are transferred to the DGADR or another

distinct from those that manage the secondary systems, as well

is substantially completed, and is also interrupted whenever the

the concession period, not including the current maintenance and

entity indicated by the MAFDR, since at that time the respecti-

as EDIA’s experience in the tasks of simultaneous management

project in question is suspended.

conservation of these assets, which are recognized as expenses in

ve investments are transferred from “Inventories” to the DGADR

the period in which they occur.

account under “Other Receivables” and the subsidies associated

and maintenance of the irrigation systems (both primary and secondary), allowed for the immediate reinforcement of the option

3.1.m. Provisions
For the purpose of updating the initial estimate of the provision

thus reflects the investment in the secondary network infrastruc-

Provisions are recognised only when the Company has a present

for major repairs and replacements, in 2018, it was the Company’s

tures, after deducting the State or EU subsidies.

obligation (legal or constructive) resulting from a past event, it

decision to contract a study on the “Valorisation of the Primary

taken by the Ministry.
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An initial amount of EUR 195,000,000, plus VAT at the

A set of rules was established aimed at ensuring the sustainable

assets have been concluded to be totally impaired, have been

legal rate and paid on the date of entry into force of

management of water resources through the internalisation of

derecognised when recording impairment losses of the respecti-

this contract; and

the costs and benefits associated with water use, having esta-

The subsidies associated to the water distribution activity, which

•

3.1.p. Income Tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

blished, as key instruments for this purpose, the water resources

ve assets, i.e., these losses are recognised in the Comprehensive
•

Income Statement by the net value of the respective subsidies.

Throughout the life of the contract, a periodic annual

charge and the public water service tariff.

amount of

Current tax corresponds to the expected amount of income tax
payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for

It is important to take into consideration the need to find a ba-

a period, using the tax rate in force, adjusted in accordance with

EUR 12,380,000 (value updated in 2011) plus VAT at

lance between the costs associated with the operation and con-

the tax rules.

tourism, environment and also for the valorisation and training

the legal rate and paid annually on the same day and

servation of the Project, including the primary system, as well as

of employees, are recognised as income in the Comprehensive

month of the entry into force of the contract, the first

the payment capacity of the beneficiary users, in light of the eco-

Deferred taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax

Income Statement in the same period as the expenses they are

instalment being due in 2008.

nomics of the crops installed. Indeed, the tariff structure is based

basis of assets and liabilities and their values in the financial

on an equation of sensitive balance, which must simultaneously

statements, using tax rates enacted at the Financial Position Sta-

internalise all costs to meet the sustainability requirements of

tement date and that are expected to apply when the temporary

national and EU legislation, constitute a factor of competitive-

differences reverse.

Operating subsidies, for the conservation of nature and biodiver•

sity, namely support to projects within the scope of agriculture,

intended to compensate.

Subsidies are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be effectively received and that the Company will comply

By choice, with the early adoption still in 2017, of IFRS 15, EDIA

ness and attractiveness of the region and also correspond to the

with the obligations and conditions inherent to their attribution.

adjusted the value of the consideration, since the contract con-

payment capacity of users, and should therefore include a soli-

In the financial reporting under IAS/IFRS, the Company has not

tains a financing component. The intended objective is to recog-

darity factor.

recognised, in 2020 or in previous years, any deferred tax as-

3.1.o. Revenue

Sales and Services Rendered

The recognition of revenue relating to sales and services rendered

nise the revenue at the value that reflects what the price of the

sets related to deductible temporary differences (namely those

agreed service provision would have been, if the customer had

This Order also sets the tariffs applicable to the public water ser-

generated by the impairment losses of the “water” segment) or

paid when obtaining control of that service. The fixed discou-

vice for public supply and industrial use, taking into considera-

to tax loss carryforwards, as there is no reasonable assurance as

nt rate used was 3.5% and the annual periodic amount is EUR

tion the specificities of these other uses, such as the high levels

to the existence of future taxable profits that would allow these

12,645,948.

of supply guarantee.

deductible temporary differences and the tax loss carryforwards

requires that: (i) the amount can be reliably measured, and (ii)

to be used before they are extinguished.

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the

In the water distribution activity, the Company only recognises

The average annual variation rate of the IPC except for housing

transaction will flow to the Company.

revenue resulting from the application of tariffs approved by the

for the mainland, since the approval of the tariff in force, in April

The Company is based in Portugal and is subject to Corporate In-

State.

2017, has been residual, leading EDIA to maintain, in the years

come Tax (IRC) at the standard rate of 21%, the municipal sur-

2018 and 2019, the values of 2017. For 2020, given that according

charge being calculated at a maximum rate of 1.5% of taxable
profit.

Revenue arising from the Company’s ordinary activity is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,

On 26 May 2010, Order no. 9000/2010 was published, effective

to the values of the variation of the index published by INE, in

understood as that which is freely established between the con-

from 1 June, which approved the tariff that sets the price of water

2019, for the period in question, it was 0.4%, already with some

tracting parties on an arm’s length basis, where, with regard to

for irrigation for agricultural use supplied by EDIA under the pu-

impact, the respective tariff was updated.

the sale of goods and provision of services, the fair value reflects

blic water service of EFMA. This Order was revoked in April 2017,

any discounts granted and does not include VAT.

with the approval of Order no. 3025/2017 of 11 April 2017, which

ditional autonomous taxation on a set of charges, at the rates
Interest

sets the tariff after that date applicable to the public water serviIn energy generation activity, the Company recognises the reve-

ce associated to irrigation for agricultural use, under EFMA.

nue arising from the “Concession Contract for the Operation of

Under Article 88 of the IRC Code, the Company is subject to ad-

provided for in that article. However, autonomous taxation rates
are increased by 10%, since EDIA presented tax losses in the pre-

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest me-

vious tax period.

thod, provided it is probable that economic benefits flow to the

the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plants”, signed

The legislator sought to create conditions so that the price of

between EDIA and EDP for a period of 35 years, under which EDP

the service remains competitive, considering that the conditions

undertook to pay EDIA financial compensation on the following

to increase the competitiveness and attractiveness of the Project

These interests are registered in the period to which they respect,

tration for a period of four years. However, this period may be

terms:

through the revision of the tariff in force are currently met.

according to the accrual basis.

extended or suspended if inspections, complaints or challenges

Company and their amount can be reliably measured.

According to current legislation, income statements for tax purposes are subject to review and correction by the Tax Adminis-

are underway, or if there have been tax losses reported, situations in which EDIA falls.
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3.1.q. Subsequent Events

In the financial statements as at 31 December 2020, the most sig-

3.2 Financial Risk Management Policies

However, at the end of 2014, following the entry of EDIA into
the consolidation perimeter of public accounts, the State (DGTF)

nificant estimates reflected include the impairment studies perEvents that occur after the date of the Financial Position State-

formed on intangible assets and investments in progress and the

The Board of Directors provides the general principles for risk

granted EDIA a medium and long-term loan, to settle the shor-

ment but before the date of approval of the financial statements

recording of accrued amounts.

management as well as the limits of exposure to it.

t-term loans in the various banks, which were intended to meet
the financing needs, relating to the servicing of the Company’s

by the Company’s management body, and provided that they provide additional information on conditions that existed at the date

In simple terms, impairment is an estimate of the reduction in

The Company’s activities entail exposure to financial risks, na-

of the Financial Position Statement, give rise to adjustments and

the book value of assets. In this sense, it serves as an instrument

mely:

are reflected in the financial statements for the period.

that provides the Company with one more possibility to ensure
that its accounting information represents, at each moment, in

debt.

According to the guidelines reflected in the State Budget, the co•

Market Risk - mainly interest rate risk and exchange

verage of part of EDIA’s financing needs, as a Reclassified Public

Events occurring after the date of the Financial Position State-

the best way, the economic reality of the developed activities and

rate risk, which are associated, respectively, with the

Company, was ensured and achieved, in 2020, through capital al-

ment that are indicative of conditions that arose after the date

the value of its assets. The usefulness of the financial statements

risk of the impact of changes in market interest rates

location.

of the Financial Position Statement (non-adjusting events), are

for all stakeholders, who seek the best arguments for their deci-

on financial assets and liabilities and on results, and

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, if considered

sion-making, depends on this.

the risk of fluctuation in the fair value of financial as-

In Note 21 - Financing Obtained, we present the details of the

sets and liabilities as a result of changes in exchange

remunerated bank debt with the indication of the financing entity

rates;

and respective indexing factor.

Credit Risk - risk that its debtors will not meet their

It is considered that, since there are no financial instruments in

financial obligations; and

foreign currency and the debts of customers are reduced and

materially relevant.
The Company, based on the impairment tests, verifies if the assets

3.1.r. Estimates and Judgements

are impaired, in accordance with the referred policy. Calculating
the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units involves

In the preparation of the financial statements, judgements and

judgement and the assessment underlying the calculations made

estimates were used, which affect the reported amounts of assets

uses assumptions based on available information about the bu-

and liabilities, as well as the reported amounts of income and

siness and the macroeconomic environment at any given time.

expenses during the reporting period.

•

recent, there are, to date, no risks of other nature considered
•

Liquidity Risk - risk of encountering difficulties to

relevant that merit a more detailed disclosure to improve the in-

meet obligations associated with financial liabilities.

formation and respective understanding of users about the risks
to which the Company is exposed.

The Company exercises considerable judgement in the measuEstimates and assumptions are determined based on the best

rement and recognition of provisions. Judgement is required in

EDIA’s activities are fundamentally exposed to interest rate risk,

knowledge existing at the date of preparation of the financial

order to assess the probability that litigation will be successful.

which arises essentially from contracting long-term loans with

statements and the experience of past and/or current events con-

Provisions are made when the Company expects that proceedings

variable interest rates (the most commonly used indexes being

sidering certain assumptions as to future events. However, events

under way will result in cash outflows, the loss is probable and

the 3 and 6 month Euribor), and no derivative financial instru-

may occur in subsequent periods that were not foreseeable at

can be reasonably estimated. Due to the uncertainties inherent to

ments are used to manage these risks.

the date of approval of the financial statements and so were not

the evaluation process, actual losses may be different from those

considered in those estimates.

originally estimated in the provision.

This situation relates to the need for the Company to have finan-

short-term, highly liquid financial investments with insignificant

ced EFMA’s investment activities with recourse to borrowed ca-

risk of change in value and readily convertible to cash.

These estimates are subject to changes whenever new informa-

pital, through the contracting of bank loans. Obtaining financial

cial statements will be corrected prospectively. For this reason

tion becomes available. Revisions to the estimates of these losses

resources in this way (bond loans and EIB loan) results from a

and given the degree of uncertainty associated, the actual results

may eventually affect future results.

financial policy defined by the sole Shareholder, based on con-

estimates.

tracting loans with State guarantees, and the non-availability of

3.1.s. Contingent Assets and Liabilities

through which cash receipts and cash payments in operating, investing and financing activities are disclosed.

All significant balances of cash and cash equivalents are available for use without any restriction at the date of the Financial

Estimates and judgments that have an impact on the financial

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial state-

statements are continuously evaluated, representing at each re-

ments, being disclosed whenever the possibility of an outflow of

On the other hand, the Company has not generated the necessary

porting date the Management’s best estimate, taking into account

resources encompassing economic benefits is not remote. Contin-

means, not only to cope with the volume of investments it has

the historical performance, accumulated experience and expecta-

gent assets are not recognised in the financial statements, but are

been making, but also has insufficient liquidity to meet the finan-

tions about future events.

disclosed when it is probable that there will be a future economic

cial charges arising from the financing policy adopted.
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The Cash Flow Statement is prepared under the direct method,

sufficient capital appropriations to accompany the pace of EFMA’s
investments.

inflow of resources.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, “Cash and Cash
Equivalents” comprises cash on hand and in banks, as well as

Changes to the estimates that occur after the date of the finan-

of the situations in question may differ from the corresponding

4. Cash Flows

Position Statement.

Operating activities include collections from customers, payments
to suppliers, payments to personnel and other operating activities.
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Investing activities include, namely, payments and receipts resul-

The balance of the “Temporary Cash” account reflects the amounts

ting from the purchase and sale of assets and receipts of interest.

still to be deposited.

Financing activities include payments and receipts relating to Fi-

All bank deposit accounts have been reconciled, with reference to

nancing Obtained, finance lease contracts and interest paid.

31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, with “Demand Deposits”
having the following composition:

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the items “Cash

EUR

and Bank Deposits” in the Financial Position Statement and “Cash

Bank Deposits

and Cash Equivalents” in the Cash Flow Statement have the fol-

IGCP - Instituto de Gestão de Tesouraria e do
Crédito Público

lowing breakdown:
EUR

Cash and Bank Deposits

6 773 665

12 707 175

CCAM - Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola
Mútuo

805 623

CGD - Caixa Geral de Depósitos

The estimates and underlying assumptions were determined ba-

Changes to the estimates that occur after the date of the financial

177 723

sed on the best knowledge existing at the date of approval of the

statements will be corrected prospectively.

670 283

54 091

financial statements of the events and transactions in progress,

Novo Banco

79 248

79 514

Banco Santander Totta

29 363

1 140

Millennium BCP

8 759

800

BPI - Banco Português de Investimento

5 373

4 163

2 074

2 074

8 374 387

13 026 679

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

Demand Deposits

8 374 387

13 026 679

Temporary Cash *

50 113

136 082

In Cash

5 746

5 746

Cash and Bank Deposits (DPF)

8 430 247

13 168 507

Caixa Banco de Investimento

Cash and Cash Equivalents (DFC)

8 430 247

13 168 507

Total

Table 84: Cash Flows-CGD

31/dez/20 31/dez/19

5. Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors

as well as on the experience of past and/or current events.

For this reason and given the degree of uncertainty associated,
the actual results of the transactions in question may differ from

However, events may occur in subsequent periods that, not being

the corresponding estimates.

foreseeable at the date of approval of the financial statements,
were not considered in these estimates.

Table 85: Cash flows - bank deposits

Photo: Álamos Pumping Station
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6. Tangible Fixed Assets
In the years 2020 and 2019, the movements occurred in the item
“Tangible Fixed Assets”, as well as in the respective accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses were as follows:

EUR

31/dez/20
Land and Natural
Resources

Buildings and Other
Constructions

Basic Equipment

Transport Equipment

Administrative
Equipment

Other Tangible Fixed
Assets

Tangible Fixed Assets In
Process

Advances on
Investments Account

Total

Opening Balance

2 927 431

12 174 637

1 504 346

870 238

2 261 196

966 050

307 967

2 326

21 014 191

Additions

342 783

455 082

183 719

11 462

134 667

139 484

17 110 901

216 033

18 251 348

Disposals/Write-offs

(27 174)

Tangible Fixed Assets
Gross Assets

(35 121)

(62 295)

(153 390)

Other Transfers

3 089 650

(16 931 707)

(213 092)

(17 298 189)

487 161

5 267

22 247 837

12 629 719

1 688 065

846 579

2 395 863

1 105 534

Opening Balance

4 055 676

1 182 621

574 979

2 152 299

546 618

8 512 193

Additions

253 678

32 428

41 461

70 201

65 839

463 607

Closing Balance
Accumulated Depreciations

(35 121)

Other Accumulated Depreciation
Closing balance

Net value

(35 121)

-

4 309 354

1 215 049

581 319

2 222 500

612 457

-

-

8 940 679

3 089 650

8 320 365

473 015

265 260

173 363

493 077

487 161

5 267

13 307 158

Table 86: Tangible Fixed Assets -2020

EUR

31/dez/19
Tangible Fixed Assets

Land and Natural
Resources

Buildings and Other
Constructions

Basic Equipment

Transport Equipment

Administrative
Equipment

Other Tangible Fixed
Assets

Tangible Fixed Assets In
Process

Advances on
Investments Account

Total

2 959 531

12 071 701

1 502 720

660 738

2 194 321

850 507

164 619

-

20 404 137

102 936

1 626

209 500

66 875

115 543

3 524 539

2 326

4 023 344

Gross Assets
Opening Balance
Additions
Disposals/Write-offs

(32 100)

(32 100)
(3 381 190)

Other Transfers

12 174 637

1 504 346

870 238

2 261 196

966 050

Opening Balance

3 800 168

1 128 602

530 606

2 102 751

493 672

8 055 798

Additions

255 508

54 019

44 373

49 548

52 946

456 394

Closing Balance

2 927 431

307 967

(3 381 190)
2 326

21 014 191

Accumulated Depreciations

-

Other Accumulated Depreciation
Closing balance

Net value

-

4 055 676

1 182 621

574 979

2 152 299

546 618

-

-

8 512 193

2 927 431

8 118 960

321 725

295 259

108 897

419 432

307 967

2 326

12 501 998

Table 87: Tangible Fixed Assets -2019
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6.1. Land and Natural Resources, Buildings and

In “Other Tangible Fixed Assets”, the additions essentially reflect

EDIA has chosen as accounting policy for measurement, after re-

ciation of an investment property will be made in accordance

Other Constructions and Basic Equipment

the acquisition of signalling and safety systems, necessary for

cognition, the cost model for all its investment properties.

with that prescribed for tangible fixed assets.

After initial recognition, EDIA as opted for the cost model will

EDIA’s objective is to facilitate the meeting between land supply

the EFMA water quality surveillance and monitoring activities.
The “Tangible Fixed Assets” include the investments not allocated
to the concession, that is, the assets that will not revert to the

The variation in the item “Administrative equipment” mainly re-

measure its investment properties according to the requirements

and demand, making land with agricultural aptitude available

State at the end of the concession period, namely the Luz Mu-

flects the acquisition and supply of IT equipment, such as vir-

of IAS 16 - Tangible Fixed Assets for that model, i.e. an asset

for rent, sale or for other types of cession, publishing them in a

seum, the Noudar Nature Park, the Company’s registered office,

tualisation systems and backups for the EFMA irrigation network,

should be carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation

public notice.

the Casa do Grande Lago, the Cartography Centre and the Alqueva

with the purpose of having a greater and better performance and

and any accumulated impairment losses. Accordingly, the depre-

Marina.

monitoring, in the field, of the infrastructures in operation.

Over the years, these investments have been transferred from

The variation in the “Transport Equipment” account results essen-

being in progress to the respective item of “Tangible Fixed As-

tially from the acquisition of a trailer for an amphibious vessel,

sets” and the depreciation process has been started, as well as

necessary for better control and elimination of invasive aquatic

the recognition as income (in the same proportion in which they

plant species in EFMA reservoirs.

Photo: Irrigation nozzle

are depreciated) of the subsidies associated to them.

In the item “Ongoing Tangible Fixed Assets”, the additions re-

7. Investment Property

flect the investment made, not yet concluded, in projects for the
implementation of the Alqueva Left Bank surroundings and also

The item “Investment Properties” in the amount of EUR 1,921,262

in the installation systems of self-consumption production units,

records the carrying amount of investment properties held by

which aim to produce electricity through photovoltaic solar con-

EDIA, namely, surplus land from expropriations (initially recorded

version.

under the item “Tangible Fixed Assets”, a policy that has been followed by EDIA), with rental potential, i.e., not for use in produc-

In “Buildings and Other Constructions”, the additions reflect the

tion, supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes,

investment made in the contract works to enlarge the Company’s

but to lease and/or for capital appreciation.

registered office, as well as in the acquisition of equipment to be
used in the new infrastructure.

In accordance with IAS 40 - Investment Property, an investment
property should be recognised when it is probable that future

The variation in the item “Land and Natural Resources” is influen-

economic benefits associated with the investment property will

ced by the transfer of assets owned by EDIA from the item “In-

flow to the entity and the cost of the investment property can be

vestment Properties”, namely land. Since what determines their

measured reliably.

classification is the form of use and there is a change in the purpose of use of these assets, from rental to operational activities

The item “Investment Properties” is presented in the Financial

of the Company, the respective change in classification was made.

Position Statement, in Non-Current Assets.

In “Basic Equipment”, the variation reflects the overall value of

Investment properties were initially measured at cost, which

the supply and assembly of a machine, essential for the Com-

comprises their purchase price, transaction costs and other di-

pany’s normal activity, in a water inlet of a reservoir.

rectly attributable expenses.
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8. Intangible Assets
The movements occurring in the main classes of “Intangible As-

ted amortisation and impairment losses, had the following evo-

sets”, recorded at acquisition cost less the respective accumula-

lution in the years 2020 and 2019:
EUR

31/dez/20
Intangible Assets

Land and Natural
Resources

Buildings and Other
Constructions

Basic Equipment

Development Projects

Computer Programmes

Other Rights

Intangible Assets in
Process

Advances on
Investments Account

Total

240 315 907

1 347 407 068

136 989 107

116 949

2 811 267

195 000 100

12 060 937

348 805

1 935 050 140

20 683 971

547 476

21 231 448

(1 666 762)

(571 022)

-

31 078 147

325 260

1 956 281 588

Gross Assets
Opening Balance
Additions

96 576

2 141 208

240 412 483

1 349 548 276

136 989 107

116 949

2 811 267

195 000 100

Opening Balance

11 851 916

41 982 557

18 624 843

116 949

2 782 919

100

Additions

859 776

3 117 926

1 281 430

Other Transfers and Write-Offs
Closing Balance
Accumulated depreciation

Other Transfers and Write-Offs

75 359 286

12 521

5 271 654

(983)

(983)

12 710 710

45 100 483

19 906 273

174 528 106

1 109 633 215

37 951 865

86 296

2 140 859

(123 259)

(123 902)

Closing Balance

174 614 402

1 111 774 074

37 951 222

-

-

195 000 000

30 417 503

225 546

1 549 982 749

Closing Balance

53 087 371

192 673 718

79 131 611

0

15 827

0

660 644

99 714

325 668 881

Closing Balance

116 949

2 795 440

100

-

-

80 629 957

195 000 000

12 060 937

348 805

1 529 522 930

Accumulated impairment losses
Opening Balance
Recognized Imparment Losses

18 356 566
(643)

Imparment Losses Reversed

20 583 721

Table 88: Intangible Assets -2020

EUR

31/dez/20
Intangible Assets

Land and Natural
Resources

Buildings and Other
Constructions

Basic Equipment

Development Projects

Computer Programmes

Other Rights

Intangible Assets in
Process

Advances on
Investments Account

Total

240 359 039

1 347 403 394

136 985 285

116 949

2 781 303

195 000 100

6 142 131

364 334

1 929 152 536

5 572 947

290 872

5 897 605

345 858

(306 400)

-

12 060 937

348 805

1 935 050 140

Gross Assets
Opening Balance

3 822

Additions

29 964

(43 132)

3 674

240 315 907

1 347 407 068

136 989 107

116 949

2 811 267

195 000 100

Opening Balance

10 933 305

38 864 631

17 343 413

116 949

2 775 392

100

Additions

924 371

3 117 926

1 281 430

Other Transfers and Write-Offs

(5 760)

Other Transfers and Write-Offs
Closing Balance
Accumulated depreciation

Closing Balance

70 033 791

7 527

5 331 255
(5 760)

11 851 916

41 982 557

18 624 843

174 578 429

1 109 630 938

37 948 043

2 277

3 822

116 949

2 782 919

100

-

-

75 359 286

195 000 000

6 142 131

364 334

1 523 663 877

Accumulated impairment losses
Opening Balance
Recognized Imparment Losses

5 918 806

(50 323)

5 924 905
(15 529)

(65 852)

Closing Balance

174 528 106

1 109 633 215

37 951 865

-

-

195 000 000

12 060 937

348 805

1 529 522 930

Closing Balance

53 935 885

195 791 296

80 412 399

0

28 347

0

0

0

330 167 925

Imparment Losses Reversed

Table 89: Intangible Assets -2019
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8.1. Land and Natural Resources, Buildings and

As of 1 November 2007 (when the concession contract came into

Other Constructions and Basic Equipment

effect) these infrastructures, like the other assets of the concession, are amortised on a linear basis over the 75-year concession

As a result of the Alqueva dam and Hydroelectric Power Plant

period, which ends in October 2082.

coming into full operation in December 2005 and the Pedrógão
dam and Hydroelectric Power Plant in early 2006, the respective

In December 2020, EDIA has 22 perimeters completed and in ope-

depreciation process (including the part of the dams allocated

ration in the three subsystems, Alqueva, Pedrogão and Ardila. The

to energy production, estimated at 35.1% of the total dam in-

percentages of primary infrastructure allocation to each of the

vestment) began on these dates, as well as the recognition as

perimeters in operation are shown in the following tables:

income (in the same proportion in which it is depreciated) of the
subsidies associated with them.

Aljustrel Block
(Roxo Sado Perimeter)

Pisão Beja Perimeter
(Cinco Reis Trindade Blocks)

Pisão Beja Perimeter
(Beringel Álamo Blocks)

Pisão Beja Perimeter
(Beja Blocks)

Vale de Gaio Perimeter

Roxo Sado Blocks
(Roxo Sado Perimeter)

470

2 914

3 508

1 300

5 600

2 543

2 442

3 290

1 949

59 690

Alqueva and Pedrógão Damand Complementary Actions (64,9%)

110 203

7,00%

9,13%

2,35%

4,64%

3,83%

5,43%

0,43%

2,64%

3,18%

1,18%

5,08%

2,31%

2,22%

2,99%

1,77%

54,16%

Álamos Pumping Station

59 690

12,92%

16,85%

4,34%

8,57%

7,06%

10,02%

0,79%

4,88%

5,88%

2,18%

9,38%

4,26%

4,09%

5,51%

3,27%

100,00%

Álamos Dam

59 690

12,92%

16,85%

4,34%

8,57%

7,06%

10,02%

0,79%

4,88%

5,88%

2,18%

9,38%

4,26%

4,09%

5,51%

3,27%

100,00%

Álamos - Loureiro Connection

59 690

12,92%

16,85%

4,34%

8,57%

7,06%

10,02%

0,79%

4,88%

5,88%

2,18%

9,38%

4,26%

4,09%

5,51%

3,27%

100,00%

Loureiro Dam

59 690

12,92%

16,85%

4,34%

8,57%

7,06%

10,02%

0,79%

4,88%

5,88%

2,18%

9,38%

4,26%

4,09%

5,51%

3,27%

100,00%

Loureiro - Monte Novo Connection

7 714

100,00%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100,00%

Loureiro-Alvito Tunnel

51 976

-

19,35%

4,98%

9,85%

8,11%

11,51%

0,90%

5,61%

6,75%

2,50%

10,77%

4,89%

4,70%

6,33%

3,75%

100,00%

Alvito Water Intake

51 976

-

19,35%

4,98%

9,85%

8,11%

11,51%

0,90%

5,61%

6,75%

2,50%

10,77%

4,89%

4,70%

6,33%

3,75%

100,00%

Alvito Water Separation

51 976

-

19,35%

4,98%

9,85%

8,11%

11,51%

0,90%

5,61%

6,75%

2,50%

10,77%

4,89%

4,70%

6,33%

3,75%

100,00%

Alvito-Pisão Connection

42 236

-

23,81%

6,13%

12,12%

9,98%

-

-

6,90%

8,31%

3,08%

13,26%

6,02%

5,78%

-

4,61%

100,00%

Connection to Odivelas

9 270

-

-

-

-

-

64,51%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,49%

-

100,00%

Vale de Gaio Hydraulic Circuit

3 290

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100,00%

-

100,00%

Pisão-Beja Connection

10 585

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

52,91%

24,02%

23,07%

-

-

100,00%

Pisão-Roxo Connection

14 789

-

-

-

34,61%

-

-

-

19,70%

23,72%

8,79%

-

-

-

-

13,18%

100,00%

Roxo Sado Connection

1 949

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100,00%

100,00%

Pisão Dam

6 804

-

-

38,04%

-

61,96%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100,00%

Ervidel 1 Block
(Pisão-Roxo Perimeter)

5 980

Loureiro-Alvito Perimeter

4 216

Infrastructure 12

5 118

Alfundão Perimeter

2 588

Ferreira, Figueirinha
and Valbom Blocks
(Pisão-Roxo Perimeters)

10 058

Pisão Perimeter

7 714

Alvito-Pisão Perimeter

-

Areas / Infrastructures of the Primary Network

Monte Novo Perimeter

TOTAL

Benefited Area
(hectares)

Ervidel 2 and 3 Blocks
(Pisão-Roxo Perimeter)

Perimeters in Operation

Alqueva Subsystem
Benefited Area (hectares)

Table 90: Perimeters in operation - Alqueva Subsystem

176 | R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0

R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0 | 177

Other
Perimeters

Perimeters in Operation

TOTAL
Benefited Area
(hectares)

Areas / Infrastructures of the Primary Network

Orada Amoreira
Perimeter

Brinches Perimeter

Brinches-Enxoé
Perimeter

Serpa Perimeter

Caliços Machados
Perimeter

Caliços-Moura
Perimeter

Pias Perimeter

Brenhas Perimeter

Subsistema Ardila		
-

2 522

5 463

4 698

4 400

5 000

2 136

4 614

745

29 578

Alqueva and Pedrógão Dams and Complementary Actions (64,9%)

110 203

2,29%

4,96%

4,26%

3,99%

4,54%

1,94%

4,19%

0,68%

26,84%

Pedrogão

29 578

8,53%

18,47%

15,88%

14,88%

16,90%

7,22%

15,60%

2,52%

100,00%

Amoreira and Brinches Dam

29 578

8,53%

18,47%

15,88%

14,88%

16,90%

7,22%

15,60%

2,52%

100,00%

Amoreira-Caliços Hydraulic Circuit

12 495

-

-

-

-

40,02%

17,09%

36,93%

5,96%

100,00%

Caliços-Pias Hydraulic Circuit

4 614

-

-

-

-

-

100,00%

-

100,00%

Caliços Machado Hydraulic Circuit

5 000

-

-

-

-

100,00%

-

-

-

100,00%

Brinches Plant

14 561

-

37,52%

32,26%

30,22%

-

-

-

-

100,00%

Brinches Enxoé Supply System

14 561

-

37,52%

32,26%

30,22%

-

-

-

-

100,00%

Serpa Dam

4 400

-

-

-

100,00%

-

-

-

-

100,00%

Torre do Lóbio Pumping Station, Serpa Supply System and Serpa Norte Reservoir

4 400

-

-

-

100,00%

-

-

-

-

100,00%

Benefited Area (hectares)

Table 91: Perimeters in operation - Ardila subsystem

Perimeters in Operation
Areas / Infrastructures of the Primary Network

Benefited
Area
(hectares)

TOTAL
Pedrógão Right
Bank Perimeter

S.Pedro Baleizão
Quintos Perimeter

S. Matias
Perimeter

Infrastructures relating to the uses of the public hydric domain

Therefore, the calculation of the amount of depreciation that

allocated to EFMA, object of the respective concession contract

would be reflected in the financial statements if the impairment

concluded between EDIA and the State and forming part of the

losses had not been previously recognised only serves to deter-

primary system (dams, Hydroelectric Power Plants and primary

mine which part of the impairment losses is accepted as a tax

network) of the Project, for the duration of the concession, are

expense for each period, under the terms of article 31 - B of the

the property of the concessionaire.

IRC Code.

Pedrógão Subsystem
-

4 800

11 270

4 865

20 935

At the end of the concession, the assets referred to above revert,

Alqueva and Pedrógão Dams and Complementary Actions
(64,9%)

110 203

4,36%

10,23%

4,41%

19,00%

without any compensation, to the State, free of any encumbrances

Pedrógão Pumping Station and Pedrógão-Right Bank
Supply System

20 935

22,93%

53,83%

23,24%

100,00%

S.Pedro Baleizão Quintos Hydraulic Circuit

11 270

S. Matias Hydraulic Circuit

4 865

Benefited Area (hectares)

or charges and in perfect operating conditions, use and mainte-

Table 92: Perimeters in operation - Pedrógão Subsystem

100,00%
100,00%

8.2. Outros Direitos

nance. Since these infrastructures, with the exception of hydroe-

100,00%

lectric power plants, are allocated to the “water” segment and,

The amount under the item “Other Rights” corresponds essen-

100,00%

as such, have already been subject to adjustment for impairment

tially to the initial financial compensation paid by EDIA to the

losses, and their net book value is null (see Note 8.4), no amorti-

State, amounting to EUR 195,000,000, resulting from the “Con-

zation of these investments is made.

cession Contract for the Use of Public hydric domain allocated
to EFMA”, of 17 October 2007, concluded between EDIA and the
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State, with a duration of 75 years. This contract sets out the terms

EUR

Projects

and conditions which will govern the grantor-concessionaire relationship, specifying the content of the mission associated with

31/dez/20

Following the definition, in 2010, of the tariff for supply of water

Viana do Alentejo Hydraulic Circuit

5 256 279

of the said rights of private use of the public hydric domain.

Roxo-Sado Canal
Cuba-Odivelas Hydraulic Circuit
Évora Hydraulic Circuit

1 761 312

São Pedro Hydraulic Circuit

587 308

Environmental Management

237 740

Pisão Beja Supply System

179 620

(and not to the energy production activity sub-granted to EDP),
which is fully impaired, the EUR 195,000,000 are covered by accumulated impairment losses of the same amount (see Note 8.4).

EUR 15,237,251 represent the investment made in the

from the primary system, EDIA has been estimating the recovera-

4 963 724

primary network of the neighbouring areas, most of

ble amount of the assets in the “water” segment by determining

1 930 311

which is related to the Roxo-Sado Canal (connection

the respective value in use, having always concluded, in the im-

to Morgavel) and the hydraulic circuits of Viana do

pairment tests performed since 2009, that the present value of

Alentejo, Cuba-Odivelas and Évora;

future cash flows associated with this segment is negative, so

•

the accumulated impairment loss corresponds to the total value
•

Álamos
Pumping Capacity Reinforcement of the Pumping
Station

3 502 052

ress

Treatment of Foundations and Implementation of
Observation Plan

1 582 686

Other

682 939

Total

The breakdown of Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets in Prog-

20 683 971
Table 94: Investments in progress

ress is as follows:

EUR

31/dez/20 31/dez/19

to optimise the benefit of the competitive advantages provided
by the Project and the full use of the water resources available,
within a framework associated with the optimisation of the main

Tangible Assets in Progress
Regional Development

476 361

297 167

Registered Office

10 800

10 800

487 161

307 967

Intangible Assets in Progress

19 624 340

hydraulic circuits, EDIA has developed a strategy to promote and
increase irrigation through the infrastructure of areas bordering
the Project.

5 727 570

vestment made in the project to increase the pumping

to this segment.

Therefore, the intangible assets allocated to this segment, with
•

EUR 1,582,686 reflect the provisioned value of the la-

a gross value of EUR 1,549,982,749 at 31 December 2020 (EUR

wsuit brought by Tecnasol-FGE against EDIA, relating

1,529,522,930 at 31 December 2019) are fully offset by accumula-

to the contract for the treatment of foundations and

ted impairment losses in the same amount.

implementation of the Pedrógão exploitation obser-

Álamos

9 571 631

6 069 579

Pedrógão Dam and Plant

1 582 686

-

operationalisation of the 120,000 ha irrigated area was comple-

Alqueva Dam

299 490

263 788

ted and potential irrigated areas of approximately 50,000 ha had

31 078 147

12 060 937

already been identified in areas adjacent to it, the second phase

31 565 308

12 368 904

Table 93: Breakdown of Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets in Progress

The impairment losses mentioned above have been recognised as
the investment in the “water” segment is executed. Therefore, and

The total amount of Tangible Assets in Progress (EUR 476,361)

since these assets already have a null net book value through the

essentially reflects the investment made in EDIA’s infrastructure,

recognition of impairment losses, the investments of this seg-

such as Luz Museum, Noudar Park, the surroundings of the ma-

ment will not be subject to any amortisation over the useful life

rinas, as well as in systems for the installation of photovoltaic

of the respective infrastructures.

production units for self-consumption in the pumping stations
of the expansion areas, which aim to produce electricity through
photovoltaic solar conversion to feed the electrical installations
of a reservoir and filtering station.

On 31 December 2019, once the first phase of the Project with the

Total

of the assets (net of inseparable liabilities - subsidies) allocated

vation plan.
With a view to the sustained development of the region, in order

Primary Network

EUR 3,502,052 represent the global value of the in-

capacity of the Álamos pumping station; and

Pedrógão Dam and Plant

8.3. Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets in Prog-

8.4. Impairment losses

Progress of:

Primary Network

the operation of the Project and defining the rules for the exercise

As this amount is directly related to the water distribution activity

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts under Intangible Assets in

Photo: Cuba East Solar Plant

of the Project began, with the infrastructure of these neighbouring areas.

Given the recognised interest and unquestionable technical, ecoThe variation is due overall to additions in intangible assets, in

nomic and environmental viability of these territories, and after

the item “Investments in Progress”, excluding capitalisations,

obtaining the guarantee of non-repayable financing for eligible

which refer essentially to projects of the Primary Network, Álamos

investments in collective irrigation under the PNRegadios, EDIA

and Pedrógão Dam and Plant.

was responsible for optimising and monitoring the implementation projects and respective works in neighbouring areas.
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The amounts allocated to each of the segments (water, energy,
other) under “Intangible Assets” (gross amounts) were as follows:

EUR

31/dez/20
Intangible Asset

"Water"
Segment

"Energy"
Segment

1 805 861

Computer Programmes
Other Rights

Other

"Water"
Segment

"Energy"
Segment

116 949

Development Projects

195 000 000

9. Related Parties

31/dez/19

9.1. Financial Holdings - Other Methods

116 949

990 424
100

Other

1 805 861
195 000 000

990 424

EUR

100

Tradename

Share
Capital

% Holding

No. Shares /
Holdings

Nominal
Value

Acquisition Cost

Holding Vaue on 31
December 2020

Holding Vaue on 31
December 2019

83 859 578

0,30

250 000 A

1

250 000

250 000

250 000

Land and Natural Resources

174 614 402

65 798 080

174 528 106

65 787 822

Buildings and Other Constructions

1 111 774 074

237 774 200

1 109 633 215

237 774 200

Águas do Vale do Tejo, S.A.

Basic Equipment

37 951 222

99 037 884

37 951 865

99 037 884

Agência de Desenvolvimento Regional do Alentejo, S.A.

499 000

4,11

4 110 A

5

20 501

20 501

20 501

Intangible Assets in Progress

30 417 503

660 644

12 060 937

Centro Operativo e de Tecnologia do Regadio

63 500

9,82

11 UP

500

6 070

6 070

6 070

225 546

99 714

348 806

500 000

10,00

10 000 A

5

50 000

0

0

1 549 982 749

405 176 383

326 571

276 571

276 571

Advances for investments

Total

1 107 473

1 529 522 930

Lusofuel - Produção de Biocombustíveis e Derivados,
S.A.

404 405 768

1 107 473

Total

Table 95: Intangible Assets

Table 96: Financial Holdings

9.2. Transactions and balances with related parties

Similarly, subsidies associated to the water distribution activity,

These shareholdings were initially recorded at acquisition cost

which assets have been concluded (in the impairment tests car-

(EUR 326,571), as EDIA does not hold a dominant or significant

ried out over the years) to be totally impaired, have been de-

share (which is presumed to be the case when the share held is

There are no: (a) current receivables (customers) balances from

recognised when recording impairment losses of the respective

equal to or greater than 20%) in any of the companies identified

related parties, and (b) amounts payable nor transactions with

assets, i.e., these losses are recognised in the Comprehensive

above.

related parties.

Income Statement by the net value of the respective subsidies.
Whenever there are indications that the asset may be impaired, an
evaluation of these investments is made and the impairment loss
revealed to exist is recorded.
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9.3. Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

The Company is subject to Corporate Income Tax (IRC) at the stan-

12. Inventories

dard rate of 21%, and the municipal surcharge is set at a maximum rate of 1.5% of taxable profit.

FIXED REMUNERATORY STATUS

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Company’s
“Inventories” show the following detail:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(Executive Directors)

Under Article 88 of the IRC Code, the Company is subject to additional autonomous taxation on a set of charges, at the rates

CHAIRMAN

EUR

provided for in that article. However, autonomous taxation rates

Shareholder Order of 05 May 2018

Inventories

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

24 124 180

6 980 873

795 669

681 212

Goods

8 524

32 695

Total

24 984 843

7 694 780

are increased by 10%, since EDIA presented tax losses in the pre-

Remuneration of EUR 4,864.34 (14 times per year) plus 40% by way of representation costs in the amount of EUR 1,945.74 (12 times per year)

vious tax period.
Remuneration applied: a)

Products and Works in Progress (PTC)
Subsidiary Materials

Remuneration of EUR 4,621.12 plus EUR 1,848.45 as representation costs

The amount of the item reflects the estimated value of autono-

Remuneration reduced by 5% (Reduction foreseen in article 12, paragraph 1 of Law no. 12/2010, of 30 June)

mous taxation to be borne in 2020 by EDIA.

Company Car (purchase limit of EUR 40,000.00); Driver; Mobile Phone (monthly limit of EUR 80,00); Health Insurance (EUR 360,83 per year)

Table 99: Inventories

MEMBERS

In this financial report under IAS/IFRS, the Company has not re-

Shareholder Order of 05 May 2018

cognised, in 2020 or in previous years, any deferred tax assets

Remuneration of EUR 3.891,47 (14 times per year) plus 40% by way of representation costs in the amount of EUR 1,556.59 (12 times per year)

related to deductible temporary differences (namely those ge-

Following the publication of Decree-Law no. 335/2001 of 24 De-

Remuneration applied: a)

nerated by the impairment losses of the “water” segment) or tax

cember, which, with the exception of infrastructure 12, provided

Remuneration of EUR 3,696.90 plus EUR 1,478.76 EUR as representation costs

loss carryforwards, as there is no reasonable assurance as to the

for the transfer to the State of the infrastructure forming part of

Remuneration reduced by 5% (Reduction foreseen in article 12, paragraph 1 of Law no. 12/2010, of 30 June)

existence of future taxable profits that would allow these deduc-

the secondary network allocated to EFMA, from 2002 EDIA began

tible temporary differences and the tax loss carryforwards to be

to show the cost of works on the infrastructure of the secondary

used before they expire.

network that had not yet been transferred to the State or another

Company Car (purchase limit of EUR 40,000.00); Driver; Mobile Phone (monthly limit of EUr 80,00); Health Insurance (EUR 360,83 per year)

Table 97: Fixed Remuneration Statute - Board of Directors

entity indicated by it, under the item “Inventories”.

11. Captive Deposits

Under the Concession Contract for the Management, Operation,
Maintenance and Conservation of the EFMA Secondary Network

a) In the context of the approval of a set of additional measures

December (LOE 2018), in article 27(2) of Law 71/2018, 31 December

for budgetary consolidation aimed at strengthening and acce-

and in article 62(1) of Law 2/2020, 31 March 2020, as no manage-

lerating the reduction of the excessive deficit and the control of

ment contracts have been concluded with the managers.

the growth of public debt provided for in the Stability and Growth
Program (SGP), the 5% reduction of the salaries of public mana-

10. Income Tax

gers and those equivalent, provided for in Article 12.1 of Law No.
12-A/2010 of 30 June, was maintained.

On 31 December 2020, the account balance (EUR 90,745) corres-

Infrastructure, signed on 8 April 2013 (expiring at the end of

ponds to two medium and long-term security deposits made by

2020), EDIA delivered to the State (represented by DGADR) the

EDIA with a banking institution in favour of the Tax and Customs

completed infrastructure, by 31 December 2018, relating to the

Authority, within the scope of an inspection under IRC, in which

secondary network, in which it assumes all the inherent rights

EDIA was notified to make corrections and did not agree, and in

and obligations established in the legislation in force.

order to request the suspensive effect of the tax assessment and
The expense (income) for income taxes at 31 December 2020 and
respective compensatory interest, as well as to be able to file an

In view of the above, the investment made until 31 December

administrative claim, it undertook to make them. (see Note 32).

2020, in these secondary network infrastructures already comple-

31 December 2019 has the following composition:
There is still no place for the award of management bonuses as

ted, is shown under the item “Other Receivables” (DGADR sub-ac-

provided for in article 4 of Decree-Law no. 8/2012, of 18 January,
EUR

and in no. 4 of Council of Ministers Resolution no. 36/2012, of 26

31/dez/20

March, in article 29 of Law no. 64-B/2012, of 30 December (LOE
2012), in article 37 of Law no. 66-B, of 31 December (LOE 2013),
in article 41 of Law no. 83-C of 31 December (LOE 2014), in article
41 of Law 82-B/2014 of 31 December (LOE 2015), in article 18 of
Law 7-A/2016 of 30 March (LOE 2016), in article 19 of Law 42/2016

31/dez/19

count), net of the corresponding investment subsidies, reflecting
the amount that EDIA expects to receive from the State as reimbursement for the non-subsidised part of the investment in the

Current Taxes
Autonomous Taxation

45 214

72 918

Total

45 214

72 918

secondary network.

Table 98: Expenses (income) on income taxes

of 28 December (LOE 2017), in article 20(1) of Law 114/2017, 29
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13.1. Customers

The variation in the “Inventories” item results globally from the
significant increase in the “Products and Works in Progress” account.

This item is broken down by nature and segment as follows:

The evolution of “Products and Works in Progress” in the year

EUR

Customers

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

General Customers

4 758 902

6 332 262

Customers - Water Segment

4 723 211

6 288 471

Customers - Energy Segment

2020 can be summarised as follows:

EUR

31/12/2019
Products and Works in Progress

Additions

6 980 873

16 931 708

Capitalization
779 265

Transfer to Other
Receivables

31/12/20

511 197

24 180 649

0

0

Customers - Others

35 692

43 791

Customers - Payment Agreement

57 132

363 691

Customers - Water Segment

57 132

363 691

Customers - Tax Execution

331 702

147 296

Customers - Water Segment

331 702

147 296

Customers - Doubtful Collection

1 167 168

367 406

Table 100: Products and Works in Progress

The variation in this sub-account of “Products and Works in Pro-

The government decision on the Management of the Alqueva

Customers - Water Segment

1 167 168

367 406

gress” reflects the significant investment and respective capitali-

Hydroagricultural Development aims to produce a lasting decision

Impairment Losses

(1 167 168)

(367 406)

sations in projects related to the blocks under construction of the

that provides stability to the various stakeholders involved. A de-

Customers - Water Segment

(1 167 168)

(367 406)

2nd phase, in which the infrastructure of about 50,000 ha in the

cision that, for this very reason, must also take into account the

Total

5 147 737

6 843 249

bordering areas is expected, namely:

unique characteristics of EFMA. The complexities of hydraulic ma-

Table 102: breakdown of the “Customers” item by nature and segment

nagement, equity of access to water in the different areas of the

Projects

EUR

Project, energy optimisation, the performance of the Company,

31/dez/20

but also the interests of the irrigators, are factors that certainly

Évora Blocks

8 399 706

Cuba- Odivelas Blocks

5 497 459

Viana do Alentejo Blocks

2 320 400

Other

714 144

Total

16 931 708

Photo: Irrigation nozzle

require an effectively consolidated consideration.

The identification of some limitations of the classic management
model, in which the entity that manages the primary system is
distinct from those that manage the secondary systems, as well

Table 101: Products and Works in Progress

as EDIA’s experience in the tasks of simultaneous management
and maintenance of the irrigation systems (both primary and secondary), also reinforced the option taken by the Ministry.

At the time of this report, EDIA is already aware, through the
Order of the Minister of Agriculture, information no. 12538 of 24
September 2020, that the term of the concession relating to the

13. Customers, Sales and Services Rendered

management, operation, maintenance and conservation of the
infrastructures of the EFMA secondary network has been extended
for a further 10 years and with the maximum limit of the term of

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

the concession for the private use of water resources in the public
domain, obtained under the provisions of the Water Law.
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The main balances of “General customers” are as follows:

The balance of the “Customers - Tax Enforcement” account (EUR

13.2.2. Services Rendered

331,702) reflects the value of tax enforcement proceedings
EUR

General Customers

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

Associação de Regantes e Beneficiários de Campilhas e Alto Sado

378 398

423 320

Fundação Eugénio de Almeida

189 739

164 080

Querida Primavera

146 740

96 361

Eurocompetência

108 776

142 217

Camposul

77 736

Associação de Beneficiários da Obra da Vigia

brought by EDIA, which aim to make rapid and effective the col-

Water Distribution

lection of the credit of which the Company is holder.
The transposition of the Water Framework Directive was undertaThese amounts result from the water distribution services pro-

ken by Law no. 58/2005 of 29 December and developed by Decree-

vided by the Company, in which there was no fulfilment of the

-Law no. 226-A/2007 of 31 May and Decree-Law no. 97/2008 of 1

39 785

obligation, payment of the service, within the legal period, and

June, enshrining the principle of the economic value of water, by

74 440

35 512

the Company has previously taken all the necessary steps to re-

virtue of which the current or potential scarcity of this resource is

Innolivo Portugal

73 731

69 138

cover these credits.

recognised and the need to guarantee its economically efficient

Agro-Pecuária Herdade dos Braciais

68 364

29 949

use, with recovery of the costs of water services, even in environ-

Casa Agrícola do Curveiro

65 882

47 659

mental and resource terms.

Alentejo Stillfresh

65 211

39 088

Reinaldo António Gonçalves Engrossa

62 532

70 643

Sociedade Agrícola dos Vales

60 559

53 870

Sociedade das Albernoas

59 552

38 989

Sociedade Agrícola Paço do Conde

59 340

43 840

Joaquim José do Rosário Caeiro Rôlo

58 210

52 186

Salto do Cervo-Agricultura e Pecuária

57 616

137 485

Fernando José Cabaça Ruaz

57 261

70 793

3.2. Sales and Services Rendered

In compliance with Order no. 9000/2010 of 27 April, which set
the prices of water for irrigation for agricultural use, under the
EUR

Sales and Services Rendered

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

994 756

552 806

Noudar Nature Park

78 115

62 203

Energy - Photovoltaic

35 227

16 100

3025/2017, dated 11 April 2017, was approved, in which a new

1 108 098

631 109

tariff applicable to the public water service associated with irri-

Energy - Mini hydro plants

54 760

-

António josé Zorrinho Vieira Lima

52 045

39 233

De Prado Portugal

-

131 543

Águas do Vale do Tejo

-

113 675

Águas de Santo André

-

447 781

Water Distribution

19 128 169

18 448 636

EDP Distribuição Energia

-

87 505

Energy Production

15 194 042

13 695 883

84 068

Noudar Nature Park

78 600

139 509

-

81 334

Cartography and Expropriations

30 803

43 823

Other

2 988 009

3 792 208

34 431 614

32 327 851

Total

4 758 902

6 332 262

35 539 712

32 958 960

-

Trigonovo Agropecuária

the invoicing process.

Sales

Maria de Fátima Barahona Mira da Silva da Cruz e Silva

Associação de Beneficiários do Vale do Sado

public water service of EFMA, EDIA in the 2nd half of 2010 began

gation for agricultural use, under EFMA, is set.

Services Rendered

Total

Table 104: Sales and services rendered

Table 103: Main “Customers” balances

In April 2017, Order no. 9000/2010 was revoked and Order no.

The legislator sought to create conditions so that the price of
the service remains competitive, considering that the conditions
to increase the competitiveness and attractiveness of the Project
through the revision of the tariff in force are currently met.

A set of rules was established aimed at ensuring the sustainable
management of water resources through the internalisation of
the costs and benefits associated with water use, having esta-

The decrease in this account results from the amounts settled by

compliance with Order No. 3025/2017, which sets the current price

various customers until 31 December 2020, mostly entities that

of water intended for irrigation for agricultural use, under the

are responsible for the operation and conservation of hydro-a-

EFMA public water service.

blished, as key instruments for this purpose, the water resources

13.2.1. Sales

The amount of EUR 1,108,098 recorded in sales, in 2020, reflects

gricultural facilities bordering EFMA, but also entities with public
and industrial supply purposes, regarding the supply of water

The credits considered doubtful (EUR 1,167,168), which value sho-

the total amount of energy sales issued to the grid: (i) by the

from the primary network, such as Águas de Santo André and

ws a significant variation in this year 2020, after evaluation by the

Alvito, Odivelas, Pisão and Serpa Mini Hydro plants (EUR 994,756)

Águas do Vale do Tejo.

Company, are subject to accounting recognition of the respective

and (ii) by the Alqueva photovoltaic plant (EUR 35,227)

charge and the public water service tariff.

It is important to take into consideration the need to find a balance between the costs associated with the operation and conservation of the Project, including the primary system, as well as
the payment capacity of the beneficiary users, in light of the eco-

impairments. The increase in this account results from a change in

nomics of the crops installed. Indeed, the tariff structure is based

Most of the balances under the item of other, totalling EUR

criteria, as the balances of customer accounts in tax enforcement

on an equation of sensitive balance, which must simultaneously

2,988,009, at 31 December 2020, reflect mostly the amounts recei-

and with payment agreement are now also considered.

internalise all costs to meet the sustainability requirements of

vable for water distribution services provided, which result from
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national and EU legislation, constitute a factor of competitive-

•

For public supply: 0,0452 EUR/m3; and

ness and attractiveness of the region and also correspond to the
payment capacity of users, and should therefore include a soli-

•

For industrial use: 0,0602 EUR/m3.

darity factor.

As for the irrigation perimeters, construction of the 2nd phase of

Bearing in mind that the volume captured is calculated through

the Project, the amounts to be charged in the 1st year following

an annual water balance applied to the different EFMA reservoirs,

conclusion of the construction of each one corresponds to 50% of

the volume to be considered in the calculation of the WRM to be

the tariff, making up the definitive tariffs in the 2nd year.

passed on will be the volume supplied to each end-user during

Under the provisions of paragraph 3 of Article 67 of the Legal

the period in question.

This Order also sets the tariffs applicable to the public water ser-

Framework for Hydroagricultural Development Works (RJOAH),

The calculation is based on the area benefited by the irrigation

vice for public supply and industrial use, taking into considera-

users on a temporary basis, i.e. those who, for any reason, use

infrastructures and the volume of water supplied.

tion the specificities of these other uses, such as the high levels

regularised water or water originating from EFMA infrastructures

of guaranteed supply.

outside the perimeter area, pay a tariff corresponding to an ope-

The average annual variation rate of the CPI except for housing

mittee and the respective opinion was in the same direction of the

rating fee of:

for the mainland, since the approval of the tariff in force, in April

understanding assumed by the Company, to change the criterion

2017, has been residual, leading EDIA to maintain, in the years

adopted in the recording of this component, which resulted in a

At high pressure connection or source: 0,0773 EUR/m3;

2018 (variation 0%) and 2019 (variation 0.1%), the values of

decrease in value.

and

2017. For 2020, given that according to the values of the index

Thus, the following is determined:
•
•

The tariff applicable to the supply of water for irrigation, from the primary network, to entities in charge of
the operation and maintenance of hydro-agricultural

•

At connection or low pressure origin: 0,0382 EUR/m .
3

Given the specificity of the component of the TRH, in 2020, EDIA
submitted a submission to the CNC - Accounting Standards Com-

variation published by INE, in 2019, for the period in question,

Until the end of 2019, the amounts collected from the TRH were

it was 0.4%, already with some impact, the tariff was updated.

recognised as income in each financial year, despite being a fee

facilities adjoining EFMA is 0.0301 EUR/m3;

due to the Hydrographic Region Administration (ARH) for the neIn the invoicing issued regarding the supply of high pressure wa-

•

The breakdown of income for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

gative impact of the authorised activity on water resources, under

The tariff applicable to the outlet of the secondary

ter, variable values are established and applied, with aggravation

the current Water Law, and therefore not an economic benefit of

network for supplying water to agricultural holdings

of reduction up to 20% of the values of the exploitation rate,

the Company. Similarly, the TRH owed by EDIA to the ARH was

is broken down into a fixed component, the mainte-

according to the off-empty/super-empty, full and peak hour pe-

nance charge, and a variable component, the opera-

riods, as established in point 12 of Order no. 3025/2017.

ting charge, which is intended to cover the costs of

EUR

2020

2019

recognised as operating expenses.

Operation Component

12 344 381

12 091 153

Therefore, and considering the provisions of the Accounting and

maintaining and operating the infrastructure, applied

The values established in the previous numbers refer to 2017, and

Conservation Component

3 779 650

3 593 773

Financial Reporting Standard (NCRF) no. 20 “Revenue” - paragra-

annually to each hectare benefited and each cubic me-

are updated annually based on the average annual variation of

Surrounding Perimeters

2 164 367

1 135 679

ph 8 (states that taxes, including fees charged, are not economic

ter of water supplied, respectively.

the consumer price index, excluding housing, in mainland Portu-

Direct Abstractions

744 085

901 703

gal, published by INE.

95 686

726 330

benefits that flow to the entity, and do not result in increases

TRH

Total

19 128 169

18 448 636

Under the terms referred to in the previous numbers, the applicable tariff is as follows:

The above tariff will be applied with the following phasing:

Table 105: Breakdown of “Income”

in equity, and should therefore be excluded from revenue), EDIA
changed the previous accounting treatment, given to the TRH,
considering that those amounts represent a charge to third parties (customers of EDIA) of a fee on the private use of waters in

•

At the outlet of the secondary network, for supplying

In the first year following conclusion of the construction of the

high-pressure water to farms, the maintenance and

secondary networks of each of the EFMA irrigation perimeters in-

operating fees are 55.22 EUR/ha and 0.0592 EUR/m3

cluded in the 120,000 ha corresponding to the first phase of the

respectively;

Project, the tariffs to be applied should be 40%, rising in subsequent years to 60% and 80% respectively, making up the final

•

At the outlet of the secondary network, for supplying

tariff in the 4th year.

In the case of water abstraction for agricultural irrigation, in
which EDIA, as the taxpayer, is not the end user of water resources, it passes on to the end user the economic burden that the TRH

m3 respectively;
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behalf of and to be delivered to the ARH, and therefore are not
part of the revenue of the Company.

represents, together with the tariff it applies, as set out in Order
no. 484/2009 of 16 December 2008.

On the other hand, considering that the aforementioned TRH (due
for the use of water resources) is charged to EDIA by ARH, as the

low-pressure water to farms, the maintenance and
operating charges are 20.08 EUR/ha and 0.0321 EUR/

the public hydric domain of the State (there are exemptions) on

Thus, this transfer of the TRH, to the end user, is made within the
invoicing of the water supply service.

entity providing these services, and it is then up to the Company
to pass on this fee to the respective end customers, these amounts were recognised as expenses for the year.

R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0 | 191

In 2020, the respective change in accounting for the TRH was

The value corresponding to energy production is broken down

made, transferring the values associated with this component,

as follows:
EUR

2020

2019

12 645 948

12 645 948

account - Other Debtors and Creditors.

is also the result of operations with entities in charge of the operation and maintenance of hydro-agricultural facilities adjoining
EFMA, as well as entities for public and industrial supply purposes, relating to the supply of water from the primary network.
This increase is also the result of the increase in the area to be
irrigated and the fact that the discount rates are ending and subsequently the value of the tariffs to be applied increases.

In Current Assets, the balance of the “VAT - Value Added Tax” account reflects the amounts entered in the periodic statements, in

posted until 2019, as revenue and expense, to a single third-party

Compared to the same period last year, the variation in this item

14. Advances to Suppliers

Value resulting from the financial plan
drawn up for the concession contract with
EDP

In 2020, EDIA continued the analysis of the composition and

“excess to be carried over”, of the tax to be recovered from August

nature of the balance of the advances account, acting with the

and October to December 2020, resulting mainly from investments

entities that were still in default in issuing the respective legal

made in projects of the 2nd phase of EFMA.

documents.
The balance of “IRC - Corporate Income Tax” shown under Current

Value resulting from the concession
contract with EDP in the part corresponding
to the financial revisibility as a result of the
change in the volumes of water withdrawal
from the Alqueva and Pedrógão reservoirs

492 910

Correction of the calculation of the financial
revisibility paid between 2008 and 2019

1 989 130

-

Other

66 054

44 490

Total

15 194 042

13 695 883

1 005 445

The value of this item essentially reflects the advances made on

Assets, refers to the special payments on account of IRC (PEC) for

account of costs with external supplies and services, having been

the years 2017 and 2018.

internally guaranteed and complied with, all the procedures of
validation and authorisation of expenses, although without a le-

The amounts in the accounts “Income Tax Withholding” and “Social

gal document issued at the time of payment, by the various enti-

Security Contributions”, shown under Current Liabilities, corres-

ties, to comply with the minimum legal requirements.

pond to the amounts owed for income tax and social security as-

Table 106: Energy Production

sociated with the processing of salaries of EDIA employees for the
Upon receipt of the invoices, these sums were transferred to the

EDIA found in the second half of 2020 that the calculation of fiEnergy Production

nancial compensation, due to changes in the volumes of water

respective item of suppliers, and the Company thus regularised
The item “Estimated IRC” in Current Liabilities reflects the value

some amounts during 2020.

withdrawn from the Alqueva and Pedrógão reservoirs, to be made
The balance of the “Energy Production” sub-account (EUR

in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 2.4 and 2.5 of

15,194,042) is wholly derived from the “Concession Contract for

Annex VII of the Operating Contract, has not been made in strict

the Operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power

compliance with the provisions of the contract, with implications

Plants” (EUR 12,645,948), entered into between EDIA and EDP for

for the amounts calculated. Therefore, it made the adjustments

a period of 35 years, under which EDP undertook to pay EDIA

resulting from the correct application of the revisability formulas

financial compensation on the following terms:

in strict compliance with the contractually established, conside-

of autonomous taxation to be borne by EDIA for the year 2020.

15. State and Other Public Entities

An initial amount of EUR 195,000,000, plus VAT at the

until 2019, which resulted in an invoice to EDP in the amount of

legal rate and paid on the date of entry into force of

EUR 1,989,130.

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, this item includes

related to deductible temporary differences (namely those gene-

the following balances:

rated by the impairment losses of the “water” segment) or to tax
EUR

31/dez/20

Other Services Rendered

VAT at the legal rate and paid annually on the same
day and month of the entry into force of the contract,

The remaining amount (EUR 109,403) under “Services Rendered”

the first instalment being due in 2008.

reflects: (i) services provided at the Noudar Nature Park relating
essentially to activities associated with tourism and hotel operation (EUR 78,600); and (ii) services rendered by EDIA within the
scope of expropriations, which aim to ensure various expropria-

loss carryforwards, as there is no reasonable assurance as to the
existence of future taxable profits that would allow these deductible temporary differences and the tax loss carryforwards to be

VAT - Value Added Tax

755 874

1 342 004

IRC - Corporation Tax

105 594

148 055

861 467

1 490 059

Social security contributions

122 770

121 785

Income tax withholdings

76 858

71 315

Estimated Corporate Income Tax

45 214

72 918

244 842

266 018

Total

Throughout the life of the contract, a periodic annual
amount of EUR 12,380,000 (value updated in 2011) plus

31/dez/19

Current Assets

this contract; and

•

In the financial reporting under IAS/IFRS, the Company has not
recognised, in 2020 or in previous years, any deferred tax assets

ring the period from the beginning of its application, in 2008,
•

month of December 2020, already paid in January 2021.

used before they are extinguished.

Current Liabilities

Total

Table 107: State and Other Public Entities - Balances

tion procedures (evaluation, negotiation and acquisition of property) and cartography, providing services in the field of production of geographical information, being associated with national
projects involving the production of cartography, topography,
geodesy and land registry (EUR 30,803).
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DGADR – Concession Contract - Secondary Network

16. Other Receivables

EUR

This item has the following detail as at 31 December 2020 and 31

Concession Contract - EDP_IFRS 15

Other Receivables

Investment

Capitalizations

Subsidies

Total

DGADR_CC_RS

639 075 834

22 549 504

(523 062 457)

138 562 880

Total

639 075 834

22 549 504

(523 062 457)

138 562 880

December 2019:
In 2017, the Company adopted IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
EUR

with Customers” for the first time, particularly with regard to the

Other Receivables

31/dez/20 31/dez/19

Concession Contract_IFRS 15- Current
Assets

5 808 085

5 611 676

Concession Contract_IFRS15- Non-Current
Assets

181 960 921

187 769 005

187 769 006

193 380 681

Concession Contract_GADR_RS

138 562 880

138 051 684

DGADR_IE12

70 794 862

70 794 862

Debtors by Accrued Income

3 267 808

EU Funds

recognition of revenue from the concession contract signed on 24

Table 109: DGADR – Concession Contract - Secondary Network

October 2007 between EDIA and EDP, which awarded EDP the operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plants for

As mentioned in Note 12, under the Concession Contract for the

According to the Shareholder, “only after the completion of all

35 years. EDIA received the sum of EUR 195 million and invoices

Management, Operation, Maintenance and Conservation of EFMA

infrastructures”, scheduled for 2015, and “subsequent consoli-

annually the amount of EUR 12,380,000 during the contract period.

Secondary Network Infrastructure, signed on 8 April 2013 and in

dation period of operation, of five years, will the framework of

Consequently, in 2020 it recognised the amount of EUR 187,769,005

force until 31 December 2020, it is established that EDIA (con-

indicators necessary to assess the best model to proceed with the

in an account receivable corresponding to the unconditional right

cessionaire) will deliver to the State (grantor), represented by

management, operation, maintenance and conservation of the

4 625 488

to that retribution. The decrease of the balance in the year 2020

DGADR, of the already completed infrastructures of the secondary

Project be available. The concession for a period of seven years,

63 253

8 783

relates to the depreciation of the asset, in accordance with the

network, drainage and agricultural roads, the goods and equi-

i.e. until 2020, will ensure an adequate consolidation period, whi-

Other Debtors

209 854

76 927

financial plan built for this purpose, in which a fixed discount rate

pment necessary for their operation and exploitation, and the

ch is essential for the management of the guarantee of the works,

Impairment Losses

(22 943)

(22 943)

of 3.5% is considered.

areas acquired and expropriated for the implementation of the

the stabilisation trend of tariffs and the perception and optimisa-

400 225 012

406 915 483

infrastructures of the EFMA hydro-agricultural facilities.

tion of the operation of the Project in its entirety, with a view to

Total

Table 108: Other Receivables
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its effective contribution and integration of the various aspects in

these assets being recognised as expenses, in the years in which

the sustained development of the region”.

they occurred.

DGADR – IE 12
EUR

Other Receivables

Investment

Capitalizations

Subsidies

Total

In November 2013, a new Delivery Agreement was signed between

With this contract expiring in December 2020, it was decided by

DGADR_IE12

114 141 477

12 056 848

(55 403 463)

70 794 862

EDIA and the Portuguese State, represented by DGADR, in which

Order of the Minister of Agriculture, information no. 12538 of 24

Total

114 141 477

12 056 848

(55 403 463)

70 794 862

the Company delivers the infrastructures making up the irrigation

September 2020, that the term of the concession relating to the

and drainage network of the Aljustrel Hydroagricultural Develo-

management, operation, maintenance and conservation of the

pment, including all the goods and equipment necessary for its

secondary network infrastructures was extended for a further 10

Decree-Law no. 335/01 of 24 December established that the works

for the Operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Po-

operation and exploitation.

years and with the maximum limit of the term of the concession

relating to the design, implementation and construction of the in-

wer Plants and Sub-concession of the Public Water Domain” ente-

for the private use of water resources in the public domain, ob-

frastructures forming part of the EFMA secondary network are the

red into with EDP, in the amount of EUR 492,910.

tained under the provisions of the Water Law.

property of the State, except for Infrastructure 12, which remains

Table 110: DGADR - IE12

There being a need to update and regularise the situation of the
secondary network management concession for the irrigation

the property of EDIA under the concession scheme to MAFDR. Fol-

blocks built in the meantime, it is the intention of DGADR and EDIA

The government decision on the Management of the Alqueva

lowing the formalisation with the Institute for Rural Development

to conclude an Addendum, updating the descriptions of the peri-

Hydroagricultural Development aims to produce a lasting deci-

and Hydraulics (currently Directorate-General for Agriculture and

meters included in the initial contract as well as complementing

sion that provides stability to the various stakeholders involved.

Rural Development - DGADR), in April 2006, of the contract for

the information with the blocks already built, after 8 April 2013.

A decision that, for this very reason, must also take into account

the assignment of the management, operation, maintenance and

the unique characteristics of EFMA. The complexities of hydraulic

conservation of Infrastructure 12 for a period of 30 years, this

With the conclusion of the irrigation perimeter infrastructures, the

management, equity of access to water in the different areas of

investment and the associated subsidies are reflected, since 2006,

investments of these perimeters are transferred from “Finished

the Project, energy optimisation, the performance of the Com-

under “Other Receivables”, since EDIA awaits reimbursement by

and Semi-Finished Products” to “Other Receivables”, Entity DGA-

pany and also the interests of the irrigators are all very relevant

DGADR of the net value of the investment made.

DR, which assumes in relation to the goods described, all inherent

factors.

rights and obligations established in the legislation in force.

The amount of EUR 138,562,880 on 31 December 2020, reflects the

model, in which the entity managing the primary system is dis-

total investment made in the secondary network infrastructures,

tinct from those managing the secondary systems, as well as

net of the corresponding investment subsidies that EDIA expects

EDIA’s experience in the tasks of simultaneous management and

to receive from the State, for the provision of those infrastructu-

maintenance of the irrigation systems (both primary and secon-

res that are completed, with the amount of EUR 511,197 being the

dary), also reinforced the option taken by the Ministry.

The account “EU funds”, on 31 December 2020, reflects the subsidies, in the amount of EUR 63,253, which EDIA estimates, with a
high degree of certainty, to receive, relating to expenses already
executed under PDR2020 and POSEUR.

17. Deferrals
On 31 December 2020, there were no changes compared with the

The identification of some limitations of the classic management

EU funds

same period of the previous year.

17.1. Deferrals (Current Assets)
The “Deferrals” presented under Current Assets, in the amount of
EUR 110,108 (costs to be recognised) reflect the totality of the

Debtors by Accrued Income

insurance premium, with the branch of civil liability / operation,
construction and assembly, paid until 31 December 2020, corres-

variation occurring in 2020.

The caption “Debtors by Accrued Income” essentially reflects: (i)

ponding to the subsequent period of validity.

the specialisation of the provision of water distribution services
As the Minister of Agriculture has authorised the extension of

in the amount of EUR 2,753,506; and (ii) the estimated financial

In the context of this Concession Contract, no provision was made

the concession period for the management, operation, mainte-

revisability arising from the change in the annual volumes of wa-

to cover the costs with the infrastructures, object of the respec-

nance and conservation of the secondary network infrastructure

ter abstractions from the Alqueva and Pedrógão reservoirs, for

tive Delivery Contracts, relating to the contractual obligation to

of EFMA to EDIA until 2030, it is the Company’s intention, ba-

the year 2020, in accordance with the provisions of the “Contract

maintain/preserve them, throughout the concession period.

sed on the forecast of investment needs in rehabilitation of the

17.2. Deferrals (Current and Non-Current Liabilities)
This item (income to be recognised) is broken down as follows
between “Current Liabilities” and “Non-Current Liabilities”:

EFMA infrastructure, prepared by LNEC, to estimate and record the
The non-recording of the provision was based on the assumption

amount to be provided for major repairs and replacements of the

that, throughout the concession period (7 years), no major repairs

secondary network, after signing the addendum to the concession

and replacements would occur in the respective infrastructures

contract, expected in 2021.

and equipment, with the current maintenance and conservation of

EUR

Deferrals (Liabilities)
Concession agreement revenues_EDP_IFRS 15
Investment grants

Total

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

Current

Non-Current

Current

Non-Current

12 645 948

265 564 911

12 645 948

278 210 859

1 878 587

116 218 084

1 878 587

118 064 147

14 524 535

381 782 995

14 524 535

396 275 006

Table 111: Deferrals - Liabilities
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17.2.1 Concession Contract Income

ments, with the exception of those concerning the secondary

18.1. Paid-up capital

network already transferred to the “DAGDR_CC_RS” account follo-

with a nominal value of EUR 5 each, subscribed and paid in by the
Portuguese State:

The value of deferred income from the “Concession Contract for

wing the contracts for the delivery of infrastructure already com-

The initial Share Capital of 500,000,000 escudos (EUR 2,493,990),

the Operation of the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power

pleted, amounting to EUR 523,062,457 (which were deducted from

held entirely by the Portuguese State, was successively increased

Plants” with EDP, shown at 31 December 2020 under “Non-cur-

the respective investment that, until the delivery of the infras-

in the period from 1996 to 2009 until it reached EUR 387,267,750

a nominal value of EUR 5 each, in the amount of EUR

rent Liabilities” (EUR 265,564,911) and “Current Liabilities” (EUR

tructure, was reflected under “Inventories”), those concerning

on 31 December 2009. Between 2010 and 2014 the Share Capital

3,369,640 subscribed and paid up in cash, a situation

12,645,948), arises from the receipt of EUR 195,000,000 on 1 No-

Infrastructure 12 amounting to EUR 55,403.463 (transferred to the

remained unchanged.

provided for in the Company’s Activity Plan and Budget

vember 2007, in accordance with subparagraph a) of paragraph

“DGADR_IE12” account, following the formalization of a contract

1 of clause 6 of the “Operation Contract of the Alqueva and Pe-

for the assignment of the management, operation, maintenan-

During the period 2015 to 2018, there were several capital increa-

drógão Hydroelectric Power Plants and Sub-concession of Public

ce and conservation of this infrastructure, in April 2006, being

ses, fully subscribed and paid up in cash and by conversion of the

Water Domain” entered into with EDP, well as the amounts to be

deducted from the respective investment that, until then, was

credits held relating to the medium and long-term loan, granted

received annually from EDP (EUR 12,380,000) under this contract

reflected under “Inventories”) and those associated with the wa-

by the DGTF.

for a period of 35 years, starting on 1 November 2007.

ter distribution activity in the amount of EUR 668,667,383 (which

•

On 11 March 2020, issue of 673,928 new shares with

for 2020, approved by the Unanimous Written Social
Resolution of 11 March 2020; and

•

On 7 August 2020, issue of 866,000 new shares with
a nominal value of EUR 5 each, in the amount of EUR
4,330,000 subscribed and paid up in cash, a situation

assets have been concluded to be totally impaired, so the corres-

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s Share Capital, fully subs-

provided for in the Company’s Activity Plan and Budget

Thus, the aforementioned account of income to be recognised re-

ponding subsidies are derecognised when recording impairment

cribed and paid up, has a value of EUR 809,534,880 consisting of

for 2020, approved by the Unanimous Written Social

flects: (i) the part of the EUR 195,000,000 that has not yet been

losses on assets).

161,906,976 shares with a nominal value of EUR 5 each, subscri-

Resolution of 7 August 2020; and

bed and paid up by the Portuguese State.

recognised in income; and (ii) the amounts to be invoiced annually to EDP discounted at a fixed rate of 3.5% and to be recog-

Thus, the “Investment subsidies” item essentially reflects the

nised as income until the end of the contract.

subsidies related to the energy segment in the amount of EUR

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s share capital, fully subs-

a nominal value of EUR 5 each, in the amount of EUR

115,302,803, to be recognised in income in the same proportion

cribed and paid up, has a value of EUR 838,810,320 consisting of

13,825,000 subscribed and paid up in cash, a situation

as the depreciation of the subsidised assets.

167,762,064 shares. The variation compared to the previous year

provided for in the Company’s Activity Plan and Budget

of EUR 29,275,440 stems from the issue of 5,855,088 new shares

for 2020, approved by the Unanimous Written Social

with a nominal value of EUR 5 each:

Resolution of 6 October 2020.

The amounts received and receivable from the EDP Group under
this contract will be recognised as income over the term of the
contract (35 years). In 2020, EUR 19,414,272 of income was recog-

In Current Liabilities, the amount of EUR 1,878,587 corresponds to

nised, of which EUR 12,645,948 refers to services rendered (see

subsidies to be recognised as income within less than one year.

•

•

Note 13) and EUR 6,768,324 refers to interest (see Note 27).

On 3 September 2019, issue of 3,355,088 new shares
with a nominal value of EUR 5 each, in the amount of
EUR 16,775,440 subscribed and paid up in cash, to meet

17.2.2. Investment Subsidies

18. Equity

On 6 October 2020, issue of 2,765,000 new shares with

The Shareholder, through the capital endowments, intended to
cover the financing needs inherent in the repayment of loans and
the investment made under the PNRegadios.

the repayment charges on the bond loan and the loan

The value of investment subsidies is recognised under “Non-cur-

In the period from 31 December 2019 to 31 December 2020, EDIA’s

rent Liabilities” and includes all subsidies received for invest-

equity presented the following evolution:

taken out with the EIB; and

•

On 11 September 2019, issue of 2,500,000 new shares

18.2. Other Reserves

with a nominal value of EUR 5 each, in the amount
of EUR 12,500,000 subscribed and paid up in cash, a

The “Other Reserves” include: (i) EUR 8,479,554 of subsidies recei-

31/dez/20

situation provided for in the Company’s Activity Plan

ved in 1995, within the scope of the transfer to EDIA of the sums

and Budget for 2019, approved by the Unanimous Writ-

included in the State Budget for the extinct Alqueva Installation

ten Social Resolution of 10 July 2019.

Committee; (ii) EUR 592,267 relating to the transfer to the Com-

EUR

Equity

31/dez/19

Increases

Transfers

Paid-up Capital

838 810 320

860 334 960

Other Reserves

9 202 700

9 202 700

Retained Earnings

(805 369 958)

(2 670 836)

(808 040 794)

Net Profit for the Period

(2 670 836)

(13 855 194)

2 670 836

(13 855 194)

Total

39 972 226

7 669 446

0

47 641 672

Table 112: Equity
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pany of the fixed assets of the said Committee; (iii) EUR 120,904
As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s share capital, fully subs-

of subsidies allocated to surplus areas (which do not configure

cribed and paid up, has a value of EUR 860,334,960 consisting of

amortisable investments); and (iv) EUR 9,975 relating to the do-

172,066,992 shares. The variation compared to the previous year

nation of a painting for the building of EDIA’s new registered

of EUR 21,524,640 results from the issue of 4,304,928 new shares

office.
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These reserves have not been imposed by law or the articles of

the supply of water for irrigation and human supply, and those

assumed, as a consequence, the need to ensure the appropriation

With the entry into force of Order no. 3025/2017, of 11 April and

association, nor have they been constituted in accordance with

resulting from hydroelectric operation) would allow the recovery

of funds necessary for the pursuit of its object, creating the con-

the consequent change in the applied tariff, impairment studies

contracts entered into by the Company.

of the overall investment planned under EFMA.

ditions for the Company to honour the commitments made during

were carried out in the year 2017, using new assumptions, which

the implementation of the project.

were maintained until the year 2020.

the accounts, both for 2009 and prior years, to predict that the

The revenue from the service provided by EDIA related to water

A discount rate of 2.5% based on the Weighted Average Cost of

investments made in EFMA would have a reduced profitability and

distribution is calculated according to the tariff set by the State,

Capital (WACC) was used to discount the future cash flows to re-

that there would consequently be impairment losses to be re-

which in turn, in its calculation, considers a set of assumptions

flect: (i) the time value of money for periods up to 2082; (ii) ex-

corded.

that go beyond the economic interest of the investments made.

pectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of

18.3. Retained Earnings

The balance of “Retained Earnings” at 31 December 2020 amounts to negative EUR 808,040,794 and is essentially related to the
recognition of impairment losses on “Intangible Assets” of the

However, it would already be possible, on the closing date of

cash flows; (iii) the price of bearing the uncertainty inherent in

“water” segment, in the accumulated amount (net of the respective subsidies that have been derecognised) of EUR 881,315,366.

The variation in “Retained Earnings” is due to the appropriation
of the negative net result for 2019, amounting to EUR 2,670,836.

At 31 December 2020, the equity value is positive by EUR 47,641,672
(positive equity of EUR 39,972,226 at 31 December 2019), nevertheless, the Company remains in the situation provided for in Article 35 of the Companies Code, despite all the guarantees that
the Shareholder has always provided to the financing obtained
and the successive capital increases.

However, it is important to bear in mind that EFMA was conceived

Since there are indications (from previous years) that the assets

the asset; and (iv) other factors that market participants would

as a regional development instrument for a depressed inland area

of the “water” segment would be impaired, but it is not possible

reflect in pricing the future cash flows that the Company expects

of the country, with a special focus on converting the agricultural

to calculate the recoverable amount of individual assets allo-

to derive from the assets.

sector from rainfed to irrigated land.

cated to this segment, given the strong interconnection of the
cash inflows of various assets or groups of assets of the segment,

Bearing in mind that all future projections were prepared based

EFMA represents a project to harness the water resources asso-

EDIA determined the recoverable amount of the cash-generating

on assumptions considered reasonable and bearable, taking into

ciated with the Guadiana River and which guarantees a strategic

unit (“smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash

account the present and future market and that the decisions ta-

water reserve, contributing to reversing the trend towards popu-

inflows and is largely independent of the cash inflows of other

ken in the last projections/studies were approved by EDIA’s ma-

lation and economic decline in a vast region of the Alentejo, and

assets or groups of assets”) that corresponds to the entire “wa-

nagement, the main assumptions adopted are the following:

is therefore of enormous national interest, with the consequent

ter” segment.

benefits of its implementation, in terms of improving the quality
of life of the population of the Alentejo region, as well as econo-

Following the definition, in 2010, of the tariff for supply of water

mic, social and environmental promotion.

from the primary system, EDIA has been estimating the recovera-

•

Area benefited - 162,145 ha;

•

Water resource uptake rate increasing over 8 years;

•

Average water consumption of 4,000 m3/ha, in 80% of

ble amount of the assets in the “water” segment by determining

19. Impairment of Intangible Assets
This investment has always been intended to overcome the enor-

the respective value in use, having always concluded, in the im-

19.1 Impairment of Depreciable/Amortisable In-

mous shortages in the region related to the availability of water

pairment tests performed since 2009 until 2020 inclusive, that the

vestments

for human, agricultural and industrial supply. In this sense, and

present value of future cash flows associated with this segment

also considering the positive externalities generated for the na-

is negative, so the accumulated impairment loss corresponds to

Following the transfer to EDP, for a period of 35 years, of the ope-

tional economy, the financial return on EFMA’s assets has never

the total value of the assets (net of inseparable liabilities - sub-

ration of the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plants

been at stake, exclusively resulting from revenues generated by

sidies) allocated to this segment.

and the rights of private use of the respective public hydric do-

EDIA’s activity. The fundamental assumption was to ensure that

main, most of the operating revenue associated with the hydroe-

future economic benefits had the capacity to cover the opera-

Therefore, the intangible assets allocated to this segment are

agricultural, industrial and public supply purposes (as

lectric component of EFMA until 2042 had already been defined

ting costs of activities (without considering the amortization of

fully offset by accumulated impairment losses of the same amou-

per Order no. 3025/2017 of 11 April).

since October 2007. However, at the date of closure of the accou-

investments), expectably generating positive operating results.

nt.

Ministry, which would have a decisive influence on the operating
revenue expected from the Company and would allow to assess
to what extent the total operating revenue expected from the use
of public hydric domain allocated to EFMA (those associated with
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•

Weighted average allocation to be extracted from the
Dam 4,953.56 m3/ha; and

•

Reference unit price for supply of water intended for

The assets and liabilities of the “water” segment, as well as the

nts for 2009 and previous years, the tariff for supply of water from
the primary system of the Project had not yet been defined by the

the area covered;

Since its inception, the Portuguese State assumed the multi-pur-

For this purpose, cash flows up to the year 2082 were considered,

recognised impairment losses, with reference to 31 December

pose nature of this Project, which implementation would result

the year in which the concession contract to EDIA, which covers

2020 and 31 December 2019, can be presented as follows:

from the full and efficient use of the enormous “strategic water

the management, operation and private use of the public hydric

reserve” to be stored in the Alqueva and Pedrógão reservoirs. As

domain allocated to EFMA, under the provisions of Decree Law no.

sole holder of EDIA’s capital, the Portuguese State has always

313/2007, expires.
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EUR

EUR

The subjectivity inherent to the determination of the probability

“Water” Segment
Intangible assets - gross value
Investment grants
Assets net of grants = Accumulated
impairment losses
Impairment losses (reversals)
recognised in the period

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

and amount of the outflow of resources necessary to settle the

1 529 522 930

obligations may lead to significant adjustments, either by varia-

(668 667 383)

(665 086 742)

tion of that assumption or by the future recognition of provisions

881 315 366

864 436 188

16 879 178

3 834 860

1 549 982 749

previously disclosed as contingent liabilities.

31/dez/20

Provisions (DPF)

Provision for Legal Proceedings in Progress and Litigious Expropriations
Provision IFRIC 12

EDIA considered, based on the judgment of the Board of Directors

Reductions

Increases

Uses

Reversals

Closing
Balance

Provisions

Total

and on the in-depth analysis of each of the processes by the
Table 113: Water Segment - Asset and Liability

Opening
Balance
633 643

1 700 005

2 333 648

26 242 706

5 646 456

31 889 162

26 876 349

7 346 461

0

0

34 222 810

Table 114: DFF- 2020

internal legal office and external lawyers, that the conditions for
the recognition of provisions, referred to in IAS 37 - Provisions,

An impairment loss of EUR 16,879,178 was recorded at 31 Decem-

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, were met.
EUR

ber 2020. This variation, quite marked, results from the amount recognised in subsidies, in 2020, being much lower than the
amount of investment made.

31/dez/19

In particular with regard to the condition that “it is probable that

Provisions (DPF)

an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation”, the criterion defined in the refer-

Opening
Balance

19.2. Impairment of Accounts Receivable (Losses/

Provision for Legal Proceedings in Progress and Litigious Expropriations

Reversals)

sets was used, considering as probable the outflow “if the event is

Provision IFRIC 12

AThe impairment losses recognised, at the date of this report and

Uses

Reversals

Closing
Balance

Provisions

red IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent As-

more likely than not to occur, i.e. if the probability that the event

Reductions

Increases

Total

634 175

2 861

21 576 102

4 666 604

22 210 277

4 669 466

3 393

633 643
26 242 706

3 393

0

26 876 349

will occur is greater than the probability that it will not occur”.
Table 115: DFF- 2020

in previous periods, essentially correspond to overdue loans for
water distribution services provided by EDIA, when customers
do not respect the contracted payment period and the period of
overdue payment is already significant.

This estimate is based on a thorough technical analysis of the
Legal Office that issues, for this purpose, a document in which

Note: The difference between the amounts under the item “Provisions” in DPF and DRI results from the ongoing legal proceedings with the company Tecnasol-FGE in the amount of
EUR 1,582,686, considered as investment in progress. Consequently, the allocation of the result of the period occurred through the item “Impairment of Depreciable Investments”.

it determines the best estimate of the amounts to be provisioned, based on the history and experience of EDIA, regarding the
outcome of similar cases and based on information provided by

20. Provisions
EDIA periodically analyses possible obligations arising from past
events that must be recognised or disclosed.

external lawyers who collaborate with the Company.

20.1. Provisions for Legal Proceedings in Progress

EUR

and Litigious Expropriations

31/dez/20

31/dez/19

Tecnasol-FGE

1 582 686

-

On 31 December 2020, several litigation processes are known, re-

Monte Adriano, S.A.

420 309

420 309

sulting either from ongoing legal proceedings or expropriations,

Municipalitues of Reguengos de
Monsaraz, Mourão, Portel, Moura and
Alandroal

190 000

190 000

Sociedade Agro-Pecuária do Gavião e
Anexas, SA

117 319

-

Other

20 257

20 257

2 330 571

630 566

2 645

2 645

432

432

3 077

3 077

2 333 648

633 643

In the periods ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, to
address legal proceedings and other present obligations arising
from past events, EDIA has made provisions.

associated with the EFMA investment, which may result in addiProvisions are recognised only when the Company has a present
tional charges and liabilities for EDIA, and the Company has made
obligation (legal or constructive) resulting from a past event, it
provisions to cover these liabilities, based on its best estimate of

Legal Proceedings

is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the amount of future charges to be borne.
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Litigious Expropriation Proceedings
H. São Sebastião

At 31 December 2020, the amount of EUR 2,333,648 under the item

Other

“Provisions”, essentially arises from the following ongoing legal
proceedings and proceedings under litigious expropriations:

Total

Table 116: Provisions
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With regard to the lawsuit filed by Tecnasol-FGE against EDIA

be judged. If the Supreme Administrative Court grants the appeal

In 2012, five municipalities in the Alqueva irrigation area (Re-

of the joint liability of the owner will not raise many doubts, but

relating to the Contract for the treatment of foundations and

filed by EDIA, unless the Plaintiff appeals to the Constitutional

guengos de Monsaraz, Mourão, Portel, Moura and Alandroal)

the question of the need for the situation regarding the payment

implementation of the Pedrógão exploitation observation plan,

Court, this will result in the end of the process, with EDIA winning.

filed a lawsuit concerning the payment of rents allegedly owed

of taxes to be regularized in order to ensure the service, already

this is a Common Administrative Lawsuit, in which the Plaintiff

If the Supreme Administrative Court does not uphold the appeal

by EDIA to those municipalities, under the provisions of Decree-

deserves further analysis. The foreseeable date of conclusion of

claims to have incurred extra costs in carrying out the work, as

lodged by EDIA, the case will be sent back to the Beja Administra-

-Law no. 424/83 of 6 December, which obliges EDP, as the owner

the legal action will be 31 December 2022, and the value of the

it encountered geological characteristics that were more adverse

tive Court for judgment on the matter of fact, which is estimated

of electricity generating centres, to pay certain annual sums to

claim in question is EUR 117,319.

than expected, which lowered productivity and increased execu-

to take at least 8 years to reach a final decision. In view of the

the affected municipalities. No exact request is made for alleged

tion costs.

request made by Tecnasol-FGE, the maximum amount of liabi-

lack of elements to apply the formula for calculating the value of

It should also be noted that the fact that the amount provisioned

lity, according to EDIA, may amount to the value of the case EUR

rents legally provided. EDIA contested, but its operational direc-

for some ongoing lawsuits was quantified at 50% of the amount

EDIA, until 2013, had a provision made (EUR 726,343) correspon-

1,452,686 plus interest, plus about EUR 130,000 corresponding to

torate for primary infrastructures and energy estimated the value

claimed by the plaintiffs in the lawsuit, results from the process

ding to 50% of the amounts claimed, a figure that corresponded

court costs and fees, being on 31 December 2020, the total amou-

of the rents at around EUR 190,000. EDIA was acquitted because

of measuring the provision, i.e., it was considered that 50% of the

to the best estimate of the expenses to be made. Following a

nt provisioned in the accounts, of EUR 1,582,686.

the Judicial Court of Beja considered itself incompetent. The case

amount claimed would be the best estimate of the expenses re-

was referred to the competent court, i.e. the Administrative and

quired to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period,

preliminary hearing on 17 January 2013, the Court did not accept
the case, giving reason to EDIA’s thesis. The Plaintiff appealed to

In 2012, an administrative lawsuit was filed by the construction

Tax Court of Beja. As the process is at a standstill, only in the

under the terms of IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and

the South Administrative Central Court (TCA Sul), and EDIA filed

company Monte Adriano S.A. , under the scope of the construc-

pleadings phase, and there are no indicators or new facts that

Contingent Assets.

counterclaims and appealed subordinately in relation to another

tion contract of the 3rd section of the Pisão-Roxo (Penedrão-Ro-

determine the change in the provision made, it is not possible

exception that it had invoked and which the Court did not uphold.

xo) supply system and the Penedrão dam. The contractor claims

to safely make a judgment of probability on the outcome of the

It should also be noted that when EDIA is convinced that an

However, EDIA was convinced that the appeal filed by the Plaintiff

payment for work amounting to EUR 370,310, claiming that this

action, although the defence arguments presented by EDIA seem

appeal lodged by the other party will not win, and that there is a

would not be upheld, but that the appeal filed by it would. Defen-

amount was not paid due to EDIA’s incorrect interpretation of the

consistent. In the event of a decision, EDIA’s financial liabilities

high probability of success, greater than 50%, the Company dere-

ding EDIA that the probability of success would be greater than

scope of work of a certain item of the bill of quantities. EDIA con-

will approach the amount of EUR 190,000, the amount for which

cognises the provision set aside for this purpose in its accounts.

50% and that the expected value of the liability was null, it dere-

tested and provisioned 50% (EUR 185,155) of the amount reques-

the provision for this process was set up. As it is a matter of law

cognised in its accounts, in 2013, the respective provision. Mean-

ted by the contractor, which is considered the best estimate of

and still without jurisprudential treatment, it is not possible to

The establishment of provisions within the scope of contentious

while Tecnasol-FGE appealed to the Southern Court of Appeal, by

the expenses to be made. In June 2017 a provision reinforcement

advance any forecast on the outcome of the action, assuming

expropriation proceedings conducted by EDIA follows a set of as-

judgment of 2 July 2020, against the understanding of the TAF of

was made in the amount of EUR 235,154 EUR, since the maximum

that the probability of winning or losing are the same. Given the

sumptions that, depending on the stage of development of the

Beja, considered that the issue of legitimacy (which was at the

amount of liability could amount to the value of the action (EUR

time elapsed without any procedural development, the forecast

process and the amounts provisionally established in each one

basis of the preliminary decision in favour of EDIA and was the

370,309) plus interest, court fees, costs and fees (EUR 50,000). A

conclusion of the lawsuit was changed to 31 December 2021.

of them (proposal by EDIA, arbitration, expert opinion, ruling and

reason for the appeal filed by Tecnasol-FGE) is resolved with the

preliminary hearing was scheduled for 22 October 2018, which

intervention of Mota Engil, since we are dealing with a Consor-

had been pending since 13 March 2015. Meanwhile EDIA raised

Common administrative action brought by Sociedade Agrope-

provision made. With regard to pending expropriation procee-

tium and the action should have been brought by the Consortium

three exceptions and contested the action. The Court by decision

cuária Herdade do Gavião e Anexas, S.A. in which the Plain-

dings, in addition to involving low value amounts, most of them

and not only by Tecnasol-FGE, as happened in the first petition

of 5 June 2019 upheld one of the exceptions invoked by EDIA, but

tiff claims reimbursement of the sums it paid for the service of

are in court for reasons that are not related to the existence of

presented. Consequently, the case was remanded for further pro-

the Plaintiff appealed to the South Administrative Central Court.

making water available for irrigation, alleging that this charge

litigation (lack of knowledge of the owners, litigation between

ceedings with the summoning of Mota-Engil to the proceedings,

Admitting that the appeal filed by the Plaintiff does not deserve

is the responsibility of a third party. EDIA contested the request

heirs, among others).

in order to overcome its lack of standing. EDIA decided to lodge

to be upheld, as expected, this action would be resolved with the

alleging that the responsibility of the owner is joint and several

an Exceptional Review Appeal with the Supreme Administrative

judgment of the South Administrative Central Court, barring any

and that, in any case, it is not possible to ensure the service in

At 31 December 2020, with regard to these contentious expropria-

Court. By Judgement of 20 November 2020, the Supreme Court

extraordinary appeal. If the Plaintiff’s appeal is upheld, the case

properties with outstanding debts. Also with no further develop-

tion processes, there was no change to the provisioned amounts,

decided to admit the Review, which means that it will hear the

will be sent back to the Administrative and Tax Court of Beja for

ments after the pleadings phase and with a constituted provision,

as a result of the absence of a decision by the Arbitration Com-

appeal. After hearing the Public Prosecutor’s Office, it declared it

judgment on the merits and, in this case, an additional 6 to 7

and also because it is essentially a matter of law still without

mission.

unfounded, but with arguments that were refuted by EDIA. Tecna-

years should be added, since EDIA will have to await judgment,

jurisprudential treatment, it is not possible to advance with any

sol-FGE did not counter-argue. The process shall be concluded on

decision, and as an appeal will, in principle, be lodged against the

forecast on the outcome of the action, admitting that the proba-

20 January 2021, which means that it is in order for the appeal to

decision, it will have to await its outcome.

bilities of winning or losing are the same. In effect, the question
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20.2. IFRIC 12 Provision

•

Average financing rate for the period 2013-2082; and

the infrastructures determined in this study, taking into account

Assumptions

not only the detail by contract and respective assets, but also
Infrastructures relating to the uses of the public hydric domain

•

The Euribor forecast is based on Bloomberg spot rates.

allocated to EFMA, object of the respective concession contract

their valuation, useful life and respective amortisations, which

For the purposes of estimating the provision to be recorded under

meant that the results of the study were not yet applicable in

IFRIC 12, the following assumptions were considered:

concluded between EDIA and the State and forming part of the

In 2018, for the purposes of updating the initial estimate of the

primary system (dams, Hydroelectric Power Plants and primary

provision for major repairs and replacements, with a detailed

network) of the Project, for the duration of the concession, are

plan of interventions in the various infrastructures, object of the

As mentioned above, the infrastructures included in the calcula-

dividual value in excess of EUR 350,000 for the following

the property of the concessionaire.

concession contract, based on a set of assumptions and estimates

tion of the provision for major repairs and replacements of the

reasons:

of a financial, operational and technical nature, EDIA, given the

Alqueva Project, in addition to the Alqueva and Pedrógão dams,

The provision recorded under IFRIC 12, results from the obliga-

complexity of this matter and considering the National Labora-

also include the primary network of the three EFMA subsystems:

tion, established in the concession contract signed with the Sta-

tory for Civil Engineering (LNEC) as a credible entity, with special

Alqueva, Ardila and Pedrógão.

te in October 2007, to maintain/preserve, during the concession

competences entrusted to it by the Dam Safety Regulations, in

period, the infrastructures related to the energy production and

which it has a variety of skills that enable it to have exclusive

In 2020, the completion of the study on the forecast of the need

consider the respective maintenance costs as current

water distribution activities, which revert to the State at the end

knowledge of the type of infrastructures under analysis, such as

for investment in major repairs, replacements and rehabilitation

expenses; and

of the concession period. This provision covers only those major

concrete dams and embankments, canals, pumping stations, drai-

of infrastructure, planned to be made over the remaining pe-

repairs and replacements that are expected to be made during the

nage networks, it decided that LNEC would be the company with

riod of the concession (2020-2082), allowed EDIA to quantify the

concession period, thus not including the current maintenance

the best technical capability to present a valuation study of the

amount to be provisioned under IFRIC 12, based on the following

monitoring of the model, with the adoption of this

and conservation of these assets, which are recognized as expen-

infrastructures of the Alqueva Project.

stages/assumptions:

interval, the number of components to be subject to

financial year 2019.
•

Inclusion of investment components carried out with an in-

1.

value of less than EUR 350,000 represent percentages and reduced values, and it is more appropriate to

2.

To corroborate its internal analysis on the valuation of that responsibility and due to the need to obtain information in a timely

cember 2019 (EUR 26,242,706), based on the following assump-

manner, it was decided to move forward, testing the application

tions:

and methodology proposed in the study, to the pilot project -

to 31 December 2019 and their classification according to

Pedrógão subsystem.

the respective final accounts of the contracts;

•

•

Replacement of components at the end of their useful life,
whenever this is less than the end of the concession period;

•

The IVI (Infrastructure Value Index), which represents the

Identification, by contract work, of the components with an

degree of ageing of the infrastructure, shall always be

presented, and it was decided to replicate the work done for the

investment value of more than EUR 350,000, where approxi-

greater than 0.4. According to LNEC’s report no. 68/2019,

remaining EFMA subsystems (Alqueva and Ardila). In complian-

mately 20% of the components represent more than 80% of

where in the identification of metrics, it is indicated that

Application of an estimated rate of 0.2% to investments in

ce with this guideline, during 2019, steps were taken with this

the total investment made;

the IVI is considered GOOD between 0.4 and 0.6, i.e., values

the water distribution activity, to ascertain the average cost

objective, with LNEC having been contracted again, but due to

of major annual repairs;

its inability to carry out one of the components of the previous

and construction, without taking into account the value of

At the end of 2018, the conclusions of the pilot project study were

submerged and surplus land;

No major repair costs are considered for the energy genera-

•

below 0.4 mean that the infrastructure is aged and in need
•

Updating of the identified investment components, for the

of conservation and rehabilitation investments;

year 2019 (EUR 409,839,505); and
•

Phelps) was contracted.
•

tion activity concerning the Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroe-

•

Identification of the components of the investment made up

Total value of operation investments, including equipment

study, a company specialising in asset classification (Duff and
•

to 200;

Stages

This provision has been recognised and measured, as at 31 De-

•

In order to reduce the possibility of failures in the

in-depth monitoring was reduced from around 1,000

ses in the period in which they occur.

•

The annualised values of the components with a total

For each classified component with a value greater than

Use of a tool/application, made available by LNEC, with the

EUR 350,000, the value of the annual provisions to be set

lectric Power Plants, since under the sub-concession con-

On 31 December 2019, the studies for the Alqueva and Ardila

values of each of the components, in order to obtain the

up for the next repair/replacement was calculated for 2020,

tract signed with EDP, these costs are its responsibility;

subsystems were completed, however, the adherence of these re-

amounts of investment in major repairs, replacements and

updating the respective rates:

sults to the Company’s assets was still subject to a more rigorous

annual rehabilitation planned to be made in the period from

Estimated deadline to cope with major repairs, in equipment

analysis for duly consolidated decision-making. There was a lot

2020 to 2082.

and civil construction, of 20 and 30 years respectively;

of work downstream, of analysis of the various components of

1.

Inflation rate of 1.10%; and

2.

Discount rate of 1.36%, which corresponds to EDIA’s
average financing rate;
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BEI – EUR 135.000.000

Bond Loan – EUR 56,180,000

•

Contract start date: 1999

•

Contract start date: 2007

occurred.

•

Term: 20 years

•

Term: 20 years

and replacement for the period 2020-2082, in the invest-

With this contract expiring in December 2020, it was decided by

•

Grace period: 7 years

•

Reimbursement: total at the end of the contract (2027)

ment value components of more than EUR 350,000 and at

Order of the Minister of Agriculture, information no. 12538 of 24

2019 prices, amounts to EUR 692,516,482;

September 2020, that the term of the concession relating to the

•

The amount of EUR 135,000,000 reflected in the loans accou-

•

This bond loan was contracted with Millennium BCP and BPI

•

The coupons are half-yearly and their repayment is bullet

•

Interest rate: Euribor 3 months + Spread 0.005%.

Conclusions:

the concession period (7 years), no major repairs and replacements would occur in the respective infrastructures and equip-

After applying the new model, the following results were obtai-

ment, with the current maintenance and conservation of these

ned:

assets being recognised as expenses, in the years in which they

•

The total forecast of investments to be incurred for repair

nt results from the full utilisation of tranches A, B, C and D

management, operation, maintenance and conservation of the
•

The valuation of the investments to be incurred with re-

secondary network infrastructures was extended for a further 10

pair and replacement, regarding the next intervention, whi-

years.

•

The repayment of this loan will be made as follows:

ch average execution was estimated in 5 years, totals EUR
63,509,684;

•

•

◊

Due to this deadline extension, for the secondary network infras-

EUR 35,000,000 - Tranche A - 13 consecutive annual

tructures of EFMA to EDIA, until the year 2030, it is the Company’s

payments starting in September 2007 and the last one

Based on the estimated dates, by component, for the next

intention, based on the forecast of investment needs in rehabili-

in September 2019

intervention and the respective update of the inflation

tation of the EFMA infrastructures, prepared by LNEC, to estimate

and discount rates, EDIA’s liabilities on 31 December 2019

and record the amount to be provisioned for major repairs and

and 31 December 2020 amount to EUR 28,179,854 and EUR

replacements of the secondary network, after signing the adden-

31,889,162, respectively;

dum to the concession contract, scheduled for 2021.

Bond Loan – EUR 94,350,000
◊

EUR 35,000,000 - Tranche B - 13 consecutive annual
payments starting in September 2007 and the last one

Contract start date: 2010

•

Term: 20 years

•

Repayment: from February 2017 onwards, inclusive, 28 equal

in September 2019

◊

It should also be noted that the adoption of this new valua-

EUR 32,500,000 - Tranche C - 13 annual and consecutive repayments starting from March 2009, and the last

tion model and the respective update of the rates (inflation

and successive half-yearly instalments

one on 15 March 2021

21. Financing Obtained

and discount), compared to the values recorded at 31 De-

•

cember 2019, led to an adjustment of the provision, which
was treated in accounting terms as a change in estimate

The financing of the investments made in the various EFMA in-

and, as such, with an impact on the result for the reporting

frastructures has involved, to date, the contracting of several

period. Thus, in 2020, the total reinforcement of the provi-

bond loans, an EIB loan and a loan granted by the State.

◊

EUR 32,500,000 - Tranche D - 13 annual and consecu-

•

tive repayments starting from March 2009, and the last

te formed by Banco Infrastrutture Innovazione e Sviluppo,

one on 15 March 2021

SpA (BIIS); Banco BPI, S.A. (BPI); Banco Santander Totta, S.A.
(Santander); Caixa - Banco de Investimento, S.A. (CaixaBI);

sion amounts to EUR 5,646,456.
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the financing obUntil the end of 2020, the non-recording of a provision for the se-

•

ceeding 3-month Euribor rate plus 0.15%

•

Interest Rate: Euribor 6 months + Spread 2.65%.

•

Repayments until 31 December 2020: EUR 108,623,188

•

Repayments until 31 December 2020: EUR 26,957,143

•

Amount Outstanding: EUR 26,376,812

•

Amount Outstanding: EUR 67,392,857

EUR

31/dez/20

Current

Non-Current

Bond loans

6 739 286

116 666 964

DGTF Loan

126 139 523

European Investment Bank (EIB)

Total

TOTAL

Dexia Sabadell, S.A. – Portuguese Branch (Dexia)

Interest Rate: rate determined by the EIB according to the
procedures established by its Board of Directors and not ex-

tained is broken down as follows:

condary network was based on the assumption that, throughout

Financing Obtained

This bond loan was taken out with the Banking Syndica-

31/dez/19

TOTAL

Current

Non-Current

123 406 250

6 739 279

123 392 149

130 131 429

All bond loans were made with the unconditional and irrevocable

-

126 139 523

94 604 649

31 534 881

126 139 530

guarantee of the Portuguese Republic.

26 376 812

-

26 376 812

3 218 599

26 376 812

29 595 411

159 255 621

116 666 964

275 922 585

104 562 527

181 303 842

285 866 369

Table 117: Financing Obtained

208 | R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0

R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0 | 209

DGTF loan – EUR 189,209,285

1st instalment

For the uses of the loan, interest is due at the annual nominal

In 2020, expenses were capitalised at an average rate of 0.237%

fixed rate, equivalent to the Republic’s financing cost, to be fixed

making the amount of EUR 6,569 (in 2019 the average rate was

on the date of each disbursement, according to the quotation to

0.246% and the amount EUR 7,672).

be obtained from the Treasury and Public Debt Management Agen•

Amount: EUR 10,100,000

cy and to be transmitted to the Borrower by the Lender.

22. Suppliers and Other Payables
•

Interest rate: 1.62%.

Interest is due semi-annually in arrears. The loan will be repaid in

EUR

twelve equal and successive semi-annual instalments of capital,
•

Start: 28 November 2014

31/dez/20

Suppliers and Other Payables

beginning on 31 May 2016 and ending on 30 November 2021.

31/dez/19

Current

Non-Current

Current

Non-Current

5 283 169

-

5 156 641

-

5 283 169

-

5 156 641

-

Suppliers

•

Repayment: twelve equal and successive semi-annual ins-

On 28 December 2018, 8 July 2019 and 30 January 2020, EDIA re-

talments of capital, beginning on 31 May 2016 and ending

ceived the letters from DGTF to defer the payment of the debt

on 30 November 2021

service, without additional costs, from 30 November 2018 to 31

•

Repayments until 31 December 2020: EUR 3,366,667

•

Amount Outstanding: EUR 6,733,333

Suppliers -Current Account

Total
Other Payables
Investment suppliers

10 610 709

-

1 121 645

-

May 2019, from 31 May 2019 to 30 November 2019 and from 30

Creditors for Accrued Expenses

9 337 613

-

9 014 379

-

November 2019 to 31 May 2020, respectively.

EU Funds - Advances

1 435 663

-

2 406 701

-

26 405

-

10 615

-

21 410 390

-

12 553 341

-

Other Creditors

Subsequently, by Orders no. 381/2020-SET and 962/2020-SET of

Total

the Secretary of State for the Treasury, the deferrals of debt ser2nd instalment

May 2020 to 30 November 2020 and from 30 November 2020 to 31
•

Amount: EUR 179,109,285

•

Interest rate: 1.66%.

At the date of this report, amortisation and interest for the years

Start: 27 November 2014
The staggering of the debts in the Financial Position Statement

•

Repayment: twelve equal and successive semi-annual instalments of capital, beginning on 31 May 2016 and end on

22.1. Suppliers - Current Accounts

22.2. Investment suppliers

The suppliers’ balances related to the secondary network invest-

There was a significant increase in the balance of this item, which

ments, shown under the caption “Inventories”, are recorded under

essentially resulted from the increase in investment in tangib-

the caption “Suppliers - current account”, instead of “Investment

le and intangible fixed assets associated with the 2nd phase of

suppliers”, since they do not result from investments in tangible

EFMA.

May 2021, respectively.

2018, 2019 and 2020 are outstanding.
•

Table 119: Suppliers and Other Payables

vice payments were approved, without additional costs, from 31

as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, falling due over 5

or intangible fixed assets, but from construction works shown under the caption “External supplies and services”.

years, amount to EUR 89,876,428 and EUR 96,615,714 respectively.

withheld by EDIA, as developer, under Decree-Law no. 59/99, in

30 November 2021

•

Repayments until 31 December 2020: EUR 59,703,095
EUR

•

31/dez/20

Amount Outstanding: EUR 119,406,190

31/dez/19

tion perimeter of public accounts, the State (DGTF) grants EDIA a
medium and long-term loan totalling EUR 189,209,285, to settle
the short-term loans in the various banks (EUR 184,209,285) plus
EUR 5,000,000 which are intended to meet the financing needs,
relating to the servicing of the Company’s debt.
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2007 Bond Loan (EUR 56.18 million)

56 180 000

56 180 000

2010 Bond Loan (EUR 94.35 million)

33 696 428

40 435 714

89 876 428

96 615 714

Total

Once Phase I of the Project is completed with the operationalisa-

order to guarantee the execution and maintenance of the works,

tion of the 120,000 ha irrigated area and the potential areas for

in situations where the contractor has not provided a bank gua-

irrigation in neighbouring areas have been identified, amounting

rantee for the purpose, while still within the scope of the guaran-

to approximately 50,000 ha, the investment made in Phase II of

tee period for the work.

the Project in 2020 will increase with the infrastructure of these

Non Convertible Bond Loans

In November 2014 and following EDIA’s entry into the consolida-

The balance of this account is also influenced by the amounts

neighbouring areas.

22.3. Creditors for Accrued Expenses

Therefore, the balance of this account mostly reflects the amou-

The account “Creditors for Accrued Expenses” reflects the speciali-

nt outstanding with suppliers, such as DST-Domingos da Silva

sed value of the expenses with: (i) the interest on financing obtai-

Teixeira, S.A.; Tecnovia, S.A; Ferrovial Agroman S.A. and Endesa

ned from the medium and long-term loan, granted by the DGTF, in

Energia, S.A. within the scope of these contracts, but also with

the total amount of EUR 4,434,870; (ii) the TRH component, rela-

the energy consumed for the operation of the respective infras-

ting to the use of water by customers of the irrigation perimeters

tructures.

(application of Decree-law no. 97/2008), in the amount of EUR

Table 118: Non-standard bond loans
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2,395,969; (iii) holidays and holiday allowances in the amount

Following the publication of Decree-Law no. 335/2001 of 24 De-

of EUR 832.873; (iv) investments in contract works and respec-

cember, which, with the exception of Infrastructure 12 and the Luz

tive inspections, electricity services and other services rendered

Perimeter, provides for the transfer to the State (MAFDR) of the

(communications), invoiced in January 2021 which consumption

infrastructure forming part of the secondary network assigned

Subcontracts

16 817 557

3 320 216

Electricity

15 456 164

15 569 945

Maintenance and Repairs

3 323 323

3 479 812

have been implemented in response to this disease, were relevant

Specialised Works

919 632

659 433

for the impact on some of these items. This situation has required

With the entry into operation on 31 December 2016 of all the

Insurance

617 905

423 230

everyone to take extraordinary measures to prevent the trans-

completed blocks and in accordance with the treatment given in

Rent and Leases

355 502

378 490

mission of this disease. The priority of preventing the disease,

Surveillance and Security

269 698

316 810

containing the pandemic and ensuring safety, led to positions,

Fuel

183 003

220 713

Cleaning and Hygiene

168 034

149 363

Communication

102 824

100 434

Publicity and Advertising

98 561

166 679

personal or professional, social and economic. Considering this

Fees

87 187

57 552

framework and taking into account the present situation, there

With the delivery contracts signed with the State (DGADR), in April

Litigation

86 151

20 026

was a reduction of some variable costs in the Company, as a result

and November 2013, the balance of the “Finished and Interme-

Tools and Utensils

35 027

36 214

of the adoption of the teleworking regime, such as fuel costs,

Other Fluids

15 604

14 111

Tolls and Parking

15 523

22 490

Office Supplies

14 320

18 569

EUR 979,271; and (v) interest on bond and bank loans, amounting

secondary network infrastructure under “Inventories”.

to EUR 694,630.

previous years to other infrastructures of the same nature, the
value associated with these infrastructures was transferred from

formulated a request for an advance payment, for the project for

the “Products and Works in Progress” account to the “Finished and

the 2nd phase of the installation of the Álamos supply system, in

Semi-Finished Products” account.

the amount of EUR 7,015,000.

In these cases, and as provided for in Article 63 of Commission
Regulation (EC) no. 1305/2013 of 27 December, the Board of Directors (through a written guarantee issued to the competent paying

primary and secondary networks.
EUR

2019

to EFMA, EDIA has, since 2002, shown the cost of works on the

Under the Rural Development Program 2014-2020 (PDR2020), EDIA

also includes investments made in the infrastructure of EFMA’s

2020

and services rendered refer to the previous month, amounting to

22.4. EU funds

25. External Supplies and Services

diate Products” account, related to the secondary network, investments in perimeters substantially completed and already in

Supplies and External Services

The importance and dimension of the effects of the pandemic of
the COVID-19 disease, as well as the multiplicity of measures that

suspensions and interdictions, for consecutive periods, which had
repercussions on the normal functioning of activities, whether

tolls and parking, travel and accommodation and representation
expenses.

agency - Instituto de Financiamento da Agricultura e Pescas, I.P.)

operation, is transferred to the “Other Receivables” item. In 2020,

Water

8 348

13 368

has guaranteed repayment in an amount corresponding to 100%

in relation to projects allocated to blocks, the amount of EUR

Travel and Accommodation

6 816

21 213

In general, with regard to the other items, there were no sig-

of the amount of the advance if entitlement to the advance is

511,197 was transferred.

Books and Technical Documentation

5 599

2 988

nificant variations, although the amount of the energy account

Representation Costs

2 913

7 558

should be highlighted, as it maintains, in comparison with the

In 2020, the item “Variation in Production Inventories” (EUR

Others

39 631

35 584

same period of the previous year, a high value due to the full

Regarding the advance payment request, until the end of 2020,

17,710,972) increased significantly as a result of the investment

Total

38 629 323

25 034 798

EDIA presented expenses in the amount of EUR 5,615,218.

made in the secondary network infrastructures, in the areas sur-

not proven.

operation of the various infrastructures in operation.

Table 121: External supplies and services

rounding the 2nd Phase of EFMA, essentially with the construction
of the Évora, Cuba-Odivelas and Viana Blocks.

23. Variation in Production Inventories

The item “External Supplies and Services” shows a very significant
increase, in homologous terms, resulting from a very significant

The change in production inventories at 31 December 2020 and 31

24. Own Work for the Entity

December 2019 is broken down as follows:

increase in the “Subcontracts” sub-account, as a consequence of
a greater investment volume carried out in the 2nd Phase of the

of the secondary network, shown in the item “Inventories”, with
EUR

The “Personnel Costs” of the Company were as follows:
EUR

this increase in expenses being compensated by an increase of a

2019

operational areas directly linked to the construction of EFMA in-

24 180 649

6 980 873

frastructures. These expenses are directly related to the primary

511 197

723 151

network, carried out under the direct administration of the Com-

Opening Inventory

(6 980 873)

(3 575 268)

Variation in Production Inventories

17 710 972

4 128 757

17 710 972

4 128 757

Transfers to "Other Receivables"

employees is 179.

“Intangible Assets”) of expenses allocated to the Company’s

2020

Closing Inventory

On 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, the number of EDIA

Project, with the infrastructure in bordering areas (50,000 ha),
This item records the allocation to investment in progress (in

Products and Works in Progress

26. Personnel Costs

2020

2019

Remunerations

5 161 465

4 923 737

Social Charges

1 145 052

1 088 262

The change in the item “Insurance” essentially results from up-

Other Personnel Costs

295 103

307 343

dating the coverage of the policy of the “All Risks - Property

Total

6 601 620

6 319 342

similar amount in the item “Variation in Production Inventories”.

pany, as explained in Note 3.1.f.

Personnel Costs

Damage” branch, which insurance object, in addition to dams,
Table 122: Personnel Costs

Table 120: Products and Works in progress
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During 2020 and the same period in 2019, the members of the

27.1. Interest

Company’s corporate bodies were attributed the following remuneration related to the performance of their duties:

EUR

2020

2019

Board of Directors

235 273

237 546

Statutory Auditor

17 468

17 540

Supervisory Board

36 579

37 297

1 325

1 325

290 645

293 708

General Meeting Board

Total

•

Subsidies associated to the water distribution activity, which assets have been concluded to be totally impaired, have

Under the “Concession Contract for the Operation of the Alqueva

been derecognised when recording impairment losses of the

(CHA) and Pedrógão (CHP) Hydroelectric Power Plants” concluded

respective assets, i.e., these losses are recognised in the

with EDP, EDIA received an initial amount of EUR 195,000,000 and

Comprehensive Income Statement by the net value of the

will receive, for a period of 35 years, a periodic annual amount of

respective subsidies.

The amount of EUR 6,768,324 shown under “Interest - Concession

EUR

Interest and Similar Costs
Interest
Guarantee fees
Banking services

EUR 12,380,000 (value updated in 2012).

Total

28. Other Expenses and Losses

Contract_ EDP_IFRS 15” corresponds to the part of the remune-

Table 123: Corporate Bodies Costs

29. Interest and Similar Costs
2020

2019

2 484 828

2 816 584

246 488

264 296

34 126

34 587

2 765 442

3 115 466

Table 125: Interest and similar costs

The “Interest and similar costs” account reflects the interest as-

ration (established in the contract with EDP) that reflects the up-

The item “Other Costs and Losses” (EUR 162,985) fell signifi-

sociated to the Company’s Financing Obtained, namely the me-

dating of the capital (fair value of the sub-concession calculated

cantly compared with the same period of the previous year (EUR

dium and long-term loan from the DGTF and the bond loans.

at the date of signing the contract), based on an implicit fixed

1,480,582), due to a change in accounting criteria and the respec-

rate of 3.5%.

tive recording of the TRH.

The remaining balances relate essentially to guarantee commissions on bond loans and banking services, granted by the Portu-

In 2020, some of the measures to reduce costs in the State Busi-

27.2. Allocation of Investment Subsidies

ness Sector (SEE), approved in previous years, remained in force.

At 31 December 2020, in the financial statements, in particular
under “Remunerations”, the variation occurred essentially reflects: (i) the twelfths of the 2019 holiday allowances (payable

The item “Allocation of Investment Subsidies” reflects the recog-

Reporting (NCRF) no. 20 - “Revenue” - paragraph 8 (states that

nition in income of subsidies associated with investments, es-

taxes, including fees charged are not economic benefits that flow

sentially in the energy segment, to the extent that the latter are

to the entity and do not result in an increase in equity, and should

depreciated. It does not include:

therefore be excluded from revenue), EDIA changed the previous

•

27. Other Income and Gains

Depreciation and amortisation expense/reversals in 2020 and

Subsidies for the construction of the secondary network,

those amounts represent a collection from third parties of a fee

2019 are broken down as follows:

which are shown under “Deferrals”, in Non-Current Liabili-

on the private use of waters in the public hydric domain of the

ties, since the corresponding assets are owned by the State.

State (there being exemptions) on behalf of and to be delivered

Most of these subsidies were deducted from the investment,

to ARH, and therefore are not part of the Company’s revenue.

2019

-

-

Buildings and Other Constructions

253 678

255 508

Land and Natural Resources

when the contracts were signed for the delivery of the com-

for the use of water resources) is charged to EDIA by ARH, as the

Basic Equipment

32 428

54 019

pleted infrastructure, because EDIA has made these invest-

entity providing these services, and it is then up to the Company

Transport Equipment

41 461

44 373

Administrative Equipment

70 201

49 548

Other Tangible Assets

65 839

52 946

463 607

456 394

Land and Natural Resources

859 776

924 371

Buildings and Other Constructions

3 117 926

3 117 926

Basic Equipment

1 281 430

1 281 430

12 521

7 527

5 271 654

5 331 255

5 735 262

5 787 649

Interest Concession Contract_EDP_IFRS 15

6 768 324

6 958 091

ments with its own funds, on behalf of the State, resulting

to pass on this fee to the respective end customers, the amounts

Allocation of investment grants

1 878 587

1 941 430

from the Concession Contract signed with DGADR in April

were recognised as expenses for the year.

Other income

263 988

446 143

2013 and ending on 31 December 2020; and
In 2020, the respective change was made in the registration of the
TRH, transferring the values associated with this component, pos-

Table 124: Other Income and Gains

2020

On the other hand, considering that the aforementioned TRH (due

2019

9 345 664

Expenses/Reversals of
Depreciation and Amortization

ferred to the account of DGADR, under “Other Receivables”,

2020

8 910 899

EUR

Tangible Fixed Assets

Other Income and Gains

Total

30. Expenses/Reversals of Depreciation and
Amortization

accounting treatment of the TRH component, considering that

initially shown under “Inventories” and subsequently trans-

EUR

guese State (see Note 21).

tion, in accordance with the Accounting Standard and Financial

in 2020) and the twelfths of the Christmas allowance; and (ii) the
2020 progressions.

As mentioned in Note 13.2.2-Provided Services-Water Distribu-

ted until 2019 under revenue and expenses, to a single account of
Third Parties-Other Debtors and Creditors.

Intangible Assets

Other Intangible Assets
Computer Programmes

Total

Table 126: Interest and Similar Costs
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31. Operating Segments

The Energy segment consists of the production of electricity

The results by segment for the year 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

through the Alqueva and Pedrógão hydroelectric power plants,
EDIA’s activity is grouped into three operating segments: Water;

the Alvito, Odivelas, Pisão, Roxo and Serpa Mini Hydro Plants and

Energy; and Special Projects.

the Alqueva Photovoltaic Plant. The turnover results essentially

EUR

2020
ITEMS

from the income received from the concession contract for the

Water

Energy

Special Projects

Not-Assigned

Total

19 128 169

16 223 066

188 407

70

35 539 712

(24 716 287)

(465 663)

(1 081 297)

(503 342)

(26 766 588)

(332 657)

(23 742)

356 399

-

0

(5 920 775)

15 733 661

(536 490)

(503 272)

8 773 124

3 840 661

4 934 715

118 036

582 914

9 476 325

Other operating costs and losses

(6 559 487)

(45 650)

(17 771)

(90 914)

(6 713 822)

Earnings Before Depreciations and Financial Costs

(8 639 601)

20 622 726

(436 226)

(11 272)

11 535 627

The Water segment is related to the management of the use of the

Alqueva and Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plants to EDP for a

External revenues

public water domain allocated to EFMA in order to ensure its dis-

period of 35 years. However, it also refers the operation in this

Operating Costs

tribution through criteria of rigour and sustainability, consisting

period of all the Mini Hydro plants, except Roxo, and the pho-

Intersegmental revenues/costs

of two sub-segments:

tovoltaic plant, being the electricity production of these plants
delivered to the national grid.

•

Water Storage, in which the large reservoirs (Alqueva and
Pedrógão reservoirs) stand out and which purpose is to

The Special Projects segment covers various areas, such as tou-

supply water for agricultural, industrial, public supply and

rism, the environment, culture and cartographic production:

hydroelectric purposes, with revenues essentially internal;
and

•

Cartography Centre, a project originally created as a support
for the investment made by EDIA, both at cartographic and

•

Water Supply, encompassing the three water supply subsys-

topographic level, and which emerges as a business oppor-

tems of EFMA (Alqueva, Pedrógão and Ardila). In this sub-

tunity;

Gross Margin
Other Income and Gains

(208 453)

(5 284 365)

(190 090)

(18 078)

(5 700 987)

Impairment Losses

(16 879 178)

-

-

-

(16 879 178)

Operating Income

(25 727 232)

15 338 361

(626 316)

(29 350)

(11 044 537)

-

-

-

-

-

Interest and Financial Costs

(2 751 907)

-

-

(13 536)

(2 765 442)

Results by Business Segment

(28 479 139)

15 338 361

(626 316)

(42 886)

(13 809 980)

Depreciation and Amortization

Interest and Financial Income Obtained

Income Tax
Net Result of the Year

(45 214)
(13 855 194)

-segment, EDIA only really started operating after the completion of the construction of the irrigation perimeters and

•

PNN which arose as an environmental minimisation project

the establishment of the tariff to be applied to the provision

as a result of the construction of the Alqueva reservoir, but

of water distribution services (Order No. 9000/2010 of 26

which is complemented by agricultural and tourist areas;

May, updated by Order No. 3025/2017 of 11 April), with gra-

and

dual increases in earnings over the years due to the entry
into operation of new perimeters, the increased adherence
to irrigation and the use of water for other purposes.

•

Luz Museum is a space of memory and interpretation of all

EUR

2020
ITEMS

Water

Energy

Special Projects

Not-Assigned

Total

Assets

242 917 574

513 529 283

11 259 223

13 336 475

781 042 555

Liabilities

320 267 002

407 697 904

1 656 889

3 779 088

733 400 883

the unprecedented processes of the relocation of Village of
Luz and appears as a growing cultural project in the new

Table 127 and 128: Segments 2020

village.
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a.

EUR

2019
ITEMS

Management and operation of the supply systems, en-

Standing Interpretations Committee - SIC-29 Interpretation

suring the functioning of the supply and distribution

Disclosures-Service Concession Contracts

Water

Energy

Special Projects

Not-Assigned

Total

18 456 836

14 249 364

252 672

88

32 958 960

(20 108 914)

160 871

(1 075 861)

(5 445 692)

(26 469 595)

Intersegmental revenues/costs

(261 398)

(24 795)

286 194

-

0

Gross Margin

(1 913 475)

14 385 440

(536 996)

(5 445 604)

6 489 365

656 163

8 791 699

225 164

(182 547)

9 490 479

Other operating costs and losses

(6 496 953)

(27 458)

(4 943)

658 502

(5 870 852)

Earnings Before Depreciations and Financial Costs

(7 754 265)

23 149 681

(316 775)

(4 969 650)

10 108 992

(164 056)

(5 277 783)

(199 957)

(114 787)

(5 756 583)

As EDIA is responsible for supplying water for irrigation as well

scope of this Interpretation, EDIA acts as a public service provider

Impairment Losses

(3 834 860)

-

-

-

(3 834 860)

as for strengthening public and industrial supply, these guideli-

and operates and maintains that operation service for a speci-

Operating Income

(11 753 181)

17 871 898

(516 732)

(5 084 437)

517 548

nes aimed to ensure and guarantee the regular operation of this

fic period, within the scope of the concession contract concluded

-

-

-

-

-

essential service for the functioning of our society. Despite this

with the Ministry of the Environment, Land Planning and Regional

Interest and Financial Costs

(3 099 539)

-

-

(15 928)

(3 115 466)

Results by Business Segment

(14 852 720)

17 871 898

(516 732)

(5 100 365)

(2 597 918)

context, the Company thus continued to guarantee the supply of

Development.

External revenues
Operating Costs

Other Income and Gains

Depreciation and Amortization

Interest and Financial Income Obtained

Income Tax
Net Result of the Year

networks, as well as all the equipment and infrastructure;

tements were prepared in accordance with the International Fib.

The immediate assessment and reporting of distur-

nancial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union,

bances in the exercise of the activities provided for in

including the standards as well as the respective interpretations.

the preceding subparagraph.”
According to the terms of the Concession Contracts, within the

(72 918)

water to its customers as well as the support it has been provi-

(2 670 836)

ding, making Alqueva the example of solidarity-based agricul-

EDIA recognises an intangible asset to the extent that it receives

ture.

a right (a licence) to charge users for the public service.

In this context, the Company took several measures, of which the

On 17 October 2007, the Company signed this concession contract,

following are highlighted:

which regulates the use of water resources to capture water for

EUR

2019
ITEMS

As referred in Note 2.1 - Bases of Presentation, the financial sta-

Water

Energy

Special Projects

Not-Assigned

Total

Assets

230 104 018

524 927 601

11 033 546

15 434 737

781 499 902

Liabilities

313 621 534

423 908 276

1 701 028

2 296 838

741 527 676

irrigation and power generation in the primary system of the Al◊

Drawing up and approval of a Specific Contingency Plan;

queva Multipurpose Project. In this contract, EDIA was granted
the management and operation, as well as the use of the public
hydric domain allocated to the Project.

Table 129 and 130: Segments 2019

◊

Acquisition of hygiene and protection products, namely
hand sanitizer, masks, visors, among others;

EDIA’s activities included in its object are the design, implementation and construction of the infrastructures that make up the

32. Other Relevant Information

◊

This note is used to disclose other information not provided for

EFMA), issued by the Office of the Minister of Agriculture, which,

in the previous notes and which is considered necessary to better

in its paragraph 4, establishes the following guidelines for EDIA,

understand EDIA’s financial position and results.

during the context of the pandemic:

Main Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic

In cases where the nature of the functions allows it, emplo-

secondary network assigned to the undertaking, on behalf of the

yees have been placed on teleworking;

State and in accordance with the instructions given to it by the
Minister for Agriculture, Rural Development and Fisheries.

◊

Reduction in the number of employees to 1 in each room/

As assets allocated to the Concession, the following should be

office, with weekly rotation; and

considered:

“4 — In order to ensure the continuity and uninterruptibility of the provision of public water supply services for the

◊

Customer service is now provided by telephone and/or email.

•

The infrastructures related to the uses of the public hydric
domain under concession and which are part of the primary

During the first half of the year and during the pandemic situation

exercise of agricultural activity, the Empresa de Desenvolvi-

that gripped the country, it is worth mentioning Order No. 4146-

mento e Infraestruturas do Alqueva, S. A., must continue to

Measures to protect against the pandemic were reinforced, in

A/20204, of 3 April (regulation specifically applicable to EDIA/

guarantee the following essential activities:

compliance with the Specific Contingency Plan approved in March

system of the development, identified under the terms of
Article 1 of Decree-Law no. 42/2007, of 22 February;

2020, as well as the guidelines issued by the Directorate-General
for Health.
4
Order No. 4146-A/2020 - Establishes the essential services and the necessary measures to ensure normal conditions in the production, transport, distribution and supply of agricultural and livestock goods and services, and those essential to the agri-food chain, within
the scope of the powers of the bodies and services of the Ministry of Agriculture.

218 | R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0

R E P O R T A N D A C C O U N T S - F I N A N C I A L Y E A R 2 0 2 0 | 219

Actions to modernise the hydro-agricultural facilities that

“Tangible Fixed Assets”, and were then reclassified to “Intangible

In January 2014, as in the case of the Judicial Claims and Court

make up the EFMA hydro-agricultural component; and

Assets”, as provided for in IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Contracts,

Disputes submitted for previous years (from 2008 to 2011), EDIA

applicable to the concession contract signed with the Ministry of

submitted a Judicial Claim for the year 2012. In February, the AT

The abstraction and supply of water to agriculture, the agri-

the Environment, Land Planning and Regional Development, as

communicated its dismissal, arguing, on the same grounds, that

The object of the Concession is the exclusive management and

-food sector and other economic activities that benefit from

expressly recognised by the Accounting Standards Committee on

the amortisations considered were undue, so the technical cor-

operation of EFMA, under the terms of Article 4, paragraph 3 of

the infrastructure of hydro-agricultural facilities.

20 January 2011.

rection was necessary, since the cause of action is exactly the

•

All works, machinery, equipment, devices and respective ac-

•

cessories necessary for the operation, exploitation, maintenance and management of those infrastructures.
•

Decree-Law no. 311/2007 of 17 September, as well as the use of

same as those of the IRC proceedings of previous years.
At the end of the concession, the concession operator EDIA must

The submerged lands in question, which were amortised by EDIA,

deliver to the grantor the assets which make up the concession,

are included in EFMA and are the subject of the concession con-

Given the above, EDIA lodged a Judicial Appeal against the cor-

The management, operation and private use of the public hydric

in an adequate state of repair and operation, free of any encum-

tract concluded on 17 October 2007 between EDIA and the Portu-

rection made by the inspection, relating to the year 2012.

domain allocated to EFMA includes the administration of the pu-

brances or charges. On that date, all the rights and obligations

guese State, called the “Concession Contract for the use of wa-

blic hydric domain assets allocated to the undertaking, the com-

arising from the concession contract also cease to exist for the

ter resources for the abstraction of water for irrigation and the

In 2015 and the first half of 2016, still within the scope of this

petences for granting titles for the use of water resources and

concessionaire.

production of electricity in the primary system of EFMA”, with a

tax inspection on corporate income tax, EDIA was notified by the

duration of 75 years.

Tax Authorities that made a correction to the taxable income for

the public hydric domain allocated to the Project.

the supervision of the use of such public water resources by third
parties, as well as the following private uses of the public hydric

The concession is extinguished by agreement between the par-

domain:

ties, by termination, by revocation and by expiry of the respective

Under the terms of Clauses 8 and 9 of this contract, all assets

At the end of 2016 and according to the procedure adopted in

term. Renewal of the concession is not expressly provided for, but

included in EFMA, including submerged lands subject to depre-

previous situations, EDIA filed a legal challenge for the year 2014.

may always occur by agreement between the parties.

ciation, shall revert to the Portuguese State at the end of the

•

Abstraction of water for irrigation;

the years 2013 and 2014, respectively, with which EDIA disagrees.

respective concession contract.
•

•

Abstraction of water for energy production; and

Laying out and construction of the hydraulic infrastructures

pretation made by the Tax Authorities deserves, and having been
Tax Inspection

intended for the purposes referred to in the previous sub-paragraphs.

According to the legislation in force, income declarations for tax
purposes are subject to revision and correction by the Tax Admi-

Under the terms of the legal regime for hydro-agricultural de-

nistration for a period of four years.

velopments (Decree-Law no. 269/82, of 10 July), the concession
of the infrastructures that make up EFMA’s secondary network
and form part of the hydro-agricultural component of the de-

Based on this assumption, the Company’s tax returns from 2008 to
2011 were subject to review by the Portuguese Tax Authority (AT).

velopment involves the obligation to provide the services under
concession in an appropriate, effective and continuous manner.

Therefore, under the terms of: (i) article 13 of Regulatory De-

notified through the Statements of Adjustment of Accounts, for

cree no. 2/90, of 12 January, in force during the period to which

the years 2008, 2009 and 2010, to pay the amounts of EUR 15,022,

the tax inspection refers “The elements of fixed assets acquired

EUR 17,121 and EUR 55.125 respectively, requested the suspensive

or produced by concessionaires and that under the terms of the

effect of the assessment of the tax and respective compensatory

clauses of the concession contract are reversible at the end of the

interest, undertaking to provide guarantee and deposit to the or-

concession contract may be reintegrated or amortised according

der of the Tax Authority, in the amounts of EUR 20.138 and EUR

to the number of years remaining of the concession period when

90.745 respectively, under the terms and for the purposes of sub-

this is less than its minimum useful life” and (ii) Clauses 8 and 9

paragraph f) of Article 69 and Article 199 of the Code of Procedure

of the concession contract, considering that the land amortized,

and Tax Proceedings.

as well as all assets included in EFMA will revert to the State at
In October 2012, as part of a tax inspection for corporate income
the end of the Contract, all legal requirements for the acceptance

In 2018, EDIA filed with the Beja Tax Court a Judicial Appeal

of amortization as a tax cost are met, and therefore no correction

against the corrections to the taxable income made by the Tax

should be made with regard to IRC, which is the position defended

and Customs Authority (AT), during the tax inspection for the

by the Company.

years 2015 and 2016, as the AT considered that the amortisation

tax, the Tax Authority (AT) proposed a correction for the years
The following activities are included in the scope of the conces-

2008 to 2011, to the amount of depreciation made on submerged
land, since it considers that not all investments made by EDIA

sion:

are subject to depreciation under the tax law, so it excludes the
•

The management of water resources associated with the
EFMA hydro-agricultural component, as well as the use of

possibility of depreciating the value of submerged land for tax
purposes, as it believes that they do not suffer any loss.

those resources from the public domain;

of ¬submerged land is not accepted as a tax cost.
In May 2013, EDIA lodged a Judicial Appeal against the decision
to dismiss the Corporate Income Tax (IRC) Assessment Statement

With regard to the cases for the years 2008 to 2014, the decisions

for the financial years 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, and thus re-

of the Central Administrative Court (TCA) were issued, challenging

quested the Judge of the Beja Tax Court to annul in full the IRC

the correction to the taxable income, and the Court ruled in fa-

and interest assessment statements, as well as the reinstatement

vour of EDIA and considered that the submerged lands cannot be

of the tax losses affected by this correction made during the tax

seen as mere land without allocation, but rather as land intended

inspection, for the four years.

for operation, and therefore considered that the depreciation of

Most of the assets currently recorded under “Intangible Assets”
•

The operation, conservation and rehabilitation of the secondary network infrastructures;
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submerged lands is accepted for tax purposes. However, the AT

by direct assessment amount to EUR 14.894,562, which, if the out-

adoption of good agricultural practices by the users of water

filed an appeal to the Supreme Administrative Court (STJ), and

come of the Legal Disputes presented by EDIA is not favourable,

for irrigation during the operation phase, and to minimise and

work contracts, primary and secondary, EDIA, for horizontal

EDIA presented the respective counter-claims and is awaiting the

the Company may only deduct the corrected losses calculated up

compensate the environmental impacts during the construction

drilling on the roads, has to request licensing from the com-

conclusion of the proceedings.

to the amount of EUR 42,993,867.

phase.

pany Infraestruturas de Portugal, S.A. which requires that

•

Within the scope of the execution of the works of the net-

the Company, for each crossing, provides a bank guarantee
In summary, the cases and the respective procedural phase in

At the date of this financial report, EDIA is not aware of further

In this context, EDIA undertakes to implement, during the cons-

in its favour, with no time limit and/or for a period of five

which each one is found are presente:

information about these processes, and it is the conviction of the

truction and operation phase, a set of measures aimed at en-

years. On 31 December 2020 the total amount constituted is

Board of Directors that there will be no additional settlements

suring that all areas affected by the implementation of the inter-

EUR 51,072.

of a significant value in the context of the financial statements.

ventions promoted by it are subsequently requalified.

•

Case 2008- 171/13.6BEBJA - Favourable decision by the TCA
- AT’s appeal to the STJ;

•

income tax, the Tax Authority (AT) proposed a correction,

continuous improvement of its environmental performance, fulfil-

in the years 2008 to 2011, to the amount of depreciation

Debts to the Tax Administration and the Institute for Solidarity

ling all its obligations regarding the legal compliance of the ac-

made on submerged land, since it considers that not all in-

and Social Security

tivities developed. Also noteworthy is the commitment to analyse

vestments made by EDIA are subject to depreciation under

the environmental impacts of the Company’s activity and to train

the tax law, and therefore excludes the possibility of depre-

and raise the awareness of its employees and service providers.

ciating the value of submerged land for tax purposes, as it

Case 2010- 186/13.4BEBJA - Favourable decision by the TCA
- AT’s appeal to the STJ;

From the information legally required in other legislation, particularly in Articles 66, 324, 397, 447 and 448 of the Companies Code

•

•

•

•

Case 2011 and 2012 - joined to Case 2010;

In October 2012, as part of a tax inspection on corporate

In terms of environmental policy, the Company aims to ensure the
Case 2009- 172/13.4BEBJA - Favourable decision by the TCA
- AT’s appeal to the STJ;

•

•

believes that it does not suffer any loss. EDIA contested and

(CSC), the legal provisions arising from Decree-Law no. 534/80

Environmental expenses are those identified and incurred to

had to provide in favour of the AT, two bank guarantees,

of 7 November issued by the Ministry of Finance and Planning

avoid, reduce or repair damage to the environment resulting from

without term, in the total amount of EUR 20,138, intended

Case 2013- 268/15.8BEBJA - Favourable decision by the TCA

and the provisions referred to in Law No. 110/2009 of September

the Company’s activity.

to secure the suspension of the tax execution proceedings

- AT’s appeal to the STJ;

16 issued by the Ministry of Employment and Social Security, it

underway at the Tax Office. Until 31 December 2020 there

should be noted that EDIA, through the documents of accounta-

In this sense, taking into account: (i) the nature and size of the

Case 2014- 16/17.8BEBJA - Favourable sentence Administra-

bility, hereby discloses that it is not in breach of its obligations,

Company’s activity and the types of environmental problems as-

tive and Tax Court of Beja; and

neither with the state sector nor with Social Security.

sociated with its activity, and (ii) information on its environmen-

was no reinforcement of these guarantees.

•

At 31 December 2020, four guarantees in favour of Águas

tal performance, there is no liability of an environmental nature

Públicas do Alentejo, S.A. (AgdA) and one in favour of Águas

Case 2015 and 2016-194/19.1BEBJA - In progress at the Ad-

that should give rise to the establishment of provisions, since we

de Santo André, S.A. (AdSA), amounting to EUR 11,727 and

ministrative and Tax Court of Beja.

do not consider it to be materially relevant.

EUR 455 respectively, relating to Service Rendering Con-

Environmental Matters

tracts, within the scope of expropriations and easements.

The delay in the analysis of the various cases by the Courts is also
aggravated by the pandemic situation of COVID-19.

The concession contract for the use of water resources by EFMA,
of 17 October 2007, signed between EDIA and the State, set out

At the date of this report, as there has been no tax inspection of

the terms and conditions which will govern the grantor-conces-

the financial year 2017 and following, the AT has not corrected

sionaire relationship, specifying the rules for the exercise of the

the IRC assessments in order not to accept the amortisation of the
submerged land and therefore no judicial claim/judicial challenge

•
Guarantees provided

Under the contract signed with Galp Energia, Petróleos de
Portugal-Petrogal, S.A., EDIA provided a bank guarantee aimed at “guaranteeing the proper payment of consumption

In May 2015 and April 2016, two guarantees were provided

relating to the GALP fleet card”. On 31 December 2020, the

aforementioned rights of private use of water resources within

in favour of EDP Distribuição-Energia, S.A., for EUR 95,640

amount pledged totals EUR 1,746.

the context of the Project’s operation.

and EUR 60,930 respectively, which constitute the security

has been filed by EDIA.

•

required for provisional acceptance of the interconnection

The total value of the guarantees provided (EUR 241,708), is dis-

EFMA’s environmental management is based on its Environmental

line between EDIA’s infrastructures, in which EDIA assumes

tributed among the following banks, CCAM de Beja and Mértola

The value of tax losses declared by EDIA for the years 2014 to

Management Program and on the results of the environmental

the obligation to pay compensation due for the repair of any

and BCP, with the following amounts EUR 179,032 and EUR 62,676,

2019, still deductible, amounts to EUR 57,888,429, however, given

impact assessment processes of the irrigation blocks and hydrau-

defects in the equipment and/or construction/assembly pro-

respectively.

the facts established and verified in the inspection procedure by

lic infrastructures. The main objectives of this environmental ma-

cesses that become apparent during the guarantee period.

the AT, the technical corrections for income tax calculated so far

nagement are to ensure efficient use of water, to promote the

On 31 December 2020 these guarantees are still in force.
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Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Power Reinforcement Investments by EDP at the Alqueva

Following this contract to operate the plants for a period of 35

A favourable decision was issued to EDIA, through notification on

Commission Regulation (EC) no. 1305/2013 of 27 December

Plant

years, EDP proceeded to build the power boost at the Alqueva

18 June 2020.

plant. Given the transfer of these assets made by EDP at the end
The commitments undertaken by EDIA, which are not shown in

Under the provisions of Decree-Law no. 313/2007 of 17 Septem-

of the concession term (2042) to EDIA and the Company’s res-

EDP appealed to the Southern Administrative Central Court (TCA),

the Financial Position Statement as at 31 December 2020, are the

ber, which approved the bases of the concession granted by Con-

ponsibility to keep updated the inventory of the assets of the

the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Action (which suc-

guarantees provided under the provisions of Article 63 of Regu-

tract between the State and EDIA on 17 October 2007, the latter

concession signed with the State, EDIA consulted the documenta-

ceeded the Ministry of the Economy) followed EDP’s appeal.

lation (EC) no. 1305/2013 of the European Parliament and of the

was assigned, as concessionaire of the management, operation

tion submitted by EDP in the recent litigation process regarding

Council of 27 December.

and private use of the public hydric domain allocated to EFMA,

the revisibility of the concession contract, for the investment

The case has not yet gone up due to procedural issues raised by

the powers of administration of that public hydric domain within

made in power boosting, which total value was calculated at EUR

EDP, but it is expected to go up very soon.

Within the scope of the Rural Development Program 2014-2020

the scope of its activity, the powers to grant titles regarding the

175.598,748 (EUR 73,317,730 - Construction Work, EUR 100,281,170

(PDR2020), and under the terms and pursuant to the provisions of

abstraction of water for irrigation and power generation and also

- Equipment and EUR 1,999,848 - Line Panel).

Article 25, paragraph 4 of Order of Council no. 229/2016 of 26 Au-

the powers to supervise its use by third parties, as well as the po-

gust, EDIA formulated a request for payment by way of advance,

wers to initiate, investigate and sanction administrative offence

As at 31 December 2020, the situation was unchanged from 31

within the amount allowed by these regulations, for project no.

proceedings in this area.

December 2019.

It is estimated that the TCA Sul will take 3 to 4 years to pass
judgment. The decision can be appealed to the Supreme Administrative Court, which, if admitted, can add another 2 to 3 years.

PDR2020-341-035424 “2nd phase of the Álamos Pipeline Installation”, amounting to EUR 7,015,000.

In effect, based on the regulations contained in the recent legisAbstractions on the Left Bank of Alqueva

lative package on water resources, EDIA appears simultaneously
Investment Incentives

In these cases, and as provided for in Article 63 of Commission

as the concessionaire for the management and operation of the

Regulation (EC) no. 1305/2013 of 27 December, the Board of Direc-

Project and as the holder, on an exclusive basis, of the rights to

tors (through a written guarantee issued to the competent paying

the private use of the public hydric domain allocated to EFMA for

EDP - Gestão da Produção de Energia, S.A. submitted an invest-

shared between Portugal and Spain has been the subject of se-

agency - Instituto de Financiamento da Agricultura e Pescas, I.P.)

the purposes of irrigation and hydroelectric operation.

ment incentive for the Alqueva Hydroelectric Power Plant to the

veral agreements between the two countries, dating back to the

Directorate-General for Energy, which was granted by Order of

1864 Treaty of Limits, where the sections of international rivers

has guaranteed repayment in an amount corresponding to 100%

The use of water resources in the hydrographic basins of rivers

of the amount of the advance if entitlement to the advance is

The Concession Contract thus specified the conditions to which

the Director-General on 1 April 2011, despite EDIA’s gracious ob-

were established as a border and the importance of using the

not proven.

the grantor-concessionaire relationship would be subject, spe-

jections. EDIA did not comply and filed a Special Administrative

water resources in these border sections for mutual benefit and

cifying the content of the mission associated with the operation

Action, which was brought before the Court on 28 June 2011.

without harming the other party was established.

EDIA requests that: (i) annul the Orders of 5 May and 1 April 2011,

In this context, of note is the signature of the 1968 Agreement

which rejected the plaintiff’s request for recognition of the right

regulating the use and hydraulic exploitation of the international

The competence for the provision of guarantees by the Company

of the Development and defining the rules for the exercise of the

lies with the Board of Directors, either under the provisions of

aforementioned rights of private use of the public hydric domain.

Article 15 of EDIA’s statutes, in particular, or under paragraph 1,
subparagraph c) and, in particular, under the provisions of Arti-

In this context, Decree-law no. 313/2007 of 17 September framed

to the incentive to invest in generation capacity provided for in

stretches of the rivers Minho, Lima, Tejo, Guadiana, Chança and

cle 406, subparagraph f) of the Companies Code, applicable by

the concession of the exploitation rights of the Alqueva and Pe-

Ordinance no. 765/2010; and (ii) recognise EDIA’s right to the in-

their tributaries, which in subparagraphs e) and f) of Article 3,

virtue of the provisions of Article 7 of Decree-Law 558/99, of 17

drógão Hydroelectric Power Plants, respecting the rights acquired

centive to invest in long-term electricity generation capacity, by

divides the hydraulic exploitation between Portugal and Spain,

December.

by third parties under previous legislation.

reference to the investment made in the construction of the Al-

reserving for Portugal the use of the entire stretch of the Guadia-

queva Hydroelectric Power Plant, granting this right in the terms

na River between its confluence points with the Caia and Cuncos
Rivers.

By the end of 2020, regarding this advance request, EDIA has al-

In view of the above, on 24 October 2007 a Contract was sig-

in which it was granted to EDP, with amounts plus default interest

ready presented expenses, amounting to EUR 5,615,218.

ned between EDIA and EDP - Gestão da Produção de Energia, S.A.

due and falling due.
Thus, in accordance with the 1968 Convention, the exploitation

awarding EDP Produção the operation, for 35 years, of the Alqueva Hydroelectric Power Plants (260 MW), under the market regime,

The Plaintiff assigned the amount of EUR 4,800,000 to the law-

of the stretch between the confluence of the Caia with the Gua-

and Pedrógão (10 MW), under the special regime, as well as the

suit and a first instance decision is pending. This process had a

diana and the confluence of this river with the Cuncos belongs to

rights of private use of the respective waterways domain. This

conclusion of sentence on 6 June 2016 and another, by a new

Portugal, and in 1999 the situation of the abstractions located

contract boosted the electric value of the Alqueva - Pedrógão

magistrate, on 19 February 2018, which is still pending.

on the left bank of the Guadiana in this stretch was regularised.

system.

This matter was followed up initially by the International Rivers
Commission (IRC) and subsequently by the Commission for the
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Application and Development of the Convention (CADC), a body

Applying the value of 0.0382 EUR/m3, established, for water in-

for cooperation between the Parties to the Albufeira Convention,

tended for irrigation for agricultural use captured directly from

which succeeds it. This matter will be followed up by the said

the primary system, by the Order establishing the tariff that sets

Commission, with a view to the future application of the EFMA

the price of water intended for irrigation for agricultural use su-

tariff for these abstractions.

pplied by EDIA, under the public water service of EFMA, results
in an income between 500,000 EUR/year and 1,000,000 EUR/year.

The total volume allocated to these abstractions is over 47 hm3/
year, of which 42.9 hm3/year are for irrigation, 4 hm3/year for

This matter is pending a decision by the CADC, having been the

industrial use and 0.175 hm3/year for public supply. There are also

subject of a communication to the Office of the Minister of Agri-

other requests being analysed by CADC, as well as abstractions

culture in the second half of 2020.

indicated for use in emergency situations only. Overall, the volume in question could reach 50 hm3/year, 55% of which is asso-

On 31 December 2020, EDIA considers that this situation trans-

ciated with abstractions located below height 152 (9% refers to

lates into the existence of a contingent asset, not being recog-

abstractions between heights 147 and 152 and 46% to abstrac-

nised in the Company’s accounts, but disclosed in this note with

tions below height 147).

the description of its nature, potential value and the expectation
about its eventual realisation. The gains will not be recorded until

In accordance with CADC deliberation II/6 (Annex VI of the Minu-

the final decision is effectively ensured.

tes of the 2nd Meeting), the abstractions made in the reservoir
will be subject to tariffs whenever they prove to benefit from its
exploitation.

However, these abstractions are only possible due to the flow
regularisation effect of the hydraulic infrastructures built by
Portugal, namely the Alqueva-Pedrógão System, as evidenced
by the non-existence of regularisation reservoirs on the farms
concerned, so that water abstraction for irrigation will always
occur outside the wet season, when the flow in the Guadiana River
would not allow it.

In summary, these direct abstractions from the Alqueva reservoir,
located on the left bank, in territory under Spanish administration, should be subject to the application of the tariff defined for
EFMA, bearing in mind the aforementioned CADC decision, under
penalty of market distortions occurring. This matter should be
followed up within the scope of the said Commission, with a view
to the future application of the tariff applicable to EFMA to these
abstractions.

Photo: São Manços Pumping Station
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CHAPTER 3 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

CERTIFICATIONS AND REPORTS OF THE AUDITORS AND
SUPERVISORY BOARD
LEGAL CERTIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT REPORT PREPARED BY AN AUDITOR
REGISTERED IN CMVM (PORTUGUESE SECURITIES MARKET COMMISSION)
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CONTRACTUAL AUDIT REPORT
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REPORT AND OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
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CHAPTER 3 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY

STATEMENT ON THE REMUNERATION POLICY OF THE
MEMBERS OF THE EDIA, S.A.’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORY BOARD PROVIDED FOR IN LAW 28/200 9

DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dear Shareholders
NAt the General Meeting of 4 October 2019 it was resolved not to elect a Remuneration Setting Committee.
Under the terms of subparagraph c) of paragraph 1 of Article 245 of the Portuguese Securities Code, we inform you that to the best of
our knowledge:

I.

The information contained in the management report faithfully sets out the important events that occurred in 2020 and the impact
on the respective financial statements, containing a description of the main risks and uncertainties that they face; and

II.

The information contained in the individual financial statements, as well as their annexes, was prepared in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards and gives a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, the financial situation and the results
of EDIA - Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infra-estruturas do Alqueva, S.A. and the companies included in the consolidation perimeter.

Beja, 13 April 2021

The Board of Directors

Eng. José Pedro Mendes Barbosa da Costa Salema
(Chairman)

Dr. Augusta Manuel Pereira de Jesus Cachoupo
(Member)

Eng. Jorge Manuel Vazquez Gonzalez
(Member)
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Acronyms and Abbreviations
ACB - Cost Benefit Analysis

Alentejo

CADC- Committee on the Application and Development of the Con-

CH - Hydraulic Circuit

vention
ACECA - Control and Elimination of the Water Hyacinth in the River

CHA - Alqueva Hydroelectric Power Plant

AT - Tax Authority
CD - Documentation Centre

Guadiana Cross-Border Stretch

CHP - Pedrógão Hydroelectric Power Plant

ATLA – Cross-Border Association of Lake Alqueva Municipalities
CCAM - Mutual Agricultural Credit Bank

ADRAL - Alentejo Regional Development Agency

CIAL - Alqueva Information Centre

BC - Commercial Banking
CCDR - Regional Coordination and Development Commission

AdSA - Águas de Santo André

CIEFMA - Web Application to Consult the EFMA Infrastructure and

BCP - Banco Comercial Português
CCDRA - Alentejo Regional Coordination and Development Com-

AEXCID - Extremadura Agency for International Development
Cooperation

BCSD - Business Council for Sustainable Development

Irrigation Management Register

mission
CIMAC - Intermunicipal Community of Central Alentejo

AG - General Meeting

BE - Economic Bulletin

CCP - Public Procurement Code
CLAS - Social Action Local Council of Beja

AgdA - Águas Públicas do Alentejo

EIB - European Investment Bank

CCDR - Regional Coordination and Development Commission
CMB – City Council of Beja

AIA - Environmental Impact Assessment

BES – Novo Banco

CD - Documentation Centre
CMVM - Portuguese Securities Market Commission

AOV - Operational Lease of Vehicles

BNT - National Land Exchange

EC - European Community
CNC - Accounting Standards Committee

APA - Portuguese Environment Agency

BP-Bank of Portugal

CEB-Council of Europe Development Bank
COTR - Operating Centre for Irrigation Technologies

AEBR- Association of European Border Regions

BPI- Banco Português de Investimentos

C4C-Cloud for Costumer
CP - Public Tender

ARH Alentejo - Administration of the Hydrographic Region of
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CRI - International Rivers Commission

EGP - Public Manager Statute

hm3- Cubic hectometre

ISO - International Organization for Standardization

CSC - Commercial Companies Code

EIA - Environmental Impact Study

IAS - International Accounting Standard

ISPA - Higher Institute of Applied Psychology

DGADR - Directorate-General for Agriculture and Rural Develo-

EN - National Road

IASB - International Accounting Standard Board

VAT - Value Added Tax

ENCNB - National Strategy for Nature Conservation and Biodiver-

IBERLINX - Cross-Border Territorial Action for the Conservation

IVI - Infrastructure Value Index

sity

of the Iberian Lynx

pment

DGEG - Directorate-General for Energy and Geology

Km - Kilometre
DGS - Directorate-General for Health

EP - Public Enterprises

ICNF - Institute for Nature Conservation and Forests
Km2 - Square kilometres

DGO - Directorate-General for the Budget

EPE- Entrepises pour l’Environnement

IEFP - Institute for the Employment and Vocational Training
kWh - Kilo Watt per Hour

DGT - Directorate-General for the Territory

DGTF - Directorate-General for the Treasury and Finance

DIA - Environmental Impact Statement

DL - Decree-Law

EPR - Reclassified Public Enterprises

IFRIC - International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

LCPA - Law of Commitments and Late Payments

IFRS - International Financial Reporting Standards

LGT - General Tax Law

IGCP - Portuguese Treasury and Government Debt Management

LNEC - National Civil Engineering Laboratory

ETA - Water Treatment Plant

ETAR - Wastewater Treatment Plant

EUR - Euros

Agency
LOE - State Budget Law

DLEO - Budget Execution Decree-Law

GFCF - Gross Fixed Capital Formation

HICP - Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices
MA - Ministry of Agriculture

DR - Official Gazette

EAFRD - European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development

IHT - Exemption from Working Hours
MD - Right Bank

EUSD - Unanimous Written Social Resolution

DUP - Public Utility Declaration

ERDF - European Regional Development Fund

INALENTEJO - Regional Operational Program of Alentejo
2007/2013

MAFDR-Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Development

INVASEP - Fight against invasive species in the Tagus and Guadia-

MAMAOT - Ministry of Agriculture, Sea, Environment and Land

EAGGF - European Agricultural Guidance and Guarantee Fund

EBIT - Earning Before Interest and Taxes

FF - Source of Financing

na rivers in the Iberian Peninsula

Planning

EBITDA - Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amor-

FitoFarmgest - Sustainable Management of Phytopharmaceuticals

INE - National Institute of Statistics

MF - Ministry of Finance

tization

in Olive Grove, Vineyards and Field Crops, in the EFMA Area of
Influence

IPBeja - Polytechnic Institute of Beja

MW/h - MEGA WATT per hour

queva, S.A.

FSE - External Supplies and Services

CPI - Consumer Price Index

NAVIA- Infrastructures Management Operational Software

EDP - Energias de Portugal

GeOp - (Entity) Operational Management

HICP - Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices

NCRF - Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards

EFMA - Alqueva Multipurpose Project

GESAMB - Environmental and Waste Management

IRC - Corporation Tax

NERBE - Business Nucleus of the Beja Region

EFV - Surveillance and Monitoring Team

ha - Hectare

IRS - Personal Income Tax

NPA - Full Storage Level

EDIA - Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infra-estruturas do Al-
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OakReGeneration - Project OakRegeneration - Project PDR2020

PNN - Noudar Nature Park

PR - Primary Network

EU - European Union

PNRegadios- National Irrigated Land Program

RPM - Portuguese Network of Museums

UEP - Project Execution Unit

POAAP - Land Management Plan for the Alqueva and Pedrógão

RS - Secondary Network

UIA - Urban Innovative Actions

S.A. - Public Limited Company

ULSBA - Local Health Unit of Baixo Alentejo

SAP - Data Processing Systems, Applications and Products

URSA - Alqueva By-products Recirculation Units

Dam

SCADA - Software Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition

AWU - Working Unit Year

POCTEP - Cross Border Cooperation Program Portugal - Spain

SEE - State Enterprise Sector

UTAM-Technical Unit for Monitoring and Control of the Public En-

- Measure 1 Operational Groups (Project studying the natural
regeneration of cork oak forests in protected environments for
livestock and wildlife)

CSO - Media

OE - State Budget

OROC - Portuguese Statutory Auditors Association

Reservoirs

POC - Official Plan of Accounts

POC Alqueva - Observation and Command Post for the Alqueva

PBG - Principles of Good Governance

terprise Sector

PCCTM - Temporary Pond Conservation Plan
POSEUR - Operational Program for Sustainability and Efficiency in
PDR 2020 - Rural Development Program for Mainland Portugal

EMS - Environmental Management System
UTE - State Treasury Unit

the Use of Resources
GIS - Geographic Information System

2014-2020

GVA - Gross Value Added

POVT - Thematic Operational Program for Territorial Valorisation
SIGO - Budget Management Information System

PDM - Municipal Master Plans

WADI- Water-tightness Detection Implementation

PT - Transformation Station
SHT - Safety and Hygiene at Work

PEC - Stability and Growth Program
CRP - Cost Reduction Plan

SIRHAL - Alqueva Water Resources Information System

HDPE - High Density Polyethylene
PPRCIC - Plan for the Prevention of Risks of Corruption and ReEMP - Environmental Management Program

lated Infractions

SISAP - Support System for Determining Cultural Aptitude

GDP - Gross Domestic Product

PRODER - Rural Development Program

SNC - Public Administration Accounting Standardisation System

PIDDAC - Central Administration Investment and Development Ex-

PRO-IBERLINX - Protection and Conservation of the Iberian Lynx

SNCP - National Public Purchasing System

PUT - Principle of State Treasury Unit

SOE - State Budget Preparation Information System

CSF - Community Support Framework

SROC - Society of Statutory Auditors

RCA - Rosa, Correia & Associados, SROC, S.A.

STJ- Supreme Court of Justice

RCM - Council of Ministers Resolution

TCAS - Southern Administrative Central Court

RJSPE - Legal Regime of the Public Enterprise Sector

TRH - Water Resources Charge

ROC – Statutory Auditor

TURH - Titles of Use of Water Resources

penses Program

PIER - Rural Intervention Plan

PlaCarvões - Project which consists in the implementation of a
solution that integrates the principles of Circular Economy in
the plastics value chain, with the valorisation of plastic waste
(agricultural plastics, disposable plastics and CDR) through the
production of activated carbons

PMP – Average Payment Time
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EDIA
Empresa de Desenvolvimento e Infraestruturas do Alqueva, S.A.
SHARE CAPITAL
EQUITY
LEGAL PERSON NUMBER
REGISTRATION

860.334.960,00 EUR
47.641.672,00 EUR
503 450 189
01 084/950316 at the Commercial Registry Office of Beja

REGISTERED OFFICE

Rua Zeca Afonso, N.o 2 - 7800 - 522 - BEJA

LISBON DELEGATION

Espaço Amoreiras - Centro Empresarial.
Rua D. João V, N.o 24, 1.03. - 1250-091 LISBON

ALQUEVA DELEGATION

Apartado 126 - 7860 - MOURA

PEDRÓGÃO DELEGATION

Apartado 126 - 7860 - MOURA

NOUDAR NATURE PARK

Apartado 5 - 7230 - BARRANCOS

MUSEU DA LUZ

(LUZ MUSEUM)

Largo da Igreja Nossa Sr.a da Luz - 7240 - 100 - LUZ - MOURÃO

Website: www.edia.pt
PHOTOGRAPHS

António Cunha/EDIA

